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Preface


I REMEMBER SWINGING in my rigid plastic chair in the back row of secondary school history class, only an inch countering the inertia of my body weight from careering my cranium into the brick wall behind me. Smashing my head into a brick wall was not too far off what I wanted to do while the anorak of a history teacher droned on about some bloke called William from a place called Normandy – apparently, he was really important. But I was not alone among my classmates in wishing William had given up his invasion after experiencing English weather for a day and buggered off back to Norman-land, wherever that was. Then perhaps we wouldn’t have to waste a long afternoon learning about him and this silly thing called ‘feudalism’, and I could get back to trading Pokémon cards behind the bike shed, where braver kids than I smoked and snogged.


Then I grew up, and something changed. I’m still unable to put my finger on precisely what it was; perhaps it was the crumbling abbeys submerged among rolling green pastures, maybe it was the imposingly beautiful Gothic cathedrals. As I left my youth behind, I began to wonder, who built that and why? What were they in search of and why does it now lie in partial ruin? The more I asked questions, the more I discovered a country with endless untold secrets. To the shock and awe of my thirteen-year-old self, I began to visit museums and archaeological sites, I began to read history books, and before long, I fell in love. I fell in love with Britain, its people, its customs, even its weather. But most of all, I was seduced by its history.


I felt as though I had won the lottery. To be born in a country where I could experience, first-hand, the culture of the people who had transformed the world, who had ruled over a mighty empire and given the world a universal language which I am fortunate enough to speak. I knew I had to share it, because the more I learnt about the history of my people, the more I discovered it’s really bloody weird. The British have always been a bit special. Not in a superior way, more in a socially and somewhat mentally challenged way. The British are eccentric not-rights, and I love them for it – as it turns out, they always have been. There are tales I have uncovered about this country that are too breathtakingly bonkers to keep locked away in a dusty history book. I want to bring these oddities to life. And along the way, I will attempt to share with you my passion for this island in the North Sea.


You have arrived here for one of two reasons: either a part of you is inexplicably drawn to the majesty of English history and its effect on the world, or you saunter into bookshops blindfolded and whisk a selection of random items into your basket. If it’s the latter, then I’m truly sorry you ended up with this, but either way, thank you for coming on this journey with me; I sincerely hope you enjoy it as much as I have enjoyed telling it.


Despite our national enthusiasm for history, it has become fashionable among a self-righteous sub-section of British society to hate themselves. Really, there are people who actually wake up every morning and think to themselves: Do you know what I hate? Me. I hate that I’m English, I hate England and all it stands for. What God-awful creatures we are. I’ve met many myself; they’re bloody intolerable. But fear not; being interested in, or even proud of, British history does not make you a rabid slave and murder enthusiast. Slavery and stealing things from other people have been an intrinsic part of every nation’s history and the British didn’t have a stronger propensity for those things than any other race – they were just a damn sight better at it. There’s a big difference.


Slavery and slaughtering ‘savages’ are a heinous, but relatively small part of the history of these isles. On balance, the British have given the world so much good, so much to be proud of. I am in no doubt that the people of this realm, over the past millennia, have been a positive and progressive force in the history of modern humanity. The matchless poetry of Chaucer and Shakespeare burst out from the taverns and playhouses of Albion to capture the imagination of the world. The British gave the world free press, free trade, industry, English common law, Western liberty and a rulebook which dictates precisely how men in little white shorts should stand in a field to kick around a piece of dead cow.


This book is a jocular history of British and, in many ways, world history. But mostly it is my personal celebration of Britain. It is a celebration of the incredible timeline of bizarre events that has delivered humanity to where it is today. And those who wish to forget the history of the British people or attempt to erase it from the public consciousness really should sell themselves into serfdom and spend the remainder of their days growing parsnips and defecating in the ground. 


And on that cheery note, I think it’s about time we begin.





1066–1100 INVASION
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William Tramples a Cabbage


1066, WE’VE ALL HEARD THAT DATE. British readers will be acutely aware of this date thanks to a long-running television advertisement by an insurance company, which morphed the frustratingly unforgettable ‘0800 00 1066’ into somewhat of an unofficial national jingle. Unfortunately, this book is not sponsored by Hastings Direct; other insurers are available. Now, with that out the way, I think it’s time we talk about some actual history.


You most likely know that the Battle of Hastings took place in 1066. But are you aware of the great significance that the battle had for England and Europe’s future? Not many people do, and that’s a quandary because few battles have had such far-reaching and long-lasting effects on the future of a realm. The Battle of Hastings caused French to become the primary language of English nobility and politics. And it gave birth to a Norman/Plantagenet dynasty that would reign longer than any other on these islands – they even came close to giving the infamously inbred Habsburgs a run for their money, and that’s no small task.


Over their 420-year reign the Normans and their Plantagenet descendants oversaw the creation of a famous book: Domesday; a famous manuscript: Magna Carta; and lots of famous castles: basically, all of them. But they weren’t in the fame game; no, they were in the game of domination and, more pressingly, infidelity, lots of infidelity, and perhaps a touch of incest. This one family laid down the foundations of England, shaking up politics, finance and human rights so profoundly that the effects rippled down the ages and are still felt by every nation on earth today. 1066 is the year the seeds of the modern world were sown.


This brave new era kicked off with a flying lump of interstellar rock. In the spring of 1066, the people of England witnessed the blazing trail of Halley’s Comet tearing through the evening sky; it was later assumed it was an omen of the invasion to come. Science has since deduced that Halley’s Comet is visible in the sky every seventy-five years and is no more an omen of an impending French bastard than a fortune cookie.


After the death of the king of England, Edward the Confessor, in January 1066, a fracas broke out over who would claim England’s throne. This was a particularly juicy war of succession in that it was a three-way. The Anglo-Saxon Harold Godwinson initially seized the throne, but he had two adversaries who sought to tear it away from him: the mighty Norse king, Harald Hardrada, one of the last great Viking warriors, and William of Normandy, who was better known by some of his loving acquaintances as ‘William the Bastard’. William was also of Viking descent; the Normans originated from Scandinavia, but unlike Hardrada, his Viking culture had been heavily diluted in a delicious French cultural broth. So William enjoyed onion soup and human sacrifice in equal quantities. Both ambitious men believed they had a rightful claim to the throne of England, and they fully intended to come and take it from Harold Godwinson by force.


The Norwegian Harald, often known as ‘the last real Viking’, attacked first in the north, by conquering the village of Fulford near York and ransacking nearby towns. Harold Godwinson immediately frogmarched the bulk of his army north, to stop the encroaching Viking horde from raping any more Yorkshire nuns. He decisively defeated Harald’s men and killed the Norse leader himself at the Battle of Stamford Bridge, who had put up a fierce resistance by falling off his horse before the battle began. But Harold wasn’t afforded a moment’s glory because a significant threat was brewing at the opposite end of England. While Harold had been preoccupied with Viking-slaying in the north, the bold Norman bastard, William, had invaded Sussex with an army of 10,000 Normans.


William of Normandy would later earn the sobriquet ‘William the Conqueror’, and conquer he did, by playing the long game. Wisely, William chose not to charge directly upon London, a walled city that in times of attack could prove as impenetrable as any fortress. His army instead razed and pillaged a succession of towns around Hastings, throughout Sussex and Kent, thus drawing Harold out into the open, where his fortifications could not help him. It worked. Harold’s spies soon received news of the Norman invasion party – Harold was still in the north revelling from his victory at Stamford Bridge, flicking broad beans into Hardrada’s lifeless mouth. The weary but confident king packed up his beans and belongings then immediately marched his battle-worn army of roughly 7,000 over 250 miles, to engage William on the south coast. He simply couldn’t allow William to continue his outrageous campaign of indiscriminately torching shrubberies and trampling Kentish cabbages. Little did Harold know, by coming to meet the band of marauders out in the open, he was playing right into William’s fancy French bastard hands.


Harold must have been incredibly eager to thwart William’s onslaught because he marched his entire army to Hastings in just four days; unbelievably fast for the time. The famous battle actually took place on Senlac Hill, six miles north-west of Hastings. Today the site is near a small town, appropriately and rather simply named Battle. If it had been called Battle pre-1066, perhaps William would have known where to go instead of wasting time doing a tour of Kent’s cabbage patches.


Harold’s army, consisting mostly of chainmail-clad infantry, took the high ground. The opposition was stationed across the valley. In contrast to Harold’s throng of foot soldiers, William’s Norman army consisted mostly of archers and cavalry. William had also brought a Norman jongleur with him to taunt the English, called Taillefer. Taillefer waded into the middle of the battlefield and sang while juggling swords. An English soldier confronted the mocking minstrel, and to everyone’s great surprise Taillefer took one of his juggling swords and cut him down. After which he manically ran towards the English army, where he quickly met his end. This bizarre prelude provoked the start of the pitched battle. William engaged first, with several volleys of arrows. These had little impact due to a highly effective defensive formation used by many Anglo-Saxon armies: the shield wall.


A shield wall was a formation in which the men stood in a long line, tightly packed together. Their mostly circular but sometimes kite-shaped wooden shields were hoisted up and held firmly at chest height. Each shield overlapped that of the soldier to their side, forming a contiguous horizontal shield. This technique created a formidable barrier that would have been almost insurmountable by any single man wielding a sword or axe. Each man used his shield to protect both himself and the soldier to his right. Throughout military history, the mighty shield wall has waxed and waned in popularity. It was used by ancient Greek and Macedonian armies in their phalanxes. And of course, many modern police forces still use the shield wall when deploying riot shields against thirteen-year-olds with petrol bombs.


The shield wall proved invaluable on 14 October 1066. The initial volleys of arrows from the Norman archers mostly buried themselves in the Saxon shields, inflicting little harm. Then, when William’s army subsequently charged the shield wall head-on, it held stoically. The revered Saxon defences proved to be steadfast. Even the Norman cavalry charge could not fault it. Unusually, the French were struggling to penetrate something.


So it seemed Harold and his army had this battle in the bag, and the obstinate Frenchman should have been on the next boat to Calais by dawn. Due to what seemed like superior tactics and teamwork in the form of a solid Saxon shield wall Harold’s men had the upper hand, despite every man being exhausted to his bones from the Battle of Stamford Bridge and a gruelling four-day trek. Even though William’s men were well rested and in high spirits, they were simply unable to break the stalwart Saxons. A new tactic was required. If William’s army couldn’t shatter the Saxons physically, they could perhaps defeat them mentally, and that’s exactly what they did. Mind games ensued.


A rumour was spread around the battlefield that William had been killed – historians are unsure from which side of the battlefield the rumour originated. Either way, it begs the question of how men had any time to gossip while a thousand peasants were attempting to wedge a seven-pound axe into their skull. The Norman cavalry seized upon this opportunity and, in what seemed like a spontaneous move, turned and charged away from the Saxon shield wall that they had been battering in vain. It appeared to the Saxons as though the Normans were making a tactical retreat, perhaps due to the supposed death of William, their commander in chief.


But William was, in fact, alive and well and the retreat had been feigned. The Normans’ deceit worked precisely as intended. The shield wall finally broke up of its own free will, to chase down the fleeing cavalry. But then, unexpectedly, William’s entire fleeing cavalry unit suddenly turned around and charged back towards Harold’s men at full speed, encircling their pursuers. Without the unified front of their shield wall, the Saxon soldiers were defenceless against the mighty Norman cavalry. The Normans crashed through the men like a hammer through an icy lake. The remainder of the Saxon forces were promptly vanquished, as too was King Harold. It is said that he was killed by an arrow through the eye, which must have stung a fair bit. The events of that day were sewn into history via the seventy-metre-long Bayeux Tapestry. It’s rather remarkable they were able to continue sewing with all the arrows flying past their heads. It is suspected that it was actually embroidered in Canterbury around 1070, but the ‘Canterbury Tapestry’ is slightly easier for school-children to spell, and we couldn’t have that.


England was William’s for the taking, and thus William of Normandy became William the Conqueror. This day was not just another battle where one ambitious king snatched the throne from another. The Battle of Hastings was, arguably more than any other in history, a turning point for England, a pivot in time. No more so than for language. Before the battle, the most commonly spoken language in England was what we now refer to as ‘Old English’.


If you are imagining Old English to be the language of Shakespeare, you would be wrong. That version of the English language would not arrive for another 500 years and is late Middle English or Early Modern English, whichever way you prefer to view it. Old English was an entirely different beast. The very first form of the English language, Old English is of Germanic and Norse origins, brought to the British Isles by Anglo-Saxon settlers halfway through the fifth century. Therefore, it more closely resembles modern German than modern English. Although a German speaker today would still have a tough time deciphering it, they would find it easier than a native English speaker. Some core Old English vocabulary and their modern equivalents are:





Eald – Old


Geomor – Sad


Gese – Yes


Hus – House


Modor – Mother





If William had not conquered England, the English language as it is today would look and sound entirely different. The new Norman rule sowed a seed of the early French tongue within Britain’s linguistic roots. The significance of this blending of the French language into Old English cannot be understated, as its roots are wholly different from those of Anglo-Saxon. French is a romance language; it evolved from Vulgar Latin, as did Spanish, Portuguese, Italian and Romanian. Old English and the Germanic tongue which spawned it come from the Indo-European branch of linguistics, which includes German, Dutch, Old Norse and the Celtic family. All this is fairly self-evident; after all, a German shouting ‘Achtung!’ at you is about as far from romantic as language gets.


Following 1066, French became the primary written and spoken language of the English nobility and political system. English, however, remained the most widely spoken language of the lower classes, although the clergy doggedly clung to Latin so they could retain a higher place in the social hierarchy by being totally indecipherable to lay-folk. Which came in handy when they wanted to insult a peasant’s wife or secretly compliment her breasts, but that was dodgy because, presumably, God can speak Latin too. This created a definitive class divide through speech. For example, the lower class would cook and eat pig, a Germanic word, while the upper class would eat pork, a French word. The same goes for other meats, such as cow: previously one would tuck into a delicious piece of cow, but the Normans changed that to a filet of beef. That this remained a permanent adjustment to the language is a relief because there’s something slightly unsettling about ordering a bloody cow with fries, unless you’re Texan, in which case I believe it’s the default expression.


Eventually, the French grasp over the aristocratic and governmental systems of England loosened. By the mid-fifteenth century, the use of French in England, even among the nobility, had waned, mostly because the alliances and lineage that William the Conqueror brought to England 400 years earlier had lost their genetic purity with time. There was also a new, burgeoning middle class of wealthy merchants, artists and minstrels. If one can really call a man who professionally fondles a lute ‘middle class’. Such people were solely English-speaking. The French tongue of the upper classes became a subject of mockery across the lower levels of English society, perhaps thanks to its inherent pomposity. In ‘The Prioress’s Tale’ within The Canterbury Tales, Chaucer writes: ‘And Frenssh she spak ful faire and fetisly, after the scole of Stratford-atte-Bowe, for Frenssh of Parys was to hir unknowe.’ 


Even though French lost its status as the official language of England, its legacy never left. It was the melding of French and Old English which spawned Middle English and the English we know today.


The other monumental change was to England’s landscape. Just as the Romans learnt a millennium earlier when the Celts, Picts and Goths resisted their rule, you can’t merely invade and hope to rule a nation overnight. People have an awkward tendency to rebel, and that they did. Despite killing Harold Godwinson, William was not automatically declared king; it was up to the Witenagemot, commonly called Witan, an Anglo-Saxon council employed in England since the seventh century, to decide who would become the new ruler. So William waited patiently in Hastings, playing football with Harold’s head, expecting to receive word from London that they were ready to hand him the seat of power.


After two weeks it became clear that the Witan had disregarded the mighty French bastard harbouring an overwhelming army only several miles away and had instead chosen Edgar the Ætheling, the only surviving member of the House of Wessex. William was infuriated; he hadn’t just raised an army, crossed the sea, defeated another royal army and murdered the king to be told by some pernickety pensioners to go home. Before Edgar could be crowned William took his men on a rampage, through Dover, Canterbury, Winchester and Wallingford. He was proving, by stabbing peasants and setting fire to their thatched roofs, that his power grab was not just a little joke that could be deliberated over; he was serious. After William had suppressed most of the south-east, the Witan capitulated and the Archbishop of Canterbury, who was responsible for crowning kings, had no choice but to accept William’s new Norman yoke.


After his coronation as King of England on Christmas Day 1066, William took no delay in cementing his new power in stone. He ordered the immediate construction of a castle in central London, with a wooden keep to control the capital. This was later rebuilt in stone during the 1080s, becoming the ‘White Tower’, the central keep of the Tower of London which was built around it. The height of this new structure, which reached twenty-seven metres by 1100, would have been incredibly intimidating. Until now, only cathedrals had reached such heights, yet this new symbol of Norman oppression towered over every other building in the city. The message was clear to all: the Normans are here to stay.


The last large-scale Anglo-Saxon revolt against Norman rule was between 1069–70. William’s response to this uprising has scarred the history books as the ‘Harrying of the North’. During the winter of ’69, while William enjoyed cosy fireside Christmas feasts at York, he dispatched troops to violently supress the rebels in nearby villages. Thousands were slaughtered, their crops, livestock, tools and homes were burnt, and salt was ploughed into fields so no crops could grow. As a result, over 100,000 died of starvation across the North – many resorted to eating their own families. The Harrying was, without a doubt, William’s most abhorrent act.


Over the next two decades, William went castle crazy. Because of their effectiveness at subduing the populace he oversaw the construction of eighty-four new castles across England, notably in London, York, Windsor, Warwick, Lincoln, Oxford and Durham. The English people were forced to build these castles without payment; it’s as if they needed yet another reason to dislike their new foreign overlord. They also constructed, on William’s orders, towering new Norman churches and cathedrals such as Old St Paul’s, which lasted until the fateful fire of 1666.


At first, they were all constructed using the motte and bailey design. It was a fast, cheap way to get a fortification up in a jiffy to subdue the cantankerous peasants. The motte was a mound of earth piled steep enough so that invaders would be unable to run up the side. On top of this hill was placed a circular wooden fort. This structure was encircled by the bailey, usually one to three acres of land with a tall wooden palisade around the perimeter. From around 1100 all of these castles were upgraded using stone, which was much stronger and fire-resistant. Many of these castles from William’s reign can still be explored today; all of them have been extended over the centuries by various monarchs and dukes. A swimming pool here, a conservatory over there, and perhaps a delightful murder hole in the ceiling – a circular hole, usually above entranceways, through which castle defenders could pour boiling hot oil or tar on the heads of attackers. And for the basement? Well, there’s nothing quite like a tastefully designed oubliette to complete the look. An oubliette, obviously of French origin, meaning ‘to forget’, was a tiny, cramped dungeon in the basement with barely enough room to turn around. A prisoner would be dropped in from above and literally forgotten about. They were usually pitch black, and the prisoner would be dead within a few days.


William’s new castles were more than sufficient for suppressing the population physically, but not mentally – for that he had another ace up his sleeve. Knowledge is power. Today’s intelligence agencies know that. George Orwell knew that in 1949, Francis Bacon definitely knew it when he coined the maxim in 1597, and it may surprise you that William the Conqueror knew that in 1086. William had asserted power over his new dominion physically through the building of many magnificent castles. But he was acutely aware that real power lies not just in influencing your subjects’ ability to act, but also to think. The Domesday Book received its name because it heralded doomsday for people’s freedom and privacy. It ushered in a new age where the state must know the whereabouts, the holdings and the personal profile of every man, woman and child subject to it. And so, a modest army of bookkeepers was dispatched across England to record every person, every yard of land they owned, every cow, ox, sheep and chicken. The first census in history to be conducted on such a grand scale.


The people may not have known it at the time, but the king did, the nobility certainly did, and the clergy most definitely did, the Domesday Book was about one thing: control. But its primary function, as William intended, was not to oppress the peasant class (well, it was a little bit); it was mostly a scheme to keep the nobles securely under his thumb. If he knew, without doubt, what each and every noble owned, it would become insurmountably difficult for any baron to commit fraud and come to control possessions beyond his means or legal entitlement.


On top of the big and scary castles and the even scarier ledger, William had a final way of strengthening his mandate to rule. He divided the entire country into shires and handed them out to his Norman lords and bishops. In return for this handout, each lord would collect taxes for the royal purse, and provide soldiers known as levies to fight for the king upon request. Each lord then divided their land between a number of knights who would swear fealty to the lord, and below them were peasants, or more accurately ‘villeins’ – each was given a small strip of land to farm on behalf of their master in return for food and board, but they were not free and could never leave service. William had just introduced the feudal system to England that had proved effective in France since AD 900.


William died on 9 September 1087 following an injury sustained seizing Mantes during a military expedition against the French. But William’s departure from the world was slightly less heroic than his legacy gives credence to. His corpse was taken on a seventy-mile journey via boat down the Seine to its intended burial site at Caen. During this long voyage, bacteria seeped into his intestines and released putrid gas which massively inflated his bowels. Upon reaching the burial site, the stone coffin that had been constructed for him was far smaller than the now much-enlarged, gas-filled corpse. During his funeral, they attempted to force his disgusting Zeppelin of a corpse into the stone tomb. Then, all of a sudden, the body burst, his putrefied innards flew through the air and covered everyone present in monarch juice. A final and disgusting slap in the face from a king who had made it his calling to conquer, control and shit on people’s liberties.




1100–1153 ANARCHY
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Matilda Does an Impression 
of Marshmallow


ON 25 NOVEMBER 1120, a breathlessly cool breeze brushed the proud rocky outcrops encasing Barfleur harbour in Normandy. But aboard one magnificent longship that was bobbing restlessly in the harbour, the atmosphere was warm and jovial. The White Ship had been loaned to Henry I’s (fourth son of William the Conqueror) only legitimate son, his heir and golden-child William the Ætheling (Ætheling meaning simply ‘heir to the throne’ or ‘prince’ in Anglo-Saxon), in order for him and his noble companions to cross from Barfleur to England. Aboard the ship was also William’s half-sister Matilda FitzRoy, Countess of Perche, his half-brother Richard of Lincoln, and two of Henry’s twenty-two illegitimate children. Yes, twenty-two, and an additional two others were rumoured to exist – take a wild guess at Henry’s favourite pastime.


Barrels of wine were being rolled in copious quantities onto the White Ship. The entire crew of almost 200 nobles from England’s and Normandy’s most influential and powerful families guzzled down their fair share of the liquor; they partied the night away on board like it was 1066. Henry, who had been in Barfleur earlier in the day, had wisely set off back to England aboard another vessel not crewed by drunks. Just before the White Ship set sail, after many hours of rambunctious alcohol-fuelled activities, the prospect of a large, cumbersome ship being steered through turbulent and icy-cold waters across the English Channel struck a handful of the party as perhaps not the wisest decision in Christendom. After watching the captain pissing up the side of the boat, they took their leave, deciding to make their own way home. Among those who disembarked was Stephen of Blois, because he too needed to relieve his bladder of an evening’s worth of wine. It’s not often that one can confidently proclaim that the calling of a man’s bladder would change the course of history, but, as you will soon discover, this particular midnight micturition changed everything.


Just before dawn, with a gust of glacial wind pushing surely but dangerously into the White Ship’s large sails, the vessel took leave from Barfleur harbour with great haste, captained by a man who had left his sobriety ashore. The captain had bragged about how his ship was so fast that it could beat Henry’s back to England, despite Henry’s vessel departing much earlier, as though he was going to somehow break the laws of physics despite being as pissed as a pickle. And so, as the chronicler William of Malmesbury wrote: ‘She [flew] swifter than the winged arrow, sweeping the rippling surface of the deep’. Indeed, just like an arrow, she flew . . . oh yes, she flew directly into a cracking boulder.


The White Ship didn’t even make it out of the harbour; the jagged rocks had torn a gushing wound through its hull. As the frozen water rushed into the ship’s bow, the crew scrambled to save the life of the future king, William. It was too late, and almost everyone on board perished. The frigid waters pierced their lungs, and the sharp rocks shredded their lifeless bodies. The accident occurred so close to the shore that those on land mistook the deathly screams for drunken revelry. Only one passenger survived, a crafty butcher who managed to mount a piece of floating timber and bobbed, feverishly bereft of hot breath, back towards the safety of the harbour.


Courtiers back in England were frightfully nervous about informing Henry of the tragedy and loss of his only legitimate heir and two of his other children. They deliberated for days and finally resorted to literally chucking a small boy before Henry’s feet to deliver the news and then cowardly backing out of the room. Like throwing scraps of disappointment to a caged bear. The boy wept on all fours as he broke the tragic news to Henry, who immediately fell to the ground, overcome with anguish. Furthermore, it had suddenly occurred to Henry that he had a dilemma on his hands. He was now in his sixties, and his only legitimate heir was dead. There was nobody alive who he could have lawfully entrusted with upholding the vast empire he had devoted his life to building.


Henry did what any rational man would: he tried to shag his way to a solution. His wife Matilda had died in 1118, so he now hurriedly married the teenage Adeliza of Louvain and boldly gave the matter all he could – repeatedly and often. Yet, despite his historical success in pumping out bastards like an adulterous ATM, a new, legitimate baby was not to be – Henry’s famed fertility was past its prime. So he was left to do the unthinkable: he named his only other legitimate child, Matilda, as his successor. It may surprise one’s modern sensibilities to hear that all this time Henry already had a legitimate child and a perfectly suitable heir, so why had he deemed it necessary to pursue the production of a new male heir instead?


It seems Matilda had made the fatal mistake of being a woman. In the twelfth century, a female ruler was not only laughable: it was incredibly dangerous. Women were thought to be worse than men at politics and diplomacy, and were also considered generally less intelligent. The temptation for rival male pretenders with spurious links to the succession to swoop in and steal the crown after the death of the incumbent monarch was simply too high. Not to mention with a degree of ease, as the public would readily offer their support to a male challenger over a female. And when you’re making a bid for kingship, having the backing of the barons is crucial – an unfortunate lesson Matilda would soon learn. And just wait until she discovers the monarch gender wage gap.


Knowing the risks, Henry forced all the barons to swear an oath stating they would support Matilda’s legitimacy as heir after his death. A chivalrous promise that they would all break absolutely immediately – just as soon as dear old Henry drew his final breath. That fateful day soon came in November 1135. While on a hunting trip in Lyons-la-Forêt Henry fell gravely ill after indulging in a plate of deliciously prepared lampreys which his doctor had outright banned him from consuming because of the potential risks to his health. But after a hard day’s hunt Henry could not, for reasons unknown, resist gorging on these blood-sucking, bottom-feeding parasitic eels, a delicacy he had grown fond of. On 1 December, after confessing his sins, Henry died. By the time his stinking cadaver was brought back to England the putrid gases were seeping through the oxhide it had been wrapped in, and it’s reported that the stench killed one of the men accompanying his body.


What should have happened next is that Matilda came to England, assumed her rightful place as queen and all was well. Not a chance. If Matilda had been male it would have been that simple, but this was 1135; there were parsnips that enjoyed more rights than a woman, even a woman of royal birth, and Matilda buttered no parsnips. If she honestly thought she could just waltz into England and seize the throne without a few irritable and chauvinistic peasants banging on pots and screaming bloody murder, she was delusional.


Matilda had married the Holy Roman Emperor Henry V as a teenager. She grew up in the opulence of the grand European palaces. Following her husband’s death from cancer in 1125 Matilda married Geoffrey of Anjou to solidify the Norman–Angevin friendship. She certainly did not marry him for love – the couple reportedly hated each other, even more than was usual for the arranged marriages of the day; the pair argued persistently and were the kind of dysfunctional, self-destructive couple who spend all day telling each other how much they wish the other would just go ahead and die already. It was Geoffrey who gave the infamous Plantagenets their name. As was traditional for the Count of Anjou, he wore a yellow sprig of broom blossom, the Latin name for which is Planta genista. This became ‘Plantagenet’ and people took to calling Geoffrey ‘Geoffrey Plantagenet’. After his marriage to Matilda, his sobriquet became the surname which bore England’s longest dynasty.


Now, do you remember Matilda’s cousin, Stephen of Blois? That’s right, the bloke who popped to the bathroom instead of boarding the doomed White Ship. Yes, that’s him, the indomitable warrior saved from certain death by a quick slash on a potted plant . . . is how he would have introduced himself at dinner parties, I’m sure. Well, Stephen happened to be in Boulogne when news reached him of Henry’s death. As the eldest grandson of William the Conqueror, he took the initiative to bolt over the Channel and fill the power vacuum that had emerged. Like the other barons, Stephen had sworn an oath to honour Matilda as Henry’s successor, but like the other barons, he assumed that Henry was either joking or had been taking advice from his horse. Upon arriving in London he immediately began preparations to selfishly seize the throne.


Stephen relied on his younger brother Henry, the Bishop of Winchester and the second richest man in England, to position the clergy and the pope behind his power grab. Meanwhile, Stephen sweet-talked the most powerful barons. He had little issue in doing so as he was an immensely affable character; more importantly, however, he offered them a slew of new rights and privileges in return for their support. After making ridiculous promises he could never keep, such as turning the Thames into wine and converting St Paul’s into a dirty gentleman’s club exclusively for the clergy – well, perhaps not that ridiculous – all of London was on his side.


What also rallied Stephen’s support was that Matilda was his polar opposite. Firstly, and most importantly, she was a woman, which had a tendency to make barons queasy. And, reportedly, she was arrogant and bossy. ‘She was lifted up into an insufferable arrogance . . . and alienated the hearts of almost everyone,’ wrote the contemporary chronicler Henry of Huntingdon. It’s undoubtedly true that in the twelfth century, an arrogant medieval male king would be viewed as strong and stalwart by his people; the same quality in a woman, however, was wholly undesirable. The barons would see no special privileges with such a woman on the throne. So, naturally, all the cards fell into place for Stephen.


Stephen of Blois was crowned King of England at Westminster Abbey on 22 December 1135. Stephen’s minions had also conveniently spread rumours that Henry had all of a sudden changed his mind about nominating Matilda as his heir on his deathbed and asked that Stephen take the position instead. The rumours had no substance, but that was hardly important. Meanwhile, in Normandy, Matilda was not best pleased: she had just had her rightful succession ripped away from her. Worse still, her eldest son, Henry Plantagenet, had been effectively disinherited.


The ensuing tension between Stephen and Matilda marked the beginning of a long and tedious civil war which chroniclers would later name ‘the Anarchy’. Some modern historians would argue that ‘the Anarchy’ is an epithet laced with a touch too much hyperbole, citing that the bloodshed during this civil war was far from anarchic. These folk would perhaps recommend softer titles such as ‘the Upset’ instead. Such people, however, are the kind of immensely boring chaps that don’t get invited to parties and spend their evenings discussing optimal thermal fleece linings with their feline companion. Besides, I would argue that the term ‘Anarchy’ is well deserved. There may not have been any significant pitched battles, such as Towton of the later Wars of the Roses, but the Anarchy was fraught with endless wars of attrition between the various barons loyal to either Stephen or Matilda. During such conflicts lands were sacked, crops burnt, villages besieged and the people starved. It was a terribly unpleasant time to be alive in England. It was similar to the Cold War, but colder and with slightly more war. The Anglo-Saxon Chronicle wrote about the Anarchy:


 


Then was corn dear, and flesh, and cheese, and butter, for there was none in the land – wretched men starved with hunger – some lived on alms who had been erewhile rich; some fled the country – never was there more misery, and never acted heathens worse than these . . . The earth bare no corn, you might as well have tilled the sea, for the land was all ruined by such deeds, and it was said openly that Christ and his saints slept.


 


Stephen may have been a nice chap and cosied up to his friends, but he was not forged of material fit for kingship, not like Henry. He was either too afraid or incapable of giving unruly barons a good slap on the wrist for their misdeeds. During his initial years as ruler, he lost many of his key supporters. He allowed the barons to openly defy his authority and run their lands as autonomous mini-kingdoms, which were laws unto themselves. Stephen also maintained a lavish court, with more fruit pies and ale than he knew what to do with. This rapidly emptied the vast treasury Henry had left behind.


In 1139 Matilda sought to exploit Stephen’s weak and shaky rule, so she crossed over from Normandy and set up base in the imposing Arundel Castle. Stephen responded by marching a large army south and besieging Matilda inside the castle. It was here that Stephen made his biggest blunder of the civil war. Instead of keeping the upper hand and using the opportunity to crush Matilda, he decided to let her swan off into the forest like she was a harmless pixie, and not a murderous cousin who wished to grind his head between two large rocks then take his crown. Stephen escorted Matilda out of the castle to meet her powerful half-brother Robert of Gloucester. To this day, it is unknown why Stephen would make such a generous but obvious blunder; it was perhaps out of chivalry. Stephen was reported as being courteous, and in Norman warfare, to besiege a woman inside a castle was straight out of the tyrant’s playbook.


Matilda couldn’t believe her luck and took no delay in remorselessly exploiting Stephen’s compassion. She moved to Bristol where she befriended the local marcher lords – powerful barons that held territory on the border between England and Wales. Allied with her half-brother Gloucester, who could be described as the most powerful baron in England at the time, she set up an alternative government in Bristol and subjugated a vast patchwork (persistent pockets of Stephen’s supporters held out) of the south-west of England, effectively splitting the country in two.


Matilda enjoyed her next victory on 2 February 1141 at the Battle of Lincoln when her forces finally met Stephen’s in a pitched battle, and so ensued the most boring skirmish in all of English history. There were no spectacular quagmires of blood or arrows through the eyes of a rival king. The two forces charged each other head-on, and Matilda’s swiftly gained the upper hand, routing Stephen’s men before they had a chance to realise where they were. The only point of titillation was that after the majority of Stephen’s men had fled the field, Stephen himself courageously fought on, flailing a great Danish axe around his head, channelling his Viking ancestry. Robert and Matilda let him have his moment in the sun for a few minutes before dragging him away from the battlefield kicking and screaming. He was locked up in Bristol Castle.


Matilda proceeded to rule England under the title of ‘Lady of the English’, and that should have been the end of it, a gruesome civil war put to bed. But it could not last, for Matilda’s worst enemy was herself. She was so bloody intolerable that she managed to piss off the whole of Europe. She proved stubborn and arrogant as a ruler and blatantly refused to hand out any special privileges or financial compensations to the barons. So they chased her out of London on 24 June 1141. To worsen matters, her most powerful ally, Robert of Gloucester, had been captured by Stephen’s supporters. Matilda was left with only one option: a direct prisoner swap – she would release Stephen in exchange for Gloucester. After all, without Robert’s support her campaign was heading nowhere.


After Stephen’s release, he regained, almost overnight, all the support he had lost after the ‘joust’ of Lincoln. Matilda was forced to retreat all the way to Oxford Castle. Before long Stephen’s forces had surrounded the castle and once again she was under siege. The only person who could help her at this point was her ‘loyal’ husband Geoffrey, who was so unwaveringly loyal that he had forgotten she existed. He was still in France watching over Normandy. Matilda was so damn insufferable her husband wanted nothing to do with her, and they had almost divorced several times in the past. Nevertheless, being her husband and all, Geoffrey did send help. Almost as a joke, he sent a meagre 300 knights. When the pitiful force arrived at Oxford, they took one look at Stephen’s forces and unanimously decided they could be of more use bedding whores at the nearest tavern.


By Christmas Matilda’s situation had grown so dire she bravely took matters into her own hands and pulled off a remarkable feat. The ground outside was laden with thick snow. In the dead of night, she draped herself in a white bed sheet and crept out a rear door of the castle, slipping past the guards like a ghost. Matilda then trudged miles through the frozen winter night to the relative safety of the nearby town of Abingdon, some seven miles south. Taking this opportunity, she built up a fresh army to bolster her defensive position. And she now had renewed support from the potent Gloucester, who had grown disenchanted with Matilda but had nonetheless come to support her once more after learning of her heroic escape from Oxford Castle. I suppose he thought that a woman who could evade an army doing an impression of a marshmallow could do anything.


The country was once more split in two: Stephen ruled from the Palace of Westminster and Matilda from Devizes Castle in the south-west. Devizes had been under the ownership of Robert of Gloucester after he paid ruthless mercenary Robert Fitzhubert to steal it from Stephen in 1140. Fitzhubert was not the sort of fellow you want to make an enemy out of. He frequently boasted how he once roasted alive eighty monks in a church, and whenever he took a prisoner, he would smear their naked bodies with honey and leave them out in the sun until they were stung to death by insects.


While Matilda set up shop in a castle stolen by a man who rubbed condiments on peasants for a living, the Anarchy raged on; England was blood-speckled with instability and baronial revolts. In 1147 Matilda’s fourteen-year-old son Henry attempted an invasion with a modest army of mercenaries. When they got to England, however, Henry could no longer afford to pay them so naturally, instead of fighting against Stephen, they buggered off to the pub. Embarrassingly, Stephen graciously offered to pay the mercenaries on Henry’s behalf. You know your invasion isn’t going to plan when your enemy has to bail out your own troops.


By its anti-climactic end, the Anarchy had no heads on spikes or great battles. By 1153 the country was so sick of attritional civil war and so desperately hungry, the people cried out for a stable government. The young Henry Plantagenet, Matilda’s son, and King Stephen agreed to negotiate – their diplomacy resulted in a treaty agreed at Winchester Cathedral. It stipulated that Stephen would be allowed to rule England until his death, and in exchange he would announce publicly, before all the barons, that Henry, not his own son William, would become his rightful heir.


Unsurprisingly William was well and truly ticked off: he had been disinherited by his own father. But for Stephen, the peace of the realm was a more pertinent issue. In response to this betrayal, William planned to assassinate Henry, but the plans never came to fruition. The treaty had arrived just in time for Henry, for only a year later, on 25 October 1154, Stephen died of a stomach-related illness, and for the first time in many decades, a new monarch ascended peacefully to the throne and England was now ruled by the first of many Plantagenet kings.




1153–1189 BETRAYAL
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Henry II Fills a Castle With Prostitutes
Then Falls out With God


THROUGH THE DUSKY HAZE of a French evening in March 1152, a recently annulled queen rode on a perilous journey through the Loire Valley, but she wasn’t fleeing cutthroats or bandits – she was fleeing the grasping hands of would-be suitors, not-so-noble men who sought to marry and bed her by the next morning. But how did one of Europe’s most illustrious noblewomen end up in such a predicament?


After the death of her father William, Duke of Aquitaine, Eleanor had inherited one of the wealthiest and most extensive dominions on the Continent, containing more than a quarter of the land area of medieval France. It included the regions of Bordeaux, Bayonne and Gascony. But a thirteen-year-old girl ruling over a quarter of France was a precarious situation. Within three months of her father’s death, to secure her position, the nubile teenager married a seventeen-year-old prince, who only a few days later, due to his own father passing, became King Louis VII of France.


Eleanor of Aquitaine was not only the wealthiest and most landed woman in all of Europe, but she was also reputedly one of the most beautiful. She was so striking that bards and young men from every corner of the Continent would sing songs in alehouses about bedding her. But, incredibly, the man who was actually married to her, Louis VII, wanted to trade in his prize goldfish – he wished to angle the sea for a catch with a higher yield. You see, Eleanor had delivered him two female heirs, but Louis grew exasperated by her apparent inability to give him a male heir, and so he convinced the clergy to annul his marriage. To all of Christendom she may have been the holy grail of Gallic girls, but now, to Louis, she was Judas with a womb.


On 21 March 1152, Eleanor and Louis’ marriage was dissolved by an assembly of French bishops. And so we return to where we began. Eleanor set off into the night, still in possession of the whole of Aquitaine, but now without the protection of a powerful patriarch. Tales of her beauty meant that her name and likeness was known from Scotland to the Pyrenees. She was more vulnerable than ever. She scurried through the night towards Normandy where she knew she could find her sole salvation, the only man worthy of such a prize, for whomever she married would own Aquitaine, a serious boost to the wealth and power of any European baron.


Understandably, yet rather creepily, a flock of lustful barons stalked Eleanor – all desperate to be the first to wed her and lay their hands on her golden egg. Among them were Theobald V, Count of Blois, and Geoffrey Plantagenet the younger, Henry Plantagenet’s brother. But Eleanor was well seasoned and savvy; she had blossomed within the flower of French politics. She knew there was but one man worthy of her immense fortune: Henry Plantagenet, soon to be Henry II, King of England. If you’re going to gold-dig, you may as well set your sights high. But Henry’s fate had yet to be fulfilled; the Anarchy was still ravaging England and he was on the coast of Normandy planning to invade Stephen’s realm.


Eleanor sent a messenger to Henry telling him, in no uncertain terms: ‘Eleanor of Aquitaine, only the most beautiful and desirable woman in Europe, wants you.’ Henry immediately dropped his invasion plans and rode like a bullet to meet her. I do believe if Henry had not accepted Eleanor’s offer, we would need to consider giving him the title of ‘England’s most idiotic monarch’. At a hushed ceremony, the nineteen-year-old claimant to the English throne married Eleanor of Aquitaine, nine years his senior, but with her dowry, I doubt he was concerned one bit about the age gap. He must have felt like a horny teen at Christmas. During their marriage, Eleanor would be pregnant fifteen times before she gave Henry a living heir, Edward.


After inheriting the throne from Stephen two years later, a young and ambitious Henry II now had his hands on a vast Angevin empire that spread from the foothills of Scotland to the Pyrenees. Officially King of England, Duke of Normandy and Aquitaine, Count of Anjou, Maine and Nantes and later, through conquest, Lord of Ireland, Henry would become one of history’s greatest kings. But a large scar would deface his mighty reign, brought on by the catastrophic murder of an important member of the clergy. We’ve all made that mistake.


Before Henry could pop a priest, he had some spring cleaning to do. Post-Anarchy England was a mess; like the morning after an East London rave, mass devastation had been inflicted upon thousands of acres of land. What was messier, however, was the unchecked autonomy the barons now enjoyed. They had taken advantage of Stephen’s inability to enact a firm hand of discipline. The brazenly insolent barons had constructed ‘adulterine’ castles, newly built castles that hadn’t been authorised by the crown. As Henry soon realised, significant parts of the country had become estranged from royal and forest laws; the realm was divided into insular and despotic mini-kingdoms. Henry set out on a crusade of law and order to whip the barons into line, like the good little underlings they ought to be.


Short and stocky with a reddish complexion, Henry possessed a fierce countenance that could rapidly switch between good humour and anger. Throughout his thirty-four-year reign he relentlessly dragged his peripatetic court around like a travelling circus, but instead of making people laugh wherever he went, he stuck their insolent heads on spikes. Louis VII, King of France, was astonished at Henry’s ability to pop up in any location, unannounced, across his vast realms in England and France like an unwanted disease. Henry would cross the Channel twenty-four times during his reign, and he spent so much time in the saddle that by later life his legs became permanently bowed.


Between 1154 and 1155 Henry played a game of royal whack-a-mole. He rode around his new English kingdom and ordered the destruction of all illegal castles. Most telling about how royal justice would work under Henry was how he dealt with barons who weren’t shacked up in illegal castles. He would arrive at the homes of the most powerful barons and lay siege to their castle, but when they inevitably surrendered, which they all did, Henry didn’t seize their keep, he simply handed it back to them and left. The message was loud and clear: everyone owed their possessions and prestige to one man, the king.


Henry also took back land in the north that the young Scottish king Malcolm had taken from Stephen during the Anarchy. Typically, the Welsh proved more stubborn. Henry fought two campaigns in the north and south of Wales in 1157 and 1158 respectively, and eventually the Welsh princes Owain Gwynedd and Rhys ap Gruffydd submitted to Henry’s new Angevin yoke. It was only now, with the Welsh stuffed back into their Celtic box, and with the tenuous strings of civil order sewn back together again, that Henry could enact a series of legal reforms to ensure a situation such as the Anarchy never repeated itself. In case you were wondering, it did . . . five times: in the form of two barons’ wars (1215 and 1264), the Despenser War (1321), the Wars of the Roses (1455) and finally the English Civil War (1642).


Henry’s new legal statutes ushered in a new chapter in England’s history. Record keeping improved, so hopefully, this book will get a damn sight better. But the most significant change would be how criminals were dealt with. Henry was the sort of paranoid king who wanted to know every time a fishwife slapped her husband with a halibut in Yorkshire. He was deeply unsatisfied with the current machinery of justice – it was a chaotic, decentralised mess. Law enforcement relied on shire courts, self-policed tithings and trials by ordeal in which the accused were drowned or made to carry hot irons to prove their innocence.


Tossing tavern-keepers into tarns was not how Henry envisioned royal justice, so he created a new band of super-judges. These were professional royal attorneys known as ‘eyres’, literally ‘journeys’. They would travel all over his empire to hear cases. To request the attendance of an eyre, a plaintiff could pay a small sum to purchase a writ. Bishops in London were hired to write and approve these writs. In more severe cases such as murder or treason, criminals would be called to the permanent royal courts Henry created at Westminster in the 1170s. It has been said that this very model of bureaucracy and justice is the basis of the same civil service we still use in Britain and countless other freedom-loving countries today. Which must be why the process of calling my local council gremlin to pay property tax seems positively medieval. It can be argued, if you have nothing better to do, that Henry’s legal overhaul was when English common law was born – perhaps Britain’s greatest ever export. English common law meant that for the first time, instead of regional courts haphazardly inventing their own rules for how any given case should be handled, now courts would be forced to refer to the ‘common’ pool of all previous documented court cases in the country. If a precedent has been set in a previous dispute that is similar in substance to the current case, then common law dictates it must follow the reasoning behind the decision already made. Therefore, when properly implemented, common law ensures that no two criminals who commit identical crimes can be punished unequally. Lawyers like to call this fundamental rule stare decisis and its beautifully simple maxim of ‘what was before must now be again’ underpins all Western civilisation.


To deal with financial legalities, Henry set up an Exchequer court in Westminster. This was literally a table covered in a chequered cloth, hence the name, around which sheriffs and clerks would sit. They would push counters around the chequered cloth to symbolise money, writs and deeds changing hands. Today, the head of Britain’s Treasury is still called the Chancellor of the Exchequer. What is also interesting is that the Prime Minister of the United Kingdom is an unofficial title – the person to hold this office is legally and principally the First Lord of the Treasury; historically and now, he is only prime minister as a means of convention. Today ‘prime minister’ is the preferred vernacular, yet the head of Britain’s government is still strictly referred to as the First Lord of the Treasury on all legal documents. If you look closely at the famous door to 10 Downing Street, you will notice the title on the letterbox is ‘First Lord of the Treasury’, not ‘Prime Minister’ – this is because number 10 is not the prime minister’s official residence or office; that would be the grand sixteenth-century Buckinghamshire manor house Chequers. Number 10 Downing Street is home only to the First Lord of the Treasury – yes, I’m aware it’s the same person, but technicalities matter, just ask OJ’s lawyer. 


Henry’s reign was going terrifically well. Under his stern guidance the Angevin Empire grew to be the vastest in Europe, and Henry, the most powerful ruler in twelfth-century Europe, more so than even the Holy Roman Emperor – though that office always sounded more impressive than it actually was, as Voltaire wonderfully quipped in 1756: ‘The Holy Roman Empire was neither Holy, nor Roman, nor an Empire.’ Just like the Lord Mayor of London is neither a lord nor the mayor of London. His royal court, in the strategically important Chinon castle, ironically in France, not England, was unrivalled in Europe for its extravagance. It drew nobles from all over the Continent, mostly because last orders were called slightly later than in other courts. Even better, it was full to the rafters with prostitutes. There were so many at Henry’s court he paid a man to manage them full-time, Ranulf de Broc, whose official and rather glorious title was ‘Marshal of the Whores of the Royal Household’. It absolutely beats modern tosh such as ‘Head of Human Resources’, which is essentially the same thing.


Today Henry II would no doubt be regarded as one of the most effective and brilliant kings of all – if only his story had ended here. A friendship turned sour would tear a hole in Henry’s morality so wide that he could never again sit in a chair comfortably. For many years, Henry’s most loyal and favoured friend was his chancellor Thomas Becket. In this role, Becket effectively ran England and hid the distractions of menial daily rulership from the king. But as powerful as Henry grew, there was one pot he could never quite put a lid on: the clergy.


In the twelfth century, one in every six people was a part of the ecclesiastical estate, ‘those who pray’. These included bishops, archbishops, monks and nuns, but most were simple clerks. The barrier of entry to become a clerk was remarkably low. At one point, the only prerequisite for the role was that you could recite the first verse of Psalm 51 and abuse a small boy (in modern times only the first requirement has been binned). The benefits of becoming a clerk, however, were obvious: upon joining the clerical classes you would gain ‘benefit of the clergy’, which was like having a loyalty card for your local supermarket that nets you a free coffee, only slightly better.


Priests were tried in ecclesiastical courts under the protection of God, and so they were untouchable by secular courts and royal justice. If a regular criminal murdered his neighbour, he would be mutilated or hanged. If a clerk or other member of clergy did the same, he would instead be tried by the local bishop, who may simply have asked him to repent his sins – members of the clergy were never given the death penalty. So you basically agreed to celibacy in exchange for the ability to knock off your indefatigable neighbour and get away scot-free. Like I said, slightly better than a free coffee. However, Henry took huge issue with criminous clerks. He wished for every man, woman and child in the land to be answerable to the crown and he came up with a marvellous idea, or so he thought.


In the twelfth century, like today, the two most senior members of the clergy in England, then answerable only to the Holy See of Rome, were the Archbishops of Canterbury and York. In April 1161 the incumbent Archbishop of Canterbury, Theobald, popped his priestly clogs at the impressive age, for the day, of seventy. So Henry appointed his, up to now, most loyal friend and chancellor Thomas Becket to the post. On 3 June 1161, Becket was consecrated as Archbishop of Canterbury, which made the rest of the clergy vibrate with anger in their silky threads. Becket was a secular figure who was obviously a partisan of the crown – to be fair, they were entirely correct. There was also intense snobbery concerning Becket’s ‘common’ academic background. He had not been taught in the ways of theology or the law. Neither had he ever been a monk, as had most previous archbishops.


Henry, though, assumed he had devised a perfect plan born of pure genius. With Becket as primate of the Catholic Church in England, he could, by proxy, mould the clergy to his will. His one mistake, however, was assuming that Becket was indeed his loyal and obedient servant. On the surface, Becket appeared to be shallow and materialistic; Henry would dress relatively plainly despite being king, whereas Becket had always dressed like a Chelsea housewife, draped in the most exquisite jewels and robes.


In one particular outing in 1158, Becket led a magnificent procession through the heart of Paris on a diplomatic mission: to wed Henry’s son to Louis’ daughter Margaret. As he rode through the streets of Paris, Becket had in tow an endless train of servants in bright festive garments: 200 horsemen, knights, clerks and nobles. He handed out hundreds of silk cloaks as gifts. There were hounds and hawks, large horse-drawn chariots, two carts overburdened with nothing but barrels of beer, and, best of all, on the back of every horse was a monkey – because why not?


But the truth was, this was not the real Becket; it was a façade, merely a demonstration of English wealth. In private Becket ate frugally and wore a hair shirt; he did not want for any material goods. This abstemious attitude was revealed instantly after Becket assumed his new title of Archbishop of Canterbury. Almost overnight, he found God, who was presumably hiding in his bedchamber. 


Becket dedicated himself entirely to his divine new role. Perhaps aware of the misgivings about his lack of theological education, he attempted to fit in among his pious new peers, and promptly resigned from the position of chancellor, claiming he was unsuitable for the office. And, instead of dismantling the cogs of the clergy from within, as Henry had desired, Becket did the opposite – he tightened them, bolstering the power of the Church wherever he could. Henry was incensed: his long-term friend and ally had, within days, turned his back on him and switched allegiance.


To make up for this loss of loyalty, in 1164 Henry introduced the Constitutions of Clarendon – a landmark constitutional document that attempted, once and for all, to define the blurred boundaries between Church and Crown. Relations grew so tense between the two men that, the same year, Becket suspended himself from his clerical duties and fled to France under the protection of Louis VII. For five years Becket sequestered himself away at Pontigny Abbey, writing furious letters to the pope, protesting against the evils of King Henry. He ate nothing but vegetables and, in what could only have been a self-inflicted penance, regularly submerged himself for hours in the frigidly cold river – as though Henry was going to have a miraculous change of heart once he learnt that his former friend was dipping his bollocks in a provincial frost-bitten brook.


In 1170 Becket returned to England, still raging at the king over the Constitutions of Clarendon. In a fit of fury, on Christmas Day in Canterbury Cathedral, he publicly and passionately swore vengeance on and excommunicated all those who had wronged him. When Henry, currently enjoying his Christmas in Normandy, received word of Becket’s actions, he was enraged. This was a man who had once become so angry, he dropped to all fours in his bedroom and savagely ripped the straw from his mattress, using his teeth like a wild dog.


One particular messenger boy bore the full brunt of Henry’s wrath. He had been regularly handing the king irate letters from the pope until one day Henry unleashed his pent-up anger on the young lad. He tortured him by having his eyes gouged out and forcing him to drink boiling water. 


So all things considered, Henry was a fairly reasonable chap. When hearing of Becket’s transgression, he stood up in front of his court, incandescent with rage, and fervently proclaimed: ‘What miserable drones and traitors have I nurtured and promoted in my household who let their lord be treated with such shameful contempt by a low-born clerk!’ As chronicled by courtier Edward Grim, who later wrote an account of Henry’s life. It is often reported that Henry then said: ‘Will no one rid me of this turbulent priest?’ But it’s unlikely, since this addendum to his fierce speech didn’t appear until 1772 in George Lyttelton’s History of the Life of King Henry the Second.


Whether he said it or not, Henry’s hot-blooded monologue was enough to inspire four of his knights to take matters into their own hands. Without the king’s permission or knowledge, they sailed to Canterbury where they beat their way into the cathedral’s side door using an axe. Once inside they hacked repeatedly at Becket’s head with their great longswords, cutting off his scalp, and with the heels of their boots, they mashed his spilt brains into the consecrated floor of this most sacred place.


The bludgeoning was so brutal that the floor was a mosaic of red and white – red with blood, white with brain. Thanks to his thick-witted drones, Henry was in a world of trouble. Never before had a medieval king crossed the sacrosanct boundary of a church in such a visceral way. Henry had only been venting his anger, and the knights had acted entirely independently. When Henry heard of their evil deed, he was overcome with grief. But to all of Christendom, whether Henry had ordered the archbishop’s execution or not was immaterial. In the eyes of all his enemies, through Henry’s words, an incomprehensibly malevolent act had been committed, superficially against God himself.


Henry went into hiding in Ireland for over a year as his dominions rebelled, seething with indignation at the slaughter of an archbishop by their king’s unholy wickedness. Among the rebels were his own son, wife and various Scottish barons, all taking advantage of the great maw of moral instability. But it was how Henry quelled the rebellions that showed his intelligence and cunning. He didn’t raise armies and suppress the rebels with force, as in doing so he knew that his already tarnished image would be damaged even further. In the minds of the rebels, Becket was now a saintly martyr. So, in 1174, Henry appeared at Canterbury dressed in the rough woollen garb of a pilgrim and prostrated himself in front of Becket’s tomb. With arms outstretched, he stayed there for hours, praying for God’s forgiveness, and probably his wife’s too.


Then in what was his own version of Jesus’s Passion, he asked all the bishops present to line up and one by one whip his back, five times each. Unsurprisingly, a considerable number of bishops had gathered for this charade. A free ticket to brutally whip the King of England is an opportunity that doesn’t come around all too often. I wouldn’t be surprised if there were disgruntled farmers disguised in monks’ habits among their number, simply there for a good crack. By the end of the day, Henry had received hundreds of lashes, his back now a broken wasteland of bloody flesh, as though a pack of wild animals had been set loose upon his mortal body. Which, from experience, is about the level of flagellation required to appease an upset spouse.


It was a bold move, but it worked. News of the king’s martyrdom spread like wildfire throughout Christendom, and within days, the rebellions had lost their vigour. The very morning after Henry’s sacrifice, the Scottish king William the Lion, who had been systematically besieging northern castles, was set upon by a band of Yorkshire knights and captured; almost all of the Scottish knights were killed. Thus the Scottish rebellion was stopped dead in its tracks. To a medieval mindset, it would appear as though Henry’s penance in front of God the day before had caused the end of the Scottish rebellion only hours later – it was a sure thumbs up from God that Henry was forgiven.


Henry celebrated his return to God’s good graces by inviting a professional flatulist to perform at court on Christmas Day. Roland the Farter had a headline act named ‘Unum saltum et siffletum et unum bumbulum’, which consisted of a jump, a whistle and a fart. Henry was so impressed that he gave this parping Pavarotti a substantial reward: Hemingstone manor in Suffolk and thirty acres of land. I seriously doubt that if I farted in front of Her Majesty the Queen she would hand me the keys to Windsor Castle – how times have changed.


The Catholic Church canonised Becket, and he was declared a martyr by Pope Alexander III. His shrine at Canterbury Cathedral became the most popular pilgrimage site in Britain. Pilgrims could touch a piece of blood-soaked cloth at the shrine that had been purportedly taken from Becket’s body. Those who touched it claimed it could cure epilepsy, blindness or leprosy – but only these very specific ailments, because as we all know, God is fastidious about his soiled-cloth-based miracles. Before long Canterbury monks began selling small bottles of Becket’s blood. It never occurred to pilgrims that, with thousands visiting the shrine each year, Becket’s actual blood probably ran out fairly quickly. It was these superstitious scams that led to Henry VIII ordering Becket’s shrine to be destroyed in 1538.





1189–1199 CRUSADE
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Richard the Lionheart Is Killed
by a Frying Pan


RICHARD WOULD ONLY SPEND six months of his ten-year reign in England. As the third crusade to reconquer the Holy Land was being planned, after the famed sultan Saladin had captured Jerusalem in 1187, crusader fever gripped Europe. Just as it gripped the mind of the newly crowned Richard I – better known by his sobriquet ‘Richard the Lionheart’, which he would so gallantly earn on crusade. Richard made it very clear from the outset what kind of king he would be. He would not use England as his retirement home to park his ogreish backside on some padded throne, spending his days ogling dancing girls at court. Richard craved military renown. He left England in a blaze, in search of fame and valour in the far-flung Middle East, which was, in the twelfth century, the periphery of the known world, the edge of the map.


Crusading, however, was mighty expensive and despite his father Henry II leaving him with a treasury totalling £100,000, he would still need to suck his realm dry to pay for men, ships and £14,000 worth of food stockpiles, which included 14,000 cured pig carcasses, mountains of cheese and beans and 60,000 horseshoes – the latter was not for human consumption. So, in 1190 Richard’s flotilla of Christian mercenaries, including 3,000 fierce Welsh longbowmen, set off for Sicily. Philip II of France allied with Richard and became his crusader buddy; despite the pair being enemies, they mutually recognised the importance of putting historic machinations and bad blood aside in defence of Christendom. Together the two warrior kings became an unstoppable force, far greater than the sum of their parts, beating back the Muslim armies from the shores of Christian Europe – the primary threat to the peace of the Western world.


Crusading chaos claimed its first victims before Richard had even arrived in the Middle East. Anti-Semitic feelings among Christians always increased during crusades, so when Richard announced his crusade in 1189, false rumours began to spread that he had also ordered all English Christians to attack Jews. By the following year, as Richard departed on crusade, violence erupted against Jews all over the country, but in York, one of the worst pogroms in history occurred. Fearing the violent Christian mobs, most of York’s Jewish families headed to York Castle and barricaded themselves inside the wooden keep atop the steep grassy motte; today the rebuilt castle that stands on the same grassy knoll is called Clifford’s Tower. The angry mobs encircled the keep, besieging the Jews inside. After a few days, all hope of escape was lost and to save themselves from being lynched by the mob their rabbi leader suggested all 150 of them commit suicide. So they did. At first, the mothers killed their children; then the husbands killed their wives. Lastly, the remaining men set the entire keep on fire and allowed the flames to take their desperate lives. When the mobs burst through the blazing doors, all they found were the blackened bodies of entire families and thick red smoke infused with the blood of innocent souls.


Meanwhile, Richard and Philip arrived in Sicily in September 1190, their armies occupied the island and here they stayed for some time to plan and restock provisions. In April 1191, Richard departed for the Holy Land, on his way stopping at and capturing the island of Cyprus. Cyprus was a critical strategic position from which to control sea lanes to and from the Holy Land, and it remained a Christian stronghold until 1571.


From Cyprus, Richard’s army progressed to Acre, a strategic fort on the northern fringe of modern-day Israel that is one of the oldest continuously inhabited settlements on earth. By the time Richard arrived, on 8 June 1191, Acre had already been under siege by Philip’s French army for seven weeks. Also present were German and Flemish armies. When Richard’s navy docked upon the shores of Acre the city was a vast stench of squalor and depravity; the attacking armies had flung the maggot-ridden bodies of their perished kin into the city’s moat to fill it in, creating a platform on which they could place their mighty siege engines. Now there’s a lovely mental image for you to fall asleep to tonight. This scene may strike you as a touch ‘zombie apocalypse’, but corpses were a commonly utilised tool in medieval warfare. For example, at Agincourt the dying French created a dam of decomposing cadavers in front of the English longbowmen, which protected them from cavalry charges; on that day at least, the dead saved the living. The Muslim defenders, meanwhile, planned to shatter the morale of the Christian armies with terror attacks – which included releasing a slithering swarm of poisonous snakes into their camps while they slept. At one point during the siege Richard got scurvy and, not wanting to miss out on all the fun, he asked his men to carry him out onto the battlefield on a stretcher so he could shoot a crossbow at guards on a wall. I’ve heard of shooting fish in a barrel, but not heathens from a hammock.


This part of the world was known as Outremer, the collective term for the holy lands conquered by Europeans in the East. Richard and his men, who were by far the wealthiest of all the Christian factions, finally managed to break Acre’s stubborn façade, though in impressive testament to the Muslim defenders, they had held on for two murderous years. After the fall of Acre Richard’s crusade was coming to an end, although he did launch a surprise attack on the city of Jaffa in the dead of night, forcing it to capitulate with profound speed.


Back in England William de Longchamp had been made chancellor and overlord of the country during Richard’s absence. Richard’s brother John and half-brother Geoffrey, had been exiled to Normandy on Richard’s orders for the duration of his crusade. He suspected if Geoffrey and John had been permitted to enter England, they would have been nothing but trouble. They proved him correct. The cantankerous pair betrayed their oaths to stay clear of Longchamp’s regency and crossed from Normandy to England where they stripped Longchamp of his chancellorship and threw him into Dover prison. John had betrayed his brother and, worst of all, while he was on holiday. He now possessed unchallenged control over England.


News of these events distressed Richard – could the man not simply enjoy his heathen-bashing vacation without his horrible family behaving like duplicitous dickheads back home? The tumult in England put an early end to his crusade. In 1192 a truce was struck with Saladin which allowed him to keep Jerusalem so long as he permitted Christian pilgrims unimpeded access to the Holy Sepulchre. Richard was permitted to keep his conquered lands in Outremer so he could extend his mighty Angevin empire to the dusty horizons of the eastern realms. With this, Richard decided it was finally time to set sail home; after all, he was King of England, and he should probably start acting like it.


Despite his victorious crusade, Richard was detested across a more Gallic-inclined Europe, a hatred which stemmed from an incident with the French Crown – a few years earlier he had rudely retracted his promise to marry the French king Philip’s sister, Alys. Richard spread rumours that she had an affair and then, to rub fleur de sel in the wound, he married a Castilian princess, Berengaria of Navarre, while he and Alys were still technically engaged. With all the ports around the East blockaded by rebels, Richard assumed his safest route home was through the foothills of Germany, disguised as a pilgrim. But alas, the tried and tested ‘king disguised as a pilgrim routine’ didn’t work its usual magic, and he was captured by Duke Leopold of Austria. Richard had previously insulted Leopold, so naturally, the Austrian ruler didn’t have a banquet planned for his new royal captive. Richard so repulsed Leopold that he handed him to his overlord, Henry VI, Holy Roman Emperor, who banged him up in Trifels Castle in the Palatinate. 


A substantial ransom of 150,000 marks was demanded for Richard’s release, which his mother, Eleanor of Aquitaine, raised with great difficulty, mostly through taxation. His wonderfully selfless brother John, however, teamed up with King Philip of France to offer the Emperor 80,000 marks if he kept the English king imprisoned. But Eleanor’s ransom money was accepted. When Richard eventually returned to England, he was finally able to celebrate his triumphant crusade with his countrymen. The Lionheart brought home such a fearsome reputation that the castellan of St Michael’s Mount in Cornwall dropped dead like a sack of pious potatoes when he heard the news that Richard had landed in England. To be fair, he had good reason to be scared: he had rebelled against Richard in his absence and was expecting revenge.


Richard passingly thanked his dear mother for shaking down every pigeon, priest and farmer in the land to fund his release and then decided he didn’t like England all that much. He cleared off to France to retake the lands on the Norman–French border. John had incompetently let the region slip back into Philip’s hands while Richard was slaughtering infidels. The campaign was successful, but it didn’t last, and his ambitions of reconquering were cut short in March 1199. Richard and his men besieged the castle of Châlus-Chabrol in Limousin, which was held by only forty under-armed men and women. Taking it should have been a walk in the park for the Lionheart.


On the third evening of their assault, Richard confidently sat atop his horse, staring at the castle battlements like an obnoxious peacock. All of a sudden, up popped, seemingly out of nowhere, a man holding a crossbow and a frying pan as a makeshift shield – in what one could only equate to a scene from Monty Python and the Holy Grail. The ambitious solo defender-cum-chef de partie let loose a single, fated bolt into the militant hordes below. Richard wasn’t sure whether to laugh or cheer at the sight of this mighty castle being defended by a chap with a frying pan – in the end, he decided to clap. By now Richard was a highly seasoned and agile fighter, easily able to dodge a lone crossbow bolt, but he let his pride get the better of him. As the barbed tip arched through the dusk, Richard sat directly in its trajectory, facetiously clapping away like Achilles mocking Paris before taking a poison arrow in his heel. Only at the very last moment did Richard duck to avoid the crossbow bolt, but he was a touch too late – it burrowed deep into his shoulder.


Days later Richard died from gangrene that had ravaged his upper body. The only cure for gangrene was to amputate the infected limb. It’s rather tricky, however, to amputate a man’s shoulder without also amputating his head, which usually hampers the patient’s chances of recovery. The Lionheart’s heart was extracted from his lifeless body, preserved and taken to Rouen, where it remains today. On 27 May 1199, Richard’s brother John assumed the mantle of King of England and the nation wept, because, as you will soon discover, John was an utterly shite king.





A Doctor Drinks a Patient’s Piss and Decides He’s Going to Die


TO ASSUME THAT MEDIEVAL MEDICINE always got it wrong would be incorrect. Very occasionally, there was a grain of wisdom behind all the wish-wash and wizardry. Take the medieval physician’s universal cure for epilepsy, catalepsy and stomach gripes. This brew named Potio Sancti Pauli was supposedly invented by St Paul. The ingredients were as follows: liquorice, fennel, cinnamon, ginger, willows, roses, sage, three kinds of pepper, cloves, mandrake, cormorant blood and dragon’s blood. Despite sounding like a list of items from Waitrose’s ‘Essentials’ range, there lies some effectiveness in the choice of ingredients here. Liquorice can ease chest pains, acid reflux and reduce inflammation. Willow contains salicylic acid, which is found in many modern-day painkillers.


You may know mandrake as the plant which was commonly believed to shriek when pulled from the soil, killing whoever was unfortunate enough to hear its screams. This myth is still perpetuated today in films and novels. In the Middle Ages, herbalists recommended plugging up one’s ears then tying the top of the plant to a dog so that it would yank the plant from the ground for you. The dog would then supposedly die from the shrieking flora, but the perceived value of the much-coveted mandrake plant was high enough to take this risk. Muslim Spanish herbalist Ibn al-Baitar tried this very technique in the thirteenth century and documented his success. He was also pleased to discover that his dog was not overcome with stasis and did not keel over dead.


It was believed that mandrake roots would take seed and grow where the blood of the decapitated dripped below the gallows. The wild and varied tales of the mandrake’s lethality were most likely born from the fact that it is highly poisonous. In small doses, however, mandrake is a highly effective sleeping draught, so its inclusion in Potio Sancti Pauli would have acted as a medieval Night Nurse. The blood of a cormorant provided much-needed iron, aiding the immune system and warding off anaemia.


You may be curious about one of the aforementioned ingredients: dragon’s blood. Unfortunately, this wasn’t as its name suggests, but was, in fact, the moniker given to the deep blood-red sap of the Dracaena draco tree, native to the Canary Islands, commonly called the ‘Dragon Tree’. Recent medical research has shown that this exotic substance possesses antibiotic and antiviral properties. It is still used today in some corners of the world to treat dysentery.


Another example of when medieval physicians were erring on the side of medical efficacy came, surprisingly, in the form of snails. The common ailment for a burn or scald was to take a live snail and rub its slime on the affected area. There is no doubt that this would have been effective. Smearing a snail on your sore nipples may seem bonkers, but snail slime is actually antiseptic and anti-inflammatory. It contains antioxidants, natural anaesthetics and antibiotics, as well as collagen, which is found naturally in our body’s connective tissues and aids skin repair. Snail mucus is so effective as a burn remedy that it is still sold today in pharmacies and health shops as ‘Snail Gel’ and used as an ingredient in a range of inexplicably pricey snail-infused beauty creams.


Concocting an effective combination of animal parts and excretions is only useful when you know what is ailing your patient. While there was a bit of hope to be found in some medieval cures, diagnoses in the Middle Ages contained very little of that essential element: scientific knowledge of the human body. Thus the only way a medieval physician could conceivably diagnose patients was to examine the delightful liquors that leaked out of their orifices. There were believed to be four bodily fluids or ‘humours’, which if they were to fall out of balance could cause illness, an idea first conjured up by Ancient Greek physician Hippocrates. The four humours are Choleric, also called yellow bile; Melancholic, known as black bile; Phlegmatic, from phlegm; and Sanguine, from blood.


I suppose, if you think about it, yellow, green, black and red just about covers every revolting hue that can possibly exit a person’s body. So it’s not all that surprising how this quasi-scientific theory took hold. If it was suspected that a patient’s humours were out of whack, there was a repertoire of deeply disturbing methods a physician could use to diagnose the afflicted more thoroughly.


The physician might have analysed the colour, cloudiness, smell and taste of the patient’s urine. If you visited the doctor and they discovered your urine had a red tinge, it suggested you had too much blood and must undergo immediate bloodletting. It was believed this bloodletting was most effective when the moon was passing through the sign of Gemini. As you might imagine, leeches were sometimes applied to a patient’s skin to let blood but if that didn’t work the physician might tie the leech to a string, lower it down the patient’s oesophagus, allow it to suck blood from the inside then pull it back out again. For sexual or genital related ailments leeches would be applied directly to those tender parts. Of all the things you want to find sucking your genitals, a leech is not one of them.


Green urine would suggest you have inflammation. Ah-ha! You may think the natural anti-inflammatory properties of ginger, garlic and turmeric would have done the trick, and they probably would have, but unfortunately the healing powers of traditional Chinese medicine had not yet reached the West, despite being ubiquitous across Asia. In medieval Britain bizarre Eastern teas were not on the menu. It was thought that green piss was the most dangerous segment of the visible light spectrum your micturition could pass through, a sure sign of inflammation, which was considered to be a fatal sickness. The physician would condemn you as past your expiry date on the spot. It was therefore imperative that you never visited a medieval physician after eating asparagus. If you had yellow, frothy urine you were lucky because you had jaundice, which isn’t ideal, but at least you wouldn’t be instantly condemned to death.


What if a diagnosis was not possible from your urine alone? Then I’m afraid things are about to get rather nasty. First, your blood would be let so that it too could be examined, based on its colour, viscosity, smell and, yes, taste. But if this yielded no fruity diagnosis, then the very same process may have been carried out on your faeces. Yes, I’m afraid that also includes the tasting part. Unsurprisingly this was usually the last resort.


If your visit to the local GP ended with him feasting on your faeces, then you got away lightly. Another popular attempted remedy was trepanation. Invented by the Greeks but practised up to the Late Middle Ages, this was the practice of relieving symptoms by boring a hole in a patient’s skull. Some physicians thought illness caused pressure to build up inside the head, and by creating a large opening, it would relieve the pressure. Trepanation was also used to cure what priests diagnosed as demonic possession – it was assumed that a hole in the top of the skull would allow the evil spirit to escape.


Interestingly, however, trepanation was sometimes used in a way that wasn’t complete lunacy. When soldiers took a blow to the head in war, trepanation would sometimes be performed to clean out pools of blood that accumulated inside the skull or to remove fragments of broken bone from the cranial cavity. Similar, albeit markedly more advanced, surgical techniques are still performed on brain trauma victims today. Thankfully anaesthetics are now used instead of a tankard of ale and a stick to bite down on.




1199–1216 CHARTER
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John Loses the Crown Jewels in the Wash


JOHN WAS NOT A GOOD KING. It is not without good reason that various depictions of the Robin Hood legend portray John as an immoral and wicked baby wearing a crown. Some modern historians have attempted to shed a more generous light on the often-lambasted monarch, claiming that, for all his faults, he was a hard-working administrator. They argue that in politics and war he may have simply been unlucky, whereas his predecessors Richard and Henry were not. But do not allow the knowledge that John was a hard grafter to mask the unfortunate truth: King John was a total and utter bastard. He truly was, and I don’t mean ‘bastard’ in the sense that his father had a penchant for secret tarts. John was a cruel, heartless and destructive megalomaniac. To give you a typical introduction to John’s endearing personality: on his first ‘diplomatic’ mission to Ireland as king, he yanked on the long beards of the Gaelic lords because he thought they looked ‘funny’.


Perhaps his father, Henry II, had prophesied that his son would grow up to be a psychopathic cat-strangler because, humiliatingly, he never granted him a slither of land, which earned him the nickname John ‘Lackland’. But on his succession in 1199 that would all change: overnight, he had inherited the vast Angevin Empire that his brother Richard had fought to retain. The empire now included all of England, more than half of France and part of Ireland. But John was obviously fond of his ‘Lackland’ sobriquet because he decided that his first order of duty as king should be to lose absolutely everything.


Philip II of France was in bed with Arthur, Duke of Brittany, who was John’s sixteen-year-old nephew – son of his late elder brother Geoffrey. And this may have been quite literal as Philip had a passion for sharing his bed with men he liked. As a teen, Philip invited Richard the Lionheart to share his bed during their period of close friendship. It is not thought that this was a reflection of Philip’s sexuality, more the monarch’s unique way of extending the hand, or mattress, of friendship. I guess if two men can share a pillow, they can share a kingdom.


Arthur had rallied a significant cohort of loyal supporters to retake Normandy in the name of France. He had the support and the men of William des Roches, one of the most powerful barons in all of France and England. This alliance effortlessly overpowered John, and the Angevin Empire was shattered – he lost almost all his land in France. By 1200 John held onto the merest spit of Aquitaine’s coastline and only because the locals were still ardently loyal to his mother Eleanor. In May, John was forced to sign the Treaty of Le Goulet, conceding to all Philip’s wishes. Across the Continent, this earned John a new nickname: John ‘Softsword’, which makes him sound impotent, but it was far worse – it was widely assumed that he had fought rather pathetically to defend his realms and so easily favoured the safety net of a peace treaty with France. I must stress that for a thirteenth-century English monarch, being known as ‘the king with the floppy cock’ was actually less embarrassing than to be under France’s thumb.


But this all changed in July 1202 when knights loyal to Arthur captured John’s seventy-eight-year-old mother at Fontevraud. John was more than happy to roll over like a stagnant sardine and allow people to take his lands but never his mother. Her capture sparked the king’s Plantagenet might and he force-marched his men over forty-eight hours from his location in Le Mans to Mirebeau where Eleanor was being held. In very little time, he had busted his dear mother out of captivity and captured 252 of Arthur’s knights and, most importantly, Arthur himself.


Arthur was taken in manacles back to Falaise, the birthplace of William the Conqueror, then later moved to Rouen – it was here that John’s true character would reveal itself. One night, in a fit of drunken Plantagenet rage, he stormed into Arthur’s cell and mercilessly beat the teenage duke over the head with a heavy rock, finally tossing his body in the Seine. This act disgraced John’s name throughout Christendom; he attempted to hide his terrible deed, but rumours spread overnight. Philip’s men were no longer fighting against a rival honourable king, they were battling a monster who murdered young princes with his own hands.


By 1204 Philip had made considerable gains and taken almost all of John’s continental duchies, including his prized Château Gaillard. But John’s enthusiasm for retaliation had evaporated. Instead of standing his ground, he did the next best thing: he spent all day every day in bed with his second wife, Isabella of Angoulême. Whenever his councillors asked him what they should do about the hordes of angry French mercenaries looking to beat down the gates he simply replied: ‘Let be, let be; whatever he now takes I will one day recover.’ He would not.


With so little French land remaining for John to pretend to be bedridden in, he would be forced, unlike so many of his ancestors, to return to and spend most of his reign in England. The weather may be touch and go and the food shoddy, but at least he had the support of his barons – except, he didn’t. Trapped in Albion, he was forced to spend so much time there one would be mistaken for thinking he was King of England – oh, wait, he was. But John wasn’t having any of that; he became obsessed with the idea of retaking Normandy and sought every corrupt channel to raise the necessary funds to launch a new attack on France. It has always been easier and considerably cheaper to defend lands one already occupies than to take new lands. So, once John had lost France, and with no resources remaining, there was little he could do.


John extorted the barons, forcing them to pay again for lands and castles they had already paid for, and he put huge taxes on Jewish money lenders. As you might imagine, this proved unpopular, especially among the northern barons who had strong inter-baronial family bonds and ties, far more so than the more insular southern barons.


Well, at least John had the support of the Church – except, he didn’t. A feud was sparked over who would become the new Archbishop of Canterbury after Hubert Walter’s death in 1205. John wanted to appoint his own man John de Grey, Bishop of Norwich and previously John’s secretary. The mighty Pope Innocent III rejected John’s wishes and appointed his own partisan Cardinal Stephen Langton. But when Langton showed up at Dover with his job application sealed by the pope, John closed the doors in his face and banished him from England. The infuriated Innocent placed England under interdict, a punishment used against unruly kings that would put a nation’s entire ecclesiastical system into stasis.


Interdict prohibited the holding of Mass, wedding and funeral ceremonies, a debilitating inconvenience to the everyday people of England who relied on the Church as an essential component of conventional civilian life. But, alas, John couldn’t care less; if anything he saw this as a prime opportunity to make yet more money. With so many bishops and priests leaving the country because they no longer had a position to fill, John siphoned off the revenues from these vacant abbeys and bishoprics. 


The papal interdict made John wealthier and more powerful than ever before, so to remind John that God was disgusted by his very existence, in 1209, Pope Innocent excommunicated him. This was a severe, last-resort punishment for the naughtiest of kings. The last king to be excommunicated was Harold Godwinson in 1066; not that he was bothered either, as taking an arrow through one’s eye puts matters into perspective. It effectively kicked John out of the Catholic Church and labelled him as a heretic, openly inviting any other European powers to wage war against England with full papal support. You know John was strongly disliked when even his father Henry II had avoided excommunication, and he was responsible for the Archbishop of Canterbury being bludgeoned to death.


Once again, John gave not a single hoot, but continued to extract money from the Church and his barons through seemingly random and extortionate fines. He also wrung the pockets of every peasant in the realm through harsh taxation on all goods and movables. John had become a tyrant, and he needed to be reined in; he wasn’t just abusing his power as a monarch, he was also downright cruel. When one baron, William de Briouze, refused to pay his debt to the crown of over £3,000, John demanded his family members as human collateral. He locked up Briouze’s wife and son in Windsor Castle then had them starved to death. When the cell was finally opened their stinking corpses were found in a macabre embrace – the son had tooth marks all over his body. His mother, in her final hours, had tried to eat him.


While his former dinner guests were starving to death in captivity, John was busy finding a suitable place to put exotic animals into captivity. Medieval kings loved giving a lion or two as a diplomatic gift to another monarch. Exotic animals from the far corners of the earth – elephants, lions and bears – were fairly standard gifts as they exhibited a king’s ability to procure such wonders from distant lands. Around 1210 John was receiving so many exotic animals as diplomatic offerings he needed a place to put them all, so he thought: where better than right next to all those nasty criminals in the Tower of London? And thus he created the Royal Menagerie at the Tower, a weird private zoo exclusively for the king and whoever he wished to entertain.


John’s son Henry III would go on to add three leopards to the menagerie in 1235, a gift from the Holy Roman Emperor Frederick II. Around the same time, a polar bear was added to the Tower, a gift from the King of Norway. The polar bear was kept on a chain long enough so that it could go fishing in the Thames, a sight that often shocked and bemused passers-by. Then in 1255, Louis IX gave Henry III an African elephant to add to his eclectic collection. It sadly died only three years later, because it was frequently given red wine to drink. Edwards I and III would maintain and expand the menagerie with several lions, two wildcats and a leopard. The Royal Menagerie was passed down from king to king, each adding their own weird specimens. Over the centuries it included hyenas, brown bears, jackals, eagles and owls, among other animals.


In the eighteenth century, the Menagerie was opened to the public. Admission was three half-pence. Alternatively, you could bring some food for the lions as your entrance fee – a cat or dog would suffice, a fee which a surprising many paid. Some visitors got a little too close and were eaten, as were some of the keepers. For this and other reasons, such as a city centre prison probably not being the ideal location for carnivorous predators, the Menagerie was closed in 1835. Most of the animals were moved to London Zoo, which had been founded seven years before.


John’s excommunication was lifted in 1213 because he finally acquiesced to Pope Innocent’s demands, including appointing Langton as Archbishop of Canterbury (in Innocent’s eyes Langton had held the position since 1207 anyway). John had no choice: his ambitions to retake continental land would be futile without papal support. Not that mending his relations with Rome helped one bit.


In 1214 John returned to England having just lost his final campaign in France, culminating in the Battle of Bouvines, where his ally, the Holy Roman Emperor Otto IV, suffered a disastrous defeat at the hands of the French. This was the final, humiliating nail in a coffin that the wicked John had already constructed for himself; now more than ever, England was crying out for rebellion. Which is exactly what the northern barons did next, in an attempt to suppress their tyrannical overlord. In the spring of 1215, the rebels seized London. It didn’t require much force as John was so gravely despised in every corner of his own kingdom, even the capital, that the citizens of London opened the city’s gates. London was, until the eighteenth century, a fortress city, barricaded on all sides by magnificent Roman walls. The rebels were able to march unimpeded into the centre; John fled to Windsor.


Over the following month, envoys would communicate between John and the rebels in London. They slowly but surely asserted their demands upon the king and terms of peace were arduously hammered out in a document that would become legendary. On 19 June in a field called Runnymede in Berkshire, under the watchful eye of the baron rebels, the king, albeit under duress, put his royal seal to Magna Carta. The scroll was never actually signed, unlike modern peace treaties. In 1965 an acre of Runnymede was donated to the US to show solidarity after the assassination of President Kennedy, and today it is officially US soil – which makes me wonder if I could be locked up for eating a Kinder Egg on that spot. If you’re lacking context, Kinder Eggs are, by my rationale, inexplicably illegal in America; you can be imprisoned for importing them – they are basically a gateway chocolate to cocaine. On the upside, I could finally have a go with my Kalashnikov.


Magna Carta is the world’s most renowned charter, which is surprising because when it was originally fleshed out at Runnymede, its writers didn’t intend to create such a profound document. Furthermore, the majority of the lengthy document is uninspiring and hardly revolutionary. That it has endured almost a millennium and continues to grow in fame is, depending on how you look at it, either unbelievable or not at all surprising. On the one hand, it is a list of tedious, often banal statements about legal rights surrounding trade goods and fishing. One has to remember that the charter was created by barons intent on stopping a tinpot despot from extorting their lands and siphoning their revenue streams through abuse of royal power. One can read enthralling snippets such as clause thirty-five:


 


There shall be standard measures of wine, ale, and corn (the London quarter), throughout the kingdom. There shall also be a standard width of dyed cloth, russet, and haberject, namely two ells within the selvedges. Weights are to be standardised similarly.


 


Important stuff, no doubt – being sold an incorrectly measured piece of cloth is nothing short of a nightmare – but this was not exactly groundbreaking. Magna Carta even stipulates when a man could freely refuse to build a bridge:


 


No town or person shall be forced to build bridges over rivers except those with an ancient obligation to do so.


 


We can’t have shit-stinking peasants hauling half-deceased hogs to market through the river bed, can we now? But then, at least they would get a wash; God knows they needed it more than the swine.


On the other hand, the great charter can undoubtedly be viewed as a revolutionary, epoch-defining legal document. It was the first written constitution in European history, and no doubt provided inspiration to America’s founding fathers and the United States’ Constitution itself. Which is hardly surprising because it was the first legal document to state that a leader did not have absolute power over their subjects and was, like their people, subject to the law of the land, the laws of the common people. Copies of Magna Carta were distributed in the North American colonies from 1687 and shaped the foundations of American democracy.


It is clauses such as thirty-nine which have made the name Magna Carta synonymous with liberty:


 


No free man shall be seized or imprisoned, or stripped of his rights or possessions, or outlawed or exiled, or deprived of his standing in any way, nor will we proceed with force against him, or send others to do so, except by the lawful judgment of his equals or by the law of the land.


 


Sounds like the establishment of liberty for all men, but ironically, it’s nothing of the sort. This clause and indeed many others within Magna Carta only applied to free men. In the thirteenth century, most of the population were serfs who worked the land and were technically the property of their liege; the liberties Magna Carta promised didn’t apply to such odorous chaps. Nevertheless, this clause has influenced later documents that not only apply to all citizens but underpin the very bedrock of Western liberty, such as the American Declaration of Independence. One would find it difficult not to see direct inspiration from Magna Carta within the passage:


 


We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable Rights, that among these are Life, Liberty and the pursuit of Happiness.


 


Magna Carta also heavily influenced the Universal Declaration of Human Rights adopted by the United Nations in 1948, which is why a Romanian plumber has the same basic rights as the Queen of England. And there could not be a greater homage to Magna Carta than the fact that three of the original clauses are still active law in the United Kingdom today. But now they apply to and grant liberties to all citizens.


A council of twenty-five barons was established to ensure John adhered to every word written on this hallowed document. John took the immense gravitas of Magna Carta seriously. So seriously that he immediately betrayed every single word. John wrote to Pope Innocent III to have him issue a papal bull declaring the charter null and void. Innocent was happy to oblige, stating it was ‘not only shameful and demeaning, but illegal and unjust’. Innocent also excommunicated every baron who had rebelled against John. The barons took warmly to this wondrous news – so warmly that they started a civil war.


The First Barons’ War began only a few months after the momentous charter’s creation at Runnymede. In accordance with Magna Carta, the twenty-five barons invited a rival king to invade and kick their recalcitrant English king from his seat of power. But that wasn’t even the worst part . . . they only went and invited the French. Which is like summoning your wife’s detested sister to your tenth-anniversary dinner and stating, ‘Sorry, buttercup, but after some deep reflection I’m certain your sister could do a better job.’ The barons invited Louis VIII to invade, and his ships were spotted off the coast of Kent in May 1216. John dispatched a naval force to intercept him, but mighty storms broke up the defensive squad, and Louis was able to land his men in Kent without any resistance. In response, John laid siege to Rochester Castle where some of the rebel barons were residing. During this siege John ordered a tunnel to be dug underneath the castle and stuffed it full of forty huge pig carcasses. These were then set on fire, and when the pig fat exploded, similar to gunpowder, the castle’s foundations were destroyed.


From here everything began to go downhill for John – not that the words ‘King John’ and ‘good job’ have ever been in the same sentence. With the King of France marching an army towards London, John took bold, decisive action, and ran away. He hid in Winchester while Louis was welcomed with open arms into London by the rebel barons, who proclaimed him King of England. He was never actually crowned, though, so he doesn’t really count, because I’m not sure the English could cope with having to foist yet another Frenchman into the already confusing royal family tree.


John’s tyrannous reign and life now began to fall apart with a final thundering clusterfuck only befitting the worst monarch in English history. His few remaining supporters began to desert him en masse. He contracted dysentery at King’s Lynn. Then he lost the crown jewels in the Wash – no, not that wash, ‘the Wash’ as in the estuary between Norfolk and Lincolnshire. John attempted to cross it while the waters were choppy, and the seas claimed his entire baggage train. A few days later, on 18 October 1216, John died of dysentery while on the road north. Which seems like the most fitting end for a king who, by all estimations, was a massive arsehole.




1216–1272 REVOLT


[image: images]




A Frenchman Calls the King ‘Simple’


IN 1229 A PIOUS YOUNG FRENCH KNIGHT called Simon de Montfort arrived at the English court of King Henry III; he spoke not a word of English, but that didn’t matter, because neither did most of the court. De Montfort had come to reclaim his rightful title of the Earldom of Leicester, which he should have inherited from his father, the 5th Earl. De Montfort was an incredibly devout man who wore a hair shirt – made from animal hair, this garment of self-penance would have chafed the wearer’s skin day and night, like sandpaper against flesh. He was also straight-talking and knew how to get things done. Henry admired this, and the two were soon on very favourable terms. They became close friends, and De Montfort was granted a seat on the king’s council.


Henry became so infatuated with his new French familiar that he married him off to his very own sister Eleanor Plantagenet, who was famously attractive and desirable – quite the royal prize for this relative newcomer. If further proof were required of De Montfort’s inordinately high standing with the king, he began signing legal documents as the Earl of Leicester, even though he didn’t yet actually possess that title. To use a title on official documentation that the king had not yet presented him with was an ostentatiously blatant display of power from De Montfort; he may as well have reached his experienced French hand into the king’s knapsack and stolen a fistful of gold. Actually, that’s precisely what De Montfort would do next.


But there was a problem. As lovely as Eleanor was, and she was awfully lovely, she was missing something: a massive dowry from the king. She should have come packaged with a large sum of money, but Henry decided to hang on to it. De Montfort was not a happy baron, so he took matters into his own hands and secured a huge loan, using Henry as the guarantor. The only problem was that he never told Henry about this, but as De Montfort saw it, he was only taking the dowry that was owed to him. Not surprisingly, Henry was far from impressed by this rash move and exiled De Montfort and his new wife to France.


This was a decision that Henry would come to regret. In 1241 the barons of Poitou in France rebelled against their king, Louis IX. One of these barons was Henry’s own stepfather, Hugh de Lusignan, who counted on Henry coming to his aid during the rebellion. Henry hoped this could be an opportunity to bring Poitou back into the fold of the English crown. The English barons were reluctant to grant Henry support for his intervention, and so it was months before he eventually turned up in Poitou with an army – by which point it was too late. His stepfather Hugh had betrayed his own rebels and switched sides to support King Louis. Because of Hugh’s betrayal, the French forces were swiftly gaining the upper hand.


Henry’s army got themselves into a pickle at the French commune of Taillebourg when they were surrounded by French troops. Henry courageously ran away, all the way to Bordeaux. He had called on De Montfort to assist him on this campaign. Despite their frosty relationship, he needed him. But De Montfort was frustrated at Henry’s apathetic attitude towards the campaign and his pitiful performance, especially his cowardly retreat at Taillebourg. He stormed up to the king and spouted in his face that he should be locked up like Charles the Simple, a notoriously useless Frankish king from the ninth century. It was De Montfort who was simple: Charles the Simple comes from the Latin ‘simplex’ meaning ‘straightforward and loyal’, the opposite of what De Montfort was accusing Henry of being, but then De Montfort was French, and you know what they’re like. 


De Montfort wasn’t the only English baron perturbed by their lacklustre and irresponsible monarch; many felt the same way, and Henry only worsened matters when in the 1250s he started getting all riled up over Sicily. And around this time his diet started to get really weird: for Christmas in 1251 he asked his subjects all over England to pop down to their local lake and strangle a swan then bring it to London; on Christmas Day Henry served 351 cooked swans for the main course alone.


The Kingdom of Sicily, a strategically important island at the bottom of the Italian peninsula, had for a long time been under the rule of the Holy Roman Emperor Frederick II. Frederick was a petulant rival of Pope Innocent IV. In 1250 Frederick died, and the pope immediately saw an opening for a ruler more sympathetic to the Papacy to overthrow the Kingdom of Sicily. Henry jumped on this opportunity faster than a Black Friday shopper. He thought it was just about the best idea since serfdom and begged the pope to pretty please let him invade Sicily instead of some other goggle-eyed Catholic prince. Henry also had the perfect beneficiary lined up, his own son Edmund, for whom he had been attempting to secure lands for some time. Sicily would also be an ideal base from which to launch new crusades. However, in 1255 Henry turned to Parliament and said he had just the most fabulous idea: ‘You’re all going to front tax money for a huge military campaign to take an island over a thousand miles away, so my son, who, by the way, isn’t even my heir, can stop feeling so inadequate.’ They responded just how you’d imagine, with a disgruntled no.


Henry was failing spectacularly at monarchy. He had repeatedly broken the terms of Magna Carta and handed out land and power to a tyrannical French family, the Lusignans, who all the English barons despised for their infamously wicked and corrupt reputation. The king also tried to extort money from just about everyone to raise funds for his now-defunct Sicily campaign. It was getting to the point where he would have sold a couple of children, his wife and perhaps his own body for a shot at Sicily. The kingdom’s finances were in the gutter and the Welsh, as usual, were revolting. And to rub peasant blood into the wounds, the latest crop harvest had been a failure. The country was poor, and its people were starving. The barons knew that drastic measures needed to be taken.


On 30 April, seven of the realm’s most powerful barons, adorning battle armour and fronted by Simon de Montfort, marched into the Palace of Westminster and effectively seized power from the king. Under threat of imprisonment, Henry was strong-armed into setting up a new council of twenty-four barons and clergy. In June, this very council commanded Henry to agree to a new legal constitution, the Provisions of Oxford. This document gave a parliament of fifteen barons power to make decisions on how the kingdom should be run without the king’s permission. If all this sounds suspiciously similar to Magna Carta, that’s because it was. Yet again the barons were trying to wrest power away from a tyrannical king and implement a balanced, parliamentary system.


Documents such as Magna Carta and the Provisions of Oxford were well intentioned and fine in theory, but there was always the issue of how does one force a tyrannical king to actually play by the rules? Especially this king, who was more interested in practical jokes than tedious constitutions. Henry once sneakily added a note to the Fine Rolls, essentially the official list of debts owed to the crown, that stipulated how a man named Peter, in Henry’s service, owed him ‘thirty-four tuns of wine’. When Peter saw it, he almost died from heart convulsions until Henry admitted it was a joke and struck off the debt. I didn’t say his practical jokes were good. This king would be no different from any of the previous Plantagenet kings who were typically stubborn and single-minded.


Within four years, Henry was back to his old bag of cruel tricks, and the situation had, for the most part, returned to normal. But the zealous De Montfort was ardently resolved to force the king, by any means possible, to abide by the Provisions. In 1264 he raised an army, and a civil war that historians call the Second Barons’ War erupted. Henry’s army met De Montfort’s at the Battle of Lewes on 14 May. Henry’s forces were far larger, but De Montfort was the superior general. He rapidly routed the royalist forces. After the battle, Henry’s brave brother Richard was found hiding, heroically, inside a windmill.


With Henry’s army quashed De Montfort was now the de facto ruler of England. His first order of duty was to force Henry to reinstate the Provisions of Oxford. Henry had been reduced to no more than a puppet king, rubber stamping all of De Montfort’s decisions. But De Montfort may not have been the selfless man of the people after all, because his next actions revealed his real aspirations. With unbridled power at his fingertips, he took money and land left, right and centre, enjoying a lavish lifestyle while the king was kept as his prisoner at Kenilworth Castle. De Montfort had gone from wearing hair shirts to splitting hairs over the quality of the wine and women at his disposal. But he wouldn’t enjoy this unchecked power for much longer, for there was still one young and brave Plantagenet out there with fire in his belly: Henry’s son and heir Edward. Edward was out for revenge and would stop at nothing to relieve the French usurper’s body of its head.


First, Edward had to overcome a significant obstacle: he was a prisoner. De Montfort’s men had Edward detained in Hereford. Edward came up with a dubious plan so blissfully idiotic that it actually worked. His captors occasionally let him out riding, as long as they accompanied him. One day, while out riding with the guards, he announced he would like to play a little game of ‘who has the fastest horse’. Edward suggested they should all take turns in trying one another’s horses, and thus they could mutually agree whose was fastest and put the matter to bed. And none of this was in the slightest way suspicious. Remarkably the guards agreed, so they alternated horses and raced them. It was all spiffing fun until Edward found the fastest horse, which he immediately used to bolt into the woods with a large smirk on his face, leaving the guards leagues behind.


After shrugging off his veritable nuclear physicists of captors, it didn’t take long for Edward to rally support from the barons and their armies to help free his father. Despite the barons previously fighting against the king, De Montfort was now demonstrating such abuses of power that the majority of them had arrived at the conclusion that the feckless Henry had been the safer choice all along. Edward’s men met De Montfort’s at the Battle of Evesham on 4 August 1265. Edward had dispatched a hit squad of twelve of his best knights to locate De Montfort himself and slay him – it didn’t take long before they were successful in their morbid crusade. De Montfort was butchered on the battlefield; the knights cut off his testicles and hung them from either side of his nose and shoved the balls into his mouth, which would have made a delightful table centrepiece. They separated their masterpiece from its body, lodged it onto a spear and paraded it around to show what happens to a traitor.


Henry’s power had been restored. Perhaps one of his most celebrated legacies is that he rebuilt Westminster Abbey in the Gothic style. Lesser known is that Henry also gave us the baker’s dozen. It was common for bakers in the thirteenth century to bake skinnier loaves and sell them for the same price as fatter ones, so they could increase their profits. To stop bakers defrauding customers of their hard-earned dough, Henry introduced a new law standardising the weight of a loaf. The punishment for insufficiently lofty loaves was jail time. As it was common for customers to buy twelve loaves at a time bakers would give them a thirteenth loaf for free to negate the risk of being below the weight limit.





A Pig and a Locust Get into Serious
Trouble With the Law


CURIOUSLY TRIAL BY JURY was voluntary in medieval England. However, if you did refuse to stand trial, the authorities would crush you between two heavy stones until you either acquiesced or died. In despotic feudal kingdoms ‘voluntary’ was often about as voluntary as Janice from work’s wedding invitation, whom ironically you also wish you could crush between two heavy stones.


More serious crimes such as murder, assault and treason were dealt with in the king’s court. If you ended up here and were found guilty, you could be sure of severe punishment. Murderers were hanged or beheaded. Those convicted of treason were hung, drawn and quartered. So you don’t lose sleep over it, I should explain that being ‘hanged’ stipulated until dead, whereas to be ‘hung’ meant you would be let down before death. As in ‘I hanged my cat; now it’s dead’ compared to ‘I hung my cat on the wall, then fed it dinner.’ However, being hung was usually far worse than a quick hanging, because the executioner would have a delightful basket of torture lined up for you. Starting with the next step, being ‘drawn’.


Drawn, unfortunately for the accused, did not mean ‘like one of your French girls’; it was a ghastlier affair, to put it gently. Although it was at least as comparable to naked French girls in levels of titillation for the blood-thirsty and voyeuristic medieval crowds. A good old Sunday morning execution was, after all, the primary source of entertainment in most towns. The drawn part of the ordeal involved slicing open the belly to allow the perpetrator’s guts to spill out; sometimes they were pulled or ‘drawn’ out of the body. Gruesomely, it is believed the person would often still be conscious during this. The genitals would also be cut off and burnt in full view of the crowds and the victim. Talk about adding insult to injury.


Only once the final stage was reached would the poor soul succumb to death, since before quartering he was usually beheaded. If you were wondering, ‘quartering’ quite literally meant chopping the torso into four parts, generally with a huge axe. As this punishment was enacted less often than its more genteel counterparts, it would attract particularly large crowds. The image of a man’s limbs being yanked in all directions by four horses, which your rather sick mind may be presenting you with at this very moment, was rarely practised in England. That was how the French liked to do it – those kinky bastards.


Up until the mid-thirteenth century, you would be fortunate if you were to be tried by a jury of your peers in the king’s court. Throughout the early Middle Ages, this particular court preferred trial by ordeal. The idea was that God favoured the innocent, so the defendant would be put through an ordeal in which God would either help him prove his innocence or clarify his guilt. Commonly used methods were trial by cold water, in which the accused would have his hands and feet bound and be thrown into a body of water; if he floated, he was innocent, but if he sank, he was assumed guilty. There was ordeal by hot iron or stone, in which the defendant was made to hold a lump of hot iron or plunge his hand into a pot of boiling water to fetch a stone. If his hand completely healed within three days, then, naturally, God had intervened, demonstrating his innocence. If scars still showed, he could expect a swift execution.


Especially during the early Norman period, ordeal by combat or ‘battle’ was an authentic method of enacting justice used by some English courts. In England, any man could accuse another man of a crime and request trial by combat. However, Englishmen were not permitted to enter trial by combat against a woman. This was not the case in Germany, though – in the Germanic regions, a man could enter into trial by combat against a woman, but only if he was handicapped to make the battle fairer. How? Obviously by sticking the man in a hole, so only his head and arms were above ground. He could attempt to swing at the woman with a club from his hole while she enjoyed free movement and could literally run circles around the poor sod.


Back in England, you may imagine trial by combat to be an almost romantic medieval affair: noble knights, meeting at the break of dawn to exchange sword blows, defending their honour and innocence. I encourage you to swiftly remove this scene from your mind and instead replace it with a couple of peasants squabbling, biting, jabbing and tearing limbs from sockets in a quagmire of mud and pig shit. Because this scene was quite often the more accurate one.


Take the documented case of accused thief Thomas Whytehorne and plaintiff James Fyscher. Trial by combat was the prescribed method of judicial resolution in this instance. But the men were dressed only in rags and leather armour. The only weapon they were given was a ram’s horn each. The combatants initially attempted to beat the peasant blood out of one another with the horns, but these soon broke into pieces. They proceeded to fight tooth and nail in the dirt, throwing punches and biting each other, each in an attempt to inflict a fatal wound. Eventually, Whytehorne managed to pin down Fyscher and, as the contemporary accounts state, he ‘bit him by the member’, causing Fyscher to scream with pain. But Fyscher gathered his wits and managed to jab his finger into Whytehorne’s eye socket. Whytehorne surrendered and confessed everything. He was hanged.


Following the ordeal, Fyscher left town, exiling himself to become a hermit. Which may seem like an odd choice, considering he was the victor, but remember that he lived in a small medieval community where citizens placed vital importance on social status. It is then self-evident that having a thief sink his teeth into your genitals while lying in the mud, under the gaze of the entire townsfolk, is highly unconducive to upholding one’s social standing. Not much has changed: in 2012 a sixty-year-old British man who was facing a £25 fine for a minor motoring offence tried to invoke his ancient right to trial by combat, saying he was ‘willing to fight a champion put up by the DVLA, but it would have been a fight to the death’. Unfortunately the courts refused, which is a shame because most British people long to see a clerk from the DVLA be bludgeoned to death with a ram’s horn.


Trials by ordeal may seem little more than an antiquated and wholly unfair system born out of a society that was devoid of logic and basic pragmatism. You may assume the correlation between those who were found guilty by these ordeals and their true guilt was non-existent. Well, not quite. What may surprise you is that trials by ordeal were a highly effective method of discerning guilt. Do not forget that medieval England was one of the most devoutly Catholic nations in Europe and one should never underestimate the ability of the pertinaciously pious to behave irrationally. A medieval person’s moral and world views were so intensely bound up with those of the Church that he would have had no doubt that these trials by ordeal were entirely genuine. It would never have crossed the mind of most medieval citizens that being tied up and lobbed into the local lake was not an effective method of proving guilt; shockingly, fluid dynamics and gravity weren’t particularly common topics of study in the thirteenth century. A person’s logic was interchangeable with that of the Church or the ramblings of the one-eyed crackpot codger at the local tavern.


Thus, people did genuinely believe that if they endured trial by ordeal, God would reveal their true guilt by causing them to fail. This had the effect that the vast majority of the accused who were genuinely guilty would choose to confess their crimes to the authorities instead of being subjected to the selected ordeal. Most people would prefer a quick beheading than being drowned, unremittingly smashed in the skull with a ram’s horn by their neighbour in combat, or picking up a scalding hot iron then beheaded anyway. This was even truer when the chosen punishment for a guilty verdict was not execution but a fine. What will it be? Drowning or a fine? I think I’ll take the latter.


Therefore, the vast majority of people who went through with the trials were genuinely innocent, as they believed the trial would prove it. The curious point here is that historians today suspect that the Church and the authorities knew of this insight at the time. And so, the ordeals would often be rigged so that the defendant would pass. How, you ask? Water or iron would not be heated hot enough to cause burns, or in the case of drowning, the priest could choose not to bind the defendant so tightly. It is thought, then, that the whole premise of being offered a trial by ordeal was a mental trick to force the guilty to confess, and it worked.


Sometimes animals were tried in human courts. This bizarre practice was carried out both in England and across the rest of Europe. Most of the animals put on trial had been accused of destroying a person’s property, most often consuming their crops. Locusts, weevils, rats, slugs and mice are all documented as having been put on trial in medieval manorial courts, but also in the ecclesiastical variety, for especially pious locusts. If the creatures could be physically transported to the courtroom for the hearing, then they usually were.


This may sound utterly insane to our modern minds, but this seemingly nonsensical custom actually served a fundamental purpose in the Middle Ages. All living things were considered to be God’s creatures, therefore the extermination of these animals, even if they were cropdevouring miscreants, would be downright sinful. Thus, by first trying them of an immoral act in a court of law, the landowner could mitigate his guilt for later exterminating them or, as was done in many cases, escorting them out of the city. Precisely how one would escort a cornucopia of slugs out of town is beyond me. A dogmatic medieval society viewed killing a person as sinful until they had been proven guilty of committing a crime, even if it was as trivial as stealing a bushel of apples. Once a person had been convicted, though, publicly and often brutally executing that person was suddenly deemed marvellous in the eyes of God.


The most unfortunate creatures that fell victim to this strange tradition were pigs. Larger animals were just as often put on trial, but none more so than poor pigs. Swine found themselves at the behest of medieval law so often because they frequently killed humans. When livestock was brought to market, it would freely roam the busy streets. In smaller towns, where pastures were in close proximity to the town centre, there would usually be a menagerie of farm animals freely roaming the same streets as humans every single day. As you might imagine, this frequently led to freak accidents, often involving small children. When pigs become hungry or agitated, they can fatally maul a child or weak adult.


Medieval archives are full of court cases where pigs stood trial for killing a human. Because they were considered God’s creatures, like humans, they would often be subjected to the same punishments as humans were. Murderous pigs were frequently burnt alive and even hanged. Whether the medieval mind was aware of how oblivious the animals were of their own criminal convictions is up for debate.





1272–1307 REPRESSION
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Edward I Tricks the Welsh


EDWARD SHOWED GREAT GALLANTRY throughout his life. During 1272, while in the Holy Land participating in the Eighth Crusade, a member of the mysterious secret society ‘The Assassins’ attempted to assassinate Edward on orders of the Emir. The shady figure launched his dagger at Edward’s arm, wounding him. Before the assassin could launch a second strike, Edward kicked him to the side then grabbed a nearby stool and struck him, causing him to drop his dagger. The dagger, however, had been poisoned. Due to remarkable work by his surgeon, Edward escaped death, though legend has it Edward’s wife Eleanor of Castile sucked the poison from his arm – that’s how he knew she was a keeper. That, and she also bore a remarkable sixteen children during their marriage.


It was also while Edward was in the Holy Land that he heard the news of his father’s death from an unknown illness. The brave crusader was now King of England, but he desired more. When the crown was placed upon Edward’s head, he immediately removed it and declared he would only wear it once he had reclaimed the lands his father lost. Edward planned to finally subdue the barbarous Celts next door in both Wales and Scotland – he desired the whole of Albion under his Plantagenet demesne. Edward was also slightly annoyed that the Prince of Wales, Llywelyn ap Gruffydd, had declared he would like to marry the daughter of his slain enemy, Simon de Montfort. In 1277 he invaded. Taking south and mid-Wales proved easy, mostly because the south coast, since 1066, was thoroughly subdued by the Norman marcher lords who already paid fealty to the English crown. This provided Edward’s army with a strategic stronghold from where he could push upwards into the Welsh wilderness. Nine thousand of Edward’s army were, in fact, Welshmen, feudal levies raised from the south. They joined his 15,500 English soldiers. Awkwardly, this meant that Welsh soldiers were helping an English king to invade their own nation and kill their own people. It is thanks to the unrelenting bonds of feudal serfdom, and the livelihoods of all these men, which relied on maintaining such relationships, that they were indeed happy to do so.


After reaching as far north as Chester, Edward’s army swung north-west into Gwynedd. Llywelyn, facing inevitable defeat, surrendered without a pitched battle. In 1277 the Treaty of Aberconwy was agreed, putting most of Wales under English control, which Edward divided among his feudal vassals, expanding the area known as ‘marcher lord’ territory. Llywelyn was allowed to maintain the title of Prince of Wales, but the principality of Wales had now been reduced to the north-west corner around Snowdonia. Llywelyn’s brother Dafydd wasn’t pleased with this arrangement, and in 1282 he rebelled against English rule, which caused another Anglo-Welsh war to break out. Llywelyn begrudgingly joined in the fight with his impulsive brother. Despite initial Welsh successes, defeating the Earl of Hertford’s army at the Battle of Llandeilo Fawr, they were once again crushed by the English, decisively in December 1282 at the Battle of Orewin Bridge where Llywelyn ap Gruffydd, now known as ‘Llywelyn the Last’, was cut down and killed.


The Principality of Wales was now incorporated into England proper. This marked the end of Welsh independence, which, to this day, Wales has never been able to reclaim. That hasn’t stopped them from having a crack at it every few decades. But Edward had to make sure the Welsh would behave themselves, so he built an iron ring of castles encircling North Wales: mighty stone bulwarks of control such as Caernarfon, Conwy, Aberystwyth and Ruthin. Their purpose was to provide a permanent base for English troops deep inside Wales; bases from which rebellions could be extinguished with supreme ease. Many of these became walled settlements attracting English settlers. In fact, Welsh citizens were banned from living inside these fortified English communes.


To pacify Welsh embers of dissent Edward promised he would give the new joint Kingdom of England and Wales an heir born in Wales who spoke not a word of English, implying someone of Welsh stock. So in 1284, Edward asked his heavily pregnant wife Eleanor to travel to Caernarfon Castle, where she gave birth to the future Edward II on 25 April. Sure enough, he had given Wales a prince born in Wales who spoke not a word of English. Surprisingly the Welsh responded in good humour to this little joke. Edward gave the newborn the title of Prince of Wales, and ever since it has been customary to grant this title to the heir to the English throne.


A Scottish succession crisis forced Edward’s attention to be focused north. King Alexander III of Scotland had a spot of bad luck: his daughter and two sons all died in quick succession. Alexander then got tremendously unlucky and died too. The only remaining heir to the Scottish throne was Alexander’s three-year-old granddaughter Margaret, but, continuing the trend, she died. Fourteen claimants came out of the shadows to fabricate any tenuous reason why they should be king, from having a royal bloodline to desiring more frequent baths. There were only two men whom anyone took seriously, John Balliol and Robert de Brus, otherwise known as Robert the Bruce. On 17 November 1292, a committee of 104 ‘auditors’ decided to grant sovereignty to John Balliol.


Edward preferred the idea that Scotland was suzerain to England and so acted like it was. He demanded that Scotland provide troops to fight England’s war against France. The Scottish contemplated this demand for about four minutes before concluding it would be wiser to do the complete opposite and formed an alliance with France: the Auld Alliance. It meant that any time England wanted to go to war against France, which was all the time, it would be faced with a war on two fronts as the Scots would naturally invade from the north. The Auld Alliance held until 1560 and would be a nagging nuisance for England that would repeatedly rear its furious tartan head for decades. The Scottish devastated Edward’s army on 11 September 1297 at the Battle of Stirling Bridge under the leadership of a brave knight, William Wallace. In 1307 Edward marched men north once again to resume hostilities but contracted dysentery. The only hostile action Edward would be fighting from now on would be coming from his stomach. He died on 7 July at Burgh Marsh, just south of the Scottish border.
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Edward II’s Wife Sleeps With the Enemy


UPON RECEIVING WORD THAT his father had died and he was now king of England, Edward II had only one thing on his mind: recalling his childhood friend Piers Gaveston from exile. Gaveston was the son of a Gascon knight and a close companion of Edward from a young age. But when a young Edward made the mistake of asking his father to grant the county of Ponthieu to Gaveston in 1307, his father decided he would instead exile his friend to Gascony. When your father is the King of England, and you ask him for a favour, there’s always a slight chance that he might banish your buddy from the kingdom. But now, as king, Edward could once more have Gaveston by his side. He ennobled him as Earl of Cornwall. Then, in an unprecedented move, he placed Gaveston in charge of the entire kingdom, appointing him ‘Custos Regni’ while Edward was absent marrying the twelve-year-old Isabella of France. After a short and sweet ceremony in Boulogne, the new royal couple sent word to the Palace of Westminster to ready celebrations for their return. The wedding feast was grand; there were large marble tables laden with delicacies and a fountain that flowed with a spiced medieval drink called pimento.


But there was something a bit iffy about the whole charade that caused quite a stir. At the head table, proudly seated next to Edward, was Piers Gaveston, who was enjoying the king’s full attention, more than his bride had received from him since they met. Furthermore, Gaveston was adorned from head to toe in Royal Purple, sometimes called Tyrian Purple, a colour that was strictly reserved for kings. That the king had no qualms about Gaveston’s choice of dress spoke volumes about the closeness of their relationship. Their familiarity has led scholars ever since to speculate that Edward and Gaveston enjoyed an intimate homosexual relationship – their contemporaries certainly thought so. In the 1320s a chronicler wrote that Edward had for Gaveston ‘entered into a covenant of constancy, and bound himself with him before all other mortals with a bond of indissoluble love, firmly drawn up and fastened with a knot’.


The barons were furious at the ostentatious display of closeness Gaveston and the king so publicly paraded. Before the wedding feast was over, most of the barons stormed out in protest. However, it wasn’t their sexuality they took issue with, it was that Gaveston had Edward wrapped firmly around his little finger and had too much influence over the king’s mind – they really couldn’t care less what other appendages Gaveston may have been wrapped around. By 1308 the barons could no longer endure the king’s favour towards Gaveston; during a parliament, a group of them, headed by the powerful Earl of Lancaster, demanded his exile, or, they threatened, the king would face civil war. And to ensure the king indeed had their attention, the Archbishop of Canterbury swore to excommunicate Gaveston if he ever returned to England.


Edward had no choice but to agree, though the barons wanted to send Gaveston to distant Aquitaine. Edward couldn’t bear to see his muse sent so far away and ferried him off to nearby Dublin instead. Barely a year passed before Edward managed to convince the pope that any internal conflicts caused by his friendship with Gaveston had been resolved and so the threat of excommunication was lifted. In 1309 Gaveston was back from Ireland once more, causing every baron in England to quiver with rage. As long as Gaveston was on the scene, the barons would never be satisfied, and it really didn’t help that Gaveston had a habit of throwing around insults like an insufferable ostrich. He referred to one of the more powerful barons as the ‘dog of Warwick’. If you ask me, he sounds rather fun; I can see how, for Edward, Gaveston brought a touch of joie de vivre to an otherwise stuffy court.


Meanwhile, in Scotland, Robert the Bruce was still being an utter menace. John Balliol had abdicated in 1296 and was later imprisoned by Edward in the Tower of London. This led to a succession of Scottish uprisings under William Wallace. Then, in 1306, Robert the Bruce acceded to the throne and continued giving the English a very angry and ginger headache. Edward was a hopeless military commander, and the barons continued to pile on the pressure while the Scots piled up the bodies in the north. The walls were closing in on his ineffectual reign. Those walls came crashing down upon him in 1311 when the barons strong-armed him, yet again under the threat of civil war, into agreeing to a set of ordinances. Under these new provisions, a parliament of twenty-six elected barons would be required to go to war with another nation or grant land to others. They effectively stripped Edward of all the benefits of being king – except the foot rubs, he kept those. But most bitterly of all for poor Edward the ordinance permanently banned Gaveston from the kingdom – though we’ve been here before, haven’t we? Once again, a set of powerful barons were trying to form a new parliament to wrest power from the monarch – this was starting to become a national cliché.


Once again it failed to have any effect whatsoever, as within a year Edward had overturned the ordinances and recalled Gaveston to England. However, it seems none of the barons received the king’s memo. Because, as soon as the opportunity arose, the Earl of Warwick seized Gaveston and placed him under arrest at Warwick Castle. Here the prisoner was subjected to a sham trial and convicted of treason under the terms of the ordinances. He was sentenced to death and executed the following day. When news reached Edward of the death of his little piece of Gascony, he was sent into a fit of inconsolable grief as though mourning a lover. But he had no time to take his eye off the ball. He had spent the best part of a decade falling out with the barons over Gaveston, which had distracted him while Robert the Bruce quietly retook all of the castles and land in Scotland that Edward had conquered. By 1314 the mighty Scottish king had mustered enough strength to push south into Carlisle. Edward could ignore him no longer.


Edward managed to secure the support of his long-time rival, the immensely powerful Earl of Lancaster, along with several other barons, who supplied their men to march north and put the Scottish back in their very scenic but rainy box. This English campaign reached its apex at the Battle of Bannockburn on 23 June 1314. But, at the crucial moment, Lancaster reneged on his promise and refused to bring his feudal levies to the battle, which he was, by law, required to do; a blatant act of treason. The lack of Lancaster’s men allowed Robert’s army to overwhelm and rout the English. This decisive battle marked Scotland’s dominance in the war.


Robert now pressed his advantage and continued to invade south into Lancashire and almost took York. Edward, meanwhile, was occupied by more unusual matters. In Oxford, a nutcase named John of Powderham emerged from the bowels of mental illness to publicly proclaim that Edward II was a changeling and had been swapped at birth and that he was, in fact, the real Edward. His claims got him about as far as the Tyburn gallows. But as famine gripped the nation and Edward continued his usual form of being utterly useless, many in England wished that the recently executed ambitious fruitcake John of Powderham had been telling the truth – as he would probably have made a better ruler. One should throw Edward a bone of pity, though; similar to the latter Henry VI, his biggest crime was being way ahead of his time.


Edward was unusually tall and physically strong, like his father, but he was a benevolent king who was averse to violence. Edward cared deeply for the ordinary people all around him. He spent his days visiting the local blacksmith to observe his trade and even volunteered to help him out. Whereas modern-day politicians occasionally visit that strange place called the north for an industrial photo op so the country will think they still give a flying toss about Sheffield steelworkers, it’s believed that Edward genuinely did care. He went as far as volunteering to thatch people’s roofs for free. Having one’s roof thatched by the king of England must have induced the severest bout of neighbour envy, especially in the Middle Ages when it was genuinely assumed that the king was divinely crapped out of heaven. These jobs were way below the status of a king, and he was widely and harshly criticised for indulging in them. This also played conveniently into the homophobic propaganda that dogged his life.


To exacerbate matters, Edward had little to no military leadership skills and, as we have observed, was incapable of resolving internal feuds with demonstrations of superior strength. Today he may be seen as a good and just ruler, a man of the people, but, in the fourteenth century, he was seen as ineffectual, selfish and sinful. Lancaster had betrayed him when it came to the crunch, but if he wanted revenge on such a prominent figure, Edward would need new and powerful allies. Edward knew just the family: the mighty and ruthless Despensers. The Despensers were marcher lords who held large tracts of land and castles on the Welsh border, and the ambitious Hugh Despenser the Younger would stop at nothing to expand his family’s power base. Edward gave him free rein to take any and all land in Wales he desired. The Despensers began hoovering up land in the Welsh Marches like an all-you-can-eat buffet of keeps and shires.


The Earl of Lancaster was already a staunch enemy of the Despensers, but this was the final straw. In 1321 Lancaster formed a coalition of barons who all had one thing in common: they despised the Despensers and would do anything to see them vanquished. Crucially one of the barons was the extraordinarily powerful Roger Mortimer. The coalition marched on London and demanded that the Despensers be exiled. Edward was placed in an awkward situation: if he agreed, he would lose the trust of the unscrupulous Despensers, yet if he didn’t, there would be another civil war. Mercifully his wife handed him a get-out-of-jail-free card. Isabella fell to her knees in front of her husband and begged him, for her own safety, to kick out the Despensers. Edward seized the opportunity to banish them, because now if anyone were to ask him why he’d done it, including the Despensers, he could simply reply: ‘My wife made me do it.’


Edward would be wise to stay faithful to his wife. Isabella had grown up fast and developed into a shrewd political creature. She was about to become a force that no man in Europe would dare reckon with and would go on to earn herself the nickname the ‘She-Wolf of France’ – we will soon find out why. It didn’t take long for Isabella to demonstrate how useful she could be to Edward, who desired nothing more than revenge on the barons who had murdered Gaveston and exiled the Despensers. He couldn’t straight up declare war on the barons without appearing tyrannical, so Edward came up with a devious plan. He would fabricate a casus belli, a justified reason to declare war upon them.


Isabella travelled with her personal entourage to Leeds Castle in Kent, home of Bartholomew of Badlesmere, a treacherous baron loyal to the Earl of Lancaster. When Isabella arrived, she simply asked to be allowed inside, a stopover on her way to Canterbury, or so she claimed. But Edward predicted that Badlesmere would deny her entry, as he had little love for his king. Sure enough, Badlesmere refused the queen hospitality, and worse, his men attacked her retinue, killing six of them. This was precisely the casus belli Edward needed to launch a violent rebuke upon the dissenting barons, and he was quick to use it. Edward recalled the Despensers from exile then turned up at Leeds Castle and besieged Badlesmere, who capitulated almost instantly. With the Despensers watching, Edward mercilessly executed thirteen of the castle’s defenders.


Maintaining his victorious momentum, Edward then marched his army into Wales and forced Roger Mortimer to surrender. Now there was only one powerful foe left standing: his own cousin, the Earl of Lancaster. Only three months later Lancaster would be captured at the Battle of Boroughbridge; wasting no time, the prisoner was taken to Pontefract, subjected to a sham trial and then beheaded in front of Edward and Hugh Despenser. The rest of the recalcitrant barons were rounded up and chucked into the Tower of London.


Edward may have suppressed his enemies, but he’d made a fatal mistake. He’d neglected to keep a lid on the monsters he’d created to help him get there, the Despensers. The problem with relying on those more powerful than yourself to do your dirty work is that they often realise they have no further reason to obey you once they have conveniently dispatched all of your enemies – as Edward soon learnt. The Despensers seized his power and reduced him to a puppet king; they were now in control of the country’s finances and laws. And to Edward’s dismay, their power grab came full circle when, in 1324, a war broke out with France, the War of Saint-Sardos. With Edward distracted, Hugh Despenser made a bold move against the only person who could now pose a threat to their family’s power: Edward’s very own wife. Hugh Despenser stormed into Isabella’s apartment, stole her children away from her and took them into his personal care. He also confiscated all her lands. This was no more than a savage power play, but Hugh used the excuse that Isabella was King Charles IV of France’s sister and therefore the pair must be in collusion. Worst of all, for Isabella at least, Edward stood back and let it happen. In truth, he may not have been able to stop it even if he’d wanted to, as the Despensers now obeyed no higher power. However, to have not even tried was very unwise indeed. Edward had, for the last time, underestimated his wife.


He thought he could utilise Isabella’s relationship with her brother, the King of France, to negotiate a peace treaty. And sure enough, she successfully negotiated a truce with Charles, but to Edward’s surprise, she stayed in Paris and made a bold declaration. Isabella proclaimed that she now considered her husband to be dead to her until the Despensers were removed from England. She then demonstrated just how dead her husband was to her by sleeping with his sworn enemy, Roger Mortimer, who was also in France after escaping from the Tower of London. What Isabella and her new lover did next demonstrated just why she deserved her ‘She-Wolf’ sobriquet. Don’t worry, it wasn’t a sexual thing.


Isabella and Mortimer raised a small force of soldiers and landed on the Suffolk coast on 24 September 1326. They intended to invade, though it seemed their planning had consisted of nothing more than a quick conversation after spending the night together because they had brought so few men with them; it was more like a tea party than an invasion. But crucially, they had correctly judged the mood of the English people. As Isabella and Mortimer rode through the countryside, bannermen (direct vassals of lords, responsible for providing men-at-arms) from every town rallied to their cause; their army swelled larger by the day. From every thorny thicket and tired tavern, men came to their side, men who were exasperated by their flowerpot of a monarch and the belligerent barons now running the country. They moved through Cambridge and Oxford, and on 7 October Isabella reached and took control of London. The country was theirs.


Isabella and Mortimer’s men then surrounded Bristol, where the Despensers were hiding, presumably quivering in their boots, knowing the She-Wolf was on a crusade of revenge. It was what she did to Hugh Despenser, who surrendered when she stormed Bristol, that showed just how fierce this wolf’s bite could be. She had an inordinately tall set of gallows erected at Hereford, so everyone could watch. Hugh was hung until almost dead, then lowered down, after which his genitals were cut off and burnt in front of his eyes. Then his stomach was torn open, and his entrails ripped out, all while he was still conscious. Finally, he was beheaded. But what is so disturbing about this account is that throughout the entire episode Isabella watched intently, wide-eyed and calmly chewing on a piece of fruit. Unlike the men around her, it was reported she didn’t flinch or avert her gaze once.


Edward was locked up in Kenilworth Castle, and Isabella had Parliament declare him incorrigible and then deposed as a monarch. She later moved him to Berkeley Castle because it was more secure; Isabella couldn’t have her feckless husband gnawing his way out of his cell. She made their son Edward king, but, with Isabella as his regent, it was clear who was really running the show. With Edward locked up in Berkeley Castle, he may no longer have been king, but while he still had breath in his lungs, Isabella, the usurper, the savage She-Wolf, could never sleep easy. How does a wolf dispose of its prey? With brutal violence, of course. The She-Wolf had men sent to murder her husband, though officially he suffered from a ‘fatal accident’. Legend has it he was killed by a red hot poker shoved up his rectum. This account didn’t surface until some time after his death, and is likely no more than homophobic propaganda; most plausibly he was smothered to death with a pillow. But the irony of a homosexual king being buggered to death on a rod of iron is too juicy for history to simply sweep aside.






A Man Carries a Pineapple Around Town


TODAY BRITAIN IS EXPERIENCING a culinary renaissance. Since legendary London restaurant Le Gavroche earned Britain its first Michelin Star in 1974, the country has gone on to achieve a current roster of over 160 restaurants holding the coveted French accolade. It is an understatement that this overhaul of the British diet was long overdue. Yet it is a testament to the enduring stoicism of British tradition that toad in the hole and suet puddings held their own for so long against the objectively more sophisticated likes of duck à l’orange and mille-feuille, given England’s remarkably close proximity to Paris. By the twentieth century, however, Britain had nonetheless progressed significantly from the cuisine of the Middle Ages. Some of what you are about to learn will make you thankful for beans on toast and tinned custard.


Pure white bread like we commonly consume today, called manchet in the Middle Ages, was not a luxury most peasants could afford. A slab of dark rye, denser than a doorknob, was far more usual. If you were lucky enough or sufficiently unscented of shit to be invited into a wealthier household, say that of a yeoman, and presuming the yeoman could afford to keep his land fertilised with sufficient dung to grow wheat, then you may have received a slice of soft white bread.


There was a compelling need to make use of quite literally every crumb of food produced in a peasant’s household; for serfs, food was hardly abundant. Slices of wholegrain bread, once they had reached the end of their edible lifespan, would be stored until they were so stale they could actually be used as plates, called ‘trenchers’, to eat other meals from. Trenchers would have the added benefit of soaking up the juices from whatever food was served upon them, flavouring these stale slabs of wheat. Trenchers were also occasionally used in wealthier households such as that of a yeoman or possibly a lord, where, following the meal, they could either be given to the poor or eaten by the household’s servants. The recipients of these stale and sodden, bread-based alms would undoubtedly have been grateful to taste the dripping of meat soaked up by the trencher, as the poor seldom ate meat.


Aside from bread, one of the most ubiquitous dishes served in a medieval peasant’s household was pottage. Just one more thing in medieval life suffixed by ‘-age’ (scutage: shield-tax; chevage: immigrant tax; and pannage: a weirdly specific tax for feeding a liege’s wild beasts – just three examples among countless others). Pottage is, as you would expect, a large pot of what we would probably call stew, containing onions, garlic, garden vegetables such as peas, spring onion and cabbage, and various grains. But don’t expect vibrant, crunchy greens. If you were served a bowl of medieval pottage, you would quickly become accustomed to grey, lifeless mush.


It was popularly believed in medieval England that the green within vegetables was somehow bad for one’s being, almost toxic. It was therefore common to boil the living daylights out of vegetables until every scrap of chlorophyll mercilessly seeped out into the water. The vegetables were then strained, and the resultant, wholly unappetising grey mulch would be thrown into the pottage. If you were lucky enough or an important individual, you may possibly be given a pottage with meat in it or cooked in meat stock. This was as rare, however, as a crunchy green vegetable.


If your preconception of an everyday beverage throughout the Middles Ages is a flagon of ale, you would not be mistaken. You would also be correct in your assumptions that the hygiene standards of the local freshwater supply left a lot to be desired. Which would you rather drink? Barely translucent water from downstream, knowing full well that upstream the local gong farmer – the lucky person whose job was to remove human excrement from the streets and public privies and then dispose of it – was dumping that magnificent mix of the town’s collective human waste in the very same water that’s currently brushing your tonsils. Or the same water which has been boiled and fermented using barley and yeast to mostly purify it and vastly reduce the likelihood of disease?


Water was so filthy that ale was exclusively drunk by most people. If water did have to be consumed it would most certainly be collected from rainwater upon your roof; definitely not from your local Shit Brook, which by the way is the actual name of a small stream in Shropshire – no prizes for guessing the origin of its nomenclature. On exceptional occasions, such as a state visit from a foreign monarch, the London city plumbing had wine, not water, pumped through it to citizens’ households (though only the wealthiest residents had internal plumbing) and public water conduits for the entire day.


Ale was so essential in fact that its market price was fixed by law based on the bounty of that year’s barley harvest. Ale wives would brew fresh ale every week, perhaps daily in larger towns and cities, for sale to the public. But if a cool, refreshing, slightly bitter, slightly sweet and hoppy beverage is what you have in mind, it may come as a disappointment to learn that hops had not yet been added to the ale during the brewing process. So technically it was not beer, hops being the differentiator between ale and beer. Ale in the Middle Ages was vastly different from the comparatively pleasant ‘real ale’ beverage your local hipster brews in his garage today.


The sour taste of ale, a taste you had best get used to if you plan on visiting your local medieval alehouse, was sometimes overbearingly prominent. It would certainly not be cold either, especially during summer. If you are willing to pay the premium for freshly brewed ale, only a couple of days out of the brewery, its taste would be rather pleasant. Without the addition of hops, however, ale ages exceptionally quickly. Within less than a week of brewing, it would turn noticeably sour.


Fear not. To counteract the thoroughly unpleasant sourness, spices, herbs and sweeteners such as honey in the case of mead, were added in an attempt to make the drink taste more agreeable. Cinnamon, ginger and ground pepper were commonly used, but these flavourings would surely have the unavoidable consequence of making your delicious ale taste like your local spice merchant’s knapsack. Flavoured and spiced beers may be popular today, but unlike their modern counterparts, subtlety was rarely exercised in the spicing of medieval ales.


A crucial difference any present-day beer enthusiast would quickly notice if they were to find themselves in a medieval alehouse is that the ale was considerably weaker, typically less than 2 per cent ABV. Although images of inebriated peasant-folk strewn across the cobbled lanes of a medieval city may come to mind (and don’t get me wrong, this was sometimes the case), it was considered bad form in most private households and in taverns to be irrevocably trolleyed. Especially if you were a woman. For a woman to be drunk in public or at a social gathering was considered unforgivably indecent. Ale, therefore, was brewed to moderate levels. After all, one would have consumed quite a lot of it on a daily basis: average beer consumption for the period has been estimated at over one litre per day, per person. When everyone you know is dying around you from murder or disease, always being just one drink away from an alcohol-induced coma was probably comforting.


What, you may ask, did the nobility eat in medieval England? That’s a good question, and you would be correct in assuming that their diet was vastly different from a peasant or yeoman’s daily fare. In a nobleman’s household, food was all about one thing: status. The grander, more varied, more elaborate and quite often more ridiculous that your banquets were, the more important you must be. If a nobleman was hosting a feast or banquet, you could expect the whole ordeal to last longer than two hours. This was not, however, because of multiple courses or a sophisticated and lengthy tasting menu with a succession of oversized plates framing a teaspoon of fish eggs. There were usually only three courses, but oh my, what courses they were!


Self-service was the state of play, and there was much to choose from. Each course would consist of a dazzling display of dishes of which guests were expected to sample only a small quantity of each. To guzzle down only one of the dishes on offer would be considered rude. Royal banquets were all about choice. The idea of guests being served a single plate of food for each course is relatively new. It wasn’t until Victoria’s reign that this became popular, a style called ‘à la russe’, by which servants portioned food onto diners’ plates from silver trays. But until the French decided all English food could be improved if it was less English and more French, help-yourself banquets were the norm. Especially throughout the Middle Ages, it was typical for a bewildering selection of tens, even hundreds of different dishes to be arranged along the table and diners would help themselves to a little bit of whatever took their fancy. At one royal banquet in the seventeenth century, 1,671 dinner guests were served 145 dishes for the first course alone.


If you were seated at such an exclusive table, you would notice a bewilderment of dishes cooked using the most expensive spices available. There would be stewed and boiled meats in both sweet and savoury sauces. You may not have been fed mutton or rabbit as such meats were typically associated with those of lesser status or income, so on a nobleman’s table, you could expect to find considerably more expensive cuts of meat such as ox. A peasant would never dare cook and eat his oxen, as they were far too valuable as tools for ploughing his fields. It would have been equivalent to an aristocrat cooking his maid, although I bet some eccentric bastard tried.


You would also find pottages, as mentioned earlier, but the nobleman’s cook would prepare significantly more lavish incarnations than those favoured by peasants across the land. There would be meat pottages and even fruit pottages with spices such as cinnamon. Selections of fruits, nuts and seeds would also be served at the table, dotted betwixt the maze of curious dishes just to illustrate the wealth of the host.


The dazzling array of meats on display would give modern-day vegetarians heart palpitations. There could be roast fawn, venison and lamb along with a menagerie of precisely roasted and carved birds such as buzzard, bustard, crane, egret and the occasional lark. There would be a noticeable difference in the size of the farmed animals at the table when compared to their modern-day descendants. Due to undernourishment of most farm animals during the Middle Ages, they were considerably smaller than today. A medieval sheep, for example, was a third of the size of a modern sheep.


To display just how eccentric the royal host was there was usually a grand table centrepiece of a meat-based Frankenstein’s monster, often consisting of multiple animals cooked inside each other or sewn together. Sometimes this would be an entire course. The chefs would spend days preparing, cooking and displaying this magnificent amalgamation, straight out of the mind of a deranged and morally challenged butcher, just to bring it out for one ‘course’, but usually it would not even be eaten. The ‘course’ would be placed in the centre of the table for diners to gaze at, awestruck, then taken away and eaten by the kitchen staff or given to the poor. A popular example was the cockentrice, the upper half of a suckling pig stitched to the bottom half of a capon. After the beast was cooked the feathers could optionally be reattached, and it was usually jazzed up with some quaintly macabre accessories, such as ram’s horns, bear claws and wings. These were arranged to give this slaughterhouse special the appearance of a mythical monster. Sometimes an iron helmet was attached to the ‘head’ of the beast, and the dish was entitled the ‘Helmeted Cock’ – usually not approved by rabbis.


Queen Victoria had a unique ability to devour food like a pack of ravenous seagulls, which by the way were sometimes eaten by royalty. Victoria could polish off a nine-course meal, designed to take three or more hours, in less than thirty minutes. You would think being asked to dine at a royal banquet hosted by Victoria would be a dream come true, but it was more like hell. All the other diners were served after Victoria, and she would eat so fast that by the time the last guest had been served, she would have already finished that course. And, when Victoria finished eating all the plates were taken away in preparation for the next course, whether you had finished or not. As such, the last people to be served could barely take a bite before their delicious entrée was whipped away again. You would also be freezing to your bone in your flimsy dinner jacket because Victoria got so hot while processing food like a paper shredder that she requested all the windows to be fully open – and she had a lot of windows.


Diversity of food didn’t change all that much until the discovery of the New World. The potato was brought from South America to England in the mid-1500s, as was the tomato, cocoa and pineapple. The exotic and extortionately expensive pineapple became a symbol of stature and wealth in Britain in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. He who was fortunate enough to procure a pineapple would display it proudly in his home. If he was hosting a party, it would often be decorated and used as a table centrepiece. Some people were so proud of their pineapple they would carry it around town under their arm like a weird prickly baby, until it inevitably started to rot. Which ironically also happens to babies at about one year old, when they stop being cute and, like the pineapple, you wish you could put it on the compost heap. It was even possible to rent a pineapple for a night if you were hosting a party and wanted to show off – a privilege that would set you back the modern-day equivalent of around £6,000 for a single evening.
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[image: images]





English Peasants Kill Half of France in a Field


EDWARD III’S REIGN WAS ALREADY BUILT on shaky foundations. He may have been the rightful heir of his father Edward II, but he had been thrust into the position after the deposition and murder of his father by Isabella the She-Wolf and Roger Mortimer. The issue was that the newly crowned fourteen-year-old king was not really king. At least he was king in name only: Roger Mortimer was the de facto ruler of England, pulling the strings of this young royal puppet. Mortimer was powerful but unpopular; he abused his power to collect titles and estates like an acquisitive magpie. And, on a personal level, Mortimer was an intolerable knave – medieval lingo for a massive knob. Edward, therefore, found it supremely easy to find a pack of powerful men willing to ally with him to take Mortimer down. Notably, Edward’s close friend William Montagu was instrumental. On 19 October 1330, Edward’s small rebel contingent ambushed Mortimer at Nottingham Castle and executed him. Edward could finally enjoy full kingly powers, but his reign would be entirely consumed by war.


Since the Norman invasion, English kings had also held lands in France of varying sizes. This meant that the barons who owned these French fiefs were vassals of both the King of England and the King of France. This perpetually complicated just about all diplomacy between England and France and was repeatedly the rotten garlicky root of their conflicts. The tensions invoked by these convoluted vassal situations were compounded by a succession crisis when Charles IV of France died. Edward believed he had a tenuous claim to the French throne through his mother Isabella, and this sparked the longest war Europe has ever known, the Hundred Years’ War. It broke out in April 1337 and raged until 1453. It lasted 116 years, but the One Hundred and Sixteen Years’ War doesn’t scream ‘memorable’. It was actually a succession of wars between England and France with periods of respite in between (1360–69 and 1389–1415).


Edward mounted his first invasion across the Channel in July 1346. He enjoyed a promising start when the English captured Caen in less than a day. But his following victories would rely on an English superweapon: archers. Archery was the bread and butter of the English way of war. Like a bow, bread and butter were commonly found in every man’s household, and, in the right hands, a flap of starchy carbohydrate can turn a man into sandwich spread. I’ve never met a man capable of killing an armoured knight with a slice of Hovis, but I couldn’t confidently say it’s not possible. Unlike armour and swords that required expensive metals to smith, a simple longbow could be made by anyone. It thus became the common man’s weapon of choice. Any man, even women and children if needed, could wield and use a longbow in battle to defend their homeland. The longbow would go on to prove so effective in warfare that a succession of English kings introduced laws mandating archery training. Henry III first decreed that every man between the ages of fifteen and sixty must practise their longbow proficiency every Sunday. And now Edward III had banned the popular sports of football and handball because they were distracting young men away from their archery training.


The result was a nation overflowing with master archers, each with a lifetime of longbow training and expertise. Such a colossal swell of expert archers was a necessity because the secret to England’s weapon of mass destruction was in its numbers. It was not uncommon for other nation’s armies to utilise archers but none dedicated such a large proportion of their available men to the craft as England did. Thousands of bowmen would line the battlefield, alongside cavalry and foot soldiers, perfectly arranged in rows and columns, going back as far as the eye could see. This enabled English forces to create monumental tidal waves of arrows, soaring through the air, up to a mile wide. Sometimes this torrent of arrows would block out the sun’s light, leaving the enemy in a shadow of piercing death.


Of all the countless horrors of war, running towards the enemy with a thundering shower of arrows raining down towards you must be one of the most terrifying scenarios imaginable. English longbowmen would stick their munitions of arrows in the ground to their side, allowing faster reloading times than pulling them from a cumbersome quiver. This had the added and entirely intentional benefit of covering the arrowhead in mud and whatever dirt may be strewn across the ground, so when the arrow penetrated the enemy it would riddle them with infection, which, in a time before antibiotics, could easily result in the loss of a limb or life.


An experienced English archer could fire up to eight arrows per minute. When you envision a battlefield of thousands of skilled marksmen, each loosing an arrow every seven seconds, you begin to understand why the humble longbow was England’s weapon of mass destruction. It was the closest thing to a medieval machine gun. For most armies on the European continent, such as the French, a crossbow was the weapon of choice, which is far deadlier at close range; however, its bolts couldn’t reach the other side of most battlefields, not like the longbow. Crossbows were also much slower. An experienced crossbowman could fire at most four bolts per minute. Although the crossbow was in every way a more advanced weapon than the longbow, it was by no means superior. Never in history has the power differential of these two weapons been demonstrated more effectively than at the Battle of Crécy on 26 August 1346.


After taking Caen, Edward marched his 15,000-strong army north-east towards the Low Countries, first laying waste to and pillaging several small towns in north-west France. On their return journey, they headed towards Calais, hoping to hop across the Channel back to the safety of England’s shores. Philip VI of France had very different ideas. He was not going to let these English ‘savages’ – as they were commonly referred to across the Continent – return home with all their bountiful plunder and their heads held high.


Philip sent the pride of the French army to outmanoeuvre the English invaders and squish them before they could reach Calais. The two armies met at Crécy, and as each side stood across the precipice of death, the socio-political difference between the two nations couldn’t have been more stark. Philip’s army was full of knights who were mostly noblemen, including many crucial members of the French aristocracy. They were backed up by 6,000 Genoese crossbowmen, a private mercenary army Philip had enlisted. Genoese crossbowmen were considered the best of their kind and were extraordinarily skilled. This was in every way an army of pure nobility, not a farmer or swineherd among them. Conversely, Edward’s far smaller army consisted of men from all walks of life: brewers, bards, bakers, smiths, taverners and the odd gong farmer – anyone who could pick up a longbow, pike or sword. Commoners they may have been but amateurs they were not – these men had been training with their weaponry since childhood, especially the longbowmen. This was a clash of the classes.


Upon sighting the English, Philip’s royal army charged them across the undulating farm landscape. Positioned in front of Philip’s mounted knights were the Genoese crossbowmen, their function to provide covering fire so the knights could safely charge the enemy. But immediately the crossbowmen began to feel the brutal sting of the English longbowmen’s arrows tearing at their flesh. They hit a wall of arrows, endless in pace and number. Draw, loose, draw, loose. A longbow’s offensive power and range was unforgivingly impressive. The Genoese crossbowmen, the cream of the crop of European mercenaries, could not equal the onslaught brought down upon them by an army of pickpockets and peasants. So they did what any professional would do: they scarpered. Leaving the French knights to fend for themselves, the crossbowmen routed towards the treeline. The French aristocracy viewed their retreat as a traitorous act and so ordered the knights to run down and slaughter every last one of them, and that they did.


The French knights continued to press forward towards the English barricade; their crossbowmen lay behind them, writhing in a bloody quagmire of mutiny. But the closer to the English they pushed, the more devastating was the penetrative power of the longbowmen’s arrows. At long range, the longbow’s arrows could adequately penetrate the light armour of the Genoese crossbowmen, but not heavily armoured knights; the arrows would have dented but not penetrated steel plate. At medium to close range, however, the speed of the arrows, fresh from the longbow’s nock, was much faster and the impact force significantly increased. As the mounted knights closed the gap, the arrows began to penetrate their heavy and unwieldy iron and steel armour, rupturing internal organs. But the longbowmen were not aiming for the glistening knights; no, their sights were fixed upon the horses below them. Unarmoured, the cascade of arrows obliterated these vulnerable animals within seconds, catapulting the knights into the dirt before they could reach the English frontline. The mounting pile of horse corpses and half-dead knights, thrashing in mud and blood, slowed down the remaining French forces considerably. This gave the English longbowmen free rein to cut down the remaining soldiers with yet another barrage of arrows.


Within minutes the English longbowmen had slaughtered the vast majority of Philip’s army. Only two knights who were known by name within Edward’s army were killed that day. In stark contrast, on the French side, an estimated 10,000 died. The flower of French nobility had been completely devastated. Those who died were, without a doubt, some of the most important political figures in Europe. In the royal account of the history of France, the Grandes Chroniques, it says of the Battle of Crécy: ‘It is a great shame that so many French noblemen fell to men of no value. That is to say, archers.’


To be a French knight was the epitome of chivalry. A young page would begin training for knighthood at seven. They would learn a variety of combat skills from bows to swords, and of course obedience and manners – it’s no good upholding a young maiden’s honour in a battle to the death if you then tell her she has a face like a sea cucumber. After a candidate of sufficient nobility had proved himself in combat and most importantly demonstrated a code of personal chivalry and honour, he could be initiated into the world of knighthood. The ceremony to mark this rite of passage was called the accolade – it is indeed from where the word originates. We can all picture a knight-to-be receiving a touch of the sword on each shoulder, but this ceremony didn’t develop until the late Middle Ages and was typically the English method. The French preferred a good clobber around the ear. The monarch performing the accolade would finish by hitting the recipient in the face or ear. The idea was that this was the last blow he should ever receive without retaliating, for he was now a knight and his personal honour would forever be at stake. He would also be able to wear the latest steel-plate armour and wield the best swords.


But all this pomp and grandeur counted for bugger all on the battlefield. Ultimately the esteemed and chivalrous French knights were beaten by layabouts from Lancashire and Wales wearing month-old rags and the odd bit of beef in their ears. Whether they had flea-bitten eyeballs or not did not change the fact that these men were deadly killers. After a lifetime of weekly training, they were all experts with the longbow and not too shabby with knives either. 


Sixty-nine years after Edward’s heroic victory at Crécy, his great-grandson, Henry V, would leverage the power of the common archer to repeat his success. In 1415, after the second peace of the Hundred Years’ War, Henry renewed hostilities. This time the social disparity between opposing forces would be ever starker. In August, Henry V emptied the prisons and promised clemency to any man who would come to fight in France; he gathered 10,500 men. The English were also streets ahead of the French in their military organisation. Officials drew up muster rolls, and Henry ensured every man would be well paid and well fed. But most importantly, every soldier in his army was a volunteer. This is all reminiscent of modern-day professional armies. Compare this to the archaic French army, which by the fifteenth century was still relying on the feudal system of raised levies and forced servitude. 


His first target was the port of Harfleur, after which he very much emulated the movements of Edward III’s Crécy campaign. Harfleur took longer than expected and exacted a heavy toll on Henry’s men, so instead of marching on Paris while weakened he thought it more effective to raid and pillage his way north through rural France, generally being an obstinate English thorn in the French king’s side. Not that Charles VI ‘the Mad’ cared – he was far too distracted with being absolutely insane. He thought he was made out of glass and he demanded that steel rods be sewn into his garments to prevent himself from shattering.


Just north of the Somme, as the English army was heading towards Calais and hopefully home, they were caught out. The French forces had outmanoeuvred Henry’s, and he had no choice but to engage. The night before in the French camp derogatory songs were sung and jokes made about the English; Charles’s men assumed this would be an easy victory, whereas Henry’s men were low on supplies, battle-worn, tired and hungry, and some were suffering from dysentery. Only 5,000 English archers and 900 men-at-arms faced off against an estimated 36,000 French, roughly 10,000 of whom were knights and the rest crossbowmen, archers and men-at-arms. A narrow valley separated them.


But then it all turned rather dull. For three long hours, the two armies stared at each other, pensively awaiting that moment when they would engage and begin stabbing each other’s kidneys. Charles wasn’t at the battle, he was back in Paris pretending to be a chandelier. But the French commanders, several dukes, who were present, were patiently waiting for the English to attack them. They assumed, and were probably right, that if the English attacked the hordes of mounted spear-wielding knights, they would be wiped out with ease. But Henry knew this and held his men back. The English, however, recognised the Achilles’ heel of the French: their pride. The archers taunted the French from across the field, all sticking two fingers up proudly in the air, and, I like to imagine, shouting, ‘Come get us, you French K-niggits.’ This was a retort to the French custom of removing the index and middle fingers from any English longbowmen that they managed to capture. The French knights present that day were the very ancestors of the knights who had been in this same situation before. They had heard tales of the immense power of the English longbowmen even against overwhelming odds. They had read of the obliteration of their grandfathers at Crécy. But had they learnt their lesson? No. The French couldn’t resist rising to the English taunts, and a regiment of the French cavalry broke rank and launched a full-frontal charge against the English. The fear of being taunted a second time was obviously too great a risk to take.


It was an utter disaster. Just like at Crécy the arrows of the English longbowmen ripped through the horses’ flesh. The French knights were like the naive, helpless soldiers going over the top into no man’s land against the thundering Maxim machine guns on the fields of Flanders exactly five centuries later. They were picked off in huge numbers, horses and their riders slammed into the ground, both peppered with arrow shafts. Those that managed to reach the English frontline were impaled on large wooden stakes which the longbowmen had fashioned from tree trunks and stuck into the ground before the battle to protect themselves, and they worked better than they could have ever expected. The main bulk of the French cavalry then followed suit and charged, but by this time the quagmire of mud between the armies was so inundated with corpses of horses and knights that reaching the English became almost impossible and the longbowmen were able to hail bloody death through the air at the French cavalry unimpeded.


When the French did eventually break through the English barricades, the longbowmen pulled out hatchets and swords, and a brutal melee ensued. The nimble English archers with their light armour and men-at-arms were far more agile in the blood-sodden sludge of the battlefield than the cumbersome full-plate French knights. Many were suffocated in their heavy armour after being crushed by falling bodies and horses.


It’s estimated that 40 per cent of the French nobility were killed at Agincourt and as many as 11,000 of the entire French army. Estimates for English fatalities range from 100 to 450. There were so many French prisoners of war in English custody after the battle that they outnumbered the English. Henry had them all executed as he feared they could regroup and use weapons strewn around the battlefield to attack the weary English army. 


Agincourt marked the death of the age of chivalry. War was changing. Both Crécy and Agincourt were spectacular epitaphs to the longbow’s domination over European warfare, because on the fields of Crécy and Agincourt a small number of cannons rang out on the English side. The age of gunpowder was coming.






Transvestite Playboy John Rykener
Has Sex With a Lot of Priests


FEW STORIES FROM MEDIEVAL ENGLAND reveal the enormous chasm between the medieval and modern-day understanding of sexuality as do the tales of transvestite prostitute John Rykener. During the daytime, Rykener was a hedonistic playboy, seducing and having sex with countless women. At night Rykener transformed into a convincing woman and embroideress named Eleanor. This was more than an amusing pretence, it was his profession, but it was a profession he relished and from which he gained much satisfaction. He had a star-studded client list, some of whom knew of Rykener’s manhood; others, unaccountably, did not.


Rykener had an ecclesiastical fetish; most of ‘Eleanor’s’ clients were friars and chaplains. Rykener would receive as much as two shillings per encounter and a particular Franciscan friar, Brother Michael, paid the sum of one gold ring for his not-so-gold ring. 


On Sunday 11 December 1395, around 9 p.m., Rykener was propositioned by Yorkshireman John Britby, in Cheapside, London; Britby believed his courtesan to be female. During this encounter Rykener was caught by officials patrolling the city, who accused him of ‘lying by a certain stall in Soper Lane, committing that detestable unmentionable and ignominious vice’. It is commonly believed the vice referred to in this instance was anal sex. When questioned Rykener explicitly confessed to a long history of solicitation as a woman, to both male and female clientele. That list included not only priests but also nuns, politicians and a variety of other English personnel of considerable notoriety.


Prostitution itself was not illegal in fourteenth-century England; in fact, it was a more universally accepted aspect of society than it is today. Thomas Aquinas, the thirteenth-century philosopher, equated prostitution to a sewer moderating the flow of waste, as though prostitution was some sort of moral sinkhole that absorbed the evils of man. It was, therefore, a necessary evil, or as he put it: ‘take away prostitutes from the world and you will fill it with sodomy’.


Brothels were actually illegal within the City of London but not prostitution itself, so if you’d planned on paying for a shag in medieval London, you’d have taken care to do it outside where everyone could see. Mostly, however, the authorities preferred to arrest the pimps plying the trade, rather than the individual sex workers in brothels. Sodomy was a crime, but it was a moral and civil offence, not a criminal one. It was, therefore, dealt with only in ecclesiastical courts. Since sodomy was beyond the jurisdiction of the criminal courts, Rykener was not convicted. It was considered to charge him with offences of unregulated prostitution instead, since although prostitution was not illegal, it was highly regulated. The decision was taken, however, not to take the matter any further. This conclusion reveals a vital facet of the medieval psyche, particularly the aspects of unfair criminal justice and gender inequality. The reason given for not prosecuting Rykener for prostitution was that, according to contemporary legal documentation, a prostitute was defined as a ‘sinful woman who took money for sex’. Rykener was, of course, a man who took money for sex, not a woman, and so he could not possibly be a prostitute and thus could not be tried as one. As sporadic, creative and downright unfair medieval courts could be, technicalities, no matter how minor, were never overlooked.





A Floating Monarch Lies to an Angry Roof Tiler


IMAGINE YOUR SHEER HORROR if a representative of Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs forced his way into your home and stuck his hand up your daughter’s undergarments to discover if she was a virgin. Would you start a revolt? This gross act seems incomprehensible to our modern sensibilities, yet it was this exact infringement of human rights that spawned the Peasants’ Revolt, one of the most defining moments in English social history. It was so traumatic that, ever since, the English have regressed to only discussing the weather and the best canal cycle routes, just so it doesn’t happen again – it was touch and go for a moment when Brexit happened and the pitchforks almost resurfaced. In 1337 the rulers of England, the House of Plantagenet, declared war on the French House of Valois, sparking a succession of wars that would collectively come to be known as the Hundred Years’ War. These wars would decide who would rule the Kingdom of France. By 1377 the conflict had become unsustainably expensive, and so the very first poll tax was introduced by John of Gaunt, to bolster the war chest. John of Gaunt, the third son of Edward III, became de facto ruler of the government between 1374 and 1377 due to his father’s illness. Edward discovered a large abscess and died of a stroke on 21 June 1377.


Instead of taxing individuals differently based on their incomes and assets, the people of England were ‘polled’, and each individual head would have to pay a flat tax rate of four pennies or one groat. This meant nobles would find themselves paying a tiny proportion of their wealth, while toothless peasants would have to fork over substantially more of their income. But this would also be a huge tax hike for the middle class, the yeomen – merchants and small business owners. Overall, this provided a larger, more stable tax revenue for the Crown with which to beat up the French. But what may utterly shock you, or perhaps not, is that immediately after the poll tax was introduced, one third of England’s fathers, wives, daughters, sons and the occasional aunt turned to dust, seemingly overnight. Thousands of families across the country were reporting fewer inhabitants of their households than actually existed, with the obvious goal of reducing the family’s ‘poll’ and thus their tax liability.


But it wasn’t the introduction of the poll tax that sparked the Peasants’ Revolt – it was the Crown’s response to this mass tax evasion that tipped the bucket. Commissioners were dispatched to every corner of the nation to seek out grandmothers stuffed into larders and count the actual residents of each and every family and force them to pay their mandated taxes.


Two common misconceptions surround the Peasants’ Revolt. The first is that it was only carried out by peasants or, more accurately, serfs, those at the very bottom of medieval society’s hierarchy. In fact, many of the rebels were yeomen or landed gentry – they came from both ends of the social spectrum. The second misconception is that the revolt was an unorganised, chaotic uprising. Quite the contrary: the revolt had ringleaders, starting with the initial lead protagonist Abel Kerr of Essex. Townsfolk carrying coded messages were sent out to villages and towns all around Essex and the surrounding counties; partisans were systematically recruited and briefed through this messenger system. This explains how the whole of the south of England suddenly erupted, on precisely the same day, in the summer of 1381 in the reign of Richard II. It wasn’t chance: it had been thoroughly orchestrated.


The movement began in June with local leaders such as John Geoffrey, a bailiff, riding around towns such as Brentwood recruiting volunteers to the peasant resistance army. The rebels came mostly from Essex and Kent. After a couple of days, they appointed a national leader whose name has rattled down through the ages: Wat Tyler. Little is known about him except that he was most likely a roof tiler. With Wat Tyler at the helm, the rebels converged on London in one coordinated push. The Kentish rebels marched north, and then rebel groups in Essex, Suffolk and Norfolk made their way to London. The fact that these groups of small-town folk, with hundreds of miles between them, knew exactly when and where to converge is remarkable, a testament to the complex organisation of the entire revolt, and I’m reasonably certain none of them used social media. The king and the nobility would never have imagined that peasant-folk, who they assumed were no more than base vermin, could have accomplished such a professional and coordinated operation.


The rebels finally met on 12 June at Blackheath in south-east London. Here, in front of roughly 60,000 men and some women too, from all backgrounds and incomes – indeed a few notable rebels were enormously wealthy – John Ball, a radical Kentish priest, gave a rousing sermon, in which he uttered: ‘When Adam delved and Eve span, who was then the gentleman?’ For all you modern-day peasants scratching your heads, it meant: ‘Would our hardworking ancestors have made such class distinctions or thought one man better than the other?’


By this point, the king was freaking out. Richard’s entire army was in France fighting the Hundred Years’ War. Therefore he had a personal bodyguard and no more than a few hundred men available. He certainly had no way to deal with 1,000 pissed-off peasants marching on London, never mind up to 60,000. The king’s retinue did the only thing they could – they took the young monarch to the Tower of London and garrisoned the walls. Richard had been thrust into kingship in 1377 after his father Edward, the Black Prince, and his grandfather Edward III died. This fledgling monarch, only fourteen years old, hadn’t a shred of experience to deal with this almighty uprising of his people, yet, as we will soon discover, his brave actions surprised not only his contemporaries but others through the generations.


Richard knew he had to meet the rebels sooner rather than later to find out what the bloody hell it was they actually wanted, or they may be kicking down his bedroom door by the next morning with pitchforks in their grubby hands. His aides arranged a meeting at their current location in Greenwich. On 13 June Richard sailed along the Thames to meet the rebels but would not step foot on dry land, fearing for his safety; instead he spoke to them from his barge. Richard’s persuasive rhetoric to subdue the rebellion was along the lines of ‘give up and go home’, then he sailed back to the Tower. Incredibly the floating monarch pantomime didn’t work. If anything he had angered them more, and that same afternoon the rebels marched into London and across London Bridge. Rebels from Essex simultaneously converged on the centre from the west through Aldgate, which had been left wide open either through sympathy for the rebels or out of fear.


The rebels’ most pressing demand was an end to serfdom and oppressive hierarchies. They were not anti-monarchy and didn’t blame the young king for the poll tax and other injustices suffered by the people, they blamed his advisers. A hit list was drawn up, and the rebels wanted the head of every name on it. It included most of the king’s councillors and closest aides, but notably the Archbishop of Canterbury, Simon Sudbury, and John of Gaunt, Duke of Lancaster, one of Edward III’s five sons and among the most senior military commanders in England. John of Gaunt founded the House of Lancaster, the descendants of which would cause a spot of bother during the fifteenth century, kicking off the Wars of the Roses.


Luckily Gaunt happened to be on the Scottish border at the time; otherwise, he would have found himself headless within the hour. The rebels compromised and pillaged their way to his London home, the vast Savoy Palace, one of the most marvellous buildings in London at the time. Its location is the very same spot where the present-day Savoy hotel now stands. The place was overflowing with luxuries: mountains of gold, silver plate and gems. The rebels systematically made their way through the labyrinthine palatial home and destroyed everything, though they didn’t steal a single item; the rebels thought of themselves as upholders of justice, not base thieves. Though they did burn the building to the ground afterwards, because as we all know, justice is usually upheld with flames.


Violence erupted all over the city. A group of rebels headed to the courtroom, burnt legal documents then dragged out several lawyers and beheaded them on the streets – but killing lawyers is like killing estate agents, it doesn’t really count. The headquarters of the Knights Hospitaller, a Catholic military order, was attacked, all their books were burnt on the street and their priory reduced to cinders. Some used the ensuing chaos to settle personal grudges, particularly members of the London weavers’ guild. Their biggest rivals were Flemish weavers, so during the riots, gangs of militant spinners put down their yarns and roamed the blood-stained streets of London looking for Flemings. When they suspected they had chanced upon a foreigner, they held him down and ordered him to say ‘bread and cheese’. If he used the Flemish words ‘brood en kaas’, he would be butchered.


The following morning, 14 June, the rebels focused their attention on where the king and most of the people on their hit list, including Archbishop Sudbury, were hiding: the Tower. How does a mob of marauding serfs take the Tower of London? Through misdirection. Two weeks after the revolt had begun, Richard was left with no other option – he would have to ride out to meet the rebels, face to face. The brave young king met the rebel horde at Mile End. They demanded the ability to work for any master they chose, an end to serfdom, lowered land rents and freedom to sell their goods to anyone, essentially free trade. Finally, they asked that every man who took part in the uprising be granted a free pass to go home untouched. Remarkably the king agreed and immediately issued charters around the country declaring an end to serfdom. This was a fundamental change to the fabric of medieval society – it meant that now people could shit in their own bucket instead of someone else’s.


Little did Richard know that while he was at Mile End another group of 400 rebels had taken control of the Tower, dragged Sudbury and other officials out and beheaded them all at Tower Hill. By the end of the day, most of the Essex rebels had dispersed from the city, content with Richard agreeing to all their demands. A substantial throng of Wat Tyler’s Kentish rebels, however, hung around into the early hours of the morning killing John of Gaunt’s employees and any foreigners – so not too dissimilar to a Saturday night in Glasgow.


Tyler and his men were still unsatisfied with the conditions granted by the king the day before – because sometimes being granted every single demand you asked for is just not quite good enough. So on 15 July, Richard rallied all the support he could from among the royal militia, 200 experienced men-at-arms, and positioned them outside St Bartholomew’s Church near Smithfield – now a meat market, then a field. Wat Tyler assembled with roughly 400 of his most hardcore hanger-on rebels directly opposite Richard. Richard’s small number of men-at-arms were clad in full plate armour with professional weapons. Tyler’s men had whatever homemade gear they could find or fashion, such as wooden sticks with spikes or farming tools adapted into deadly bills by their local blacksmith. But, most potent of all, the peasant army had stolen 900 longbows from the Tower and were raring to rain fletched death upon the king and his men.


Wat Tyler approached the vulnerable monarch, and with brash familiarity he called him ‘brother’ and spat out further demands while menacingly brandishing his knife and tossing it playfully from hand to hand. He requested that all the aristocracy, except the king, be abolished and that local courts and police forces be created; it turns out Tyler was a closet Peelite, albeit five centuries too early. Richard simply replied ‘yes’, and just as the confident Tyler was about to ride back to the safety of his men, having forced the king to agree to no less than a political revolution, his cockiness got the better of him. Tyler sparked an argument with some of the king’s servants. In an instant, chaos descended upon this historic moment. The Lord Mayor of London, William Walworth, intervened in the argument, which riled Tyler, who then made violent motions towards the king, which in turn triggered the king’s bodyguards to bear down upon the peasant leader. Walworth managed to stab Tyler in the back of the neck. Tyler attempted to flee back to his men but fell to the ground after a few metres. A royal squire stabbed him repeatedly with his sword, causing critical injuries.


Seeing this, the amassed rebels nocked their bows and prepared to launch a deadly volley upon the king, but in a gallant surge of bravery, the barely teenage king rode directly towards the menacing mob and diffused the situation before it was too late. With a calm demeanour, Richard announced: ‘What is this, my men? What are you doing? You do not wish to shoot your king, do you? Do not be agitated, do not be sad over the death of the traitor and low fellow. I am your king, I am your captain and your leader; follow me into the field and you shall have anything it pleases you to ask.’ Richard led them to the fields at Clerkenwell. The hordes dutifully followed – after all, kings never lie. Meanwhile, Wat Tyler, still clinging on to life on the ground, was very publicly beheaded by the king’s men in front of St Bartholomew’s Church. His head was lodged on a spike for all to witness the fate of the traitor.


With their leader dead, the remaining rebel forces fell apart quickly, dropping to their knees and begging for forgiveness. Little did they know, their king had been lying all this time – shocking, I know. Richard was never behind their cause or fully committed to their demands; he simply agreed to bide time until he could gain the upper hand, and now he had it. Richard raised 4,000 soldiers and systematically extinguished all remaining embers of revolt around the country. All the promises Richard made and the charters he issued were revoked. By 30 June Richard had commanded all serfs in the country to stop moaning and get back to work. Nothing had changed. Except it had. The message echoed down the centuries that the lowest in the realm can stand up for what they believe in. That dark summer in 1381 set a precedent for all future humanity never to simply settle for oppression. And, sure enough, millions since have taken up the heavy mantle that Wat Tyler and thousands of others put down all those centuries ago.






A Halfwit Commits a Hemp-Based Heist


TO ASSUME THAT MEDIEVAL ENGLAND was a lawless place would be incorrect; in truth, it was quite the opposite. There were too many laws, and they were often described in legal statutes in excruciating detail. It was illegal in medieval England not to wash your sheep because, in a feudal system, your sheep are not your sheep, they belong to your master, which for the typical villein would be the lord of the manor. It was also illegal to get married without the permission of your liege, which today would be similar to asking your landlord for permission to marry your sweetheart. The problem with having so many laws is that there are bound to be some that are utterly ridiculous.


It was, for instance, illegal to die in the Houses of Parliament. It was forbidden to not, yes not, participate in a riot that broke out in your immediate vicinity, and since most aspects of life in the Middle Ages were generally shit, riots were just as frequent as bad weather. Mind you, the English legal system hasn’t changed all that much from the Middle Ages. In 1986 an Act of Parliament was passed in the United Kingdom that made it illegal to ‘handle a salmon in suspicious circumstances’. What may surprise you is that solicitors were just as frequently used in medieval England as they are today. Most people, even peasants, would seek to retain a defence solicitor before appearing in court to improve their chances. But in the likely situation that the defendant could not afford this representation, solicitors often accepted physical goods as suitable payment. In one documented case a solicitor was retained by the defendant by paying in some quantity of homemade butter and cheese. It would have therefore been by no means impossible to retain a solicitor with a decent flan.


Today a case is thrown out of court if there is any known personal or professional link between the defendant and a jury member. But a medieval citizen could not hope for an impartial jury. In fact, in medieval England the exact opposite was true: the jury consisted of people who intimately knew the person on trial, usually family, friends or local residents. In particular, that person’s tithing would be included in this jury. In the Middle Ages, there was no police force. The great British bobby would not hit the streets until 1829 when Sir Robert Peel created the Metropolitan Police. Minor trials were settled in manorial courts, and it was the community’s responsibility to keep the peace, not too dissimilar to today’s Neighbourhood Watch, but the members were far more likely to batter one another with brooms. Citizens were divided into groups of ten, called a tithing. It was each person’s responsibility to take any other person within their own tithing to court if that other person committed a crime. No matter if the offender assaulted your wife or nicked a radish, the process was the same.


Punishments dished out by ecclesiastical courts, often for non-violent or moral crimes such as adultery or stealing your neighbour’s oxen, were often based around public humiliation. One such punishment involved the sentenced individual standing in the middle of the marketplace wearing nothing but a white sheet and holding a candle or white rod. The individual may also, depending on the severity of his crime, have been paraded around the marketplace and whipped. He would have been compelled to cry out, begging for forgiveness for his sinful ways.


Today we live in far larger societies than was typical or even possible in the Middle Ages. A modern convicted criminal could remain anonymous. But in the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries a community of a mere 6,000 people could easily be considered a city, and in 1300, London, one of the largest cities in the world, had a population of only 80,000. By appreciating the lack of anonymity these low population densities offered, we can begin to understand how the public humiliation and naming and shaming of sinners and criminals would have been utterly devastating to a person’s livelihood and social status. This known truth was heavily utilised by the medieval criminal justice system with the issuing of crime-specific badges. Convicted felons were sometimes given badges that visually depicted their crimes. The law stipulated that these badges had to be worn in public for the rest of their lives. For example, those who bore false witness were made to wear a badge depicting two red tongues. One can only wonder how the crime of sodomy was depicted on a badge, which Henry VIII made punishable by hanging in the wonderfully named Buggery Act of 1533. Happily, it was repealed in 1861 – though homosexuality was not fully decriminalised until 1967. Being permanently and visually labelled as a liar or common thief would seriously impede a person’s ability to conduct trade, get a job or forge relationships. Similarly, it was expected of beggars, prostitutes and lepers to publicly identify themselves as such for the greater public’s benefit.


One method of punishment that medieval courts often doled out was victim compensation, called a ‘bot’, introduced by King Alfred during his reign between 886 and 899. The amount of compensation the accused would have to hand over to the victim was highly specific. If a victim’s ear was cut off, that would be twelve shillings, six shillings for a mutilated nose, fifty for the loss of an eye or a foot, but just ten shillings for a toe. Losing teeth was more financially finicky still: a fine of six shillings for the four front teeth; then, heading towards the back of the mouth, the following set of four were four shillings each, three shillings for each of the next four teeth, and for any of the rest, just one shilling each. As you can imagine, being violently assaulted could be quite profitable.


Overall, to say that medieval England was more litigious than present-day England would be an accurate observation. But in this highly litigious society, in which punishments involved being burnt or boiled alive, hanging and impalement, did anyone actually dare to commit a crime? Most definitely. For many, the potential for reward still outweighed the substantial risks. Threaded throughout the dense and wild thickets of the countryside were organised gangs of ruthlessly violent outlaws. And of all the outlaw gangs that terrorised medieval England, none were as powerful or notorious as the Folvilles. Before we divert our attention towards this duplicitous division of deviants, a significant segue is needed on what constitutes a medieval ‘forest’, where the Folvilles primarily operated.


A medieval forest wasn’t always a heavily wooded area. William the Conqueror imposed forest laws, whereby large areas of rural England were designated as ‘royal forests’. The terrain within these royal forests held little importance; they were no more than legally designated areas, what we might refer to today as wildlife preserves or national parks. In these royal forests, only the king and his courtiers (with permission) were permitted to hunt the wild deer and boar. The New Forest, created by William the Conqueror, is one of the best-preserved examples of a royal forest still in existence today.


If anyone was caught hunting wild deer or boar using a bow within a royal forest without the king’s permission, it was customary for the authorities to relieve him of his index and middle fingers, which were used to draw and nock his arrows. Thus the perpetrator could never fire his bow again. English archers would often hold up these two fingers to opponents to indicate they were still perfectly capable of using their bow, as we recounted the English longbow regiments doing so famously at Agincourt.


It was in these broad areas of anonymous English wilderness that the Folvilles reigned supreme. What may surprise you is that the Folvilles weren’t a group of unruly peasants, who, unable to feed themselves, turned to crime. The exact opposite was the case. The Folvilles were a group of six brothers born into a wealthy noble family headed by Sir John Folville, who was a highly respected member of the gentry and Knight of the Shire (medieval equivalent of a Member of Parliament) for both Rutland and Leicestershire. He had seven sons, but as was the case in medieval succession laws, the first son, also named John, would inherit all of his father’s estate, in 1309. This left the other six sons without purpose in life, and so Eustace, Laurence, Richard, Robert, Thomas and Walter formed the deadly Folville gang.


Eustace was their nominated leader or, as he liked to refer to himself, ‘Capitalis de Societate’. The gang’s first major crime would set the tone for the ruthlessness that was to come. In January 1326 Eustace led fifty men to a remote forest valley near the village of Rearsby in Leicestershire, where they ambushed and plunged a knife into Roger de Beler, Baron of the Exchequer, killing him where he stood. Beler had made numerous threats of violence toward the Folville family, and in his role of Baron of the Exchequer, he had proved deeply corrupt. This modus operandi of mostly targeting those in society who were ostensibly corrupt ensured public opinion of the Folvilles remained favourable.


The Folvilles’ next rotten target would be Justice Sir Richard Willoughby. Willoughby had actually been appointed to apprehend Eustace and his brothers in January 1331 for stealing oxen, sheep and horses from Henry de Beaumont. Willoughby was unable to capture the Folvilles; he fluffed up so fantastically that they captured him instead. The prominent judge was ransomed by them for the enormous sum of 1,300 marks and then released.


Despite being the most pre-eminent outlaw of the century, Eustace Folville faced little to no resistance towards his criminal activities throughout his life. He was never put to justice for his crimes, even though he terrorised Leicestershire and the surrounding countryside, murdered justices of the king’s court in cold blood and stole just shy of the modern-day equivalent of one million pounds. His unchallenged freedom was due to two factors. Firstly, he used his substantial revenues to curry favour with influential local families. Secondly, the general public looked favourably on the Folville gang, seeing them as forthright but honest and having a grounded, strong sense of morality. The Folvilles were perceived as allies of working people and powerful fighters in the war against the controlling nobility, who had suppressed the lower classes ever since the Norman Conquest. It is strongly suspected that the Folvilles and their fight against the rich to aid the ceaseless plight of the poor was the primary influence for the mythology of Robin Hood.


Despite the large-scale robber gangs terrorising the countryside, most crimes in the Middle Ages were usually far smaller in scope. But perhaps the grandest, most ambitious larceny of the fourteenth century took place in 1303, when English wool merchant Richard of Pudlicott, who was severely in debt to Jewish money lenders, attempted to reverse his fortunes by committing a theft so audacious that it wouldn’t be equalled on English soil until 2.6 million pounds was lifted from a Royal Mail train heading from Glasgow to London in 1963. His target was none other than Westminster Abbey, home to the king’s treasury. Edward I was preoccupied fighting the first war of Scottish independence hundreds of miles away. Pudlicott’s plan was commendably innovative. He procured a large number of hemp seeds – a plant that grows extraordinarily quickly – and under cover of darkness, planted them at the base of a wall behind Westminster Abbey.


Several months later, using the cover that the new hemp plants provided, Pudlicott spent many nights slowly but surely picking away at the mighty stone walls, creating a hole in the side of the Chapter House at Westminster Abbey. He had accomplices in the form of several members of the clergy. In total, Pudlicott and his accomplices lifted £100,000 worth of gold, coins and gems from the king’s treasury. This was the equivalent of an entire year’s tax revenue collected by the Kingdom of England. Only two months later did the authorities actually realise they had been robbed, when priceless objects began to flood seedy taverns, brothels and pawn shops across the country.


Eventually, Pudlicott and all of his accomplices were rounded up and arrested. In an act that could be construed as equally idiotic or inspired, Pudlicott admitted to everything and described in detail how he managed to steal so grossly and blatantly from the king’s own purse. He did, however, insist that the entire plot was of his own design and executed by him alone, saving his clergy accomplices from punishment. Pudlicott, of course, was hanged. Legend says that his body was flayed and his skin nailed to the doors of Westminster Abbey as a typically gruesome medieval reminder of what became of those who betrayed the king.


Curiously, in 2005, when the door of Westminster Abbey – the oldest surviving door in England, constructed in 1050 – was forensically examined, it was revealed that the fragments of skin recovered from the door actually originated from an animal and so did not belong to Pudlicott. Pudlicott was not the most intelligent of criminals, nor the least intelligent, but he did commit probably the first major raid of a bank in English history by a domestic criminal. If little else can be said in tribute, he is unquestionably the most ambitious wool merchant I have ever come across.





Adam ‘the Leper’ Has Leprosy


 WHILE THE MIDLANDS WAS being terrorised by gentlemen gone awry, south-east England had a villain of an altogether different class: the particularly nasty Adam the Leper. In a surprising turn of events, Adam had leprosy. During the 1330s and 40s, Adam the Leper and his band of vagabonds wreaked havoc upon the south-east. Unlike the more morally inclined midlands counterparts in the form of the Folville gang, Adam the Leper’s band were particularly ruthless. They would bound from town to town, thieving and enacting violence upon innocent members of the public. But no unfortunate demographic received the violent touch of Adam’s hand – until it inevitably fell off – more than the authorities and aristocracy. Adam was particularly fond of harassing upstanding members of the gentry, and he was mighty good at it; audacity was his calling card.


Adam’s modus operandi was to ride into town on market days, by far the busiest day of the week and conveniently when the streets would be full of visitors. Under the cover of anonymity that the market provided Adam and his gang would go on a crime spree, thieving from and abducting members of the public. Before leaving town, they would set alight houses and buildings to cause mass confusion. This allowed Adam’s lepromatous louts and their abductees to slip out undetected into the invisible wildness of the countryside once again.


What did Adam do with those he abducted? Ransom them for money. But it is documented that his treatment of these innocent hostages was often unspeakably inhumane. If the requested ransom was not paid, Adam would mutilate his prisoners in vengeance. If Adam’s prisoners were worried they would catch his leprosy, they needn’t have been, because by the time he was done with them they would be down an ear or two anyway.


Perhaps it was Adam’s leprosy that instilled his bold and impetuous free will. His most audacious crime in 1347 took place in what was, at the time, England’s third-largest town, Bristol. Adam and his unruly gang subjugated the entire port, entitling himself the ‘Robber King of Bristol’. His new kingdom was turned into a gigantic and lawless playground for him and his men. They pillaged, raped and murdered with impunity. At the harbour, he commandeered and ransacked several ships that were commissioned by Edward III himself. He even stole jewellery from one of the vessels that belonged to Edward’s wife, Queen Philippa. After several days of violent battles with the authorities, Adam was eventually subdued and captured, and Bristol was reclaimed.


How his trial ended was telling of the unbridled power men such as Adam the Leper and the Folville gang enjoyed during this ‘golden age of outlawry’. And it highlighted the downright incompetence of the authority’s response to outlaws’ crimes in the fourteenth century as the trial was an utter shambles. While Adam was in the courtroom, his men besieged the entrance and terrorised members of the jury and authorities entering through its doors. So severe was this intimidation that the authorities decided it would be wise to pursue the matter no further. Adam walked away a free man, although something tells me, for the rest of his life, he would never quite feel complete.






Basically, Everyone Gets the Black Death and Dies


 IN THE FOURTEENTH CENTURY, the Silk Roads snaked thousands of miles through steppe, tundra, forests, mountains and across seas, from China to India, Constantinople and finally to Europe. From its origin in 130 BC, when the Han dynasty officially initiated trade with the West, this vast trade network joined two alien realms. Along these essential arteries, humanity’s cultural soup coalesced, and trade goods, both marvellous and mediocre, flowed from East to West. Across the great grasslands of the Eurasian Steppe, the Mongol hordes razed and pillaged. It was among their famed horse armies that human history’s deadliest killer was born – no, it wasn’t communism. In these places, rodents carried fleas that incubated a deadly pathogen known to modern science as Yersinia pestis. It first ravaged the Mongol armies who expedited its spread by salvaging and wearing the flea-ridden clothes of the deceased. Adorning their fashionable new plague cardigans, the horde quickly spread the disease throughout China and the Middle East. When the Mongol armies besieged the Crimean city of Caffa, they flung the corpses of plague victims over the walls – an early form of biological warfare. From here it spread, inevitably and terribly, across the Silk Roads to Europe.


The Black Death first landed in Europe via trading vessels that docked in Sicily in 1347. When twelve Genoese galleys arrived in the harbour the locals were horrified to discover cargo holds full of stinking corpses and only a handful of survivors; they ordered the ships away, but it was too late. The flea-bitten rats had already made their way off the ships and brought death to Europe’s door.


By January 1348 the Black Death had ravaged the entire Italian peninsula, through Venice and Pisa. It then spread brutally to the pope’s seat at Avignon in southern France, home to Pope Clement VI. As the pope’s circle perished around him, his court physician Guy de Chauliac began to investigate this unknown evil. It was presumed by his peers that, like most ailments, it was spread through a ‘miasma’, an odious and deadly gas that oozed from the dead and permeated the air – essentially plague farts. Chauliac suggested that to protect the most important man in Christendom, Pope Clement VI should sit in a guarded room, between two permanently lit braziers. The idea was that the flames would keep any harmful miasmas at bay. It was either by sheer luck, or the flames gave the plague the willies, but Pope Clement survived.


Most others were not so lucky. Modern estimates put the death toll between 1346 and 1353 as high as 60 per cent of Europe’s entire population, over fifty million people, making it the worst disaster in human history. When one considers that the Second World War caused the demise of approximately 3 per cent of the global population, it is clear that no other demonic force has come as close to ripping apart the mortal world as did the Black Death – except, perhaps, for the music of a Canadian Mozart called Justin Bieber. The plague was so far-reaching it was said that, during its tyranny, every person on earth saw at least one other person die in the most horrific way. By June 1348 it had arrived in England. Patient zero was a sailor travelling from Gascony to Dorset. Within weeks it was in London.


Early symptoms included coughs and sniffles. Then buboes the size of an apple would form around the groin, inner thigh and under the armpits; these would bleed and ooze pus. By the time these appeared, the patient would be dead within two to five days. The usual medieval fare of bloodletting and humour realignment was widely employed to cure sufferers, but faced with their deadliest foe yet, the medieval quacks reached new and unprecedented levels of superstition. Physicians were instructing their patients to cut open a living pigeon and hold it firmly on the infected area. If a patient was a tad too plague-ridden to procure a pigeon, then a simple onion and herbs were recommended; it is commonly known that pigeons and onions have similar restorative powers. Other physicians would recommend that patients drink vinegar, arsenic, mercury or ten-year-old treacle (for when nine-year-old treacle just doesn’t have that required plague-killing potency).


Such bonkers remedies may give us a harmless chuckle today, but their ridiculousness illustrates an important point: the medieval mind was attempting to cope with an unknown force that was ruthlessly and indiscriminately murderous. So naturally, people clung onto any shred of rationality to overcome an evil that they had no worldly hope of understanding. Thus, a society so deeply bound to its theological teaching turned in an instant to religion to explain the demonic plague. Because when all else fails, blame Jesus.


All across Europe, nihilistic groups formed that postulated the plague was God’s ultimate punishment for the sins and vices of men – prostitution, gambling and gluttony – which so deeply consumed everyday medieval society. The time of reckoning had come. Many understandably assumed that this was the end of the world, and this belief gave rise to a group of extremists called the Flagellants. These were ordinary people who would adorn monkish garbs and parade the streets all over England, and the rest of Europe, prophetically chanting for God’s forgiveness and whipping their own backs every few steps. If you are picturing the brilliant ‘monks hitting themselves in the face with planks of wood’ sketch from Monty Python and the Holy Grail, then I’m delighted to inform you that this is near enough on the money. It is terribly ironic that because the Flagellants were a travelling group, taking their parade of repentance from town to town, they perhaps did more to spread the Black Death further and wider than any other group of people during the pandemic.


Monty Python and the Holy Grail was also remarkably accurate in another of its portrayals of medieval life. During times of plague, until the Elizabethan age, ‘searchers’ were hired by London parishes to find and collect dead bodies, receiving between two and four pennies for each corpse. They would roam the streets shouting, ‘Bring out your dead!’ and yes, some of them rang a bell. Searchers were most common during times of plague, but the profession existed at other times too – after all, peasants died all the bloody time, taking their pick from dysentery, diphtheria, malaria, typhoid, flu, smallpox, leprosy and cancer. Would it surprise you if I told you that most searchers quickly died of whatever horrendous infection or disease their cargo perished from?


Those who sought not to blame God for the sins of man still needed someone to blame, and when medieval shit hit the fan, there was one unfortunate minority who consistently drew the short straw: the Jewish. Across Europe, the blame for the scourge was placed upon the shoulders of the Jewish, Romani, pilgrims and lepers. There are obvious links to be made between the lesion-speckled skin of a leper, and the buboes of the Black Death. But across Europe harassing Jews was historically a multi-national sport, and during the plague mass pogroms took place. In 1349 2,000 Jews were brutally murdered in Strasbourg by the vengeful mobs, after which similar genocidal attempts occurred against smaller Jewish communities in Mainz and Cologne. Over a two-year period, more than 200 Jewish communities across Europe were exterminated. Many fled to Poland, where the sympathetic King Casimir the Great was offering sanctuary to their kind.


The Black Death is the greatest enemy the natural world has ever launched at humanity. It decimated entire populations. The odious ubiquity of death’s dull dance was so omnipresent that people grew desensitised to it. Diaries from the day tell of family members chucking scraps of food to their plague-ridden mothers, fathers, sons and daughters, as one might lob a bone to a dog, then fleeing to save themselves. The hand of duty, the knots of honour, these ancient artefacts of human kindness and compassion that raised us from the dirt were swapped for a sojourn of primal self-preservation, dragging people to the basest levels of humanity yet known.


But by far the most significant change and the most lasting was socio-economic. With 40 per cent of the population wiped out in England, and as high as 80 per cent in Italy, that mighty oak of society, feudalism, broke down. Previously, labour had been plentiful, but now, for the first time, there was an unmet demand for serfs to work the lands of the wealthy. Wages skyrocketed; peasants could demand much higher prices for their work. In 1349 Edward III passed the Ordinance of Labourers to fix the wages of serfs at pre-plague levels, but even a king can’t regulate the laws of supply and demand.


The new economy allowed some peasants to earn quite a substantial amount and enter that spectrum of society that gives the aristocracy goose bumps: the dreaded middle class. Post-plague, the previously poor but now plush began dressing in fine clothes. They wore hats with ribbons, bobbles and feathers protruding at every angle, and magnificent multi-coloured capes. With dyes being one of the most expensive consumables, gaudy colours were an obvious way to display opulence. But without a doubt, the silliest of all these adornments was the trend among men, from the 1330s onwards, to wear obnoxiously big shoes.


Nothing screamed ‘I’ve got a big bag of coins’ more than ludicrously pointy shoes, and with each passing decade, the length and pointiness of the toes of footwear grew longer and longer, eventually reaching a point, in the late fourteenth century, when the feet of the average yeoman looked, to put it bluntly, bloody ridiculous. The toe compartments of the shoes so greatly surpassed the tips of the wearer’s toes that the fronts of the shoes needed to be reinforced with wool, moss or even whalebone. A man’s shoes could be so unfavourably pointy, in fact, that he would have to tie the tips to his leggings so he was able to walk, and often had to cut off the tips of his shoes before he could run away from a foe. The king was so angered at this ostentatious display of leather-based dissent he legally enforced their length. The sumptuary laws, passed in 1363, stipulated that a yeoman’s shoes could not exceed 6.5 inches in length. A gentleman was allowed a generous twelve inches of toe breathing space. But nobility, oh my, their shoes were permitted to reach an imposing two feet in length.


Unlike excessively erect footwear, the Black Death never truly went away – it would rear its wicked head every ten years or so, sometimes in acute localised bursts, sometimes more widespread and ferociously. Its last hurrah in Britain was the Great Plague of 1665 which tore through London’s poor districts, killing 100,000. It would never again, however, kill as widely and indiscriminately as the fourteenth-century global epidemic, which for a while seemed like it might wipe humanity from our planet altogether.


If there was one benefit to arise from the Black Death, it would be this. In recent years studies have led scientists to believe that roughly 1 per cent of Caucasians in the modern world are resistant and, in some cases, immune to HIV. It is strongly suspected that this immunity comes from a genetic mutation originating from the ancestors of these Europeans who contracted the Black Death hundreds of years earlier and survived.


Some estimate that the Black Death set European advancement back as many as 150 years. Without two-thirds of the world’s population, including its intelligentsia, having been slaughtered by the plague, perhaps the Renaissance would have reached its apex a century earlier. And a world without the Black Death would have seen European exploration and colonisation of the Americas occurring much sooner too. Never before had Mother Nature so irrevocably altered the course of human history.





1422–1487 FEUD
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Henry VI Becomes England’s Shittest King


 HENRY VI REALLY WAS a bloody terrible king. It could quite confidently be said that he was the most inept, most incompetent, most ineffectual lump of an utterly lamentable leader ever lumbered upon these desperate lands. He wasn’t the most wicked or maligned; no, that was King John. Henry was the opposite: he was pious and kind, but utterly useless. In 1422 his thirty-five-year-old father, Henry V, following a heroic victory at the Siege of Meaux, died from that most undignified of arse-related medieval diseases, dysentery. And so, at the tender age of just nine months, Henry VI inherited the throne of England. For thirty-nine years England was grievously bestowed with and shamed by this shrivelling sham of feeble fauna. In fact, I suspect that may be too generous. A confident vole may have been a better leader during this period, perhaps even a well-matured chrysanthemum. If you think I’m being a touch too harsh on poor Henry, then allow me to upset your day with the snivelling saga of his life.


Henry V was an indomitably marvellous king, one of the greatest rulers of the Middle Ages. He destroyed the French at the Battle of Agincourt against all odds, uniting England. He is aptly known as the last great warrior king of the Middle Ages. Shakespeare honoured this reputation by bestowing him with one of his better lines: ‘We few, we happy few, we band of brothers’. How does one follow such a mighty legacy? Well, Henry VI didn’t even try.


Henry was the youngest ever person to succeed to the English throne and the only English monarch also to be crowned King of France. Since babies of only nine months are typically not the wisest leaders, a regency council was established, as was customary, to govern England until the king came of age. John, Duke of Bedford, Henry V’s brother, was appointed senior regent but he spent most of his time swanning around the battlefields of France. Meanwhile, back in England, the country was under the regency of another of Henry V’s surviving brothers, Humphrey, Duke of Gloucester, who assumed the title of Lord Protector and Defender of the Realm. Inevitably and unfortunately, the contemptuous sack of onions, Henry VI, grew up. He was crowned at Westminster Abbey in 1429, aged seven, after which his utterly useless royal arse was wheelbarrowed to Notre Dame in Paris for his second coronation as King of France.


By his sixteenth birthday, Henry was, astonishingly, declared fit to rule and assumed full royal powers. In retrospect, this was a huge mistake. His contemporaries described him as feeble and shy but pious. He was totally averse to violence or bloodshed of any kind and indecisive in all matters. Today we might deem a non-violent ruler to be a success in a world of endless diplomatic luncheons and summits. But one should exercise caution before assuming these qualities to be positive for the people of the nation in such a blood-soaked global theatre. In the Middle Ages, Europe was an arena of large egos, powerful nobles and more powerful kings – from France to the Holy Roman Empire – all biting at their rivals’ heels with their vast armies, conspiring to chop up their lands and subjugate their people. In such a hostile environment, being scared of a bit of bloodshed is downright irresponsible. 


To be fair to Henry, he did leave England with lasting legacies in education. During his reign, he founded King’s College Cambridge, Eton College, and All Souls College in Oxford. Henry’s focus was always on education, not war; he loved books, it’s just a shame he didn’t seem to have absorbed any of them. His pious attitude to kingship led him to be regarded as an unofficial ‘bargain bucket’ saint by a large portion of the population, up to the sixteenth century at least.


Henry quickly allowed his court to be overrun by a handful of powerful and highly competitive noble families. The Lancastrians were headed by William de la Pole, 1st Duke of Suffolk, the most dominant personality in Henry’s court and the king’s personal favourite. The opposing faction was the House of York led by Richard, Duke of, shockingly, York. It was Henry’s complete lack of motivation or ability to intermediate these feuding families that forced the country into its bloodiest ever civil war.


York wasn’t pleased with the current state of the king’s court, for two main reasons. Firstly, he suspected that the king’s two closest advisors, Suffolk and Cardinal Henry Beaufort, were milking their influence over the feebleminded monarch for their own personal gains. So susceptible to suggestion was the weak-willed king that almost any time Suffolk or Beaufort requested money, land or coveted government and military positions, Henry would all too eagerly oblige. He went as far as diverting large sums of money from the military campaigns in France just so he could hand his two best buddies a bigger Christmas bonus.


York was mostly frustrated, however, for a second reason. Henry was influenced, likely by Suffolk, to strip York of his beloved military command in France and ship him off to govern Ireland, where he would serve as Lieutenant of Ireland. In the fifteenth century, it was a very distant land from the beating political heart of London. Suffolk obviously did not want York interfering in court politics. But Suffolk’s tight grip on Henry’s mind would soon loosen, primarily because he would no longer be alive. One does not simply assert gross influence over a weak-minded king, very publicly and selfishly, without making a few powerful enemies.


At the suggestion of Suffolk and Beaufort, Henry was married to King Charles VII’s niece Margaret of Anjou at Titchfield Abbey on 23 April 1445. Henry agreed to the marriage when Suffolk slipped him the knowledge that Margaret was drop-dead gorgeous, which was the most sensible decision he ever made. But in typical Henry style of having total ineptitude in all matters, he required sex coaches to accompany him in his chambers to guide him through the process of screwing his new spouse. Margaret would soon become the primary antagonist of the early years of the Wars of the Roses. She very quickly relieved Henry of his trousers and decided they would be a far more effective couple if she wore them instead. I very much doubt that he cared. This was demonstrated in 1450 when a daring man named Jack Cade led a significant rebellion through Kent. Cade audaciously named himself ‘John Mortimer’, falsely identifying himself as a relative of the House of York, demonstrating his support for the Yorkists. The rebellion was quashed after a few days of rioting, but what is interesting is how the royal couple dealt with the captured rebels. The pacifist Henry could not bring himself to do what needed to be done, so it was Margaret who arranged and literally oversaw the beheading of each and every one of the rebels.


Suffolk, meanwhile, was blamed for the disastrous losses of many of England’s lands in France. He actually had the gall to blatantly hand over the territories of Maine and Anjou through a secret clause he sneaked into the marriage negotiations between Henry and Margaret. Thus, parliament tried Suffolk for treason, which, considering he handed the French two English territories on a silver platter, was likely a justified accusation. He was imprisoned within the Tower of London, but the king intervened because Suffolk had his favour and perhaps Henry realised that he was the only person who knew how to do his job for him. Not to mention one of the few individuals who didn’t want to cut off the king’s doughy head, given a chance. Instead of having him executed as ordered by the House of Commons, Henry banished Suffolk for five years. On his journey to Calais, however, Suffolk’s ship was intercepted, and he was beheaded on deck. That head was later found jammed on a pike next to his body on the sands near Dover. I would say that finding a duke’s head on the beach would have been quite a shock for a passer-by, but I fear it was remarkably common during these times of tumult.


Edmond Beaufort, 2nd Duke of Somerset, succeeded Suffolk as Henry’s right-hand man at court. But by now it was clear to all that there was one torrential force leading the Lancastrian faction and twisting Henry’s mind to their cause: his wife, Margaret of Anjou. Henry may have possessed the self-control of a wanton whore, but in contrast, Margaret was magnificently strong-willed. With the powerful Suffolk out of the picture York stormed back to England from his political prison in the backwaters of Ireland. He demanded reform of the government and the removal of Somerset, but Margaret would not allow it and obstructed him at every opportunity.


York would finally get his stab at power in 1453 when Henry was inexplicably compelled to give away all his lands in France and huge sums of money, undoing everything his father had fought so heroically to accomplish. Following Henry V’s death, England was starting to lose momentum in the Hundred Years’ War. The French were now reinvigorated by the divine inspiration provided, unexpectedly, by a teenage girl, the revered Joan of Arc. Which makes one wonder if up to now the French had been fighting poorly on purpose, sans teen idol.


What was Henry’s grand response to France’s second wind? Did he fight to defend his father’s conquered lands? Did he assume the heart of a lion and awaken the mighty roar of England? No. He rolled over like an expired cabbage and allowed the French to retake piece after piece of their country. In 1450 the French took Normandy. In 1451 they took the Duchy of Aquitaine, ending the 300-year Plantagenet empire, dating back to Henry II’s marriage to Eleanor of Aquitaine. In 1453 the French took Bordeaux and then Gascony, leaving Calais as England’s sole remaining toehold in France.


At age thirty-two, upon hearing the news of the loss of the final remnants of his father’s territories, meaning the collapse of England’s entire French demesne, Henry fell into a catatonic stupor. For fifteen months he was entirely unresponsive to everything and everyone around him. He even failed to respond when presented with his newborn son and heir Edward. This wasn’t a coma, but a catatonic state which historians suspect may have been caused by an underlying case of schizophrenia, possibly inherited from his French grandfather Charles VI, who fell into thirty years of insanity during his later years. Charles wasn’t just a bit barmy, he was full-on lobster-licking looney. As you may recall, Charles thought he was made out of glass.


A great council was called that named York as Lord Protector until Henry regained his faculties. This may surprise you, as until now, York had been outside the inner circle of the king and the Commons, sequestered away in Ireland. But many members of the Commons and the public were extremely sympathetic to the plight of the Yorkist faction. This was driven by the Yorkists’ mandate to dethrone such a sodden sponge of a monarch, which would give the country much-needed stability. But in particular the public was keen to remove the corrupt and self-serving Lancastrians who surrounded the king, namely Margaret and Somerset.


York and the people only sought a more stable government; for a while at least, York could provide that. He immediately imprisoned Somerset. But York’s moment in the sun would only last until Christmas Day 1454, when Henry finally awoke from his stupor, presumably not wanting to miss out on presents. In a completely unsurprising twist of events, Henry once more fell under the influence of the Lancastrians close to him at court. Margaret conspired to and soon succeeded in banishing York from court, for whom it was the last straw. Incensed by his blatant mistreatment, which Henry allowed to take place right under his typically long and pointy Plantagenet nose, it seemed to York he had only one option remaining: war.


He raised a small army, marched it towards London and, in doing so, plunged England into the most violent civil war it would ever know. On 22 May 1455, the Duke of York’s forces met Henry VI’s forces at St Albans. Through the town’s streets and warrens did wail the unwavering war cries of two mighty houses. The War of the Roses had begun.


The First Battle of St Albans (spoiler: there were two) was a resounding Yorkist victory. Somerset was killed on the streets and Richard, Duke of York. resumed his old role of Lord Protector. York, however, did not press his claim to the throne. It would have been bad sport with the actual monarch still alive and kicking; also, Henry may have been a chocolate fireguard, but he was ultimately benign, and it would have been seriously unpopular to dethrone or murder a king who had never shown avarice. And yes, York did have a blood claim: he was the great-grandson of Edward III. He did imprison Henry, though, who was found after the battle quivering in the corner of a local tanner’s shop, where he had seemingly spent the majority of the skirmish. Henry may have been an imbecile, but to York, he was a deadly imbecile, and don’t get me started on his wife, who by the way, fled into exile.


York’s protectorate and his incarceration of Henry came to an end at the Battle of Ludford Bridge in 1459, when Lancastrian forces achieved a largely bloodless victory. Most of York’s supporters were forced to flee the country, but within a matter of months they were back with a vengeance. An invasion, spearheaded by the powerful Yorkist ally the Earl of Warwick, met Margaret’s Lancastrian forces on 10 July 1460, at the Battle of Northampton. The Yorkists won another victory against Margaret’s Lancastrian forces on 10 July 1460 at the Battle of Northampton. This was the first battle on English soil to use artillery, ushering in a destructive new epoch of gunpowder. The thunderous crack of gunfire had finally replaced the precise snap of fingers, dexterously flicking at a longbow’s flax – the most common material for bowstrings. Where was the gallant Henry to be found after the battle? Hiding in a tent of course; once again, Henry had decided that the battle would be better off if he excluded himself from it.


York’s victory would be short-lived. Margaret had spent time raising armies in Scotland and on 30 December 1460 she crossed paths with the Duke of York for the last time. They fought at Sandal Castle near Wakefield, and York was disastrously unprepared, so much so that he left the battle without his head. This really hindered his ambitions to take the throne. Margaret arranged for York’s severed head to be displayed on a spike atop Micklegate Bar, the primary entrance to York’s Roman/medieval city walls. It was decorated with a makeshift paper crown. Finally, as he had so vehemently desired, York had his crown.


But the Duke of York’s death would be avenged at the most acutely bloody battle English history has ever known. On 29 March 1461, the formidable armies of the House of Lancaster and the House of York, each roughly 30,000 strong, met in a field near the small Yorkshire village of Towton. The Wars of the Roses had reached their inevitable apex of violence. As was often the case with any medieval battle involving English forces, the initial blow was the most devastating. To understand why this was, one has to remember the immense power of the weapon of mass destruction the English chose as their primary offensive measure: the longbow. As during the Hundred Years’ War at Crécy and Agincourt, the brutal and unbridled power of the English longbow in large numbers and in the hands of experienced archers transformed this green Yorkshire pasture into a hellish bloodbath within minutes.


It was Palm Sunday. Before the battle, both armies had been given instructions of ‘no quarter’ by their respective commanders; that is to say, give no mercy, take no prisoners. A starch-white blanket of snow encased the open fields that day. As the battle commenced more snow raged down in a blizzard from the fierce, grey sky. Grim conditions, to say the least. A strong wind besieged the Yorkists’ backs, blowing directly in the faces of the Lancastrians. Noticing the wind was in their favour, the Yorkist leader of the longbow regiment, William Neville, 1st Earl of Kent, ordered all his men to simultaneously unleash a torrent of arrows at maximum range, towards the far-off but undeniably present horde of Lancastrians over the open ground.


In still conditions, a typical fifteenth-century archer could fire his longbow no further than 360 metres. Impressive, but not quite enough to reach the 30,000 or so men some distance opposite the Yorkists in the fields of Towton. On this day, however, with winds as fierce as Odin’s might at the Yorkists’ backs, the arrows were carried further than expected, and many thousands plunged deep into the bulk of the Lancastrian swarm. It is estimated that as many as 8,000 Lancastrian soldiers were killed or incapacitated from the first flight of the Yorkists’ arrows alone. The Lancastrians attempted to return the fire, but with the winds against them, their arrows were misdirected, and their flight hindered.


The opposing factions exchanged the mercilessness of their longbows for a while until the Lancastrians were forced to charge the Yorkists on foot. The two enormous armies met in brutal hand-to-hand combat and what ensued was one of the longest and bloodiest days in English history.


Three long hours the men fought that day. Eventually, the Lancastrians grew tired, and their defences crumbled, so they made a tactical retreat. This would prove to be fatal for the remaining soldiers. Turning their backs upon the Yorkists enabled them to attack the Lancastrians mercilessly from behind, hacking away at defenceless men with their swords. The arrows of the longbowmen cut even deeper from the rear. Having been given the order of ‘no quarter’, the Yorkists chased the fleeing Lancastrians to a nearby river, slaughtering many thousands on the banks of the river and in the water. Within a few minutes, the river was so choked with dead Lancastrians that a corpse bridge was formed across it which allowed the Yorkist army to run across the dark scarlet waters and chase down the stragglers who had made it to the other side. It is said that after the battle the waters ran a deep, crimson red for many days.


The whole encounter lasted no less than ten gruelling hours. It is estimated that 28,000 men died that day, 20,000 of whom were Lancastrians – 4 per cent of the adult male population of England. The Lancastrian casualties were so dire, the House was unable to muster another field army until three years later. The battlefield of Towton was nicknamed the ‘Bloody Meadow’. 


The battle was an overwhelming success for the Yorkists, and Henry fled the country. The commander of the Yorkist forces, Edward, who was the son of the murdered Duke of York, claimed the throne. Edward IV ruled England for nine years in what was the most peaceful period during the Wars of the Roses.
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Margaret Beaufort Is ‘Single Mum of the Century’


But I, that am not shaped for sportive tricks,


Nor made to court an amorous looking-glass;


I, that am rudely stamped and want love’s majesty


To strut before a wanton ambling nymph;


I, that am curtailed of this fair proportion,


Cheated of feature by dissembling nature,


Deformed, unfinished 


– William Shakespeare, Richard III 





SHAKESPEARE HAS FAMOUSLY PAINTED Richard III, younger brother of Edward IV, as an inhuman, twisted brute, hampered by a grotesque hunchback; corrupt and bent as his mind and morals. But the truth could not be more different. In many of his history plays, as masterful as they are, Shakespeare is a propagandist. The Tudor dynasty had strong motives to besmirch the moral character of Richard III, who was an opposing Yorkist fork of the great Plantagenet family tree. But worst of all, Richard III purportedly committed a great atrocity in snuffing out the heirs to the throne, the two princes of Edward IV and Elizabeth Woodville.


On examining the records, however, it may be wrong of us to paint Richard as the villainous, deformed monster that Shakespeare so deliberately created. Imaging of his skeleton, rediscovered in 2014 under a Leicester car park, revealed that Richard was indeed deformed – early in his life he developed idiopathic scoliosis, giving his spine a latitudinal S-curvature. This would have caused him great discomfort and pain, but not immediately noticeable physical abnormalities. And of his moral character, he exercised frequent bouts of altruism during his short two-year reign, especially towards the poor folk in the north. This calls into question everything we thought we knew about Richard.


One can’t exactly blame Shakespeare for his Tudor biases. It’s suspected he wrote Richard III around 1593 under the most stalwart of Tudor monarchs, Elizabeth I, who I’m in no doubt would have had more than strong words for Shakespeare if he had not participated in the Tudors’ anti-Richard narrative. So what is the real story of the man, the monster, the great investor in short-stay Leicester car parking: Richard III?


Edward IV had a good reign, despite a brief interregnum after upsetting his powerful playmate Warwick the Kingmaker, which came about due to his choice of an impoverished harlot, Elizabeth Woodville, as his wife over a posh French floozie, whom Warwick had ardently pushed for. This caused him to rebel against Edward, which ended up with Warwick being slaughtered by Edward’s men at the Battle of Barnet in 1471. Yet, despite this mini soap opera, Edward IV was clearly a good king. Extremely brave and capable on the battlefield, yet reportedly a softly spoken and genteel character. He was also remarkably intelligent. What Edward sought more than all else, however, was a spot of pleasure. The Wars of the Roses were taking a recess for most of his nine-year reign. Mostly because all the argumentative bastards who started the damn squabble in the first place were now as dead as coffin-nails. Thus Edward could focus on the finer things in life: hunting and eating hogs, procuring and drinking wine and of course, seducing and shagging women. Most of his free time must have been taken up by doing this very thing with his beautiful wife Elizabeth, as she bore him an impressive ten children.


All of this, however, eventually caught up with Edward. On 9 April 1483, aged forty, the now portly figure dropped dead. The exact cause of Edward’s death is unknown; it may have been a stroke. Which seems unfortunate for the poor chap, but actually, in dying of natural causes, Edward was a lucky son of a duke indeed. Having not been decapitated, bludgeoned to death or stabbed in the arse with a red-hot poker, as had most of his predecessors, he had, in my opinion, won at the game of medieval kingship.


Enter Richard, the future King Richard III, who had been, up to now, Edward’s loving and loyal younger brother. Edward did have another brother, George Plantagenet, the Duke of Clarence, but he flipped sides over to the Lancastrians during the wars, and so Edward had him convicted of treason and executed by drowning him in a butt of Malmsey wine. Edward had two surviving male heirs: Richard of York, only nine; and the heir to the throne, twelve-year-old Edward of York, the future Edward V of England, or so he should have been. Both were too young to assume full royal authority. Richard was declared, through great diplomacy, the boys’ regent and Lord Protector of England. By ‘great diplomacy’ I mean to say that Richard had a large army of men positioned outside London and a penchant for beheading anyone who would stand between himself and the throne. A habit which he indulged in with the queen’s brother, Anthony Woodville, 2nd Earl Rivers, who had been tasked with looking after the two princes.


Following Rivers’ murder, Richard most selflessly agreed to take on the custody of the two princes. He kept them extra safe by locking them up in the Tower of London and allegedly having them smothered to death with a pillow. Whether Richard did order the murder of the two princes is one of history’s most debated subjects of inquiry; right up there with who shot JFK and why Tom Cruise is allowed to act. In 1674, workmen digging under the staircase in the chapel of the White Tower in the Tower of London found, by chance, a wooden box containing two small human skeletons. They were not scientifically examined until 1933. It was determined that the skeletons were the correct ages for the two princes, but to this day DNA analysis has not been attempted on the remains, which now lie in Westminster Abbey, as permission has not been granted by the royal family to disturb them.


There is still insufficient evidence to confidently convict Richard of ordering the murder of the two princes, but we do know that Richard suspected that the children were illegitimate because their father had been promised to marry another before Elizabeth Woodville. If true, then Richard would have indeed been the rightful heir. So we cannot blame him for his self-belief that he had a divine right to the throne. Richard had the two princes in captivity and therefore complete control of them. He had the motive and the means. Despite the many conspiracy theories to the contrary, and yes there are many, all fingers still point to Richard. After all, on 26 June 1483, Richard had the only two people in the world with a greater claim to the throne than he under lock and key, but if he could ever take the throne for himself, he had to undermine their blood right. What better way to undermine someone’s blood right than to prevent them from breathing?


On 22 June outside old St Paul’s Cathedral, a public sermon was held advertising the belief that Edward IV’s children were bastards – a bit harsh perhaps. If they were illegitimate then naturally Richard would be the rightful King of England. The Commons liked the sound of this, but mostly they preferred the idea of an adult ruler over a child, providing much-needed stability to the realm. So, on 6 July 1483, Richard III was crowned at Westminster Abbey. Well, damn, perhaps he didn’t need to smother the children to death to secure power after all. Although the Commons’ decision to support Richard’s kingship bid was likely influenced by his imposing army.


Richard was doing his best to show the nation that despite being an ostensibly nepoticidal tyrant, he was actually a fairly decent chap, once you got to know him. He eradicated corruption within the House of Commons and did much to relieve the plight of the poor. 


While the north, particularly the remaining Yorkists, were proponents of Richard, the country was still beset by divisive factionalism. And with the former de-facto Lancastrian leader Margaret of Anjou exiled in France and, more pertinently, dead, a new Margaret emerged to take up the Lancastrian fight. And this Margaret, the mother of Henry Tudor, would do everything in her worldly power to take down Richard and make her son king.


The Lancastrian Margaret Beaufort was propelled into the heady responsibility of adult life at a shockingly young age. She was not yet ten years old when Henry VI ordered her to be wedded to the Duke of Suffolk’s son, John de la Pole. But remember this was Henry VI, an indecisive ignoramus at the best of times, so after three years of marriage Henry decided that he would prefer the young Margaret attached to the arm of another noble at his court, his half-brother Edmund Tudor, 1st Earl of Richmond. Margaret and John’s marriage was easily dissolved because under canon law it was never legal in the first place, since she entered into the marriage before the age of twelve. Now that she was twelve, she was legally married to twenty-four-year-old Edmund on 1 November 1455. This takes us back to seven months after the start of the Wars of the Roses, but Margaret’s impactful personal tale stretches the entire civil war.


Margaret did not know it at the time, but she was about to give birth to the future King of England and the first of Britain’s most renowned royal family, the Tudors. Her husband had died of the plague, so she had been left single and seven months pregnant. The birth was tortuously difficult for the small-framed thirteen-year-old Margaret. As the baby was gruesomely torn into the world amidst a swampish bed of blood and screams, the young soul and his mother both eclipsed death in the process. Margaret made it, but only just; her body was so traumatised she would never give birth again.


This new teenage mother was an aspiring social climber, and in medieval England, there were only two known ways for a woman to climb social ladders. She could gain power either through proxy by marrying a powerful man or by getting her tits out and riding butt-naked through town on a horse. But Margaret didn’t fancy following in Godiva’s footsteps so, like most, she chose the former. Margaret had a very bright future planned for her only child, and luckily, she was mightily intelligent and knew just what she had to do. As you will discover, despite being so young, she was already a mistress of political intrigue.


Although Margaret was hugely wealthy, having inherited the expansive lands of her father John Beaufort, Duke of Somerset, she was powerless. To increase her influence, she deftly devised a marriage in 1458 with Sir Henry Stafford, son of Humphrey Stafford, 1st Duke of Buckingham. He was also a councillor, and thus very close to the king. Margaret and Stafford were second cousins, so they had to request a special dispensation to marry – because royally approved incest is always more fun.


All was going well for Margaret. She had ample wealth and power on tap through her husband. She was also tremendously happy in her marriage, which was far from usual. Sadly, though, her marital bliss was to be obliterated: only three years into her content domestic life, the Yorkist Edward IV defeated Henry’s forces at Towton. All Lancastrian noble families that had been close to Henry were now at the mercy of the new Yorkist king, including Margaret and her husband. Stafford had fought against Edward at Towton, so neither she nor her husband now had favour with the King of England. She was once again powerless. Worse still, her beloved son Henry Tudor was ripped from his home at Pembroke Castle, only five years old, and taken into custody by Edward’s men. Being a young noble, he was treated well but was essentially a prisoner.


Margaret couldn’t allow this to happen. She was unable to retaliate with force, but she didn’t need to; she was perhaps the most magnificently pragmatic woman of her time, and she did what she had to for the safety of her husband and, importantly, her son. Margaret and Stafford swore loyalty on their knees to the new Yorkist king, a sworn enemy of their Lancastrian family. It worked, so well in fact that Edward handed them the spectacular Woking Palace, which today lies in ruins.


But surrounding Margaret’s perpetual struggle the civil war still raged on and her future would be far from easy. In 1470 Warwick the Kingmaker rebelled against Edward, the very king he had made, and restored Henry VI to the throne. Once again Henry reconvened with his old Lancastrian allies. But when Henry laid eyes for the first time, at Westminster Abbey, on Margaret’s now fourteen-year-old son Henry Tudor, something quite remarkable happened – which is odd, because Henry wasn’t known for being remarkable. He uttered words that stunned Margaret, making a bold prediction: that one day, this young Henry Tudor would take his place as King of England. A veritable boon for Margaret’s grand ambitions for her son, but like all else in her life, this was quickly swept away. Her husband Stafford died from wounds sustained at the Battle of Barnet, which also put an end to Warwick the Kingmaker.


With Warwick dead Henry was left with no influence or power and had no choice but to capitulate the throne to Edward yet again, and this time he was pissed. No longer the magnanimous young ruler, Edward had grown battle-worn, sick and weary of mutinous allies. He ordered a cull of many Lancastrians who were close to Henry, and Margaret knew what this meant for her family. She desperately dispatched a message to her son at Pembroke Castle: ‘Run! Run for your life’; and so he did – Henry fled into exile in Brittany.


Her husband was dead, her son in exile, a fierce Yorkist king on the throne with Lancastrian blood in his eyes. Once again Margaret had to secure her position at court and her life, so for the fourth time, she married. This time she chose wisely: Thomas Stanley, 1st Earl of Derby, was immensely wealthy and well connected to the king. In one fell swoop and an impressively strategic move, Margaret had transformed herself overnight from being a prime target to a prime lady of the court. But then Edward made Margaret’s life difficult once more by dying – how inconsiderate. After Edward’s death, his child-slaughtering brother Richard seized power, and if ever there was a time for Margaret’s scheming, it was now.


With Richard, however, it wouldn’t be so simple: there was very little scope for cosying up to him. Not to say she didn’t try – she befriended the king’s betrothed, Anne. In this, she was somewhat successful as Anne chose Margaret to carry her train at her wedding. Nevertheless, deep down Margaret knew that with the two princes dead her son Henry Tudor now posed the biggest threat to Richard’s throne. Henry had a weak claim to the throne, but it was a claim nonetheless, and if Richard could haphazardly murder his nephews over the same matter, there was no end to what he might do to Margaret or her son. A new scheme would have to be grand, ambitious and end in either Richard’s death or captivity – Margaret had just the plan. It was a huge gamble, but if she could pull it off Richard would be dead and her son King of England.


The issue was that Henry Tudor’s claim to the throne was really rather weak. He was the grandson of John of Gaunt, through John’s third wife. Basically, Henry’s royal blood flowed only through women, so by medieval logic, this diluted it, making his royal lineage pitifully thin. The most robust line of succession was a paternal one. But Margaret knew the perfect solution to embolden her son’s claim. She sent a secret envoy to meet with the late Edward’s wife Elizabeth Woodville who, fearing for her life under Richard’s tyranny, had taken religious sanctuary inside Westminster Abbey. Margaret was proposing that her son Henry should marry Elizabeth Woodville’s daughter, the young Elizabeth of York. As a Yorkist would be marrying a Lancastrian, the match would strengthen both parties’ claim to the throne and finally unite the warring houses under a single, stable rulership. Elizabeth was taken with the idea. Now to find a way to knock Richard off his autocratic pedestal.


Their plot found many supporters from both houses. It’s fair to say that Richard was less than popular, particularly in the south. Margaret even convinced the king’s right-hand man, Henry Stafford, 2nd Duke of Buckingham, to join the intrigue; hence the plot is today known as Buckingham’s rebellion. Margaret sent a large sum of money to her son in France to bolster his army and buy ships. In October 1483 Henry sailed seven ships from Brittany, carrying 500 Breton soldiers, landed in Plymouth, stormed London and chopped off Richard’s slightly off-centre head. At least, that’s how it should have gone down. The whole plan was ruined by a spot of rain. Gale force winds prevented Henry’s fleet from landing, so they had to retreat to Brittany. But Henry was tenacious; for the sake of his own mother, he had to succeed.


In 1485 Henry invaded a second time, landing on the west coast of Wales in the port of Milford Haven. He suspected that Richard had better things to do than patrol the whole wild Welsh coastline, as delightful as it may be, and he was correct. In Wales, Margaret had men and money waiting for her son. Henry’s army marched north then east, to avoid Richard’s men in the south. On 22 August 1485, Henry Tudor’s army finally met Richard’s at Bosworth Field, Leicestershire.


Henry was vastly outnumbered with just 5,000 men to Richard’s 12,000. As one would expect, the battle initially swung in Richard’s favour. At one point, Richard made an incredibly bold move – these were the last days when brave warrior kings fought among their men on the battlefield. Richard sighted his nemesis Henry across the battlefield; he knew that if he could kill him, then the battle would be won. Richard charged at him like Quasimodo on acid, digging his spurs into his horse, advancing with great haste toward the young pretender. But he was unsuccessful – Henry’s pikemen formed a protective wall around him. Despite the failed assassination, Richard’s men still had the upper hand in the battle; the day was surely his.


However, Margaret may not have been present at the battle but she had made a decision that would alter its outcome and England’s future. She had married Lord Stanley. Although Stanley had up to now remained loyal to Richard, Margaret had spent years cajoling her new husband to her son’s cause, and although Richard did not yet know it, it had worked. Stanley was a powerful and prominent noble as well as a career politician; he was the kind of man who held no strong allegiances. His only and truest ally was the winner. Stanley had flitted from king to king, pledging his sword and fealty to whoever he suspected had the upper hand. This is how he had, for so long, where many of his predecessors had not, kept his head upon his shoulders and his lands and power, through a bloody civil war.


Bosworth was no different for Stanley. He had, in true fashion, kept his 5,000 men stationary at the sidelines of the battle throughout its entirety, watching as Henry’s and Richard’s men raged bloody warfare, waiting for the opportune moment to intercede on the winning side, which should have been Richard’s. But in what could only have been loyalty to his wife and her cause, at precisely the right moment, when all seemed lost for Henry, Stanley’s men charged triumphantly into the fray, not towards Henry, but towards Richard.


Five thousand fresh swords bore down ferociously upon Richard’s tired and scattered flank, swiftly overpowering them. With the deft eclipse of a tall halberd at the hands of a Welshman, which bore into Richard’s skull, the childmurdering king was dead. The day was Henry’s. Stanley himself pulled Richard’s crown from beneath a hawthorn bush, placed it upon the young Henry’s head, knelt before him and pronounced him Henry VII, King of England. Along with his wife Elizabeth of York, they were the first king and queen of the most revered of all English dynasties, the Tudors. Margaret Beaufort had scraped, schemed and bridged great schisms to put her only son on the throne. She was the mother of the Tudors and, in my humble opinion, single mum of the century.


In the confusion and conspiracies that followed in the years after the death of the two princes, a few highly ambitious pretenders had the grand idea to attempt to claim the English throne for themselves, leveraging the dynastic fog of succession that had swamped England. Henry VII’s new Tudor monarchy was already under threat. The first was a young Lambert Simnel, who came forward claiming to be Edward, Earl of Warwick, nephew of Richard III, laying a false claim to England’s throne. The Irish actually bought it, crowning him King Edward VI in 1487, at just ten years old. But Henry wasn’t so easily fooled. Perhaps this was because of one reason that was particularly hard for the king to ignore: he had the real Earl of Warwick under lock and key in the Tower of London. Henry had confined him there following Richard III’s death, to stop him from frustrating his new rule. Despite this, Simnel was still able to fool the Irish by spreading rumours that he had escaped the Tower. One has to remember that in the Middle Ages nobody knew what any famous figure, including the king, actually looked like, unless you happened to meet them at least once. Which meant any John, Dick or Geoffrey could claim to be whoever he pleased and get a few kicks out of it before the real king showed up and took off his head.


When Simnel eventually crossed over to England with a modest Irish army to take the crown, Henry rode north with his forces in tow to stop and arrest the obvious young pretender. Henry decisively crushed Simnel’s smaller army. But unexpectedly he didn’t hang, draw or quarter the charlatan as many of his predecessors would have done. Henry displayed mercy and a sense of humour by instead giving Simnel a job in the Royal Court, turning the spit on which the king’s hogs were roasted. It is as though Henry almost admired the boy’s audacity. But in his mercy, we can find another reason: he was advertising to the country that, unlike his predecessor, he would not be a king who murdered children. Henry was constructing himself as the anti-Richard III, and the public adored it. As for Simnel, he thrived in his new position. So much so that he was soon promoted to Royal Falconer, taking care of the king’s hunting birds.


Just when Henry thought he had shaken off the last of the conspirators, a fresh young fool came waltzing onto the scene. Audaciously claiming to be none other than Richard IV, the younger of the two princes in the tower, he boasted of escaping after his uncle murdered his elder brother. He was actually Perkin Warbeck of the Flemish town of Tournai. He must have been bloody good at hiding his accent, that’s all I can say. For six years he bounded around the English and Scottish countryside thoroughly enjoying the generosity afforded to a supposed young heir to the throne and Edward IV’s son. Henry’s enemies invited the young pretender to dine at numerous grand banquets and to join them on hunting trips. King James IV of Scotland actually married him to no less than his own cousin, Lady Catherine Gordon.


What a merry life Warbeck’s grandiose deception had provided. But it was to be cut short when Henry VII captured him. Yet, once again, as he had done with Simnel, Henry displayed mercy and invited Warbeck to join his court, but unlike Simnel, Warbeck didn’t succumb to Stockholm syndrome and enjoy the plentiful fruits of his new royal prison. He tried to escape. Yet even after Warbeck’s first attempted escape, Henry laughed the matter off and forgave him. But alas, Warbeck attempted a second escape, finally causing Henry to lose his patience and behead him.






1509–1547 SCHISM
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A Fat Man Fingers the King of France in a Field


ON A MISTY OCTOBER MORNING IN 1517, in the sleepy German village of Wittenberg, a theological iconoclast, Martin Luther, nailed his Ninety-five Theses to the doors of All Saints’ Church. The Protestant Reformation had begun, a mighty tide of ideology that would shake the foundations of Catholic Europe and rip apart its most cherished institutions for many centuries. Little did he know it at the time, but for a recently crowned king in England, this mighty schism would come to define his historic legacy. You may have heard of him, the rock star of English history, Henry VIII.


If the infamous king were to star in his own HBO drama he would be introduced as: ‘Henry of the House of Tudor, the eighth of his name; the competitive king of the English, the Welsh and the French; breaker of papal chains; reformer of religion; beheader of wives and consumer of pies.’ At least, this is the image we all know of Henry, a reckless tyrant. But truthfully, when we dig a little deeper, we discover a man of unexpected complexity and enormous personal strife, an undulating symphony of remarkable intelligence, shifting loyalties and shocking stupidity. But if there was a single characteristic that was the most influential in all his actions, it was, no doubt, his ego.


At no time during his reign did he let his ego run so wild as in 1520, only eleven years in, at the Field of the Cloth of Gold. It was a grand diplomatic summit, organised by Henry’s loyal servant Cardinal Thomas Wolsey, intended to improve bonds of friendship and peace between Henry and his most direct rival, King Francis I of France. Both kings may have pretended it was a diplomatic event, but both being of the same ambitious young age and ruling two of the most powerful neighbouring countries in Europe, they were intensely curious of each other. The secret intention of each man was to get a measure of the other’s might, wealth and personality. The sheer scale and pomposity of the Field of the Cloth of Gold was an ostentatious testament to the men’s insecurities, and it demonstrated the levels and huge personal expense both men would go to, in order to show that his kingdom was the most powerful in Europe. And, by Henry’s anxiety to better his French equal, you would think it was also a battle to prove his greater physical endowment.


Wolsey choreographed the meeting precisely. It was to take place at the very edge of England’s tiny patch of French territory, south-east of Calais. Set in the basin of a grassy valley, the opposing summits of the valley were intensively landscaped to make them equally level, at the expense of huge manpower, just so that when each king rode atop their designated precipice, they would both stand at precisely equal elevations, ensuring not an inch of grassy knoll provided either man with a height advantage to look down upon the other, across the pensive gorge of a potential alliance.


Over 2,800 tents were erected for the various courtiers and servants to stay in during the seventeen-day summit. Many of the tents were woven with cloth of gold – a fabric of eye-watering expense, consisting of silk and gold thread. Standing above the valley, looking down, the eyes would have been dazzled as the sun bounced relentlessly between the gold tents, the entire landscape glittering with wealth and splendour. Henry in particular made extensive efforts to splurge his wealth and demonstrate his manhood. A huge temporary palace was erected to serve only this event: 10,000 square metres, with a large central courtyard, it sat on a specially made brick base, two metres high. The walls and ceiling were timber frames, cloaked in canvas and cloth which were painted with faux brick and stonework. On the palace’s porch, two large fountains were built that flowed with red wine throughout the entire event, providing endless heady lubricant to the festivities. An exact modern-day replica of the largest fountain was recently constructed in the courtyard at Hampton Court Palace. The days were long and joyous with a festival-like atmosphere, accompanied by ample music to entertain the jaunty crowds. There was a flurry of tournaments; both kings were eager to show off their skills on the tilt yard. Henry threw himself so ferociously into the joust that his horse died from exhaustion. If there was ever a medieval version of Glastonbury, it was the Field of the Cloth of Gold – if you replace hippies in bivouacs with patricians in prostitutes.


Initially, the event proved successful; it seemed like diplomatic progress was being made and new ties were being steadily woven between England and France. That is, until one fateful evening, when a wrestling competition was held and Henry challenged Francis. The two larger-than-life egos ripped each other to shreds on the ground, each wrestling for his fragile pride by groping a king’s muddy arse cheeks. Francis was victorious, denting Henry’s ego in a way he would never forget. The event was uniquely spectacular; in all of history it has never been rivalled in its opulence and splendour. In strengthening relationships between the two nations, however, it was a complete flop. After returning home, the rival kings grew more estranged than ever before.


Henry’s elder brother Arthur, who was heir to the throne, had died shortly after his marriage to the Spanish princess Catherine of Aragon (some rumoured he died of having sex too young). The young Henry reported that on his father Henry VII’s deathbed, he had urged Henry to marry Arthur’s widow Catherine to uphold Anglo-Spanish relations. This was music to the young Henry’s ears as he had often admired his brother’s wife from afar during his youth and he may have even been in love with her; Catherine was certainly enamoured with Henry. Far from the rotund meat pie of a monarch we often picture, thanks mostly to the famous Whitehall mural, in his younger years Henry was a slim, tall figure of a voguish prince. He was ferociously competitive, and he maintained himself in peak physical shape. He relished in the hunt, played tennis and gambled, all of which he excelled at.


Henry was well educated and had a sharp wit, and throughout his life he was always drawn to intellectual men. He was the first English monarch to be schooled in the emerging humanist body of thought – the most famous humanist being Erasmus of Rotterdam. Contrasting with modern humanism, this incarnation, classified as ‘Renaissance Humanism’, was born in the fifteenth century and sought to return to the philosophical contemplations of the ancient Greek and Roman philosophers. It was a marked change from the typically superstitious Middle Age philosophy, which one humanist scholar lambasted as concerning itself with arguing over ‘How many angels can stand on the point of a pin?’ Henry’s humanist teachings were thanks to his childhood tutor, Thomas More, the first in a series of great men of renowned intelligence who would define Henry’s character and influence his life. That is before he inevitably decided they could better serve him without their heads. Thomas More penned the seminal Utopia, a political satire about an ideal life on a fictional island. Utopia is literally derived from the Greek words meaning ‘not’ and ‘place’. The word, which More coined, is a pun, a jest at society and politics, a clever suggestion that such a perfect society could not exist within the real and by implication corrupt world. Life in More’s ‘no-place’ or ‘nowhere’ essentially resembles a monastery. I guess nobody said Utopia had to be fun.


For every rumour that Arthur popped his clogs by prematurely popping his cherry, there was a contradictory rumour that Arthur had never consummated his marriage with Catherine, although if he had not, Arthur had put great effort into hiding this fact. The morning after their marriage, he arose with a gleeful smile, declaring proudly at breakfast, ‘I have been this night in the midst of Spain.’ Little did Henry know, but whether or not the midsts of Henry’s brother had been firmly lodged within Spain would later be the cause of so many of his issues for five tiresome years.


Henry was, as his father had always been, all too aware of the shaky instability of the Tudor dynasty’s dubious claim to the English throne. The Tudors were descended from a commoner; furthermore, his father had violently usurped the crown from the Yorkist branch of the Plantagenets. Thus there were still plenty of angry Yorkist factions that would all too eagerly rebel, given the slightest opportunity. One of the surest ways to inject a much-needed stability boost into any reign was the production of a male heir. Unfortunately, as Henry would come to realise, Tudor babies don’t grow on trees, and if they did, it would be terrifying.


Henry’s obstinate desire for a male heir would become his sole, overwhelming obsession. To this end, Catherine wasn’t faring too well. She had a series of five failed births. Only one of her six pregnancies was successful, but to Henry’s grave disappointment it was a girl, Mary. Henry’s impatience was swelling, and Catherine, now forty, was long past her most fertile years. When Henry was introduced to the bright, twenty-five-year-old daughter of prominent courtier Thomas Boleyn, the idea hit him: perhaps he could trade in Catherine for a more recent model.


Unfortunately for Henry, Catholicism didn’t allow divorce so he would have to seek an annulment on the grounds that it was sinful for him to have married his brother’s wife. Henry cited the Old Testament book of Leviticus as his justification that his marriage to Catherine was against God’s will: ‘You shall not uncover the nakedness of your brother’s wife; it is your brother’s nakedness’ and ‘If a man takes his brother’s wife, it is impurity. He has uncovered his brother’s nakedness; they shall be childless.’ Tasked with seeking the annulment from the pope was Henry’s chief minister, Thomas Wolsey.


Wolsey, son of an Ipswich tavern keeper and butcher, was unique at Henry VIII’s court because he was a commoner. But his intellect and rapid wit outshone that of any of his noble peers. He had worked his way up through the strict hierarchies that permeated every aspect of daily life at court, to become Henry’s Lord Chancellor – essentially Henry’s second in command. This was unprecedented at the time for someone of common birth. Perhaps it was a testament to Henry’s knowledge of his own family’s common origins that allowed him to favour men such as Wolsey, and later Thomas Cromwell, son of a cloth merchant. Wolsey was supremely intelligent and a convincingly powerful orator, but what won him favour with Henry above all was his ability to read the king, predict his desires and shift his own opinions to match that of his majesty’s.


Notably, in 1511, Wolsey was fervently against going to war with France. However, when Henry expressed his enthusiasm to go to war with France, Wolsey, without a moment’s hesitation, chucked his previous opinions into the fire and gave a hugely compelling speech in front of the privy council, persuading everyone to support the war. It was during this war that Henry had his greatest victory, at the Battle of the Spurs on 16 August 1513, thus named because the English forces won so decisively that the French dug their spurs into their horses to retreat from the battlefield. Even still the English chased them down for many miles; it was more like a game of tag than a battle. Nevertheless, Henry would never let anyone forget what he cherished as his most heroic moment.


In 1515 Pope Leo X made Wolsey a cardinal. Unlike the men who had assumed chancellorship before him, Richard Foxe and William Warham – incumbent overstays from Henry’s father’s reign – Wolsey knew how and when to approach the king with delicate matters. He would present the king with a gift, a shiny gold ring or a new invention from the Continent, perhaps a clock or exciting new astronomical device, which Henry had always been fascinated by. And, while Henry sat wide-eyed admiring his glittering new toy like a possessed child, Wolsey would subtly whisper a suggestion in his ear: ‘Perhaps, your majesty, it would be a splendid idea to give my son that earldom after all.’


From here, Wolsey’s rise to wealth and power was rapid. Henry begrudged the daily bureaucracy of government and especially hated writing, claiming that it caused him physical pain, so he was all too happy to leave matters of state to his faithful chief minister. This gave Wolsey immense power and the ability to generate vast sums of money, which he used to build the Renaissance masterpiece Hampton Court Palace as his personal home. In 1528, during Wolsey’s downfall, in a desperate plea to regain the king’s favour he gave Henry the palace. Wolsey’s inability to secure an annulment between Henry and Catherine eventually spawned powerful factions at court, engineered by Anne Boleyn, that sought to bring Wolsey to heel. The blue-blooded nobles had always resented the immense power and control that this butcher’s boy held over them, so accusations were made to the king that Wolsey had been actively impeding the progress of his so-called ‘great matter’, his annulment, behind his back. Despite the impeccable and unwavering loyalty his subservient cardinal had paid to him over the years, Henry was fecklessly won over by the slew of accusations.


Wolsey was accused of treason, but before he could be sentenced and executed, he fell ill and died in captivity aged fifty-seven. Henry’s childhood tutor Thomas More replaced Wolsey as Lord Chancellor, but he fell from grace even quicker than Wolsey. Anne Boleyn, an avid reformer, introduced Henry to a book written by the leading English Protestant scholar William Tyndale, who created the first English translation of the Bible. In his writings, it postulated that Christian princes, i.e. European kings, should be the heads of the Church within their respective realms, and not the pope. For a man who already considered himself a demigod among men, this chimed beautifully through Henry’s ears.


Protestant fever, like a virulent wave of unquenched ideology, was spreading throughout the minds and institutions of the peoples of Europe and the British Isles. Now, too, it had gripped the mind of their king. And so a tidal wave of change washed over England, inciting a divergence in history, beginning in 1534 with the Oath of Royal Supremacy. This was a royal decree that forced every member of the clergy in England to take an oath under God that the supreme head of the newly formed Church of England was not the pope, but their lord and sovereign, Henry VIII. The alternative was death, which made taking the oath a seriously attractive offer, as the vast majority did.


Thomas More, however, was a staunch Roman Catholic and no doubt one of the most devout and faithful men in history. He stubbornly refused to take the oath, as did his close friend John Fisher, Bishop of Rochester. After all others in England had sworn the oath, these two Godfearing men became martyrs to their faith. More was a loving yet fervently stubborn family man; he actually rehearsed his own arrest with his wife and children beforehand, to prepare them for the inevitable. It’s a good job he didn’t rehearse his death too, otherwise Mummy would have chanced upon little John swinging an axe at Daddy’s neck in the garden. In captivity, More remained silent, believing that so long as he didn’t speak against his majesty’s supposed supremacy over the Church, then he would be met with mercy. ‘I do nobody harm, I say none harm, I think none harm, but wish everybody good. And if this be not enough to keep a man alive, in good faith, I long not to live,’ he preached. But it was no good.


Henry demanded total obedience and More was eventually tricked by the unscrupulous careerist Richard Rich. Rich visited his cell, presenting himself as a friend he could confide in, as the two had known each other for many years. More, lulled into false security, let slip to Rich that he denied that his king was the head of the Church, information that Rich immediately relayed back to Henry, betraying his lifelong friend. Henry deemed this sufficient evidence to convict of high treason the man who had brought him up as his own son and taught him most of what he knew, then later in life served him so diligently and faithfully. More was sentenced to be hung, drawn and quartered, but as he frequently did for the many friends he put to death, revealing rare glimpses of mercy, perhaps regret, Henry commuted his sentence to beheading. He was executed on 6 July 1535. Bishop Fisher had already been beheaded two weeks earlier.


With Henry beheading his closest advisors as one would swat flies, someone had to step forward to fill the new void for a chancellor capable of master statecraft. Enter Thomas Cromwell. Thomas Cromwell is one of the most remarkable men in English history. He was born in Putney to a blacksmith and cloth merchant. He spent his youth romping, warring and learning in France, Italy and the Low Countries, eventually working his way up to become Cardinal Wolsey’s principal secretary. Cromwell was remarkably talented in law and finance, a veritable prodigy. It was this inherent talent which gained him immense favour with Henry after Wolsey’s demise. Although Thomas Audley had taken Wolsey’s office as Lord Chancellor, he was Henry’s chief minister in name only as it was, in fact, Cromwell who had taken on the legal and parliamentary affairs of the state. By 1551 Cromwell had wormed his way into the inner circle of the king’s privy council and began to pull the strings of power within the House of Commons.


Like his lowborn predecessor Wolsey, Cromwell was also supremely intelligent and definitely more so than the competitive blue-blooded nobles who dominated court. More importantly, Cromwell, like Wolsey and unlike More, knew how to win favour with the king, and put Henry’s ‘great matter’ firmly as his foremost priority. He believed he could succeed where others could not by using his cunning legal guile and ingenuity to finally dissolve Henry’s marriage to Catherine. Along with his newly found kingly favour came a raft of titles and offices that made him the envy of every noble family in England.


Cromwell was an ardent reformer and was all too happy to push the assertion of the king’s royal supremacy over that of the Church and thus sail England further than ever from Rome’s harbour. Cromwell’s machinations in the House of Commons finally succeeded in a declaration that Henry was the only head, the new sovereign leader and protector of the Church; it denounced the power of ecclesiastical courts. This was significant, as now members of the clergy, one-sixth of the population of England, would be subject to the rule of the public courts and would enjoy no more privileges than the layman – something Henry II had tried to do 400 years earlier but ended up accidentally killing an archbishop instead.


In November 1532 Henry finally, though unofficially, married Anne, despite no papal dispensation or annulment from Catherine, in a secret ceremony held during a trip to Calais. The greatest advancement of Henry’s ‘great matter’, which made this secret union possible, came in March 1533 when he appointed the reformer Thomas Cranmer as Archbishop of Canterbury. In January 1533 Henry and Anne enjoyed an official public marriage ceremony. Then, in May, Cranmer gave the union a full clerical checkmark when he annulled the king’s marriage to Catherine and declared his new marriage to Anne as valid in the eyes of God. For all Englishmen, due to the Act of Supremacy, the supreme head of the Church was now Henry, so no higher authority could legally put a stop to Cranmer’s actions. Anne was crowned queen on 1 June. Her coronation was a sorry affair: almost nobody turned up in protest, and the few people present didn’t cheer with festivity, so the day was silent – Catherine of Aragon was immensely popular with the public, whereas Anne . . . well, she, it appeared to most, was a bewitching harlot. The Spanish Imperial Ambassador Eustace Chapuys had a more succinct nickname for Anne – the ‘Great Whore’ – which is how I imagine the current monarch addresses Meghan Markle when she comes for dinner.


In September Anne gave birth to a daughter, Elizabeth, which Henry was rather miffed about. So were members of the clergy – Elizabeth was assumed illegitimate, since, in the eyes of Rome, Henry was still married to Catherine. At Elizabeth’s christening, a clergyman scolded that the baby had been baptised in water that was not hot enough. Anne then had three miscarriages, one induced by the worrying news that Henry had been injured during a jousting tournament, causing an infection in his leg that would trouble him for the rest of his life. The voracious intellect of a woman who was free and outspoken with her thoughts and opinions, a quality that had initially attracted Henry to Anne, had in marriage, grown irksome. This was directly contrary to Henry’s true desires: to have a wife who would shut up, behave and churn out a son or two.


Anne’s fate was not helped by the fact that Henry had, by now, set his eyes upon a new mistress, Jane Seymour, one of Anne’s ladies-in-waiting. Rather conveniently for Henry, rumours began to circulate that Anne’s inability to produce a son was due to her being a witch and, most damning of all, that she had committed adultery. There is some weight to the thought that Cromwell in his ever-magnificent pragmatism had engineered these rumours. He was finely attuned to Henry’s shifting desires and knew that Anne was quickly losing favour while Jane Seymour was on an upward trend – so Cromwell knew that if Anne were to disappear, she would not be missed. Cromwell as the primary engineer of the plot to end Anne is evidenced by the Imperial Ambassador Eustace Chapuys’ frequent letters to his master, Charles V.


The accusations were numerous and surprised everyone, but they probably surprised Anne most of all; it’s improbable that she was guilty. She was accused of sleeping with a Flemish musician in her service named Mark Smeaton. The rumours around court suggested that Anne kept Smeaton in a cupboard in her chambers and would ask her handmaids for some ‘marmalade’ whenever she desired him. It seems the precise logistics of how exactly a gigolo could live indefinitely inside a cupboard were of no cause for concern to the court’s many gossipmongers. She was also accused of sleeping with the Groom of the King’s Privy Chamber, William Brereton, and two Gentlemen of the Privy Chamber, Sir Francis Weston and Sir Richard Page. She also purportedly had carnal dealings with Sir Henry Norris, the king’s Groom of the Stool, a thoroughly delightful job that involved assisting the monarch with his excretions and ablutions. Incredibly this was a highly sought-after position at court because being in such intimate proximity to the king daily allowed the Groom of the Stool unrivalled access to his mind and darkest secrets. As well as the king’s full-time arsewipe, Anne had supposedly been involved with a poet and her long-time friend, Sir Thomas Wyatt. Between tending to the king’s every need and suffering miscarriages, it seemed Anne had been a busy girl. But, most shocking of all, Anne was finally accused of having sex with her own brother George, who was subsequently charged with incest and treason.


Anne was escorted to the Tower and, on 19 May 1536, beheaded using the traditional French method: by a sword, not an axe. Her mood turned gay and almost hysteric before the execution. ‘I heard say the executioner was very good, and I have a little neck,’ she sardonically proclaimed before putting her hands around her neck and laughing maniacally. Henry was obviously grievously distressed by her death because he practically waited for an eternity before moving on and marrying Jane Seymour. By eternity, I mean ten days. Not only that, he was engaged to Jane the day after Anne’s execution. In Jane Henry had finally found the woman of his dreams, for the simple reasons that she was obedient, subservient and for the most part, rarely did anything silly such as speak her mind. But, most importantly of all, she finally gave him a son. On 12 October 1537, Jane gave birth to Edward, but the savage birth killed her. Jane was definitely Henry’s favourite wife; we know this because he said it, even to the face of his later wives. I don’t think this is what most wives intend when they tell their husband to be more honest and share their true feelings, although in this case, being Henry VIII’s favourite wife was like being a butcher’s favourite cut of meat. Jane was also Henry’s only wife to be buried next to him at Windsor, at his own request. 


A king without a queen is like fish without chips. Perhaps not that bad, but frowned upon. So immediately after Jane’s death, Cromwell set to work finding his king a shiny new strumpet, and he could think of no one better, albeit for selfish reasons, than a courtier from Germany, Anne of Cleves. For Cromwell she ticked many boxes: her family were ardent Lutherans, and her marriage to Henry would not only improve relations with the various Lutheran factions in Europe but also with the Holy Roman Emperor. Before committing to anything, Henry of course wanted to make doubly sure that she wasn’t tragically ugly and so he dispatched the court painter, Master Hans Holbein, to Cleves to paint her portrait. He would soon return with a small painting of a beautiful young lady. It is possible, although unsubstantiated, that Cromwell, resting so much upon the success of this union, secretly instructed Holbein to paint a flattering image of the potential queen, no matter what godawful soup of facial features he discovered on Anne’s face upon arrival.


When Henry first met Anne, however, he was far from impressed. He stormed out of the room, repeatedly shouting, ‘I like her not! I like her not!’ It is said that her face was pockmarked and she had the features of a horse and, little to Henry’s knowledge, she had the nickname ‘The Flanders Mare’. It’s unlikely that any of this is true; Anne of Cleves was probably a perfectly delightful but altogether average-looking woman and any reports to the contrary are likely due to gossip and Tudor propaganda. Filly-faced or not, Henry sought more than ‘average’, and he soon demanded that the marriage be annulled. Which was rather painless since he never consummated the marriage, as he ‘plainly mistrusted her to be no maid by reason of the looseness of her belly and breasts and other tokens’. Unlike Catherine, Anne went quietly and with a large severance package of two majestic houses and a not-so-insignificant fortune. To walk away from Henry with your head or dignity intact, public humiliation aside, Anne no doubt got the best deal of all Henry’s six wives.


But for Cromwell, Anne was the last mistake he would ever make. By now Cromwell had taken a steep nose-dive out of Henry’s good graces. Not only had he selfishly strong-armed his master into marriage with Anne of Cleves but also his overpowering Protestant agenda was increasingly grating on Henry, who was, at least post-Anne Boleyn, a Catholic at heart. Henry had fallen out with the pope, but not Catholicism altogether. During a fated council meeting on 10 June 1540, Cromwell was arrested, charged with treason and heresy then sent to the Tower. He begged his king for mercy, but it was no good: he was executed without a trial. It took several blows of the axe for the executioner to hack his way through Cromwell’s sturdy neck.


Henry’s attention had now been drawn, like a murderous moth, to a pretty young flame named Catherine Howard. She was only seventeen when they married, and Henry forty-nine. Although this was entirely normal for the period, the fact that by now Henry was a grossly overweight, tyrannical ogre with a leg constantly oozing with pus from his jousting wound – which by contemporary accounts, permeated the room with a rancid odour – makes one feel truly sorry for his naive young prey. Catherine, unsurprisingly, felt sorry for herself, because not long after the marriage rumours began circulating of her infidelity. She had struck up a love affair with a Gentleman of the King’s Privy Chamber and one of his favourite friends at court, Thomas Culpeper. Unlike the rumours that led to Anne Boleyn’s downfall, these were most certainly true.


Culpeper and Catherine frequently wrote letters to one another; in his he would call her his ‘sweet little fool’. While she was away with Henry on a tour of the north, in one damning letter Catherine wrote to him: ‘I never longed so much for a thing as I do to see you and to speak with you . . . it makes my heart die to think what fortune I have that I cannot be always in your company.’ There were also concerns that, contrary to what Henry had been told, Catherine’s ‘maidenhead’, as he would have put it, was not intact when she married him. This was most likely also true, as she had had relations with a courtier, Francis Dereham, in her early teenage years. When, during a council meeting, these accusations were first presented to Henry, he refused to believe them. But eventually, he could refute them no longer – the evidence was overwhelming. Catherine and her lovers Culpeper and Dereham were beheaded on 13 February 1542.


Finally, Henry married a widow and a third Catherine, Catherine Parr, in 1543. She was secretly a reformer and would argue with Henry over matters of religion and state, sometimes very publicly. Despite her obstinacy, it is rather remarkable, given his history, that Henry didn’t see fit to dispose of this one; in fact, Catherine outlived Henry. Although she did have to beg for her life on her knees at one point after she pushed the conversation too far and riled him. Perhaps he had grown soft in his old age, or maybe he was concerned that beheading two wives was perfectly ordinary but three . . . well, that would be unlucky.


Henry died in bed on 20 January 1547 at Whitehall Palace from infection and other complications brought on by the jousting wound that had so persistently ailed him. These complications were no doubt exacerbated by his obesity; at his death, aged fifty-five, he had a waist measurement of fifty-four inches.


Henry left the world with two legacies. The first is that of having more wives than any other English monarch and beheading two of them. This is, of course, the legacy taught to every schoolchild by desperate khaki-trouser-wearing history teachers in a hopeless attempt to rouse some modicum of interest in the teachings of the past, which we all loathe at an age when we are more infatuated with the teachings of whatever reality TV star recently washed up on the sad shores of temporary fame. What the scornful tweed-laden teacher really wanted to teach you was Henry’s other legacy: how he so spectacularly and permanently severed from England’s bow the tendrils of the Roman Kraken. This was confirmed in legal stature by the Act of Supremacy. Although Henry didn’t introduce Protestantism to the English – a single person rarely introduces an institution to a nation, instead it has a tendency to spread virally through trade – he did, however, awaken a sleeping beast, and give it legal credence to ravage freely: the beast of free thought and independent reason. A man’s morality could now, for the first time in history, be determined by his own logic, instead of the narcissistic and patronising spewings from the pulpit or from behind the rood screen. And at no point was this rupture through everyday civic life realised as powerfully, nor was it so unforgettable, as during the Dissolution of the Monasteries.


In 1534 Thomas Cromwell organised a gang of commissioners to visit England’s monasteries – which at this time were the wealthiest institutions in England – and report back on their superstitious nature, their inherent corruption, and what he deemed their ‘idolatry’. These reports gave Cromwell the evidence he needed to have them dissolved. All the monasteries were forcibly shut down and their mountains of treasure confiscated, making the king and Cromwell incredibly wealthy. Henry accumulated so much gold he stored it behind his headboard.


This brutal state-sponsored suppression of faith culminated in the destruction of the old and venerated shrine to Thomas Becket. Whether or not the monasteries and shrines were idolatrous, they were the civil backbone of the way of life for the common people of the realm. Every community in England was centred around and lived through the local church, which educated, looked after the sick, provided alms for the poor and in times of famine and hardship gave bread to those most in need. So when a disastrous harvest in 1535 plunged many into famine, particularly in the deeply Catholic north, they rose up in rebellion, led by London barrister Robert Aske. An impressive number who fashioned themselves as the ‘Pilgrimage of Grace’, consisting of as many as 40,000 so-called ‘pilgrims’, marched from Yorkshire and occupied York then south through Pontefract and Doncaster.


The pilgrimage was the most severe threat to Henry’s reign yet. Although they never sought to disrupt the king himself, they demanded the restoration of the monasteries, and they had a death list of reformers which included Cromwell. But they never managed to execute any of their demands. Henry promised a court to be set up in York to discuss their grievances amicably and a pardon for every single pilgrim, so long as they all agreed to pack up their weapons and go home. After they all did exactly that, Henry delivered on none of his promises. In fact, he promptly sent out a task force to round up and hang the main perpetrators; 216 ringleaders were executed, including Robert Aske. Henry was making a point: this is what happens if you revolt against the king. It is interesting, however, to postulate what may have been England’s future had the Pilgrimage of Grace reached London, considering that the rebel army was far larger than any of the royal retinues available at the time.


As for Henry’s wealth, he eventually splurged it all on a final war with France in an attempt to regain the lands and glory he had lost. In June 1544 Henry’s forces laid siege to Boulogne, south-west of Calais. The siege was eventually successful in taking the city, but it cost Henry every penny he had left, and in 1550, three years after his death, England had no choice but to give the damn thing back anyway as part of the Treaty of Boulogne. Henry’s life was ultimately a sad affair, eternally desperate to claw back the glory he once found on the Fields of the Cloth of Gold and at the Battle of the Spurs, but instead, he ended up a fat despot with an unpredictable temper and no more to his name than a collection of heads.






An Alchemist Attempts to Fly. He Doesn’t.


THE STRATEGICALLY LOCATED Stirling Castle on the banks of the River Forth is everything a medieval Scottish castle should be. Its imposing grey ramparts are permanently imprinted on top of a 350-million-year-old rocky crag. It has acted just as much as a royal residence as it has a strategic Scottish fortification against the English. And most importantly, just as one would hope from the ideal medieval castle, it has a secret door. Behind which once existed a top-secret alchemist’s laboratory, the brainchild of King James IV of Scotland. Born and raised within the walls of Stirling Castle, James, who ruled from 1488 to 1513, had a particular thirst for scientific endeavour and a lust to unlock the mysteries of the universe. Either that or he simply desired a moat-load of gold, because he invited an Italian alchemist, John Damian, to his court and funded the construction of Scotland’s first recorded laboratory dedicated solely to the art of alchemy.


The goal of this lab and its new professor was to create the elusive ‘Philosopher’s Stone’, a mythical object that was said to transmute base metals into gold. It was also thought that it could be used when mixed with wine to produce the elixir of life, a cure for any known illness and a giver of eternal life. James IV, always showing an interest in medicine and actually possessing a working knowledge of surgery himself, was enraptured by these mystical concepts. And so in the early sixteenth century John Damian’s alchemy laboratory was constructed and operated with a hushed level of secrecy that any fantasy enthusiast would relish. The ledgers from the period show that gargantuan sums of money were ploughed into this secret project, so much so that the court poet William Dunbar referred to Damian as the ‘French Leech’ – despite him being Italian.


Damian was a shady figure. Little is known about his origins, other than he spent time studying medicine in France. What is certainly clear, however, is that he was quite the confidence man and quickly enlisted the favour and trust of the Scottish king. Whether Damian was taking James’s hospitality and purse strings for a ride is unknown, but he certainly played the part. He only wore the finest damask gown and cape, along with a pointed hat that would not put him out of place alongside Geoffrey of Monmouth’s envisioning of Merlin. His alchemy laboratory was just as you might imagine: flasks and cauldrons bubbling away, with all manner of exotic ingredients from every corner of the world sorted in glass jars. Entering his secluded laboratory in the bowels of the castle one would gaze upon ingredients such as quicksilver (mercury), sugar, sulphur, tin, vinegar, calamine, gypsum and many other potentially dangerous materials. To think that all this wizardry and witchcraft was taking place among the wild purple hills of the rugged, heather-bitten Scottish landscape is a romantic notion. A more surprising notion is that Damian didn’t once examine the disturbing and mysterious luminosity of Irn-Bru.


But one ingredient, the ledgers show, was provided to the laboratory on a monthly royal pre-order in vast quantities: aqua vitae, Latin for ‘water of life’ . . . otherwise known as whisky. At great expense to the Scottish treasury, endless barrels of whisky were transported from the Highlands to the laboratory at Stirling Castle, where their contents were never seen again. While Damian argued the whisky was a vital ingredient in his experiments, how much of it was actually consumed by him orally, historians are unsure of. It seems nothing has changed; our taxes now, as then, pay for politicians’ tipples.


Unsurprisingly, after many years, Damian’s alchemic research proved unfruitful. But what he turned his attention to next surprised even the most quackish of medieval quacks. In 1507 Damian explored human flight. It is believed he was inspired by the Codex on the Flight of Birds by his Italian contemporary, Leonardo da Vinci. He was also embarrassed by his inability, after many years of study, to transmogrify a single metal into gold. He rightly presumed that exploring the possibilities of human aviation would provide more entertainment and demand more respect from the court than pissing around with whisky in the basement. If the birds depicted in the codex could use wings to fly, then, Damian bravely postulated, why not humans too? On 27 December, he put his hypothesis to the test, fashioning a pair of wings from various birds’ feathers – a mixture from eagles and hens. Damian declared to the entire court that he would fly from Scotland to France. A touch ambitious, I would say. Perhaps the conjurings of too much whisky affected his decision making. But Damian’s goalpost was not that yonder tree; only France would do.


In a spectacle enjoyed by the king and his entire court, Damian threw himself from the highest wall of Stirling Castle, strapped securely into his primitive aviation aid. Did he fly graciously to a foreign land? Of course not, he was wearing shittin’ chicken feathers! He plunged headfirst into the castle’s rubbish heap at the base of the wall. This lovely mountain of the king and the court’s collective excrement provided Damian with a semi-soft landing, saving his life but not his dignity. Miraculously Damian escaped with only a broken thigh bone. Afterwards, he reported to the king that the reason for his failure was the incorporation of hens’ feathers into his makeshift wings, realising all too late that chickens are creatures that ‘covet the middens and not the sky’.






1547–1603 PERSECUTION
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A Priest Eats an Apple Inside a Wall


ON 20 FEBRUARY 1547 an exorbitantly pampered young prince, just nine years old, was crowned King of England. This young king, Edward VI of England and France, would need a regency until he was a more suitable age to rule, especially since his father Henry VIII had mollycoddled him into a fussy little horror of a royal creation. His father had named a council of sixteen executors to fulfil this role. It was clear from a young age, however, that Edward had strong ambitions. The young tyrant in training often spoke of his desire to create a staunchly Protestant nation, which his regent councillors, being of mostly Protestant inclination, were more than happy to entertain.


With Edward’s approval, a book of common prayer was introduced in England and masses were said in English. Had Edward survived to maturity England may have been gripped by an unstoppable reformation, but it was in fact about to head violently in the opposite direction. Edward would only reign for six years before a fever gripped his lungs and ended his life at the age of fifteen. But to the young reformer, knowing that his deeply Catholic sister Mary was next in line to the throne was a pill too bitter to swallow. To preserve the progress of his reformation, he unconventionally named his cousin Lady Jane Grey as his successor. But this blatant disregard for primogeniture succession laws worked about as well as expected. Mary raised an army and marched on London, but when she got there no one needed even draw their sword – the crowds cheered and rejoiced at the rightful monarch arriving to assume her place on the throne, which she did, without any resistance. Lady Jane Grey ruled for only nine days, the shortest reign of any British monarch. Her sobriquet of the ‘Nine Days’ Queen’ is probably not how she would like to be remembered, but if only for her remarkably short reign, remembered she has been. At any rate, it’s better than being remembered as ‘the Bastard’ (William I), ‘the Unready’ (Æthelred II) or ‘that one who had some fireside ironmongery inserted into his bum’ (Edward II).


Now thirty-seven, Mary’s first order of business was marriage to secure her reign and keep her Protestant younger sister Elizabeth from snatching the throne. Her cousin, the Holy Roman Emperor Charles V, suggested she marry his only son, Prince Philip of Spain. But as Spain was now the most powerful nation in Europe and at the ascendancy of its immense global empire, the proposed match was incredibly unpopular with the people of England, who feared the marriage would result in England becoming a mere satellite on the fringe of Spain’s empire. The union was so unpopular that it led to an uprising behind Thomas Wyatt the Younger, the son of Henry VIII’s court poet Thomas Wyatt. The rebellion had designs to replace Mary with the younger, prettier and vastly more popular Elizabeth, all facets that caused Mary to absolutely seethe with jealousy.


In January 1554 Wyatt and his men occupied Rochester in Kent and Elizabeth, whom Mary accused of being behind the plot, was summoned to court to be held against her will. Meanwhile, Wyatt marched into London but was stopped by resistance at Ludgate, and the army was forced to disband. Ninety rebels, along with Wyatt, were executed; most were hung, drawn and quartered. Wyatt was tortured before his execution to try to extract evidence that Elizabeth was in full knowledge of the plot against her elder sister, but Wyatt refused to release any such damning information. Meanwhile, Elizabeth was held in the Tower until her sister painfully considered her fate. It’s highly likely that she was privy to the plot, and may have even played a part in its preparations. But she was intelligent enough to leave no breadcrumbs. Despite intense questioning, Elizabeth’s well-thought-out answers gave Mary no hard proof of her sister’s connivance. Eventually, Mary had no choice but to release her.


After her marriage to Philip, Mary turned her attention, in 1554, to pretending she was pregnant. She had gained weight, became nauseous and had stopped menstruating. Her doctors confirmed she was with child. But as a year passed, and Mary’s pregnancy suspiciously had none of the usual byproducts of pregnancy, namely a child, the court began to swim with scepticism. The Venetian ambassador Giovanni Michiel humorously lambasted her, writing that her pregnancy was more likely to ‘end in wind rather than anything else’. Mary was indeed gestating a fart; her pregnancy was false, the symptoms perhaps feigned by her own body because of her intense desire to bear a child.


After her coronation, Mary issued a proclamation that she would not compel any of her subjects to follow her Catholic religion and she upheld that promise by burning more people for their religious beliefs than any other monarch in English history. All the gold and silver idolatries removed during Edward’s reign were returned to Catholic churches across the country. The Act of Uniformity passed by Edward was also revoked, and she introduced new heresy laws that made it illegal to be a Protestant in England. Under the Heresy Act, all Protestants were forced to publicly recant their faith and return to Catholicism or face execution, usually by being burnt alive. Thomas Cranmer, one of the Reformation’s major figureheads, chose to recant to save his life, but Mary couldn’t allow the Reformation’s most fierce advocate to go unpunished and so ordered Cranmer to be burnt regardless of his recantation. When Cranmer was taken to the pyre, he loudly recanted his recantation to the crowd. He thrust the hand with which he wrote his initial recantation into the heart of the flames and passionately proclaimed, ‘And forasmuch as my hand offended in writing contrary to my heart, therefore my hand shall first be punished. For if I may come to the fire, it shall be first burned. And as for the pope, I refuse him, as Christ’s enemy and antichrist, with all his false doctrine.’ By the end of her brutal campaign, Mary had burnt 300 people alive for their religious beliefs, eternally branding her as ‘Bloody Mary’, a nickname she would kindly lend to a cocktail in 1921. During his lifetime her father had ordered the deaths of roughly 37,000 people and her successor Elizabeth would go on to have 600 executed – though a much smaller number of each were because of religious beliefs – so it is odd that Mary has gone down in history as the bloody tyrant – Protestant propaganda perhaps. But it is the malice of Mary’s executions that singles her out as the evil Tudor. Being burnt alive is an acutely painful and horrific method of execution. Even the executioners who were paid to light the pyres were often sympathetic enough to tie bags of gunpowder around the ankles of the accused so the fire would explode the gunpowder and hopefully kill the victim instantly, avoiding a long and excruciating death in which the victim would witness her own limbs and extremities boiling, blistering and singed as black as blasted tar. The gunpowder, however, was often unreliable and could make the experience even worse for the victim if she wasn’t lucky enough to die when it detonated. Perhaps the only time in history a person has actually wished for it all to blow up in their face.


In 1557 Mary once again thought her lacklustre but frightful reign could be spiced up with another false pregnancy. But this time, people had caught on and so remained suspicious. Some members of her council, knowing the pregnancy was most likely a load of nonsense, tried to convince new mothers to hand over their baby to Mary so she could pretend it was hers, without success. After all, women whose name is prefaced with ‘Bloody’ don’t usually make ideal mothers. By 1558 uterine cancer had riddled Mary’s body and she died aged forty-two on 17 November. Before her death, without a child, she was forced, begrudgingly, to acquiesce and name Elizabeth as official successor.


Her fiery red hair was not all Elizabeth inherited from her father; she had his intelligence too. From an early age, her governess remarked that Elizabeth was extremely gifted. She learnt Latin through the usual method of double translation. She would have to convert English texts to Latin and back again – Elizabeth was able to do this word perfect, every time. She also had a strange idea of leisure because she would go on to do this throughout her life for fun and to relax – she had obviously never heard of a schvitz. The young Elizabeth also mastered French, Italian and Greek. And by the end of her life, she could speak fluent Welsh, Scottish, Cornish and Irish, as though, according to the Venetian ambassador, they were her ‘naked tongue’. A visit from this proud royal polyglot was a costly affair. When Elizabeth visited a town merchant in Osterley, Middlesex, she casually suggested over dinner that his courtyard would look far more pleasing to the eye with a wall built across it. When she awoke the following morning, that wall had been built.


We, of course, know Elizabeth today by her slew of nicknames: ‘Gloriana’, ‘Good Queen Bess’ and most saliently, the ‘Virgin Queen’. But this last sobriquet she would have to work very hard to achieve. When Elizabeth was fourteen, she attracted the unwanted attention of the forty-year-old Thomas Seymour, whom she was living with; he subjected the vulnerable teen to sustained sexual abuse. Likely it was an attempt to lay claim to the loins of a child in the direct line of succession. Seymour often played roughly with Elizabeth in public and he would enter her bedroom in the middle of the night, tickle her inappropriately and slap her buttocks. His wife Catherine Parr, whom he’d married after she became Henry’s widow, would often partake in these abuses and hold down Elizabeth while her husband tickled and slapped the unfortunate young soul. On one occasion, Catherine held her down while Seymour cut Elizabeth’s gown into ‘a thousand black pieces’.


After some time, Catherine came to the realisation that her forty-year-old husband’s sexual advances against a barely teenage princess were probably not appropriate and she intervened, sending Elizabeth away from their home. But Seymour’s dalliances would get the better of him; in 1549, when she was fifteen, all the damning details emerged into the public realm. In January that year, Seymour was arrested on suspicion of plotting to marry Elizabeth in order to usurp the Lord Protectorship. Elizabeth stubbornly refused to admit anything, yet the evidence was overwhelming, and Seymour was beheaded on 20 March. It’s highly likely that the whole Seymour affair had left an indelible scar on Elizabeth that would haunt her for the rest of her life and have a profound influence on her relationships, or lack of, during adulthood.


It was naturally expected that Elizabeth would marry at the very start of her reign so she could immediately begin popping out fresh Tudor heirs. But she instead spent her entire life courting several men yet never fully committing to marriage. In 1559, less than a year after her accession, Parliament began piling on the pressure for Elizabeth to marry, but she famously refused with the marvellous reply: ‘Yea, to satisfie you, I have already joyned myself in marriage to an Husband, namely, the Kingdom of England . . . And to me it shall be a Full satisfaction, both for the memorial of my Name, and for my Glory also, if when I shall let my last breath, it be ingraven upon my Marble Tomb, “Here lieth Elizabeth, which Reigned a Virgin, and died a Virgin.”’


And so, Elizabeth had made her intentions clear: to emulate the Virgin Mary and become a pious symbol among men of purity and absolute devotion to her kingdom and her people. I dare to say in both she was successful, but in ending her life a virgin, perhaps not. She spent the early years of her reign behaving as though she mistook the word ‘virgin’ for meaning ‘one who is unstoppably sexually adventurous’. She was well and truly enamoured with her childhood friend Robert Dudley; the pair were in love. Dudley, however, was married but his wife was gravely ill, and it was widely rumoured that he was simply awaiting her death so he could marry his true love Elizabeth. When Dudley’s wife Amy finally died in September 1660, after falling down a flight of stairs, many suspected he had paid to have her killed so he could marry the queen.


Elizabeth rewarded her so-called ‘sweet robin’ for lobbing his wife down the stairs by still refusing to marry him; instead she appointed him Master of the Horse, a position that made him responsible for her safety. It also put him, rather conveniently, in daily contact with the queen. The Spanish ambassador wrote that Elizabeth visited Dudley in his chambers both day and night and they were openly flirtatious at court. It is supposed by modern historians that Dudley was Elizabeth’s lover in the fullest sense and she was a ‘virgin queen’ in name and symbolism only. Nevertheless, her sobriquet provided a potent metaphor for her piety and devotion to the country and her subjects.


Despite spending ten years considering whether or not to marry Dudley and frequently coming a hair’s breadth away from doing so, she never did commit to her childhood sweetheart. Probably because her councillors were relentlessly disapproving of the union and would have much preferred any from a list of fancy foreign dignitaries such as King Philip II of Spain (her deceased sister’s widower hand-me-down), King Eric XIV of Sweden and two brothers, Henry and Francis, who were subsequent Dukes of Anjou – presumably either desperate brother would do just fine.


When her Catholic cousin Mary Queen of Scots gave up her childhood in France for the rainy Scottish marshes in 1561, Elizabeth feared it was a prelude to a French invasion intent on dethroning her and installing Mary as an anti-Protestant monarch. In 1563 Elizabeth showed how deeply she cared for her once lover Robert Dudley by trying to pawn him off to marry Mary without asking either of them beforehand. The plan was a shambles – neither of the two parties was remotely interested in the other. Mary chose to marry Lord Darnley instead, a cantankerous Scottish playboy. Elizabeth was evidently not pleased with her French cousin (disguised as a Scottish monarch) reserving her right to choose her own suitor because she had Darnley brutally murdered – only eight months after Mary had given birth to their first child, James, who would become the future King James I of England, Darnley’s body was found half-naked in his garden surrounded by a cloak and dagger. Yes, quite literally – someone had been reading too many crime novels.


Soon after Darnley’s murder relations between the English and Scottish queens deteriorated and Mary went into hiding, but the Protestant regime was hot on her heels. Elizabeth, however, was under her own threat from conspirators involved in the Catholic Babington Plot, whose goal was to assassinate Elizabeth and replace her with Mary. Facing deadly Catholic intrigue, Elizabeth took religious persecution to a level that made her sister and predecessor Mary seem about as deadly as a quiche. She enacted laws that prohibited Roman Catholics from practising their rites of faith. Priests who refused to submit to the Oath of Supremacy and thus publicly admit to Elizabeth as the supreme head of the Church were convicted of high treason and executed. Priest hunters were dispatched all over England to find these so-called ‘recusants’.


Many recusants built hiding holes into the structure of their houses to hide from the priest hunters when that dread-filled knock came to their door. These were called ‘priest holes’ – and just like priests’ holes in the modern Catholic church, they were used often. Some larger recusant houses had more holes than Swiss cheese, such as Harvington Hall in Worcestershire. There are numerous priest holes in every room of this manor house, built in 1580. Nicholas Owen, the carpenter who designed the house, was so proficient at creating hidden warrens within the walls, floors, ceilings and within fireplace flues that when he and a companion, Ralph Ashley, hid within the house for twelve days they could not be found by the authorities, despite them having turned over the entire house multiple times. Eventually, the pair had to be starved out of hiding. They had nothing to eat but a single apple to share between them. It was this very persecution of Catholics that led to the failed Papist Gunpowder Plot of 1605, which attempted to blow up Parliament on 5 November during the reign of James I. James I was almost too preoccupied knighting cows to notice. It is local legend in Lancashire that during a banquet at Hoghton Tower near Preston, he was so enamoured by a delicious piece of beef that he drew his sword, placed it upon the meat and proclaimed, ‘Arise, Sir Loin,’ which, over time, mutated into ‘sirloin steak’. But historians have been unable to agree on this story’s veracity.


During Elizabeth’s reign, Protestants would demonstrate their disdain for Catholicism by setting alight wicker effigies of the pope and various idols. Mary Queen of Scots, however, gave hidden hope to the popish recusants of England. Hope had no place in the Protestant reformation, and so it was Elizabeth’s spymaster Sir Francis Walsingham who devised the ingenious plot that would be her downfall. Mary would communicate with her network of Catholic contacts and confidants by leaving waterproof messages in beer casks in various taverns around the English countryside. What she did not know until it was too late was that this entire system was devised by Walsingham himself. It was entrapment. Using the seemingly secret system of communication that Walsingham had devised, Mary had inadvertently revealed her location and was swiftly caught. She was executed on 8 February 1587 at Fotheringhay Castle. The executioner missed her neck with the initial swing and gouged a gruesome valley in the back of her skull. Witnesses spread word that Mary’s lips moved up and down on her detached head for half an hour after her death.






Francis Drake Shits Fire on the Spanish


‘EL DRAQUE’, MEANING ‘THE DRAGON’, was the moniker used by the Spanish to refer to their most feared nemesis during the late sixteenth century. Before the sun never set on the British Empire, the Spanish Empire was the first global empire in history, and the first to colonise territories so far-reaching that at all times the sun’s rays graced the ground somewhere upon its vast patchwork. It stretched from huge swathes of the west coasts of South and North America to the Spanish East Indies (modernday Philippines). This was Spain’s Golden Age. It was the epicentre of global trade; huge annual treasure fleets ferried tonnes of gold, silver and priceless jewels from the New World, across the Atlantic, into Spain’s treasury. King Philip II was at the centre of it all, the most powerful man in the world.


A typical galleon in a Spanish treasure fleet, transporting wealth and wonders from the New World to the Old, carried the modern-day equivalent of over 180 million euros; treasure that was pillaged from the temples, palaces and mines of the Inca, Aztec and other native peoples of South America. Elizabeth I was frustrated. She so desperately wanted a piece of Philip’s delicious golden pie, but Phil was in no mood for sharing his hard-earned crust. Philip didn’t even share his immense wealth with the people of Spain, who grew poorer and hungrier by the decade. Most of the gold and silver that was stolen from the New World was sucked up by wealthy European investors or splurged by Philip on extortionate Catholic crusades and inquisitions against Muslims, Jews and Protestants all across the Old World.


Philip wasn’t willing to share, and Spain’s mighty armada prevented Elizabeth from attacking Spain’s well-manned and well-gunned fortifications at key points along the coastlines of its empire in the Americas, blocking any hope of competition or land conquest by England. To rattle the cage of Elizabeth’s frustrations, England could not even partake in the hugely lucrative spice and textile trades flooding into Spain and Portugal from South-East Asia because Spain, occupying both the southern tip of South America and the Iberian peninsula, had well and truly safeguarded and blocked off any means of establishing trade routes between England and Asia. Britain’s pies and pottages were destined to remain desperately plain for a little while longer.


So Elizabeth formulated a daring, underhand plan and entrusted its execution to a mere commoner, albeit a promising one. Elizabeth requested a private audience with ambitious young sea captain Francis Drake of Tavistock, Devon. Drake had already conducted three expeditions under a royal warrant from Elizabeth, pillaging Spanish ports throughout the Caribbean with his cousin John Hawkins. During the last of these expeditions, the pair were ambushed and attacked from all sides by Spanish warships. All of their crew perished, except for, miraculously, Drake and Hawkins, who swam for their lives and made it back to England alive. It should be noted that at some point they realised swimming back to England was somewhat impractical and commandeered a boat. Hawkins, shaken by his brief flirtation with fatality at the hands of the ferocious might of Spain’s navy, was put off privateering for some time. For Drake, on the other hand, it had the opposite effect. He was incensed by the Spanish attack on his life and vowed revenge. Elizabeth greatly admired his tenacity and unflinching desire to stab Spanish people.


Elizabeth planned to dispatch Drake on a series of raids on Spanish treasure galleons and ports around the Gulf of Mexico. Drake was, to all intents and purposes, a royally sanctioned pirate, a privateer of the English crown. In July 1572 he planned and launched an attack on the Isthmus of Panama. Here the Spanish would regularly unload silver and gold from Peru and send it overland from the Pacific to the Caribbean Sea where Spanish galleons would pick it up and transport it back to Spain. A crucial logistical choke point in Spain’s great gold machine.


In July Drake and his crew of seventy-three men, in just two small vessels, Pascha and Swan, captured the town of Nombre de Dios on the Isthmus of Panama and all of its treasure. Relishing in their success, his men noticed that one of Drake’s wounds was bleeding uncontrollably. They insisted on leaving the treasure and withdrawing to save their captain’s life. But refusing to go home, Drake stayed in the area for a further year, savagely raiding Spanish shipping. This proved to be an extremely prosperous decision on Drake’s part. During one raid on a silver mule train, Drake and his crew captured twenty tonnes of silver and gold. However, being pursued by some very angry Spanish conquistadors, the men had to escape through the jungle, where they buried most of their treasure. Upon reaching the coast, and escaping to the deck of their vessel, Drake, utterly beaten and bedraggled in appearance, was asked by the rest of his crew how the raid went. The devious Drake, assuming a look of disappointment, led his crew to believe he was empty-handed. Suddenly he burst with laughter, pulled a large necklace of Spanish gold from beneath his collar, and said: ‘Our voyage is made, lads!’


It was during this venture that Drake, upon the central mountains of the Isthmus of Panama, climbed a tall tree and became the first Englishman to view the Pacific Ocean. He exclaimed that one day, he would rather like to sail upon it. He wouldn’t have to wait very long. Upon returning to Plymouth Elizabeth’s trust in the piratical Drake had grown immensely. Yet despite the fact that her modest army of privateers was doing wonders in relieving a significant portion of gold from Spain’s treasure fleets and bringing it back to England’s coffers, Elizabeth remained frustrated with England’s inability to secure Eastern trading routes. England’s sole hope, or so it was believed, to establish Eastern shipping lanes that would be unimpeded by Spain’s mighty imperial yoke was to find and secure the mythical ‘Northwest Passage’ – referred to by contemporary cartographers as the ‘Strait of Anián’. This supposed unencumbered sea route linked the Atlantic and Pacific, cutting through the top of the North American continent. It is only in very recent years since Arctic sea ice has declined that such a route around the top of Canada has been made possible for modern shipping. Previously, deadly Arctic pack ice mostly prevented any such transit.


In the sixteenth century, however, with many spots on the map yet to be accurately drawn in, the very prospect of an accessible Northwest Passage could very possibly be England’s most valuable discovery. Elizabeth called Drake for another secret meeting. She had formulated a plan, and fearing the sly tendrils of Spain’s spymasters ordered all of her guards out of the room when Drake arrived to discuss the grand voyage she had planned for him. Elizabeth ordered Drake, under the guise of a relatively uninteresting and routine trading voyage to Alexandria, to instead take a small squadron of soldiers, pirates and sea captains to, for the first time in English history, sail upon the waters of the Pacific. Drake was to explore the Pacific coast of the Americas, raiding the bounty of Spain’s treasure caches up and down Peru as he travelled north. Upon reaching the west coast of the North American continent, Drake was instructed, as a secondary objective of this campaign, to search for the elusive Northwest Passage. He was to keep any discoveries tightly under wraps, reporting directly and only to Elizabeth upon his return.


On 13 December 1577, Drake set sail aboard Pelican accompanied by four other ships and 164 men. Of course, being the relentless miscreant that he was, he soon added a sixth ship which he named Mary, formerly Santa Maria, a Portuguese merchant ship which he’d captured off the coast of Africa. If that wasn’t audacious enough, he plucked a poor Portuguese captain, Nuno da Silva, and enlisted him as the stolen ship’s captain. Drake needed him, for he had considerable experience navigating the treacherous – and to Drake, unknown – waters of South America. Skirting down the west coast of South America Drake eventually put down anchor in Port St. Julian (in present-day Argentina). Ironically, this was the very spot where Ferdinand Magellan, the first man to organise a successful circumnavigation of the globe, had stopped off only half a century earlier. More ironic still, Magellan had, during this hiatus, put to death mutineers on his ship. Drake was forced to do the exact same thing, in the very same location: he held a mock trial and executed his own mutineer, Thomas Doughty. Drake had discovered that Doughty had been undermining the captain’s authority in front of the other crew members.


Drake’s passage through the Strait of Magellan to reach the Pacific would be turbulent and testing. As they pushed on torridly, the terrible weather beat down upon their oak vessels. These waters, at the very bottom of the Americas, were infamous as the most dangerous in the world and after various mishaps, only one ship of the six made it through the straits to become the first English vessel to displace the waters of the Pacific Ocean. That ship was Drake’s – the Pelican, most fortunately for me, otherwise I would have to switch to another protagonist for the remainder of this epic tale, which would be slightly irritating. Upon entering the Pacific, Drake renamed his ship the Golden Hind – and thank goodness, because Pelican was a crappy name from the get-go. Golden Hind was a symbolic tribute to the coat of arms of Sir Christopher Hatton, an English politician and significant backer of this voyage. As the weather improved the Golden Hind ambled ardently along the coast of South America. Ceaselessly northbound Drake sailed, cracking down upon Spanish treasure ports and fleets, which capitulated their gold to the courageous and now single-shipped adventurer. He was earning his fearsome moniker ‘El Draque’ like never before.


Drake’s most profitable loot was secured upon commandeering the 120-tonne Spanish treasure galleon Nuestra Señora de la Concepción (‘Our Lady of the Immaculate Conception’). Drake renamed the vessel Cacafuego, which spectacularly translates to ‘Fireshitter’. In my opinion, his greatest moment. Aboard his brand-new Fireshitter Drake was delighted to discover thirty-six kilogrammes of gold, a golden crucifix, piles of jewels and twenty-six tonnes of silver. In such good humour had this profoundly profitable plunder left Drake that he shared a grand feast aboard the ship with its captured officers and passengers. That must have been an awkward meal. Not only that, he offloaded all the captives on land shortly after and handed highly valuable gifts to each of them, according to their respective rank.


Upon reaching North American waters, Drake didn’t discover any further Spanish treasure ships. Not that his own, now overwhelmingly laden, small fleet could carry any more plunder. So Drake pushed as far north as his mind and mettle dared, dutifully, as his monarch had instructed him, in search of the Northwest Passage. Although unconfirmed, it is believed that Drake reached as far north as thirty-eight degrees latitude (San Francisco). He was, of course, unable to find the fabled natural land canal. He did, however, claim a small portion of the northern California coast in the name of the English Crown – ‘Nova Albion’, Latin for ‘New Britain’, today named ‘Drake’s Bay’. Here Drake met the Coast Miwok indigenous people who surprisingly treated him like a god. They showered him with great hospitality and showed no hostility, perhaps because his pale white complexion, the first they would have seen, convinced the tribe that he was a visiting spirit. He left when they began lighting a large campfire and rubbing spices into his flesh.


The Spanish were by this point hot on his heels, unsurprisingly, as he had spent the past weeks systematically raping their treasure hoards all along the coast. And with the elusive Northwest Passage remaining elusive, Drake was left with only one option: as Magellan had done, he would sail around the world. He headed east, through Asia, and eventually home. In this spectacular voyage, Francis Drake became the second man and the first Englishman to circumnavigate the globe. Returning to Plymouth on 26 September 1580, Drake brought home a treasure haul so great that Queen Elizabeth’s promised 50 per cent share of the cargo surpassed the English Crown’s income for an entire year. Elizabeth hesitated not a moment in knighting the now Sir Francis Drake, highly unusual for a man of ignoble birth.


Drake became the mayor of Plymouth and used a portion of his vast new wealth to develop the town and its infrastructure. But one does not pillage the Spanish colonies without angering Philip II. Eight years later Philip was granted a papal decree to invade England, remove the Protestant Elizabeth I from the throne and replace her with a new Catholic monarch. The huge Spanish Armada was bolstered at great expense. Now standing at 130 ships, 8,000 sailors and 18,000 soldiers, it took two full days just for it to depart port from Lisbon. On 28 May 1588, the Spanish Armada headed for the English Channel. It had plans to dock in the Spanish Netherlands, where 30,000 more soldiers awaited the fleet’s arrival. After which, the mighty Spanish naval force would cross the Channel to storm the natural fortress island. Philip was sure of success.


The problem is that one does not simply amass an Armada of 130 ships without attracting a teeny, tiny modicum of attention from the prying eyes of Elizabeth’s spymaster Francis Walsingham. Naturally, a counterattack was planned. Although the English fleet outnumbered the Spanish at 200 ships to 130, in firepower the mighty Spanish galleons were unmatched by any nation. The Armada had 50 per cent more guns at its disposal than the English fleet. But what the English lacked in firepower, they certainly made up for in two other areas: speed and logistics. Elizabeth handpicked her three most trusted and experienced naval captains to lead the English fleet: Sir John Hawkins, Lord Howard Effingham and, of course, Sir Francis Drake.


The Armada made its initial encroachment, led by Spanish army general the Duke of Medina Sidonia, up through the narrow English Channel, past Plymouth and Portland, after which it docked in Calais on 27 July. The ships formed a tightly packed defensive crescent shape in the harbour. For the time being, poor communication prevented the Armada from progressing to the Spanish Netherlands as planned. Although possessing immense fire and manpower the Armada was under the captaincy of a land general, not a naval officer, and thus the entire voyage suffered from subpar planning and communication. To make matters worse, he suffered from seasickness, which is like asking Jimmy Savile to write a children’s book. Conversely, Drake, Hawkins and Effingham were all highly experienced at naval logistics and warfare. The trio was able to plan and execute with unrivalled pace and precision.


At midnight on 28 July, the night after the Armada docked in Calais, the English fleet set alight eight of their smaller unmanned ships, under the orchestration of Drake. They packed the vessels to the hilt with brimstone, pitch, gunpowder and tar and sailed them downwind towards the pack of sardined Spanish warships in the port. Eight ships ablaze were enough to cause mass hysteria. The majority of the Spanish fleet cut loose their anchors and scattered in all directions. Not a single Spanish ship was actually set on fire by the fireships, but the chaos had obliterated their crucial defensive crescent formation. And, with their fleet in disarray, the fleeing galleons made for easy pickings for the much faster, smaller English vessels. Drake’s deception worked perfectly – the once captain of the Fireshitter had quite literally shit fire all over Philip’s navy, derailing the invasion.


Amidst these tumultuous events, on 8 August Elizabeth gave her most famous speech in Tilbury to encourage her forces. Arriving on horseback in her own personal battle armour to demonstrate that she was prepared to fight to the death alongside her men to defend her island and homeland, she declared:


 


My loving people, we have been persuaded by some that are careful of our safety, to take heed how we commit ourselves to armed multitudes for fear of treachery . . . I am come among you as you see at this time, not for my recreation and disport, but being resolved, in the midst and heat of battle, to live or die among you all – to lay down for my God, and for my kingdoms, and for my people, my honour and my blood even in the dust. I know I have the body of a weak and feeble woman; but I have the heart and stomach of a king – and of a King of England too . . . I know already, for your forwardness, you have deserved rewards and crowns, and, we do assure you, on the word of a prince, they shall be duly paid you.


 


It’s somewhat disappointing to hear that Elizabeth failed in her promise to pay most of the sailors. Many of them perished in a bout of typhus that swept the fleet after the victory. Nevertheless, it was a bloody good speech.


Spanish warships during this period focused on offensive boarding warfare, instead of a ranged cannon-based offensive, which would be more commonly exercised in the century to come. A Spanish galleon would seek to hook and grapple attacking ships. If they were successful, the far greater number of Spanish soldiers would board the enemy ship and devastate the opposing crew. But the three seasoned English naval officers knew this technique all too well and engineered their offensive around it, maintaining just enough distance at all times to prevent the Spanish grappling hooks from taking hold. Ninety-one metres was the exact distance required to penetrate the oak hulls of the Spanish ships while remaining outside grappling range.


The swift English ships quickly surrounded the cumbersome fleeing Spanish galleons and unleashed their heavy broadsides into their timber frames, pounding them relentlessly. The English were demonstrating the naval warfare of the future. As the Spanish fleet retreated north towards the coast of Gravelines, the brutal broadsides of the English fleet continued to batter their hopes, bereft of reprise. Five Spanish galleons were sunk, the remainder were routed, and most were damaged in varying degrees of severity. With the English fleet hot on its heels from the south the Spanish fleet was forced to head north, all the way around the top of the British Isles, then heading south down the coast of Ireland, hoping to return to the relative safety of the open ocean and then Spain. But the weather was against them and Spanish navigation at the time was about as reliable as a damp pistola. After passing the Hebrides, they turned south far too soon.


A shocking number of the fleeing Armada were forced to shipwreck on the unforgiving rocks of the jagged Irish coastline. A significant bulk of the crew, 5,000 it is estimated, either drowned, starved or were slaughtered at the hands of the Irish and English ashore. When the surviving fleet finally reached Spain only sixty-seven ships and fewer than 10,000 men were accounted for. This was by many historians’ reckoning the most significant military failure of the past thousand years and arguably the most crucial turning point in the history of the modern world. The English were now free and militarily unchallenged to stick as many flags as they desired in the New World. The golden days of Spanish naval dominance were over; the days of English naval dominance had only just begun.






1603–1688 WAR


[image: images]






Charles II Escapes to France via an Oak Tree


THE MEMBER OF PARLIAMENT for Huntingdon between 1628 and 1629 was a son of a modest landowner. His name was Oliver Cromwell, and he was a really odd bloke. To give an example, whenever anyone mentioned Magna Carta he would clutch his sword and shout, ‘Magna Farta!’ Yes, I’m afraid this is the man who would shatter English politics and murder a king.


In 1629 Charles I dissolved the parliament that Cromwell currently played a minor role in, after which Charles enjoyed eleven years of personal rule. With no parliament to say otherwise, the law of the land was whatever Charles said it was, and he said, ‘I’m going to empty the treasury to fund my lavish lifestyle.’ The people decried this period as the ‘Eleven Years’ Tyranny’.


Dating back to 1265, English Parliament had never been permanent; it was a fragile collection of the landed gentry, called into existence at the king’s pleasure, and it could just as easily be dissolved by the king at any moment. But for the reigning monarch parliament was a necessary obstruction, for it was only through them that sufficient funds could be raised for costly wars. However, the monarch still held absolute power over parliament, so preventing funds from reaching the king’s purse was often the only means for the Commons to exert control over their ruler. So, in 1629, when Charles decided he wanted to go it alone, he first had to make peace with France and Spain, ending England’s participation in the Thirty Years’ War, as war was ferociously expensive and no parliament meant no more money.


During his personal rule, Charles may have had no war to throw money at but he always enjoyed a lavish court that sucked his purse dry, so the question of how to raise revenue still lingered. He turned to plainly inventing new ways of extorting money from the realm, which all seem like they were stolen from a pamphlet entitled ‘How to annoy your subjects’. Charles fined anyone unable to show up to knighthood ceremonies, and he instituted one of the few taxes that he was permitted to do so without parliament’s approval: ship money. Ship money was an arbitrary tax imposed on all inland inhabitants under the guise that they were funding the Royal Navy. Even when some of his more powerful vassals refused to pay ship money and subsequently took the matter to court, Charles responded by imposing two additional fines on their heads: one for refusing to pay ship money and another for opposing the legality of the tax itself.


But Charles’s holiday wouldn’t last, because, in 1639 the Scots did their usual party trick of invading England. Begrudgingly, Charles had to recall parliament and beg them for funds to raise an army to fight the Scots. The figurehead of this new parliament was John Pym, a Puritan and a detractor of the monarchy. Pym used this new parliament to argue very vocally for the absolute power of parliament and against the divine right of kings. Parliament quickly voted that invading Scotland was not a good idea, so only a few weeks after its instantiation, Charles dissolved it yet again. (If while enjoying this chapter you wish to play a drinking game in which you do a shot each time someone dissolves Parliament, then please, feel free, but you’re going to be squirming around on the floor like an inebriated peasant by the end of it.) This particular iteration of parliament was, unsurprisingly, called the ‘Short Parliament’.


It didn’t take long for the realisation to dawn on Charles that dissolving Parliament failed to solve his issue of having no means to raise funds to fight off the Scots. So in 1640 he yet again called a new parliament, which would later be named the ‘Long Parliament’. But by now the Puritan dissenters had, during the recess, spent considerable time discussing just how much they disliked the king and everything he stood for; thus the new parliament was hostile from the outset.


Pym immediately began mouthing off yet again, and Parliament sought to bolster its alarmingly tenuous mandate to exercise a modicum of power. So, it passed a new law that Parliament must reconvene every three years, whether the king calls for it or not. A second law was passed stripping the king’s power to dissolve Parliament and then another that made it illegal for the king to introduce any taxes without Parliament’s prior consent. This laid the groundwork for the unshakable system of British governance we have today.


The final blow to Charles’s monarchistic mandate came when John Pym and the other Puritans published the ‘Grand Remonstrance’ and presented it to the king. This was a long list of 204 grievances that Parliament had with Charles’s rule. But, in truth, there was one overwhelming obstinacy Parliament held against the king: religion. Charles’s subtle yet steady Popish reforms and his wife’s deep papal sympathies cut coarsely against the grain of this now deeply entrenched Protestant nation, one hundred years after the Reformation. The first newspapers started to hit the streets of England around this time, and Charles’s faults were disseminated openly among the public.


On 22 August 1642 Charles raised the royal standard at Nottingham, calling all supporters to his cause and his army: the English Civil War had officially begun. Or had it? As soon as Charles raised his standard, it blew over in the wind – an omen perhaps? The first pitched battle came on 23 October near Edge Hill in Warwickshire. Both sides had a small number of poorly trained and ill-equipped infantry.


The pride of the royal army was Prince Rupert’s cavalry division of over 3,000 mounted knights. Prince Rupert of the Rhine was the king’s nephew, and he cut a dashing figure. If ever there was a living embodiment of a brave and chivalrous fantasy knight, it was surely Prince Rupert. He even had his very own legends, as fantastic as they were improbable, which folk would often share across a pub table. One such legend was that Rupert’s dog, a French poodle, was a familiar who could turn invisible and spy on his enemies. But alas, a mystic Shih Tzu, or any other powerful purebred for that matter, was insufficient to win Rupert the Battle of Edgehill, which ended inconclusively. Men on both sides routed after taking minor casualties, and many of them were more interested in looting the dead than fighting. A second skirmish at Turnham Green the following month forced Charles and his army to withdraw to their only remaining stronghold at Oxford.


The hopeless amateurism on display at Edgehill convinced Cromwell that the only way to win this war was with a well-drilled and professional fighting force. He headed to London to raise a brand-new army. Parliament’s, and to a lesser extent Cromwell’s ‘New Model Army’ was radically different from any English fighting force that had come before: it was a well-trained retinue of veteran soldiers who were mostly staunch Puritans. Cromwell could thus rely on their loyalty and expertise. Unlike the typical part-time garrison forces that had to be raised through banners at times of need, the New Model Army was a permanent retinue funded wholly by Parliament. For the first time, England had a professional standing army, a large and deadly one.


The New Model Army used the pike and shot formation that had come over from Italy, consisting of three rows of soldiers with matchlock rifles. The front row knelt, the middle crouched and the back stood up straight so they could all fire simultaneously, creating a wall of lead death. These riflemen were boxed in on both sides by pikemen who protected them from cavalry charges. This tactic, paired with Cromwell’s brutally effective ‘ironside’ cavalry unit, proved a deadly fighting force.


The might of Parliament’s New Model Army was laid bare at the decisive Battle of Naseby on 14 June 1645. Commanded by Sir Thomas Fairfax and Oliver Cromwell, it utterly destroyed Charles’s forces. Out of the 7,400 men fielded for the Royalist army, a staggering 7,000 of them became casualties by the end of the day. 


Following Naseby, Parliament voted to put the Royalist stronghold of Oxford under siege. This meant the city was murderously overcrowded because it was full of soldiers and students on top of the usual residents. The conditions in the city grew so bad that people resorted to eating candles and defecating behind doorways, inside fireplaces and even chimney pots, which is not what you want coming down your chimney at Christmas. The siege held out for three months before peace was negotiated.


Charles was arrested by Parliament, marking the end of what historians call the First English Civil War. This was a long conflict with two distinct parts, or sometimes three depending on which hair-raising historian you speak to. Historians tend to be the sort of fun-loving folk who adore contemplating into the long hours of the night the optimal way to chop up the past into neat segments.


The Wars of the Roses had little actual effect on the general populace because it was, in essence, a large-scale noble family feud. The Civil War, however, was ideological in nature and it sowed the seeds of dissent into the minds of every yeoman, peasant and fishwife. As a result, so many factions formed that you would be forgiven for thinking the entire country had turned into a girls’ boarding school. There were, of course, the Cavaliers and Roundheads, also known as Royalists and Parliamentarians, respectively, but then there were the Levellers. Levellers believed in equal rights for all, equality of law and extended but not universal suffrage, because that would be too level. The Levellers were populists who thought that all men should own land and be able to farm upon it, but of course, every decent populist faction needs an internal schism.


In 1649 Gerrard Winstanley and fourteen others created a separatist movement called the ‘True Levellers’, and to prove just how different they were from the Levellers they protested by planting carrots. Because nothing quite puts it to the enemy like a spot of considered small-scale agriculture. Thus they gained the name ‘The Diggers’. They would farm illegally on common land to demonstrate their belief that there was an inalienable relationship between man and nature and no sovereign can dictate where a man is permitted to farm. ‘True freedom lies where a man receives his nourishment and preservation, and that is in the use of the earth,’ so said Gerrard Winstanley.


Then there were the Ranters, who were just out for a good time and sought to take advantage of the chaos of war. They had little regard for the law of the land and a Ranter’s favourite day out was a butt-crackingly fun naked protest to demonstrate their disregard for earthly goods, followed up by a healthy dose of sexual immorality. Lastly were the Clubmen, everyday people who were sick to their back teeth of all the blasted factions causing endless civil unrest, so they formed yet another faction. Clubmen simply wanted no part in the Civil War. They took up arms and tried to defend their family, home and local area from the violent hordes.


The war broke down family ties as people’s distinct ideologies forced them to join different sides. A man could be a Roundhead, while his sister was a Ranter and their neighbour a Digger. This made social gatherings tremendously awkward, especially when your Ranter sister disrobed at the dining table. The social fabric of the realm had been ideologically torn apart, violently and irreparably.


With the first part of the war over and the country left in tatters, now was a time for reflection. Senior members of the New Model Army formed the Putney Debates, a group who met regularly in the first two weeks of November 1647. The debates were seminal, as this was the first time in England that those in power met with everyday men to peacefully discuss how that very realm should operate and precisely what liberties each man, woman and child should enjoy. The debates were held at St Mary’s Church, which shows just how serious the talks were, because a church doesn’t serve alcohol. There were members of all factions present, and they all desired a different outcome. The radicals wanted suffrage for all manhood, but not women, of course. The seventeenth century wasn’t quite ready for that yet. There was talk of what we would today describe as ‘inalienable rights’ for all Englishmen – equality before the law and freedom for all. Thomas Rainsborough notably said:


 


For really I think that the poorest hee that is in England hath a life to live, as the greatest hee; and therefore truly, Sr, I think itt clear, that every Man that is to live under a Government ought first by his own Consent to put himself under that Government; and I do think that the poorest man in England is not at all bound in a strict sense to that Government that he hath not had a voice to put Himself under.


 


This was remarkably iconoclastic for a society still dragging its heels out of feudalism. However, none of the grand ideas from the Putney Debates were implemented as they broke up before any significant progress was made. Yet the fact that they happened at all, in the 1640s no less, shows that this was a nation eager for change.


Moves towards an amicable peace were useless so long as a tyrannical king still roamed the land; as the Earl of Manchester put it so eloquently in Parliament: ‘If we beat the King ninety and nine times yet he is king still, and so will his posterity be after him; but if the King beat us once, we shall be all hanged, and our posterity be made slaves.’ And so, a second civil war was inevitable. 


What also didn’t help to keep the peace was the fact that Charles was busy scheming and dreaming any possible means to claw back power. He secretly negotiated a treaty with the Scots called ‘The Engagement’, in which the Scots would invade England on his behalf and restore him to the throne. In return, Charles would implement their desired Presbyterian Church in England for an experimental three-year period. But it was no good; at the deciding Battle of Preston in August 1648, the New Model Army, now under Cromwell’s sole command, obliterated the Royalists and their new Scottish allies, putting a swift end to the short Second English Civil War.


When Parliament inevitably found out about Charles’s secret dealings they decreed that inviting foreign powers to waltz into one’s own country to overthrow Parliament could be nothing but an act of treason. Which is interesting, because treason was typically associated with overthrowing a king; after all, the king was considered ‘the state’. That the king himself could be accused of treason was a paradoxical shift, strongly indicating that, for the first time, power in England was flowing away from the monarchy and towards Parliament. It also marked an epoch when nations ceased being monarchical kingdoms and transformed into nation-states. This was the birth of early nationalism, a trend that France would follow with its revolution over 130 years later.


Despite Charles’s transgressions, those in England who wanted to see the king overthrown or possibly killed were still a small minority. Indeed, it’s believed there was only a handful in the entire realm who could have happily killed their own king. But this mattered little, because Cromwell, now the most powerful man in England, was among them. 


Cromwell’s change of mind was only a recent development. Sure, he always desired greater powers for Parliament, but committing treason against a reigning monarch – worse, seeing him executed – was never his intention. No, like Wat Tyler, Cromwell had always been that gentle sort of rebel who only wished to slaughter everyone around the king and thousands of his men. At the Putney Debates Cromwell fervently lashed out at anyone who suggested the merest notion of deposing the king. However, the new revelation of Charles’s Scottish treachery was a sin too dire to forgive, especially treachery against the country which Cromwell loved so dearly. He now saw the removal of Charles as the only way forward towards a new realm embodying prosperity and progress.


The majority of Parliament, however, continued to countenance Charles as their king. But in December Thomas Pride, a colonel of the New Model Army, saw to fixing this issue: he marched troops into the Palace of Westminster and forcibly removed 146 members from the parliamentary chamber, arrested forty-five others and only allowed seventy-five to enter – those who were sympathetic to the army’s cause. This event has come to be known as ‘Pride’s Purge’. The new vastly reduced parliament was the ‘Rump Parliament’, which had an unfortunate side effect, as diarist Samuel Pepys noted: ‘Boys do now cry, “Kiss my Parliament,” instead of “Kiss my rump.”’


The Rump Parliament’s first call of duty was to see the removal of their own living threat to power. A high court of justice was immediately held to charge Charles with treason, and he was found guilty by fifty-nine commissioners. Some were unwilling to sign the king’s death warrant, but Cromwell manically shouted at them to sign the document, and in some cases forced their hand to the paper – because that’s what a democratic parliamentary system is all about.


On 30 January 1649, wearing two shirts to abate the bitter winter frost so he would not be seen to shiver and show any weakness, Charles was marched in front of the Banqueting House at the Palace of Westminster and beheaded. As one chronicler who was present at the execution wrote: ‘There was such a groan by the thousands then present as I never heard before and desire I may never hear again.’


For the first and only time, England was now a commonwealth, ruled by Parliament. But there was much for the new regime to deal with and now began a period that some historians refer to as the Third English Civil War. Irish Confederate Catholics duly allied with English Royalists in Ireland to bolster their numbers. Cromwell’s response to the Irish rebels involved some of his most atrocious acts, which have caused the most criticism of his character ever since, specifically the Siege of Drogheda in September 1649 where Cromwell’s men killed 3,500 people after the town had been captured, of whom hundreds were mere civilians.


In an attempt to justify his actions at Drogheda Cromwell wrote:


 


I am persuaded that this is a righteous judgment of God upon these barbarous wretches, who have imbrued their hands in so much innocent blood; and that it will tend to prevent the effusion of blood for the future. Which are the satisfactory grounds to such actions, which otherwise cannot but work remorse and regret.


 


These bloody actions would soon be repeated at the Sack of Wexford the following month. While Cromwell was apparently negotiating terms of surrender with the besieged, a number of his soldiers forced their way into the town. There they killed 2,000 Irish soldiers and approximately 1,500 civilians, then they burnt large parts of the town to the ground. 


Although Cromwell’s actions in Ireland still cast ripples of hatred to this day, the massacre of armed men and civilians once a besieged town had been captured was in many ways typical of the time, especially during the recent Thirty Years’ War. In Cromwell’s eyes, they were not killing civilians, they were killing Papists, which, to the good Protestant nation of England, were considered a scourge upon the land. So, providing they worshipped an Italian pensioner in a small red cap instead of a king, they were justifiable targets.


Following Cromwell’s Irish campaign he was compelled to suppress more Royalist rebels in Scotland between 1650 and 1651. Charles’s son Charles II was now leading the Royalist forces, most of whom were Scottish. He was continuing the fight to restore the monarchy that his father had lost his head over. The entire English Civil War came to a bloody climax in what was its last battle on 3 September 1651 at Worcester. The Parliamentarian forces were 28,000 strong, the Royalists stood at 16,000 men. The more experienced New Model Army crushed the Royalists and suffered only a few hundred casualties, whereas 3,000 Royalists lay dead on the battlefield; 8,000 were captured and sent to colonies in New England and the West Indies under indentured servitude. Cromwell probably liked the idea of them being halfway across the world planting marrows, where they couldn’t cause him any more grief.


Charles II, however, escaped the battle and proceeded to have a merry adventure around the English countryside. A bounty of £1,000 was announced for anyone who could provide information regarding his whereabouts; the death penalty was put on the head of anyone attempting to conceal him. Charles found sanctuary at Boscobel House in Shropshire, owned by a sympathetic Catholic family who dressed him up as a farm labourer so he would be less conspicuous. The family also taught him how to speak like a commoner and walk like a labourer. After news spread that Roundhead troops were searching the woodlands around Boscobel House, Charles was advised to hide in a large oak tree in the garden, from where he would have a great vantage point of the soldiers’ movements and should be obscured by the tree’s large canopy. Sure enough, Charles climbed up the oak tree and hid in it all day, watching the armed soldiers below who were looking for him. Today the descendant of the tree that stands on the same spot is called the Royal Oak. Charles’s day spent up the Royal Oak has been memorialised through the centuries in pub names across Britain; today there are over 430 of them.


That evening Charles returned to the house, but as the Roundhead armies continued to search the nearby area it was clear he was no longer safe. The frightened young monarch was moved on to the nearby Moseley Hall where he was stuffed into a priest hole when parliamentary troops unexpectedly knocked on the door. This was a clear sign to move on, so just after midnight, Charles was taken to Bentley Hall near Walsall. Charles would have to move around other houses of Royalist sympathisers for over a month. Despite many near misses with the authorities, the young king eventually tiptoed his way to Shoreham-by-Sea. Now only the Channel separated him from relative freedom in France. Charles booked passage on a ship called the Surprise for £80, but once the captain discovered who his passenger was he was the one to give Charles a surprise, demanding an extra £200 as danger money. At 2 a.m. on 15 October Charles boarded the Surprise and landed at Le Havre in France a few hours later. Only two hours after they had left England troops arrived in Shoreham to arrest Charles – that’s how close they were on his tail.


After the Scottish campaign, Cromwell returned to a divided parliament. Squabbling and backstabbing dominated every parliamentary session. You see, nothing unites a large group of people of diverse thought like a single figurehead or institution to either rally for or against, but now their monarch was gone. Previously the most powerful men in England could always be unified by a shared love of a good king or a common hatred of a tyrannical monarch. This is why a parliament without a leader could never and has never worked. When parliament has the autonomy to pass its own laws, a ruler need not be strong or wise, they simply need to be. So, in 1651, when Cromwell found that the parliament which he had beheaded a king to give power to had been reduced to a squabbling playground of infighting, he was furious.


On 20 April 1653, he marched forty musketeers into the parliamentary chamber at Whitehall and unleashed his anger upon them:


 


Ye are a factious crew, and enemies to all good government; ye are a pack of mercenary wretches, and would like Esau sell your country for a mess of pottage, and like Judas betray your God for a few pieces of money . . . Ye have no more religion than my horse; gold is your God . . . Ye sordid prostitutes have you not defil’d this sacred place, and turn’d the Lord’s temple into a den of thieves, by your immoral principles and wicked practices? Ye are grown intolerably odious to the whole nation.


 


Whether or not Parliament was a gang of pottageloving prostitutes was up for debate, but these were strong words nonetheless. He then threw the mace, the symbol of Parliament’s divine power, from its perch upon the central table onto the floor. ‘Take away that shining bauble there, and lock up the doors. In the name of God, go!’ Cromwell scolded. Yet another parliament had been well and truly dissolved; the Rump Parliament had had its very own arse handed to it. Cromwell formed the Saints Parliament, consisting only of men whom he deemed religiously moral. Elsewhere, however, it was pejoratively nicknamed the Barebones Parliament, because there were so few members left.


Cromwell rightly identified that no parliament could function without a figurehead and thus the Commons revived the ancient title of Lord Protector, under which Cromwell was sworn in on 16 December 1653. He made sure to wear all black clothing to prove that this was in no way, not even slightly, a coronation of a new monarch. Following this not-coronation, Cromwell proved his point even further that he was definitely not a king by behaving exactly like a king. Kings traditionally signed their names followed by a capital R, short for Rex, the Latin for ‘king’; Cromwell signed his name ‘Oliver P’, P shorthand for ‘Protector’. Also, Cromwell’s totally-not-subjects began referring to him as ‘your highness’. He had the power to form and dissolve parliament at will, which was the very issue over which the entire civil war had erupted in the first place.


During the interregnum in which England became a commonwealth for eleven years under the pseudo sovereignty of Cromwell, the nation was purged of acts deemed sinful under Puritan ideals. Gambling was banned, and so was maypole dancing, which had a reputation for drunken revelry. Theatres were closed down too; opera was allowed, however, because it was seen as more virtuous. Yes, somehow a barrel-shaped soprano wailing pleases God tremendously, but a man re-enacting a love scene really gets his goat. Cromwell also banned pies – pies, ladies and gentlemen! That’s a step too far. All these pursuits of pleasure were contradictory to the austere Puritan mandate. Worst of all, Christmas was banned in England because it embodied hedonistic fun. Puritanism viewed pleasures such as eating mince pies, carol singing, feasting and exchanging gifts equal to channelling Lucifer himself. This loss of Christmas was lamented in a popular Royalist ballad:


 


To conclude, I’ll tell you news that’s right,


Christmas was killed at Naseby fight:


Charity was slain at that same time,


Jack Tell-truth too, a friend of mine,


Likewise then did die, roast beef and shred pie,


Pig, Goose and Capon no quarter found.


Yet let’s be content, and the times lament,


you see the world turned upside down


 


Thankfully for mince pies and humanity, these dark times would soon pass, and Cromwell could finally stop pretending that he wasn’t a king because in 1658 he died from malaria. The title of Lord Protector passed to his son Richard, which of course in no way resembled a hereditary monarchy. But the young Richard’s reign was marred from the very start because nobody liked him. Unlike his father, Richard had no support among the army or in Parliament.


Parliament fell into dispute, and it seemed that civil war may rear its ugly head once more. A politician called George Monck, now a captain of the New Model Army, marched on London and readmitted to the chamber all the members of the Long Parliament who had been excluded during Pride’s Purge. The new Convention Parliament assembled in April 1660, and soon afterwards it enacted the Declaration of Breda, which restored Charles II to the English throne. In exchange, the new monarch promised a pardon for all war crimes committed during the civil wars, except for fifty of Cromwell’s closest supporters, who were the main proponents of his father’s execution. Their crime was simply too reprehensible for Charles to forgive. Many of them were hung, drawn and quartered, and Oliver Cromwell’s body was disinterred and posthumously decapitated to show the nation just how unspeakably naughty it was to kill a king.


Cromwell’s head remained lodged upon a spike for twenty years until a violent storm snapped it, throwing the head to the ground. A guard stationed nearby picked it up and hid it inside his chimney. A large reward was offered for retrieving the missing head but only on his deathbed did the guard reveal its location. Over the following centuries it passed between museums and collectors until it was acquired, in 1960, by Cambridge University’s Sidney Sussex College, where Cromwell had been a student. It was buried in a secret location somewhere nearby.





A Man Sets His Beard on Fire and Robs the Spanish


UNBELIEVABLY, THE BRITISH didn’t wake up one morning and think, I feel like starting a global empire. No, what actually happened was a few British folk, such as the aforementioned Francis Drake and the indomitable Henry Morgan, woke up and thought I’m going to live on a wooden ship and stab people in the face. While others awoke thinking I shall sail the world’s most dangerous ocean to steal shiny metals from savage jungle dwellers. In the latter the British were unsuccessful; but they became the unrivalled masters at stabbing people in the face, more commonly known as piracy. What’s interesting, though, is that it was out of these two pursuits, but mainly piracy, that history’s largest empire was inadvertently born.


A few British parties, such as Sir Walter Raleigh, spent over a month at sea crossing the Atlantic to attempt to find these overflowing coffers of gold that had made the Spanish so wealthy. However, upon arrival, all that greeted them was Spanish aggression. Raleigh also found that the stories of a ‘city of gold’, the fabled El Dorado, were vastly exaggerated, possibly even fabricated. The Spaniards already possessed an immovable grip on the region, with strongholds all over the Gulf of Mexico. Looting and raiding for gold and other treasure also happened to be the national pastime of the Spanish Empire. Attempting to raze the same lands which the Spanish had already set up camp in and sometimes heavily fortified proved unfruitful for the British. Sir Walter Raleigh returned from South America with just two pitiful ingots of gold.


It seemed the British required a fresh approach. The result was a devastatingly effective realisation: ‘If we can’t beat the Spanish on their own turf, we can at least try to beat them at sea.’ After all, all those South American treasures were slowly but surely flowing back to one location: Spain. And beat them at sea they did. Robbing the Spanish became something of an English national sport, and they had a fantastic innings. Repeatedly and formulaically boarding, capturing and relieving Spanish fleets of their stolen South American gold and jewels became a royally endorsed strategy.


But it didn’t take long for the English establishment to notice something. There already existed a group of Welsh, Scottish and English men, skirting the fringes of society, who sailed the high seas on the lookout for Spanish treasure fleets and relieved them of their heavy burden by force. These men were of course pirates, known then as buccaneers. Their name comes from their frequent use of a wooden spit, called a buccan, to roast meats. Naturally, the British did what they do best; when people were taking care of matters more effectively than themselves, they recruited them.


The British government systematically hired, endorsed and funded the most effective buccaneers, now under a royal warrant from Queen Elizabeth I, to pillage and plunder as much Spanish gold as possible, both on the high seas and throughout the various South American Spanish strongholds, then bring it back to England. The buccaneers had become privateers. In doing this, the British had uncovered an effective linguistic trick: first, you take a group of people performing immoral acts, whom society labels as ‘criminals’. You then give their profession a more formal, seemingly respectable title, slap on a royal warrant and somehow, their activities miraculously become a moral, almost noble endeavour. The pirates-come-privateers were no longer stealing for themselves to do selfish things like feeding their families, rather they were now stealing for queen and country so Elizabeth and her court could feed themselves, and Jesus preferred that.


During the period of continuous war with Spain, 1585–1604, well over one hundred ships per year departed from British waters, crossing the Atlantic to steal from the Spanish. During this period, the British were both the most prolific and most successful pirates in the world. The privateers’ activities netted a profit for Britain of over £200,000 per year (£58 million today). Most who later turned to full-on piracy were privateers gone off the rails, after realising they could keep a greater cut of their profits going independent from the crown. Other pirates were indentured labourers who had escaped their work on the sugar plantations, or escaped prisoners facing the death penalty. Basically, pirates were people below the lowest rung of society; in going into piracy, they often had nothing to lose, and that made them incredibly dangerous individuals.


One of the most successful buccaneers-come-privateers was Sir Henry Morgan. A mysterious Welshman, Morgan relished nothing more than a good murderous raid on Spanish treasure ports and their fleets. He famously pillaged and lifted gold all the way from the Spanish city of Granada to Port-au-Prince and Portobelo, today in Haiti and Panama, respectively. But Morgan did something unusual with his stolen silver, gold and newly found wealth. Unlike most privateers who brought their wealth back to England and bought large properties in leafy, genteel areas, Morgan bought up vast swathes of land in Jamaica and turned them into plantations, 836 acres to be precise.


Perhaps Morgan was aware of the incredible potential of one particular crop: sugar cane. Although it didn’t occur to him then, in funding some of the first British sugar plantations, Morgan had sowed the seeds of empire. The British began by stealing gold but quickly evolved to become global traders of sugar, a surprisingly more profitable venture than looting treasure. This shift was the major differentiator between the foundations on the which the British Empire would be built and all previous empires, notably that of Spain. That foundation was trade, underpinned by economy and diplomacy, albeit usually of the gunboat variety.


The Spanish Empire, under the monarchy of Philip III, who ruled from 1598 to 1621, was passionately concerned with pillaging South America. Through all this, the Spanish became blinded by gold. Unlike the British, and the Dutch before them, Spain failed to adapt in time to a new world driven by trade. As the Spanish quickly came to realise, there is only so much gold one can plunder. And when that runs out, so too does imperial growth.


The reason Sir Henry Morgan’s new land acquisitions were so instrumental in the rise of the British Empire was due to a monumental shift in the way folk back in Britain were consuming goods. Until the eighteenth century, there had never been, in any kingdom or nation, the infrastructure or economic foundations for a mass-consumerist society. Certainly throughout Europe, except for the Dutch Republic, feudalism reigned supreme. The wealthy were tiny in number, mostly royalty and noblemen. The rest of society were either impoverished or made do. Although there was a middle class it was small, and upwards social mobility was severely limited. But in the eighteenth century this all changed, first in Britain and the Dutch Republic, from where it spread. So next time you buy quail eggs, remember you owe it all to a murderous Welsh agriculturist.


The buccaneers’ favourite hideout was Tortuga, a small island that is part of modern-day Haiti. Initially settled by the Spanish in 1492, throughout the seventeenth century this weary outpost changed hands between the Spanish, French, English and Dutch. But whoever may have been the island’s master it always remained a den of iniquity for buccaneers, an outpost and for many a home. In the 1670s, the English and French began to clamp down on buccaneering, and the entire nefarious industry was on the decline. But then the ambitious Welsh privateer Henry Morgan showed up and hired most of his crew from Tortuga, seeking experienced buccaneers from the deepest shadows of this pirate paradise.


Privateers preferred the trading port of Port Royal, Jamaica’s largest settlement, as their pirate haven, and used it as a forward base from which to launch their devastating attacks on Spanish merchant vessels. Since privateers’ activities were royally sanctioned, they didn’t need to hide from the British redcoats swarming the port, which was fast becoming an imperial fortress. 


Morgan wasn’t the only recruiter around these parts. Tortuga and Port Royal were both pirate recruiting grounds, not to mention places for privateers and pirates alike to drink, party, gamble and fight. One particular priest visiting Port Royal was so disgusted by what he found that he re-embarked the ship which brought him and headed straight back to England that very same day. He recounted: ‘This town is the Sodom of the New World and since the majority of its population consists of pirates, cutthroats, whores and some of the vilest persons in the whole of the world, I felt my permanence there was of no use and I could better preach the Word of God elsewhere among a better sort of folk.’ I swear that I’ve heard foreign tourists proclaiming the exact same upon arriving in Blackpool.


Contrary to Hollywood’s portrayal, most pirates, especially during the buccaneering period (1650–80), didn’t use large galleons. They preferred smaller, faster and more agile ships. But there was one particular transient stalker of seas who broke the pirate’s code of fast, small and light ships. His rambunctious and unpredictable attitude cemented his name in history: Blackbeard. His Christian name was Edward Teach, or possibly Edward Thatch, but he was about as Christian as 2-for-1 steak Fridays at Wetherspoons. This vagrant from Bristol was one of the most feared names upon the high seas. His early life is shrouded in mystery and legend, but it’s thought he was a sailor on a privateer ship during Queen Anne’s War (1702–13) against French colonists in North America.


With privateering on the decline after the war, like many sailors, Teach couldn’t find work, so he took to piracy and joined the crew of another English pirate, Captain Benjamin Hornigold. The legend of Blackbeard was born. After Hornigold retired, leaving Blackbeard to make his own way, he managed to commandeer a large French merchant vessel called La Concorde. Blackbeard loaded it up with forty cannons and renamed it Queen Anne’s Revenge. Atop the mast of Blackbeard’s mighty new warship flew a flag that spelt death for any souls who saw it upon the horizon; it was black and featured a horned skeleton thrusting a spear into a heart. 


Queen Anne’s Revenge was one of the largest and most powerful warships in the Caribbean. Its captain terrorised the seas for two years, raking in a fortune – two uninterrupted years of profitable piracy was unusual and constituted a successful career. This brutal bastard from Bristol was an absolute master of fear; unlike most drunken vagabonds who took to piracy, Blackbeard was highly intelligent, and he understood the human condition better than most. His primary weapons were intimidation and dread. He would stick two fuses in his big black beard (hence the name) and set them alight before attacking another ship. This would emit a cloud of smoke that would engulf his face. With his large piercing eyes penetrating through the smoke like the devil himself and his big scruffy beard it was easy to see why most ships chose to surrender the moment they clapped eyes on him. 


The British eventually grew tired of Blackbeard’s escapades and sent out a Royal Navy fleet to capture him, dead or alive. He met his end like a true pirate, outnumbered and killed while fighting to the bitter end. The British sailed back with Blackbeard’s head mounted at the tip of the ship’s bowsprit. This served as a visceral and visible epitaph to the end of the Golden Age of Piracy.






1688–1727 REVOLUTION
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James II Runs Away from a Dutchman With Fabulous Hair


AFTER CHARLES II’S SUDDEN DEATH from an apoplectic fit on 6 February 1685, aged fifty-four, yet another succession crisis hit the English monarchy. Charles had no legitimate heirs so his brother King James VII of Scotland was nominated as his successor, becoming James II of England. But this posed a problem to a deeply entrenched Protestant nation because James had papal sympathies. He admired and was jealous of the absolute monarchy and the Catholic state of France ruled by his cousin Louis XIV, the Sun King. James indeed attempted to model his rule on Louis’. But for the now relatively free and increasingly liberal Protestant nation, this path was antithetical to the desires of its people, most of whom feared a return to either Catholicism or absolute monarchy.


The exclusion crisis during Charles II’s reign attempted to exclude James from the succession because of his Catholicism. It was clearly unsuccessful, but it split Parliament and much of the country into two factions, Whigs and Tories. Etymologically, ‘Tory’ began as an insult, from the Irish word ‘tóraidhe’ meaning ‘outlaw’ or ‘highwayman’; it was used as a derogatory nickname for Catholic supporters of James, but it was used so often they adopted it as their party’s official title. I think they secretly liked it.


Tories supported the king but were not Catholic, so even for the Tories James’s Papist views and sympathies with Louis XIV posed an issue. The Whigs, however, were strongly and vocally opposed to increased power for the monarchy. However, they were not anti-monarchy; the Whigs supported a constitutional monarchy, in which the monarch exercises power within the framework of a written constitution. Under such a regime, the legislative power lies with an elected parliament.


At its core, the Whig movement had ideals of increased liberties. But as we all learn in school, liberty is best achieved through extreme acts of premeditated violence. The Whigs spent the best part of the early eighteenth century inventing the most creative ‘Dick Dastardly’ ways to murder innocent Tory politicians and royal figures. Notably, the ‘Screw Plot’ was a Whig conspiracy which aimed to murder Queen Anne in 1708. In St Paul’s Cathedral, loose screws were discovered in a roof beam that supported a heavy chandelier, directly above the queen’s designated seating area, though later evidence emerged which suggested it may have just been the result of shoddy, but entirely innocent, construction work. However, the ‘Bandbox Plot’ in 1712 was most definitely the result of malign Whiggish intentions. Inside a hat box delivered to Robert Harley, the Lord Treasurer, conspirators had tied three loaded pistols to the lid and constructed a system of wires so when the hat box was opened, they would fire. Luckily, on arrival, a suspicious external wire was noticed before Harley could open it; when the string was cut from the outside it was safely defused.


As the nation grew increasingly dissatisfied with James’s rule, the Duke of Monmouth assembled a small army of less than 4,000 and attempted to overthrow the king, but it failed miserably. James’s royal army quashed Monmouth’s men with ease at the Battle of Sedgemoor on 6 July 1685. Violence subsided for some time until the worst happened – in 1687, James’s wife, Mary of Modena, finally had a son, James Francis Edward Stuart. James already had two daughters, Mary and Anne, from his first marriage to Anne Hyde. Despite James being Roman Catholic, both Mary and Anne had been raised as Anglicans at the request of their uncle Charles II – so as long as the two daughters were in the direct line of succession the future of England would be Protestant, not Catholic. The birth of a new male heir, however, who would most definitely be raised Roman Catholic, changed all that. Any hopes of an idolatry-free monarchy had disappeared with Charles’s death three years earlier – he was no longer around to slap silly ideas of Catholic babies out of James’s mind. A Catholic succession was now the most likely outcome, which for most of the population was like waking up to find your arms have fallen off: it’s not ideal, but it’s also not the end of the world.


Mary and Anne were displeased; not only had they both been bumped down the line of succession but they were both Anglican, and so they too abhorred the notion of a Catholic heir. They attempted to derail the very succession itself by spreading a rumour worthy of a juicy novel. The tale, likely fabricated, soon spread around James’s opposition that Mary of Modena had in fact given birth to a stillborn and that an unknown baby had been stolen from another mother and smuggled in a warming pan into the Queen’s bedchamber by a maid.


I really doubt a newborn baby could fit in a warming pan and what if it was mistakenly shoved into the fire by another maid out of the loop? What about the seventy witnesses at the birth? Yes, royal births were always a very public spectacle; typically, half the damn court was invited into the birthing chamber. However, none of these trivial details was of consequence to an ambitious prince with a very singular-hued wardrobe just across the Channel. The Dutch stadtholder, or leader, and fervent Protestant William of Orange also had his doubts about Mary’s offspring, preferring the warming-pan story and freely perpetuating it throughout the Low Countries. Even if he suspected its credibility, it didn’t matter since it conveniently undermined the legitimacy of the succession of the newborn James, soon to be a staunch Catholic (he was also ticked off because the infant had robbed his future claim to England). In 1677 William had been married to James’s eldest daughter, Mary, the previous successor to the English throne. The biggest reason for the union was to stick it in the face of Catholic France – not that Louis XIV cared; he was too busy orchestrating shrubberies and orange trees during his grand transformation of the Château de Versailles.


With the future of the Church of England now under threat from a toddler with a cross, William saw it as his personal mission to liberate England from the bleak path it was heading down. Luckily for William, most in England felt the same way. A secret coalition of English nobles came together as the Immortal Seven and wrote a letter to William:


 


We have great reason to believe, we shall be every day in a worse condition than we are, and less able to defend ourselves, and therefore we do earnestly wish we might be so happy as to find a remedy before it be too late for us to contribute to our own deliverance . . . the people are so generally dissatisfied with the present conduct of the government, in relation to their religion, liberties and properties (all which have been greatly invaded), and they are in such expectation of their prospects being daily worse, that your Highness may be assured, there are nineteen parts of twenty of the people throughout the kingdom who are desirous of a change; and who, we believe, would willingly contribute to it, if they had such a protection to countenance their rising, as would secure them from being destroyed.


 


Nineteen people out of every twenty may have been stretching the truth somewhat, not to mention weirdly specific, but it caught the attention of William, who was in The Hague just waiting for tangible support from within England for his invasion. This was it. In England the public perception of William was almost universally positive. He had placed insurgents throughout the country who had been running a propaganda campaign on his behalf via distribution of pamphlets. These documents portrayed William as the very antithesis of typical Stuart monarchs, with their popery and debauchery. Before long the population viewed William as a Dutch demigod, a latter-day Charlemagne, only with more fabulous hair.


William assembled one of the largest armadas known to date: 40,000 men and 463 ships, a mighty naval force twice the size of the Spanish Armada of 1588. Was this really a peaceful takeover by invitation of Parliament or had the entire nation been hoodwinked by fancy Flemish brochures into opening the gates to an almighty and violent invasion? In 1688 William’s army set sail for England, but bad weather and westerly winds prevented a successful voyage across the Channel. James thought this was an act of God, protecting his realm against Protestant invaders, but then the winds did a one-eighty and blew strongly from the east, which put a sizeable Protestant-shaped spanner in James’s divine theory. William was finally able to land successfully in Torbay on 5 November and marched towards Exeter.


William’s forces were due to meet James’s on Salisbury Plain but before any blood could be shed James had a nervous breakdown and decided it would be best if he ran away . . . all the way to France. Simply abandoning his own people, he took his wife and hopped over the Channel, throwing the Great Seal of the Realm in the Thames on his way, as no lawful Parliament could be summoned without it. Parliament was impeded by this act of resistance for roughly five minutes until they used the seal’s matrix to forge a new one.


Parliament convened to find a solution to the interregnum-sans-monarch the country now found itself in. The Tories suggested William become regent, but he hadn’t just launched the largest military invasion of his career to be farmed off with the regency; he demanded a full-blown coronation with all the trimmings. Since Parliament wasn’t prepared to argue with the man who had just showed up with an armada large enough to take China and then some, they agreed. But a unique compromise was reached: England would be ruled by a dual monarchy. On 13 February 1689, Parliament passed the Declaration of Right, which decreed that by fleeing England James had given up all rights to his monarchy and had effectively abdicated himself. When the head of state buggers off to the Continent when the going gets a little tough, it’s difficult to argue with this logic. The new joint monarchs were crowned together at Westminster Abbey on 11 April 1689 to become King William III and Queen Mary II of England, Scotland and Ireland.


The Glorious Revolution, as it became known, was more than a mostly bloodless, diplomatic takeover. It was the very birth of modern Britain. William didn’t just bring soused herring with him, he introduced Britain to an entire treasure trove of Dutch knowledge and institutions that seeped through the realm and overhauled Britain militarily and economically, transforming the British Isles from a backwater on the edge of Europe to the centre of the world (I’ll discuss how this transformation took place in greater detail in a later chapter).


Parliament was first to embrace the opportunity to reinforce and reform the foundations of the realm that this daring Dutchman delivered. The Whigs and Tories finally put their differences aside and united to draw up the Bill of Rights 1689, superseded by the Act of Settlement in 1701 which laid the foundation for a limited constitutional monarchy and subdued the rights of the new king and queen and all their successors since. The monarch could no longer raise taxes or have a standing army without Parliament’s approval. 


The Bill of Rights finally put its foot down on a long-held issue that had stalked and subverted British liberties since the Reformation: Catholic princes. It definitively barred Roman Catholics from becoming King or Queen of England. As the bill so obstinately puts it: ‘it hath been found by experience that it is inconsistent with the safety and welfare of this Protestant kingdom to be governed by a papist prince’. Ever since there has never been another Catholic English monarch and neither has any king or queen since married a Catholic. Later, the Royal Marriages Act 1772 doubled down by expressly forbidding all in the line of succession from marrying a Catholic. Recently, however, the Succession of the Crown Act 2013 relaxed this law. Future monarchs may now, once again, marry Catholics.


Despite throwing his royal seal out the pram, James hadn’t given up yet, nor had his supporters, who called themselves Jacobites, which sounds exotic until you learn it originates from the Latin ‘Jacobus’ meaning ‘James’ – they were a wildly creative bunch. Team James made their first attempt to reinstate him on the English throne in the Jacobite rising of 1689, which was defeated at the Battle of Dunkeld on 21 August 1689. But they didn’t give up that easily, and neither did James. In one last stab at taking his realm back he arrived in Ireland accompanied by Jacobites and French troops supplied by Louis XIV. They met William’s army at the River Boyne near the Irish town of Drogheda. It was no good; William’s men held their ground. Considering there were 50,000 soldiers at the battle there was an unusually small number of casualties: only 2,000 by the end of the day, 1,500 of them on James’s side.


To commemorate William of Orange’s victory over James II a masonic-style secret fraternity called the Orange Order was established in 1795. The group is still very active today, and their members, called ‘Orange Men’, are all Protestants and even reject new members who are married to a Catholic. The Orange Order is highly controversial, especially in Northern Ireland, the Republic of Ireland and parts of Scotland. They hold marches across the UK every year through city centres, wearing bright orange sashes and waving orange flags, in honour of the man they view as the Protestant hero who saved England from Catholic control: William of Orange. These marches have often ended in violence and riots, especially when conducted in heavily Catholic parts of Ireland.


Following defeat at the Battle of the Boyne, James once more exiled himself in France under the protection of Louis; this time he would remain there for the rest of his life. He may have lost his kingdom, but he enjoyed a cushy retirement with his wife at the splendid royal chateau of Saint-Germain-en-Laye. Meanwhile, William and Mary were having trouble with smells. The stench of the Thames next to their residence at Whitehall was interfering with William’s asthma, and Mary wasn’t fond of the hustle and bustle of central London. They found a charming Jacobean mansion in the suburbs and extensively refurbished and extended it to become Kensington Palace. And so it seems everyone lived happily ever after . . . except for James – he wasn’t happy. And come to think of it neither were William and Mary because she contracted smallpox in 1694 and died, which left William distraught. Then in 1702, William caught pneumonia and followed his wife to the grave.


Since William and Mary had no surviving children, James II’s daughter, Anne, succeeded him to the throne, ruling until her death in 1714 made her unfit to continue in the role. She was plagued by illness her entire life and grew obese in her final years. She was the last monarch of the House of Stuart.


Though her reign was brief, Anne left England, Scotland and Wales with their greatest legacy: Great Britain itself. Though James attempted to unify England and Scotland with the Union of England and Scotland Act of 1603, this, and all similar proposals that followed, fell flat on their faces. The two great nations would not be iconically joined until 1707 by the Acts of Union. Talks began at the Cockpit, a chamber in the Palace of Whitehall that was used for cockfights during the Jacobean period. Each country appointed thirty-one commissioners to discuss both the potential of a union and precisely how such a union would operate. Most were in favour of union, especially the Scottish. After only a few days of deliberations, it was decided that under the treaty the German Hanoverian dynasty would succeed the throne after Anne, the first such monarch being George I of Great Britain. Scotland was granted access to the colonial markets, which it had coveted for some time. Britain as a place, and a concept has always existed. The word is an adaptation of Pritanıˉ, one of the oldest names for the island, which itself is derived from the Celtic word ‘Pretani’, meaning ‘painted ones’ or ‘tattooed folk’; it was named after the Picts – ancient Celtic natives of Scotland who painted themselves using woad plants. But, in 1707 Great Britain was born.





A Woman Does Not Piss on the Great Fire of London


IN 1665 LONDON WAS HIT BY THE last large-scale bout of Black Death. It was called the ‘Great Plague’, not because it was larger than the fourteenth-century epidemic, but because it was the bubonic plague’s last bloody hurrah in England. London rivalled Paris as the largest city in Western Europe with a burgeoning and dense population of roughly half a million living in a squalid warren of winding, narrow alleyways. There were thousands of tenement houses, four storeys high, each one capable of housing many families. The conditions were ideal for pestilence to devour the city. As many as 100,000 fragile lives were swallowed by the unstoppable scourge.


As 1666 crawled into battered consciousness and the Great Plague finally abated, the very last thing London needed was yet another round of widespread devastation. So, on Sunday 2 September, when a fire broke out at Thomas Farriner’s bakery in Pudding Lane, all hopes of a peaceful year without another disaster were dashed. Within twenty minutes, Farriner’s timber-framed house was reduced to ashes. His family were forced to escape through an upstairs window.


Paris was and still is a baroque masterpiece of orderly grid-based boulevards, places and squares; it is artificial in its design, whereas London is often described as an organic city. It has grown naturally for over a millennium. By the seventeenth century, London was a ramshackle of timber-framed buildings, similar to what one can still see around Flanders today – there are some surviving examples of similar houses in Bruges. London Bridge was home to densely packed multi-storey houses that overhung the river; this cramped bridge community even contained multiple shops. Conditions were ideal for this one small spark to ignite a carnivorous conflagration. Over the next few days, a prevailing easterly wind caused the fire to travel with furious immolating speed, which by 4 September had engulfed and levelled 80 per cent of the Square Mile within the city walls. It had also jumped over the western city wall and was racing towards Westminster Palace.


Perhaps the most shocking realisation about the Great Fire of London was that it could have been prevented. In the early hours of Sunday morning, not long after Farriner’s shop had set ablaze, the London Mayor Sir Thomas Bloodworth was awoken to be informed that a fire had broken out on Pudding Lane in the city that he had been elected to oversee and keep its residents from harm. Bloodworth waddled down to the scene and famously uttered the most inspiring words: ‘Pish! A woman might piss it out.’ Others at the scene, however, had envisioned alternative methods of fire control which involved significantly less female urination. The first responders wanted to create fire breaks, by tearing down the neighbouring houses. But Farriner’s neighbours refused to give permission for their properties to be demolished, and only Mayor Bloodworth had the authority to override them. Bloodworth refused to give permission and then returned to bed.


The most shocking by-product of the Great Fire was not the immense destruction but the mob mentality that arose only a day after it began. Tens of thousands had been driven from their homes, and many had watched them crumble to the ground. The narrow warrens of London became congested with families fleeing, towing carts behind them that carried their worldly possessions. The Saturday before the fire the price of a cart was a couple of shillings; by Monday it had risen to eight times that – they were now selling for £40.


Britain was in the grip of the Second Anglo-Dutch War – a maritime tussle over colonial trade routes. Thus there was a natural suspicion of Dutch immigrants, suspicions which grew monstrously amidst the chaos of the flaming capital. Dutch families were witch-hunted as people sought someone, anyone to blame. The winds carried flaming sparks that set alight random houses across the city, outside the perimeter of the blaze. At the time, however, the actual cause of these seemingly random conflagrations was not known, and thus it was widely assumed that there was an arson plot perpetrated by the Dutch. Others thought it could be a Catholic plot.


Near Westminster, a Dutch baker was dragged into the street by an angry mob and beaten bloody in front of his family. A Swedish diplomat was lynched but thankfully saved at the very last moment, when Charles II’s brother James, Duke of York, came across the horrific scene and demanded that the mob release him. A young boy, William Taswell, wrote how he witnessed a blacksmith approach a Frenchman from behind and bludgeon him over the head with an iron bar.


When the English needed someone to blame, they loved nothing more than to choose the French. The two nations had of course been enemies for as long as they had existed. But particularly after the Protestant Reformation Anglo-French animosities grew to an all-time high as the French nation had remained mostly Catholic. Thus, the citizens of Protestant London suspected that the fire could be a Catholic plot enacted by papist insurgents; perhaps highly organised religious terrorism. The Catholic Gunpowder Plot of 1605 against the Protestant establishment was still visceral and ripe in the English mind.


The Duke of York deserves heroic mention for he spent the entire week during the blaze patrolling the city with his men, taking all foreigners he came across into safe sanctuary at Westminster Palace, fearing what the vengeful mob might do to them. Remarkably for a man of such high birth, the duke also got his hands dirty. He toiled away in the blistering smog, tearing down housing around the perimeter of the fire using a fire hook to create fire breaks which halted the blaze, one of the few methods of fire control available. Without his efforts and those of his men, there is no telling how far the conflagration could have spread. Thankfully it never reached Westminster or the Tower.


The Duke’s fire breaks had taken effect by Wednesday, and the blaze finally calmed. Some smaller areas continued to rage for weeks, however, until they could eventually be extinguished. On Wednesday Samuel Pepys trod across the smouldering ruins of what was once his home city and climbed the steeple of Barking Church to view the terrible devastation on a grand scale. ‘The saddest sight of desolation that I ever saw,’ he lamented in his diary. Charles II encouraged refugees now camped outside the city to return to their homes. Many needed to be shown by the authorities to the plot where their home once stood, as it was now completely unrecognisable. The scenes they had once known so well, their community and memories, all now replaced by ashes.


But the public was still angry and vicious rumours of Papist plots continued to grip the gutted city; they wanted someone to blame. Then, out of the blue stumbled Robert Hubert, a French watchmaker who claimed he was an agent of the pope and ardently confessed that he had started the fire. Amazingly nobody’s suspicions were raised when he was only able to remember that he had indeed started the fire in a bakery in Pudding Lane after someone told him this fact. Hubert was quite obviously a nutjob who was either driven by pure insanity or a suicidal desire for fame. But with nobody else to blame he was soon convicted and hanged at Tyburn on 28 September. Only after his death did the captain of the ship that had brought Hubert to London come forward and tell the authorities that Hubert had actually been aboard his ship, in the North Sea, on the Sunday when the fire had started. Hubert didn’t actually set foot in London until two days later.


One preacher had his own theory for why God had enacted such a punishment upon Londoners. It couldn’t be a punishment for lying, he said; otherwise, the fire would have begun in Westminster. Prostitution couldn’t be the cause, or it would have started in Drury Lane. Nor could it be blasphemy, or it would have started at Billingsgate fish market. No – the conflagration began in Pudding Lane and ended at Pye Corner; it was therefore clear that this was divine retribution for man’s gluttony.


Out of the dying embers, London had to be reborn once again. Plans to resurrect the phoenix were put forward by John Evelyn and Christopher Wren. Both men’s proposals would have turned London into a city remarkably similar to Paris with its baroque magnificence and the orderly avenues and public squares of Baron Haussmann’s later renovation in the mid-nineteenth century. London would have become a precise pattern of grids, dissected by grand boulevards. But legal and financial red tape prevented either ambitious project from going ahead. Instead, the city was rebuilt organically, very much on its original street plan that still remains today. Christopher Wren, however, one of England’s most renowned architects, would design over fifty churches in the new London. He would also create his masterpiece, the new St Paul’s – the previous cathedral was destroyed in the fire. The current St Paul’s is actually the fifth time this building has been rebuilt following its destruction. 


I think it’s a marvellous triumph that we didn’t simply copy and paste a city design similar to modern-day Paris onto this ancient Roman fort. Because today, one can stroll the seemingly random labyrinth of streets, avenues, alleyways, ginnels, paths and passages, and explore first-hand a street plan largely unchanged for over a millennium; a living blueprint of the natural evolution of a civilisation, every corner, every snicket quietly preserving the story of a person, a place or an era that changed the world. 





Some Yorkshiremen Crash the Economy from a Pub


FIFTY YEARS BEFORE EMILY BRONTË was born among the rugged beauty of the stark moorland that wraps the hills of West Yorkshire, providing inspiration for her venerable Wuthering Heights, this very same wilderness of Yorkshire’s great expanse was home to a lawless yet highly organised band of money counterfeiters. They were so devastatingly effective in the art of large-scale, pork-pie-and-ale-fueled organised fraud that they almost crashed England’s economy. 


Cragg Vale is a punishingly remote valley that cuts through the barren landscape between the neighbouring towns of Mytholmroyd and Hebden Bridge. In the mid-1760s David Hartley, an apprentice ironmonger, fled Birmingham from the local authorities who were hot on his tail for his various misdemeanours. Heading north, he sought refuge among the anonymous tundra of West Yorkshire, returning to his childhood home of Bellhouse Farmhouse. From this quiet hamlet, he and thirty of his cohorts set up and ran a brilliantly efficient money-laundering operation. 


Hartley was said to be extremely enigmatic. He earned himself the nickname among the locals of ‘King David Hartley’. He offered the local residents and pub landlords an irresistible yet straightforward opportunity. Hartley would pay people twenty-two shillings for each full-size one guinea coin, which was at the time worth twenty-one shillings. The guinea was actually the first machine-struck coin in England. Made entirely of gold its name was derived from the Guinea region of West Africa where the majority of the gold used for its production was mined. It’s for the best that Britain abandoned this system of fiscal nomenclature, or today we would have a coin named a ‘Russia’, on account of where most of the nickel is mined to produce them and to ‘spend a Russia’ sounds more like disturbing toilet innuendo.


As gold is one of the softest and most malleable metals, Hartley, using an unsophisticated pair of metal clippers, would clip up to forty pence worth of gold from the circumference of each guinea. These shaven guineas would be sold to local pubs, from where the now physically but not fiscally devalued coins could be recirculated through the public. Hartley melted the combined clippings from these coins. He forged them into new circular gold coins, and one by one hand stamped them with a copy of the official government design. A design which Hartley had painstakingly and, I might add, very artistically and skilfully recreated.


But the design he was stamping onto these newly minted fakes was not that of the English Treasury. He wasn’t creating new faux guineas. Hartley instead used the design of the Portuguese moidore, which was at the time legal tender in Britain due to Britain’s frequent trading with Portugal, one of the eighteenth century’s most powerful nations. England has been allied with Portugal since the Treaty of Windsor in 1386, making it the oldest alliance in the world still in force. The moidore had two notable benefits over guineas. Its face value was slightly higher than that of the English guinea and its more geometric design was easier to replicate, compared to the asymmetrical monarch’s head design of the guinea that contained significantly more intricate curves.


An exciseman named William Deighton was dispatched to investigate the coiners. As he began turning the screw on the operation, one of the coiners, James Broadbent, turned King’s evidence and revealed all to the authorities. Hartley was arrested. Intent on revenge, his brother Isaac put a bounty of £100 on Deighton’s head. Sure enough, on 10 November 1769, near Halifax, Matthew Normanton and Robert Thomas, two of the Cragg Vale Coiners, shot Deighton and stamped on his body. With their feet, not their coinage stamps, I hasten to add.


Nevertheless, ‘King’ David Hartley was eventually hanged at Tyburn near York on 28 April 1770. It is said that the Cragg Vale Coiners’ enterprise was so damaging and the vast number of clipped and fake coins introduced into the economy so fatal to Britain’s inflation that the operation threatened to debase and collapse the country’s currency. If Hartley had not been caught, perhaps it could have.







1727–1760 EMPIRE
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A London Gentleman Orders a Latte and a Shag


DOES A TEA LEAF KNOW THE HISTORY of the East India Company? I doubt it. But that’s ironic because it could be argued that if there was one force overwhelmingly responsible for initiating the sequence of global events that built the modern world, it was tea. The British love of tea is profoundly unwavering. But nobody pre-seventeenth century could have predicted the extraordinary and lengthy path this love affair would lead the world down in the coming decades. To understand how a leaf steeped in boiling water altered civilisation as we know it, we have to journey back to 1610, but not to England – to the Dutch Republic.


Before the infamous English East India Company ruled the seas, there was a megacorporation the likes of which had never been seen before: the Dutch East India Company. Its Dutch name is Vereenigde Oostindische Compagnie, but it was more widely known as simply the VOC, because there were few non-Dutch people brave enough to risk swallowing their own tonsils attempting to pronounce it. On 20 March 1602 in The Hague, the States-General ordered the amalgamation of several rival Dutch trading companies. This gave rise to the largest corporation that has ever existed. When adjusted for inflation, it has been estimated that at its peak, VOC was worth 7.9 trillion US dollars. Take the current-day valuation of tech giants Apple, Alphabet, Microsoft, Amazon and Facebook, multiply the combined figure by two, and you still won’t come close to the valuation afforded to the VOC.


The enormous wealth of the VOC grew from the spice trade; by the 1650s the Dutch Republic had overtaken Portugal as the largest European trading power in Asia. The VOC dominated the Eastern trade routes for over 100 years. Spices, textiles and, later, tulips, which unexpectedly became the à la mode of garden luxuries throughout European society, were all items that were monopolised by the Dutch East India Company and traded along the East Indies–Europe sea lanes. The Dutch were also the first to bring tea to the Dutch Republic and then to England in 1606, for which the English are eternally grateful, or at least they should be. The Dutch government gave the VOC legal licence to raise its own army, charge taxes, wage wars against nation-states and settle colonies. Hence a company became a pseudo-country, beholden only to itself.


But England, and especially Elizabeth I, wasn’t prepared to sit back and allow the Dutch to monopolise the seas. Luckily, the English had already established a rival joint-stock company two years earlier: the English East India Company, founded on 31 December 1600. Just like the later Dutch merger, it was granted a monopoly on the Eastern spice and textile trades. In theory, this gave the East India Company 100 per cent market share. But there was a significant issue with this premise: there would soon be another company that claimed to have 100 per cent market share of the same trade: the Dutch East India Company. It turns out to be really difficult for two competing corporations to each have a 100 per cent market share of the same market. So when the London-based company set up shop in Bantam, Java, in 1603, the Dutch weren’t best pleased. Two rival commercial entities cannot possibly maintain a monopoly. Something had to give.


Sure enough, conflict erupted. Between 1652 and 1674 there were three Anglo-Dutch wars. These were perhaps the most corporate wars ever fought. The prize was not to be land or political influence. The two powers via proxy of their rival state monopolies, the two East India Companies, were fighting primarily over sea lanes. Each desired to monopolise access to the exceedingly valuable trade routes from the East Indies to Europe and North America. If someone had told the Habsburgs or Tudors in the fifteenth century that in 200 years entire nations would go to war over strips of sea and not land, they would have been laughed out of town. But now the tides of capitalism were rising and trade wars were becoming the norm.


Although England came off worst in these three wars, losing a portion of its trading posts, particularly in West Africa, the conflicts did accomplish something. Over the course of the Anglo-Dutch wars, the British laid the groundwork for what would become their greatest weapon, a weapon with which Britain would carve out and enforce a global rule the likes of which the world had never seen. That weapon was the Royal Navy. Between 1649 and 1660 this maritime force added a whopping 216 ships to its roster. The realisation had hit home once more, as it had during its early seventeenth-century tussle with the Spanish in South America, that the key to Britain’s dominance over the Dutch would be at sea, not on land.


It struck as clear as the turquoise waters of the East Indies below their ships that the two warring nations, two of the largest economies in the world and possessing two formidable navies, could not continue as they were. War ascertained no clear victor and was, moreover, a futile and wildly expensive activity. A more formal agreement had to be reached, and thus one of history’s most pivotal business mergers took place. But it wasn’t a merger of the two East India Companies. It was a merger of two political systems. When William of Orange was openly invited to invade England in the Glorious Revolution of 1688, he found himself in the awkward position of being both King of England and Stadtholder of the Dutch Republic, two rival trading nations.


A deal was struck that would allow the VOC an unchallenged monopoly over the spice trade, a trade that made it the world’s most valuable company, while the English East India Company was handed a monopoly of the smaller, but growing, Indian textiles market. What the Dutch failed to realise at the time was that within the years following the deal, textile exports to Europe would swiftly grow to overtake the spice trade. The English began to covet exotic calico fabrics instead of a sprinkle of cayenne on their roast beef – this was a titanic cultural shift; historically the English had been so infatuated with the meat that the French had pejoratively nicknamed them ‘rosbif’.


However, it wasn’t being granted a monopoly over the soon-to-be-enormously-profitable textile industry that would turn Britain into an economic superpower. What accomplished this was another gift the Dutch gave to the English following the merger: William brought with him the gift of modern economics. What allowed the VOC massive proliferation in such a short period of time was Amsterdam’s innovation and mastery of fiscal finesse. The infamous Medici family established the roots of banking in Italy in the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries, but it was the Dutch who discovered how to grow those seedlings into a mighty machine of money and mercantilism. Amsterdam had one of the first stock exchanges, opened in 1602, and a Dutch public exchange bank was established in 1609 that was the initial forerunner to the concept of a central bank. It was this economic clout that allowed the Dutch Republic to beat England in the three Anglo-Dutch wars – their superior financial system simply allowed the Dutch to borrow more money to pay more men and buy more ships. Via interactions with Dutch interlopers, the English learnt their fiscal tricks. They discovered how to pull their banking, taxation and borrowing out of the Middle Ages into a new world of economics and all the hair-raising forecasts and charts that go along with it. Alongside the Dutch, the English financial system became the most sophisticated, efficient and by far the largest in Europe.


A new centralised bank, the Bank of England, was established in 1694, which created a national debt that allowed the English government to borrow from the public at low interest rates. One of the greatest economic trump cards the Dutch handed to the English was a system of credit. Credit, with the promise to pay later, at low interest rates, gave England, and thus the East India Company, a licence to print money, millions of pounds of which were used to raise armies overnight, and significantly ramp up naval shipbuilding to create the most indomitable pre-modern navy the world had ever known.


Now England had a larger, more sophisticated economy, monopoly over a growing Indian textile industry, and a burgeoning Royal Navy. This economic revolution also meant it had all the tools and means to take its trading activities to previously unachievable levels. The now prosperous East India Company attracted vast numbers of investors through the London Stock Exchange, founded back in 1571, but recently modernised through Dutch fiscal ingenuity. By the mid-eighteenth century, the East India Company had overtaken its Dutch mother in trade volume and power, a mother it had repeatedly rowed with, then left home only to come back a few decades later with a heavy heart and a peace treaty.


The cogs of industry began to turn, and the growth of the cotton industry and increased importation of spices, sugar and tobacco from the New World gave rise to the first stirrings of what would become significant eighteenth-century middle-class society. And with that came the world’s very first mass consumerist society. Whereas before people made do with simply making do, now they were beginning to buy more, consume more and do more. And the most sought-after consumable luxuries to have in the 1700s were sugar and tobacco. During this century, the importation of sugar to Britain doubled. Until the 1820s when cotton overtook it, sugar was Britain’s largest import by far. Sugar during Britain’s empire was akin to the modern oil trade.


The British had finally discovered their sweet tooth. But what, you may ask, was all that sugar being used for? Well, for over 400 years there is nothing British society has enjoyed more than a spot of tea, and in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries tea was usually sweetened with sugar. Coffee was also starting to grow in popularity, but tea reigned supreme, mostly because it had a better public image than coffee. Especially in Britain, coffee houses had a reputation for seedy behaviour, whereas tea was considered more family-friendly and more acceptable in polite society. In 1674 a group of women published a ‘Women’s Petition Against Coffee’, claiming their husbands’ coffee habits caused ‘grand inconveniences accruing to their sex from the excessive use of that drying, enfeebling liquor’. And it continued: ‘that our husbands may give us some other testimonies of their being men, besides their beards and wearing of empty pantaloons: that they no more run the hazard of being cuckol’d by dildos’. In other words, wives were blaming coffee for their husbands’ inability to get an erection and feared that if the ghastly trend continued then their spouses may have to be replaced by an artificial phallus. The actual cause of these performance issues was that most London coffee houses also happened to be brothels. Their husbands had enjoyed far more than a cup of coffee by the time they arrived home to their disappointed wives.


In high English society, tea, coffee, tobacco and sugar were the four bastions of luxury. And it is because high English society was consuming these goods en masse that the middle and even lower classes yearned for them. Typically fashions and behaviours trickled down like a waterfall from their source, the royal family, meandering to the upper classes then flooding upon the middle classes and finally crashing down upon the lower classes. In this respect, nothing has changed. Many modern middle-class Brits still eat high tea like the royals at swanky hotels for pleasure and mostly take their fashion tips from whatever the family was sporting at the latest royal wedding. And that’s a good thing because the royals dress and behave spectacularly well, mostly. Easily evidenced when one endures the horror of observing one of the millions of deluded separatists, colloquially known as ‘chavs’, who freely roam the streets in abhorrent tracksuits and think it’s acceptable to expectorate at free will.


In 1658 the very first advertisement for tea appeared in England, in the publication Mercurius Politicus: ‘That excellent and by all physicians approved China drink, called by the Chineans Tcha, by other nations Tay, alias Tee, is sold at the Sultaness Head Cophee-House, in Sweetings’ Rents by the Royal Exchange, London.’ Notice the phrasing: ‘by all physicians approved’. This highlights another factor in why tea was so heavily adopted throughout British society: it was promoted by many physicians as a medicinal drink. It was widely speculated that tea could cure dropsy, headaches, stomach gripes, wind and just about every other bodily discomfort one could imagine. This may seem absurd, but is it really any different to modern-day claims of magical acai berries that can simultaneously cure a man’s shits and erectile dysfunction?


The British never set out to create an empire – it grew organically off the back of trade. Similarly, the British never set out in search of tea – they were, like most European nations at the time, in search of gold. As previously mentioned, stories of the elusive gold-plated city of El Dorado and rumours of deep mines full of endless gold reserves somewhere in the Gulf of Mexico are what drew adventurers under the ordinance of Queen Elizabeth I to explore and, if needed, raid the mysterious lands of Central and South America. But when they realised the Spanish had already sucked dry most of the gold in the Americas, the British turned instead to planting for profit: tea in the East Indies, tobacco and sugar in the West Indies.


Tobacco was always a more controversial substance. There were, in equal measures, its detractors and supporters. It was asserted by many prominent figures that, like tea, the herbal and medicinal properties of tobacco could aid minor ailments and relieve the body of excess phlegm. It was, in fact, James I who was one of tobacco’s earliest and most vocal critics. He loathed those who smoked it so strongly he published a pamphlet called ‘A Counterblaste to Tobacco’ in which he likened its consumption to emulating the ways of ‘West Indians’, a people he thought were dirty, and so tobacco must be dirty too:


 


For Tobacco being a common herbe, which (though under divers names) growes almost everywhere, was first found out by some of the barbarous Indians, to be a Preservative, or Antidot against the Pockes, a filthy disease, whereunto these barbarous people are (as all men know) very much subject . . . A custome lothsome to the eye, hatefull to the Nose, harmefull to the braine, dangerous to the Lungs, and in the blacke stinking fume thereof, neerest resembling the horrible Stigian smoke of the pit that is bottomelesse.


 


His fear quickly abated, however, once it was explained to him the huge taxes the monarchy could raise from importing tobacco.


But there was an issue. As consumerist societies started to emerge, first in England but soon in America and the rest of Europe, the demand for tobacco and sugar grew exponentially. With this demand came a huge demand for human labour, to work the tobacco and sugar plantations in the Caribbean, the southern States and Brazil. It was soon realised that Africans were more disease-resistant and more acclimatised to working in brutally hot conditions than white Europeans, and conveniently for the plantation owners (‘planters’), an established slave trade already existed in Africa. 


By the time the Europeans began selling and owning slaves in the fifteenth century, the slave industry was not remotely new. In fact, slavery has existed for as long as human civilisation. From the first rumblings of antiquity in Ancient Sumer there were slaves, and of course in Ancient Greece and throughout the Roman Empire. Slavery has always existed across the Muslim world, and today parts of Africa and the Middle East are still blighted by modern-day slavery. Millions are estimated to live as slaves in these regions in 2020.


Indeed, when the Atlantic Slave Trade was still in its infancy in the sixteenth century, over one million white Europeans were kept in slavery across North Africa’s Barbary Coast. The slave system in Africa, however, was less of a trade, and it was certainly not international. Before the Atlantic Slave Trade people of all ethnicities found themselves enslaved in Africa as a punishment for crime or debt, or as prisoners of war. When the Portuguese settlers arrived on the shores of Africa’s Ivory Coast in 1482, and a short time later the Dutch, they transformed the existing slave trade into a trans-Atlantic enterprise. It started off very small, but by 1650 it had grown into a vast operation. It’s not that the European colonial powers invented the slave trade, or were inherently evil, at least no more so than any other fifteenth-century blocks of power. The only reason the European powers and not the Muslim or Asian powers were the first to take the business of trading slaves across the Atlantic was because they were the only nations at the time with the infrastructure, resources and colonial settlements in the Americas required to make it possible.


In 1562 the first English slave trader, John Hawkins, that seafaring cousin of Francis Drake we met in an earlier chapter, departed England to buy slaves in West Africa and sell them in Santo Domingo in what is now the Dominican Republic. And then, over the following century, as the VOC’s revenues were on the decline the East India Company’s were enjoying a steep rise. With Britain’s newly generated wealth and military resources, the nation’s slave-trading operations increased markedly. Slaves were purchased from African slave masters across West Africa, often by trading rum, textiles and other goods manufactured in Britain. The slaves were then taken to either the Caribbean or the American colonies, mostly New England. Sugar, tobacco and rum were then taken from the Americas back to Europe. Over its lifetime this transatlantic triangular trade saw the transportation of eleven million slaves. Brazil received the most, four million, and the rest were taken to the British West Indies, French West Indies, Dutch West Indies, the Spanish Empire or North America. It surprises some to learn that during the existence of the triangular trade, Britain didn’t transport the highest number of slaves. Britain’s slave traders ferried 2.6 million poor souls across the Atlantic, but Portugal transported 4.6 million and was also the last Western country to abolish slavery in 1888.


The triangular trade was piecemeal – no ship would make the entire journey in one voyage. The sea lanes dictated how the triangular route would develop as sea winds and currents made it far more efficient to, for example, go south to the Gold Coast before heading west to the Caribbean, instead of sailing straight from Europe to North America. The so-called ‘trade winds’ on this route were simply more favourable and allowed for a faster journey. That journey, however, still took an agonisingly long time: the ‘Middle Passage’, as it was known, from West Africa to the West Indies took six to eight weeks. Each slave ship carried up to 600 slaves, packed like sardines, lying down, side by side, in squalid conditions and often debilitating heat. Each person had only 1.2 metres of floor space – less than farm animals were given on other ships. This illustrates how humans were able to inflict such horrific evils upon their fellow man in bone-chilling numbers: Africans were not seen as humans, merely chattel, property to be bought and sold. It is only once we dehumanise others that we can commit unspeakable evils, and propaganda all over the Western world portrayed black Africans as less intelligent and therefore subhuman. Anywhere from 10 to 20 per cent of slaves were not expected to survive the voyage; the corpses of the deceased were simply tossed overboard. Over four centuries of triangular trade two million Africans died during the Middle Passage.


Once they arrived in the port, the surviving slaves were stripped naked and greased all over with palm oil. This made it more difficult for them to run away without slipping, and also gave them a healthier appearance and enhanced muscle tone, thus increasing their market value. Their bodies were then checked all over for imperfections or disabilities, which would reduce their starting price at auction. Some of them were given names; a popular name for slaves among royalists was ‘Cromwell’, implying that Oliver Cromwell was comparable to a slave. 


After they were auctioned off to various planters, the outlook of the slaves barely improved. They were forced to work from sunrise to sunset harvesting tobacco leaves, sugar cane or cotton in the sweltering heat for ten months each year. Some slaves worked in sugar boiling and curing houses where they could easily find their hand stuck between huge rollers. The workman in charge would keep a hatchet handy at all times so lodged appendages could be hacked off. Some slave owners also subjected their slaves to sexual abuse, a practice crudely known as ‘nutmegging’. Some were selected to work as serving staff in a private household – they were relatively lucky, at least when compared to their contemporaries in the fields.


At the peak of the Atlantic slave trade in the late eighteenth century, black slaves in North America vastly outnumbered their white masters. So naturally there were frequent slave rebellions, but they were seldom successful and usually suppressed with brutality. The notable exception was the Haiti Revolution. Starting in 1791 and ending in 1804, African slaves all across the French sugar plantations of Saint-Domingue rose up in what was the largest slave uprising since Spartacus led a failed slave rebellion against Rome 1,900 years earlier. This time the oppressed had much more success: the result was the first independent, slave-free black state in the Americas.


Elsewhere, however, the problem was that typically the slaves were unable to organise into cohesive units. Slaves were taken from all over the African continent, which has well over 1,000 different spoken languages. Only slaves taken from the same region, or the same community in some instances, would be able to communicate. Slave owners took advantage of this, and would intentionally purchase slaves from different regions, ensuring no two of their slaves could speak the same language. This was the most effective protection against dissidence and uprisings.


The only solace that can be found in this sad chapter of humanity is that it was ramped down even faster than it all began. By the mid-eighteenth century, it started to occur to some prominent British figures that the African people were just that: people, no different to any man, woman or child in Britain. And that to commit such horrendous injustices on an industrial scale against another group of people because of their skin colour was grievously immoral.


The spark for this change occurred in 1765 when a highly intelligent London civil servant named Granville Sharp came across Jonathan Strong in hospital, a young black slave boy who had been severely beaten by his master. Sharp took great pity on the boy and befriended him, paying for his hospital treatment and finding him employment. Strong’s master didn’t take too kindly to Sharp’s interference with his ‘possession’ and sent slave catchers – yes, that was a profession – to hunt him down and recapture the boy. Once caught Strong’s master attempted to resell him to another slave owner in the Caribbean. Outraged, Sharp took the master to court to prevent him from doing so. He won. The Lord Mayor had to rule between protecting an Englishman’s property rights – a slave was legally his master’s property – and the human rights of the boy. The ruling was in favour of the boy’s freedom and he was released from slavery forever. Strong lived for a further five years as a free man.


This landmark case inspired other fledgling abolitionists to take up the fight, as did a Member of Parliament for Yorkshire, William Wilberforce. After talking to a ship surgeon, Wilberforce was horrified at the reported conditions aboard slave ships, and after some persuasion from other abolitionists, he began to make scathing anti-slavery speeches in the Commons, as did fellow MP Charles Fox. The formidable pair slowly gained support for the abolitionist movement among the Whigs, and as 1800 dawned the debate in the House of Commons and Lords began to slowly shift in favour of abolition. So did public opinion; among upper-class women especially it became somewhat fashionable to be anti-slavery. Ironically, most of these ladies owed their cushy lifestyle, either directly or indirectly, to proceeds from slavery plantations somewhere in the empire. Similar to how it’s fashionable for privileged individuals today to cause a ruckus and mass social disruption over climate change while simultaneously enjoying the fruits of industry in the form of their smartphones, SUVs and fast food. 


In 1807 the Slave Trade Act was passed by Parliament prohibiting the slave trade within the British Empire. Although it banned the trading of slaves, it didn’t outlaw slavery itself; that happened in 1833 with the Slavery Abolition Act, which banned slavery in all British colonies.


Interestingly it didn’t outlaw slavery in England, because to be a slave in England was a misnomer. It was widely assumed that to be an Englishman or even to step foot on English soil was to be free and enjoy all the liberties of life. Therefore it wasn’t necessary to outlaw something that couldn’t possibly exist – at least that was the ideology championed by Britain. Slavery wasn’t technically outlawed in Britain until 2010 when English legal text finally acknowledged that it was possible for someone to be a slave in Britain – yes, that’s right, 2010. And even then it wasn’t until 2015 that the Modern Slavery Act was passed which fully fleshed out the details of what constitutes slavery in Britain.


It may seem odd that it took Britain just over 200 years to make this U-turn on slavery, but it represents a greater shift in the ideological foundation of the empire itself. The British Empire was built on free trade, but not free trade as you may know it today, without any tariffs – that’s the modern definition. Free trade simply meant the ability to trade with all nations, even those that were historically hostile to Britain, for there were many tariffs imposed on goods going in and out of the empire. But it was built on foundations of trade nonetheless, by key individuals who sought to make a profit through the exploitation of resources and people in and around British colonies.


This all changed, however, after 1783, when an epoch historians call the ‘Second British Empire’ began. The empire slowly shifted how its trade was conducted. Instead of warring with local tribes in the lands it colonised, the empire began amicable trading relationships with local leaders as the realisation began to dawn that such arrangements were more mutually beneficial to everyone involved. The goal of the empire switched from being purely to maximise profits to instilling liberty – at least relative to some of the abhorrent autocracies previously in play in a selection of the colonies. Britain saw itself as the great liberator of the world. It was imagined to be the divine ordinance of Britannia and her empire to spread English liberties and freedom across the globe, and it was generally assumed in the mother nation that the people of the colonised regions were better off inside the empire than before its arrival.


After 1833 Britain leveraged its new position as the world’s first and only superpower to force other nations to also cease trading in slaves. This was the empire’s self-imposed moral obligation as the self-styled liberator of all humanity. 


By 1830 Britain was the world’s unparalleled maritime superpower. Throughout the nineteenth century, Britain had a fleet that, by design, was more than twice the size of the next two largest nations’ fleets put together. This ensured it could overpower just about any foe at sea, usually with only a small portion of its active ships. Because not only did it enjoy a huge numerical advantage over rival powers – mainly France throughout the century – but the Royal Navy also had vastly superior ship design, training, organisation, financing and logistics than all its competitors.


But it was how Britain was one of the first nations to overcome the ocean’s cruellest mistress that handed it such a global advantage. Scurvy was the biggest killer at sea; it claimed 80 per cent of Magellan’s crew when he crossed the Pacific in 1520. Physicians had no idea what caused scurvy and suggested it was due to bad air quality or perhaps just loneliness and melancholy at sea. Rumours circulated that breathing in earth could cure scurvy so sometimes when ships hit port their captain would instruct all crew suffering from scurvy to cut a hole out of the soil and stick their face in it to inhale the curative earth for a few moments – they sure breathed in many things but a cure wasn’t one of them. Captain Cook was determined to root out the cause, which we now know is a lack of vitamin C. He asked his crew to consume large quantities of sauerkraut, a tip he picked up from observing Dutch sailors. He also ordered his crew to consume large quantities of fruit and vegetables whenever they made landfall. It worked spectacularly – during one voyage Cook didn’t lose a single crew member to disease, which was unheard of. In 1867 Parliament passed the Merchant Shipping Act, which required all Royal Navy ships to provide a daily ration of limes to each of its crew. Other nations mocked this practice, and it earned British sailors the nickname ‘limeys’. But when foreign sailors continued to die from scurvy they sheepishly realised that limes weren’t such a bad idea after all.


The Royal Navy used its dominance to enact heavy gunboat diplomacy on nations still practising the slave trade, all the way into the twentieth century. If a slave ship was discovered by the Royal Navy, no matter which nation’s flag it sailed under, it would be escorted to Sierra Leone on the coast of West Africa where the slaves would be freed and the crew punished. Usually, a £100 fine was levied upon the captain for each enslaved person upon the ship. This had the dark consequence of captains sometimes dumping slaves overboard as soon as they saw the Royal Navy’s masts upon the horizon. The West African Squadron was created, containing one-sixth of the Royal Navy’s vessels, specifically to carry out the task of patrolling the African coastline and suppressing the slave trade. Between 1808 and 1860 the squadron seized 1,600 slave vessels and freed 150,000 Africans. Slave ships didn’t dare challenge the Navy and preferred avoidance techniques, especially when the roster of the Navy contained ships such as HMS Warrior. Built in 1860, it was Britain’s first armour-plated ‘ironclad’. Powered by steam and packing forty guns, it was the most powerful vessel in the five oceans. HMS Warrior was never challenged.


All this maritime muscle allowed the empire to dominate the world through a period later known as Pax Britannica, bookended by the Battle of Waterloo in 1815 and the First World War in 1914. In 1815 Arthur Wellesley, First Duke of Wellington, finally defeated Napoleon at Waterloo near Brussels, with the pivotal aid of a substantial Prussian flank, marking the end of a recently-imperialised-France’s domination over the European continent. It is commonly disseminated that Wellington was nicknamed ‘the Iron Duke’ because of his sturdy political resolve, but this is perhaps the most widespread of all historical misnomers because he proved to be a terrible prime minister when he served two terms in 1828 and 1834. He had the charisma of a sodden scone – the public mistook his plain, parataxis-laden speech for rudeness. The real origin of his popular sobriquet was that he installed metal shutters on his windows at Apsley House in 1832, to keep out rioters. An event which Punch magazine loved to poke fun at; in fact, it was their cartoonists who caused the proliferation of the Duke’s appellation.


Post-Waterloo, with Napoleon exiled on the remote island of Saint Helena at the hands of the British, stewing in his angry little boots at the rat-infested Longwood House until his death from stomach cancer in 1821, Britain entered 100 years of unchallenged – at least not seriously – hegemony. Between 1815 and 1914, the world enjoyed an era of relative peace between the world powers, peace being defined as no large-scale international wars. This was the longest period of unbroken law and order since antiquity. This century of stability and safety, like Pax Romana after which it was named, was made possible because Britain used its hegemony to assume the role of global policeman. When nations participated in the slave trade or piracy, the British sent the Navy. When there were trade disputes, the British sent the Navy, and when regional conflicts stirred, the British sent the Navy. Britain and France also intervened in 1853 when the Russian Empire tried to expand its borders into the Balkans. The Anglo-French alliance won the conflict, the Crimean War, protecting and preserving the Ottoman Empire. 


The British Empire is the closest thing the world has ever seen to a one-world government. Britain controlled 25 per cent of Earth’s land surface and governed 412 million people, 23 per cent of the world’s population. 





The Bloody Code Gets Rather Bloody


AT THE SOUTHERN END of Edgware Road, London, very near to the Marble Arch, once stood the world’s most frequented and public theatre of mass execution, Tyburn. In 1571, precisely on the spot where the present-day Edgware Road, Oxford Street and Bayswater Road meet, was constructed the Tyburn Tree: a large wooden triangle supported several metres in the air by three wooden legs. Its exact location is today marked by a circular stone plaque surrounded by three oak trees. This modern monument to a thoroughly murderous medieval location is situated on the most mundane of all man-made monoliths – a bloody traffic island. Every year millions of feet pound this ancient and terrible tomb, yet few souls note its significance.


Between 1571 and 1783, over 1,000 men and 100 women were theatrically hung from the Tyburn Tree. The executions themselves were grand public displays with handfuls of convicted felons often dispatched in a single dreadful day. This wooden construct of death was designed to facilitate multiple executions. On 23 June 1649, twenty-three men and one woman were tragically towed to the Tyburn Tree in eight carts and all hanged simultaneously in front of a crowd of thousands. The turnout was exceptionally large. It was like the Live Aid of the day, albeit with more malignant motives and no Bob Geldof, which isn’t necessarily a bad thing. The Tyburn hangings proved such popular entertainment that the local villagers erected large spectator stands to host the more well-to-do day-trippers in search of a good gory day out for all the family. These premium seats came at a fee.


So fabulous an event was the sight of your cousin horrifically and unforgettably breaking her neck with the grim snap of a rope that executions here were often treated as public holidays. London workers were granted the entire day off work, so they could frolic fully in the festivities. 


Tyburn was undoubtedly the most notorious gallows in Britain. Yet, it was far from the exception. Every large town and city in England had its own public execution spot during these times of tyranny. The need for so many gallows was down to a gradual series of dark addendums to English common law, starting in the seventeenth century and arriving at its bloody crescendo in 1815. With each passing decade, the English legal system grew less merciful, and its proclivity to enact fatal justice accelerated with terrifying haste.


In 1688 the number of crimes that carried the death penalty in England was numbered at just fifty. In 1765 that number had more than tripled, standing at 160, and by 1815, 225 crimes were penalised by death. This totalitarian era of the English legal system is today known as the Bloody Code. Because, for a while, it seemed like almost every transgression of the law, even the most ostensibly benign, resulted in a bloody ending for the perpetrator. In the eighteenth century all of the following crimes could see you hanged from the Tyburn gallows:


•  Pickpocketing goods worth more than one shilling.


•  Rioting.


•  An unmarried mother concealing a stillborn child.


•  Stealing from a rabbit warren.


•  Burglary.


•  Stealing horses or sheep.


•  Cutting down trees.


•  Arson.


•  Stealing from a shipwreck or naval dockyard.


•  Sacrilege.


•  Damaging Westminster Bridge.


•  Impersonating a Chelsea Pensioner.


•  Forgery.


•  Poaching fish.


•  Suicide. Yes, you read that correctly.


The reason for the proliferation of the Bloody Code and its Orwellian mandate was that during this period, Britain’s population grew enormously. With such a burgeoning and transgressive society, the now antiquated feudal system of tithings and manorial courts was failing to keep the peace. A police force had yet to be conceived. Wealthy lords and landowners across England were growing increasingly frustrated at the frequent lawless plundering of their lands and properties by outlaws and common thieves. Don’t tell me you’ve not fantasised about hanging the local grotbag who stole your bicycle.


The Bloody Code was a heavy-handed reaction postulating that if the punishments grew more severe and the range of crimes that carried the death penalty was hugely increased then the fear of and severity of the punishments alone would provide sufficient deterrence to aspiring criminals. The English legal system was attempting to police through the mass propagation of fear. It didn’t work. Crime rates were not reduced; as is still the case today, the mere threat of punishment was insufficient in stemming the number of crimes. As Margaret Thatcher said in 1981, ‘A crime is a crime is a crime,’ or as I like to put it, ‘A scrote is a scrote is a scrote.’


Although the Bloody Code saw the execution of thousands, it was more of a guideline than a code. Depending on the humour of the judge on the day of the trial, he would often favour punishment via transportation. This was when the defendant was shipped off, under a contract of forced indenture, to the colonies in America, Canada or most frequently Australia. One-third of all criminals convicted in England between 1788 and 1867 were transported to Australia or ‘Van Diemen’s Land’ (Tasmania) for forced labour.


On 26 August 1768, HMS Endeavour, built in Whitby, North Yorkshire, set sail from Plymouth, captained by James Cook. He had secret orders from the Admiralty to seek out and stick a British flag in the fabled ‘Terra Australis’. On 29 April 1770, Captain Cook and his men made landfall in what he named ‘Stingray Bay’. He later renamed it ‘Botany Bay’ because he rightly suspected that people don’t often holiday in locations that have ‘stingray’ in their name. A Dutch expedition, captained by Willem Janszoon, had actually landed on Australian soil in 1606, 164 years earlier. Cook, however, was the first European to realise Australia was a vast continent and properly map a significant portion of its coastline. Janszoon thought he had accidentally bumped into New Guinea and sailed off again, not giving the landmass much thought. Unlike Janszoon, Cook had also remembered to bring a flag, and that’s why he gets all the credit.


In 1786, with the prisons overflowing with miscreants, the British government had the bright idea to convert the enormous expanse of rocky, red, alien land Cook had discovered into a penal colony. Australia surely would have been the eighteenth-century equivalent of Mars. On 18 August six transit ships – huge hulks that resembled floating prisons – along with two escort ships and three store ships were sent to Australia, carrying 775 convicts along with civilians and military personnel. They arrived in Botany Bay on 20 January 1788, but the soil was too damp to establish a colony, so the nearby Port Jackson was chosen instead. I would love to say that the settlement was a thriving success, but the whole thing was a colonial clusterfuck. The ships had only brought sufficient food to sustain the settlers until they could set up adequate agriculture to self-sustain. There was one major flaw with this plan: they had forgotten to bring skilled farmers and domesticated livestock. It’s just a stab in the dark, but I would venture that both these things are essential for agriculture.


Although the colony survived, mortality rates were high due to dire food shortages. But fortune was on the horizon, in the form of a second fleet carrying extra supplies. It arrived at the colony in June 1790, but by the time it reached Australia it was so full of disease-ridden, dying convicts their arrival actually made the whole situation on land considerably worse. Food shortages increased, and the creatively named ‘Second Fleet’ was an even bigger disaster than the first. Though once these initial hurdles had been crossed, Australia soon took flight and today the spectacular city of Sydney sits in the same spot the First Fleet landed. A dazzling jewel of civilisation, a terraforming success, built from the back-breaking labour of these first pioneering British convicts.


Daily life for the indentured convicts was mightily hard work; the environment was blazingly hot, dry and unforgiving. But one thing is for sure, it was definitely better than being headless, or hanged very publicly in front of all your family. Convicts were sometimes given tickets of leave if they were well behaved. And, when their seven years of slave labour were over, they were free to become a full British citizen (they would be presented with a physical ‘Certificate of Freedom’), and they had the choice to stay in Australia or return to England.


Australia has since become a model country, built on Western ideals of freedom by those who had none. It is estimated that more than 20 per cent of Australia’s present-day population are descendants of the initial convict settlers. 


And now, the Tyburn Tree may be gone, yet to this day the chilling legacy of the Bloody Code still whistles through the leaves of the three oak trees standing solemn, seeping roots into the ground of ancient souls in sombre remembrance of a time when a man could meet the hangman’s noose for catching a fucking fish. 





An American Colonist Eats His Own Shoes


THE BRITISH WERE FAR FROM being the first European settlers in North America. The Spanish headed north into New Mexico in the 1590s, and they had a semi-permanent settlement in Florida, established in 1565, but they were too distracted brutalising natives in search of shiny metals. The idea that this vast landmass had huge potential never crossed their minds. The French also created New France in the mid-sixteenth century, which eventually stretched from the Northwest Passage to the Gulf of Mexico, but they were more concerned with the lucrative fur trade than colonisation. Just as well – ‘New Paris’ doesn’t have the same ring to it as New York.


In 1584 Elizabeth I granted Sir Walter Raleigh a royal charter to create a settlement in North America, or, as she more eloquently put it, ‘discover, search, find out, and view such remote heathen and barbarous Lands, Countries, and territories . . . to have, hold, occupy, and enjoy’. The main purpose of any such settlement, however, was to establish an English base from which her ‘sea dogs’ (privateers) could easily raid Spanish vessels and forts. Raleigh organised and funded the voyages but didn’t travel there himself. He dispatched two ships, captained by Philip Amadas and Arthur Barlowe, in April 1584. On 13 July they landed in North Carolina and for the first time planted the English flag in North American soil. But they were not here to settle a colony, they were here to kidnap natives. They stole two leaders of the indigenous Roanoke and Croatan peoples, Manteo and Wanchese, and brought them back to England to meet Raleigh and fill him in on the geography and politics of their homeland.


Armed with insider knowledge, Raleigh sent another fleet captained by Sir Richard Grenville in April 1585 which attempted to create a colony on Roanoke Island. Raleigh sent a final voyage in 1587 led by John White to establish another colony on the island, but when they arrived they found nothing but skeletons: the remains of Grenville’s ill-fated colony. White’s 115 colonists once again attempted to settle Roanoke, and they suggested that White himself should return to England to inform Raleigh of what they had found there. White left the colonists along with his newborn daughter Virginia Dare, the first English child born in the New World.


Because all naval resources were directed at defending England from the attempted invasion by the Spanish Armada, White was unable to return to the Roanoke colony for another three years. When he eventually returned in 1590 what he found on Roanoke sent shivers down his spine. Instead of discovering a thriving settlement and his three-year-old daughter, he was greeted by nothing. Only bleak sand dunes and bare land. There was no obvious sign of the settlers, nor was there any indication of a battle, a struggle or any loss of life. All he found were a few dismantled houses, and two ominous clues. Carved into a fence post was the word ‘CROATOAN’ and on a nearby tree the letters ‘C-R-O’ were manically chiselled into the bark. Despite multiple search parties, the lost Roanoke settlers were never found, and it remains America’s first unsolved mystery. To this day, what happened to the settlers and whether or not Bill Clinton did have sexual relations with that woman are the two most pressing issues that keep Americans up at night.


Slightly more successful, but only just, was England’s next attempted colony, Jamestown. Voyages to the New World were far too expensive for any one individual to front because if the voyage incurred debt, it would be placed upon the head of the individual who funded the venture. But thanks to the new English invention of the joint-stock company which limited the liability of a company, so in the event of a failure it could choose bankruptcy instead of crippling debts, large-scale voyages to the Americas were finally becoming feasible. I’ve heard some killer excuses for a bank loan but ‘funding an intercontinental voyage to stab savages’ beats them all. And, if it transpired that those savages weren’t concealing a shitton of gold the company could simply claim bankruptcy – and so the American dream was born.


In 1606 one such joint-stock company, the Virginia Company of London, was formed. One hundred and four colonists set sail upon three ships, Godspeed, Discovery and, the largest, Susan Constant, under their captain Christopher Newport. They made landfall in the Chesapeake Bay on 26 April 1607. It was here the colonists made their first mistake. They chose an island to establish their colony, now Jamestown Island, where the ground was swampy and entirely unsuitable for agriculture. Even the indigenous Powhatan tribe had abandoned the island because they couldn’t live off the land. It was full of mosquitos, and the water was too filthy to drink. The colonists thought the lack of natives on this spot was a blessing, but it was an omen of what horrors were to come.


The colonists established a triangular fort surrounded by a palisade wall. They built houses, a town hall and a small church. The Powhatan people, however, were never far away, and they were watching as these aliens set up camp in their homeland. They observed their strange rounded hats, iron tools, and how they rode gigantic four-legged animals and used magic sticks that shot fire, smoke and lead death. And how every night they ritually entered a mysterious hut called a ‘tavern’ only to emerge several hours later as though possessed by an evil tree spirit.


To worsen the colonists’ fate, they had arrived during a drought. Their inability to farm the land and the hostility from the local Powhatan Confederacy led to mass starvation and death. Within months 80 per cent of the Jamestown residents were dead. It got so bad that they resorted to eating their horses, then rats and then the leather from their own shoes. There were even some who ate each other. On one occasion a colonist called Hugh Price burst wildly into the town square, blaspheming at the sky and loudly proclaiming that there is no God. He then left the fort and stumbled into the woods. A few days later his body was discovered, peppered with arrows and his flesh eaten by wolves. Perhaps God had got his own back – you know what he can be like, with his plagues and violence. At least that’s how it appeared to the other settlers.


In December John Smith, the explorer of Disney fame, left the colony to search for food and was captured by the Powhatan. He was taken to the Powhatan chief, who ordered his execution, but at the very last moment the chief’s daughter, Pocahontas, threw herself across John Smith’s body and begged her father to spare his life, which he did. Despite becoming legend there is much scepticism surrounding Smith’s own account of this incident. It could be that the chief never intended to execute Smith and the entire charade was a mock execution as a display of power which Smith could then relay to the other colonists, once freed. Pocahontas may have been merely playing a part in a pre-rehearsed play as the ‘merciful daughter’ at her father’s request. It’s also unlikely that Pocahontas was in love with John Smith – she was only thirteen when she met him and John was in his late twenties – which puts a sordid dampener on the popular animated fairy tale. She would, however, go on to marry another Englishman, John Rolfe, in 1614.


The Jamestown colony only survived, thus becoming the first permanent English settlement in America, because of the crucial arrival of a fleet of supply ships. They set sail from Plymouth in 1609 and brought 214 fresh settlers and much-needed supplies. The fleet didn’t arrive until 1610. Between 1609 and 1610 Jamestown had gone through another mass starvation so the sight of sails upon the horizon must have filled the few remaining colonists with elation. And no doubt many were hoping for the arrival of a replacement wench for the all-male colony – they’d probably eaten the last one.


After the tenuous success of Jamestown, settlers from England, Wales, Scotland and Ireland began to flock to the New World. Most who came were downtrodden and in search of a better life. The British government exercised a policy of benign neglect towards its North American colonies. Settlers were mostly free from the claustrophobic laws and bureaucracy that may have held them back in London, and they were free to farm their own patch of virgin soil. This also allowed the colonists the liberty to experiment with new ways of governance. Which proved an especially attractive proposition for a group of extremist ultra-Protestants who were exasperated by a semi-Protestant England that was still fighting off the old Catholic ways – the Puritans. Their mission was to purify the Church of England of all the ways of the Roman Catholic Church that continued to permeate it. These tensions would lead to the English Civil War in 1642, precipitated by the Puritans in Parliament. But twenty years earlier, in the 1620s, for a small but ardent group of Puritans known as the Separatists, change in England was still a pipe dream. Perhaps then the New World could provide the perfect testbed for experimentation with how a religious community could be governed without a single shiny trinket in adulation to a Roman pensioner with a messiah complex.


The Separatists initially chose the Dutch Republic as their new personal Utopia. They attempted to start a new life in the industrial city of Leiden in 1607, which at that time was probably the most liberal place in all of Europe. But the English Separatists were never comfortable in this Dutch Protestant paradise, because, well, it wasn’t English enough. They feared their English values and traditions would be eroded the longer they stayed there. The idea of their children growing up Dutch, not English, terrified them. Also, they couldn’t stomach the idea that their children would have to grow up explaining to everyone where Holland was. There was only one place that offered the blank canvas the Puritan congregation required to grow the religiously pure English society they dreamt of – the New World.


In 1620 a tired old ship called the Speedwell left the Dutch Republic, returning the Separatists to England. The Speedwell was leaking so from here they changed to a more reliable vessel, the Mayflower. The fabled ship departed from Plymouth carrying 102 optimistic colonists, often romanticised as the Pilgrims. The Pilgrims were not like any English settlers that had come before: most of the crew were men over fifty or women and children. They were not like the Jamestown settlers who were able-bodied military men in search of gold, backed by prominent investors. The Pilgrims were outcasts. Furthermore, they were a bunch of religious nutters. Like the modern-day local lunatic who strolls around the town centre, wearing a straw hat, wielding a megaphone and pushing a wheelbarrow of bibles from some bizarre cult. Imagine gathering up a bunch of these preaching flowerpots, along with their brainwashed families, and shoving them on a ship into the Atlantic. I know, at some point we’ve all wished we could do exactly that. Not only were the Pilgrims religiously extreme, but they were also politically extreme. They believed in sharing food and possessions equally, which leads to the ironic conclusion that America, the symbol of Western democracy and capitalism, was founded by a bunch of socialists.


The Mayflower was headed for North Virginia, but punishing storms forced them to land at Cape Cod in Massachusetts. This location, far off course, was outside of the legal boundary of the charter granted by their backers, the Virginia Company of Plymouth. And so, dissenters began to argue that they were no longer under any rule of law nor owed allegiance to England. It’s difficult to build a new world when the colonists are trying to gouge each other’s eyes out with rusty spoons. It was clear that to prevent anarchy and instil some form of governance upon the colony, a drastic measure had to be taken. A document was drafted and signed by forty-one male colonists, the Mayflower Compact. This short document pledged their allegiance to King James and promised they would live in accordance with the Christian faith. It was America’s first written constitution.


On 16 March 1621 the Pilgrims had their first encounter with aliens, but not the intergalactic variety, the semi-naked kind. Samoset, a member of the Abenaki tribe who was visiting the chief of the local Wampanoag tribe, walked right into the Pilgrims’ camp and greeted them in English which he had picked up from English fishermen around Maine. What did Samoset say? Perhaps something along the lines of, ‘Greetings, strangers.’ No, he asked for a beer. Well, you can’t blame him. They began to trade peacefully with the Wampanoag tribe, who made a mutually beneficial alliance with the Pilgrims. They taught them how to survive in the New World and, in exchange, the Pilgrims shared metal utensils and tools. One year, after a successful harvest, roughly ninety Wampanoag Indians sat down to a feast with fifty of the surviving Pilgrims, an event that has gone down in American legend and is celebrated every year on Thanksgiving. I doubt the Wampanoag had a Black Friday sale on their trades the following day.


But unfortunately, peace would not last. Over the 500-year period of European colonisation of the Americas post-Columbus, 90 per cent of the Native American population was wiped out. The exact number is unknown, but estimates for the number of indigenous peoples in pre-contact Americas ranges from 8 to 112 million. But whatever the number, it was one of history’s largest genocides. The Pilgrims and all who came later settled land based on the ancient Roman principle of terra nullius, or ‘nobody’s land’ – colonists used this doctrine to justify their occupation of foreign land. Even if there were already inhabitants, for European settlers and the Romans before them, they still classified it as ‘nobody’s land’ if they deemed its current use as ‘ineffective’ and thus unsettled. ‘Ineffective’ essentially constituted non-European/Roman ideals and agriculture. However, it wasn’t warring over land or ruthless slaughter that killed the vast majority of indigenous peoples, although there were conflicts between Europeans and Native Americans as the settlers began their westward expansion. The Europeans brought a weapon far deadlier than guns – disease. Most Native Americans were killed by a European plague that their immune systems had never encountered before and thus had no natural defence against – smallpox. From the very moment the first Spanish settlers landed in the Americas in the fifteenth century, the native population was already doomed. European diseases were always going to decimate their civilisations, sooner or later. Between 1616 and 1619 alone 90 per cent of the original people of New England perished from disease; they called it ‘Indian Fever’. But there was nothing Indian about it – it was more like a white plague, figuratively and literally.


The freedoms promised in the New World brought a mass wave of immigrants, but not all came by choice. In recent decades over a million people from Britain’s former colonies emigrated to Britain. This mass reverse-colonisation has been exceedingly controversial. It has divided the British nation, ruptured long-standing political parties and caused Britain to question its place within Europe and the rest of the modern world. But it is easy to forget that, most ironically, it was British emigration that created the modern world. The flow of British families to Canada, the new American colonies, South Africa, Hong Kong, Singapore, Australia, New Zealand and elsewhere turned huge landmasses, and in some instances entire continents, white. Vast areas that were previously not white. With them, these often unwanted immigrants brought the English language, their education and political systems. They introduced infrastructure, economy, trade and fair tribunals. Redefining, reshaping; in fact, building the world as we know it today.


Between the seventeenth and early twentieth centuries over twenty million Britons emigrated to the empire’s new settlements all over the globe. Throughout human history, no other nation has exported so many of its citizens. Some went for business, some politics. Others paid for their own journey in search of a new life, with the promise of increased liberties and economic freedom. Others, however, were white slaves, called ‘indentured labourers’, who either sold a portion of their life and labour, often four to seven years, or were forced into indentured servitude as a punishment for crimes committed in Britain. They would be required to work on the sugar or tobacco plantations, in the households of wealthy plantation owners and in other industries for a reward of a small piece of land upon completion of their indentured service period.


All these migrants had to undergo the long and unpleasant journey to their chosen destination, whether it be the American colonies, Australia or some other foreign land that was now unaccountably British. The majority of the indentured servants came from the most impoverished fringes of British society, having few or no other options of making ends meet in their country. A new life in Virginia sounded almost romantic, despite the required period of hard labour. More than three-quarters of all indentured British migrants to America, during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries, were Scottish, Welsh or Irish. These were the people who built America. These were the wishful wanderers who established the Thirteen Colonies, each based on their own representative democracies – seedlings for that mighty protector of the freedom of all men, America. These were the visionary immigrants who built cities such as Boston and New York, which was named after King James II, whose peerage was Duke of York.


The Thirteen Colonies never showed any sign of disloyalty to Britain or the king, and enjoyed the greatest liberty, political and social freedom of any citizens across the entire empire. But as they often do, the seeds of revolution began because of tax. Britain had always regulated trade in the colonies, but it had never directly taxed them until 1765 when Parliament introduced the Stamp Act, which required every document printed in the North American Colonies, whether it be a magazine, playing cards or legal documents, to be printed on a special stamped paper produced in London and paid for with English money. This was Britain’s first and most fatal mistake. All across the colonies, people felt affronted: for an Englishman to be taxed without democratic consent was an abomination – it was nearly as bad as running out of tea. And remember, even in 1765, the colonists still considered themselves to be British.


A new national identity had not yet been crafted, though it was just around the corner. Even with the Stamp Act, the colonists paid the lowest taxes of any citizens in the entire empire. American colonists paid one-fiftieth of the tax of those in Britain. An elected representative from each colony met at the Stamp Act Congress in New York the same year, the first unified response against British taxation. Why should they pay taxes to a distant constitutional monarchy when the colonists had no representatives in British Parliament? Their slogan that has echoed down the ages was ‘No taxation without representation’. Something was stirring, and whatever it was it was being built upon representative democracy . . . and the occasional spattering of murder and exploitation.


A secret organisation was also formed, the Sons of Liberty, to fight back against the yoke of British governance and taxation from every helpless shadow of the Thirteen Colonies. Achieving representation, however, would be easier said than done. The British were prepared to fight against, and if needed, kill their own people, their own brothers, to maintain supremacy. As was proved on 5 March 1770, when the British enacted a rancorous retort against rebellions that eternally marred their relationship with the colonies. British soldiers were abused, with clubs, stones and the occasional teapot to the head, by a mob outside the Custom House in Boston. They were protesting against the Stamp Act. The soldiers stamped out the revolt by blindly firing into the crowd without orders. They killed three people on the spot, and two later died from their injuries. The Boston Massacre, as it is known, was an omen and a rare moment within the British Empire when British forces swept English liberties aside and killed British subjects.


To smooth things over with the colonies, who were now militarising themselves, British Parliament repealed all taxes. Then Parliament immediately destroyed any hopes of reconciliation by introducing a new tax upon the worst thing imaginable – tea. Illegal tea that was being smuggled into the American colonies by the Dutch was a huge problem for the British. Eighty-six per cent of tea purchased in the colonies in the 1770s was smuggled. Around this time, the American colonies were consuming over one million pounds of tea each year, which illustrates how the colonies were still very British, at least culturally. The problem was so bad that it spelt substantial financial losses for the East India Company, which was forced to maintain vast stockpiles of unsold tea in London warehouses. The Tea Act of 1773 aimed to rectify this issue by significantly reducing the price of British tea and thus undercutting smuggled tea.


Ironically the Tea Act meant the colonists could purchase British tea cheaper than ever before, but this didn’t matter. They were furious at the notion that Britain could dictate how and from where colonists should buy their tea. Furthermore, British tea had tax rolled into its price, so the colonists saw this as another way to impose a tax on them which they never asked for. Like the modern-day tax on tampons, the British government was insinuating that tea was a luxury, not a necessity; for an Englishman to claim that tea was anything short of a daily essential was blatant heresy. So, on 16 December representatives of the Sons of Liberty protested by dressing up as Native Americans then boarding tea ships in Boston harbour and offloading 340 chests of tea into the water – which ironically also used to be the initiation ceremony of Oxford University’s Piers Gaveston Society, before it was replaced with dead-pig fucking. History aptly remembers the event as the Boston Tea Party, which many consider to be the primary escalation which resulted in a violent American revolution. The total value of tea lost was the modern-day equivalent of over two million pounds. Britain responded by closing the port of Boston until the revenues from the destroyed tea were repaid by the offending colonies – which never happened. Until they could regain control of the port by force the Massachusetts colonists would have to rely on relief aid from the other sympathetic colonies, which thankfully proved plentiful.


The colonists began to organise. They formed the first Continental Congress consisting of representatives from twelve of the colonies; all except Georgia, which was too preoccupied picking peaches. Over several weeks they discussed how to respond to Britain. They may not have realised its gravitas at the time, but this was the first instance of the disparate states coming together to form an early ‘United States’. The rebels also began to coalesce militarily; local militias were trained around the colonies and styled themselves as the Minutemen because they could be ready to fight in under a minute.


But the commander-in-chief of the British armed forces in the colonies, Thomas Gage, had a secret weapon – intelligence. Gage had planted spies within the ranks of the colonial rebels. Through this espionage, he was able to identify large rebel weapon caches in Concord, twenty miles north-west of British-occupied Boston. Gage planned to send Redcoats, the colloquial name for the British forces, from Boston to march on Concord and destroy the weapons, thus crippling the Minutemen. This would have been a great plan except for one crucial oversight: the Redcoats were not the stealthiest of soldiers. Perhaps it was their vibrant scarlet-red coats or that they marched in long columns, feet stomping loudly in unison. Indeed, stealth was just about the last quality one would attribute to Redcoats. And sure enough, the colonists saw them coming from miles away, like a parade of red-arsed baboons. They tracked and signalled the movements of the Redcoats to their allies in nearby Charlestown by placing lanterns in the window of the Old North Church in Boston. How many lanterns were displayed signified precisely how the British were advancing: ‘one if by land, two if by sea’.


On 19 April 1775, the British reached the town of Lexington, halfway between Boston and Concord. The commander of the Lexington rebel militia was John Parker, a humble farmer and veteran of the French and Indian War of 1754–63. Parker knew that the arms cache at Concord had already been relocated elsewhere. He suspected the Redcoats would march straight through Lexington peacefully and onto Concord where they would find nothing and return to Boston. After all, the colonies were not yet formally at war with Britain, so why should there be any violence? Parker arranged his militia on the village green, Lexington Common. They were armed with lightweight French muskets, given to the colonies by their sympathetic allies. Here they were not blocking the road to Concord, but neither were they hidden. This was a peaceful yet overt protest, like defecating in your neighbour’s garden. Parker clearly instructed his men: ‘Stand your ground; don’t fire unless fired upon, but if they mean to have a war, let it begin here.’


Upon their arrival, an officer of the British forces demanded the militia to disperse and go home. Some did lay down their arms and began to walk away. But then, all of a sudden, a single mutinous shot rang out that changed the course of history. It isn’t known who fired his gun first, but most witnesses attributed it to an onlooker firing from behind a tree or bush. It was ‘the shot heard around the world’. Although that phrase was actually written by Ralph Waldo Emerson to symbolise the later conflict at Concord, in reality, it was this anonymous initial gunfire on Lexington Common by a rebellious shrubbery that was the first shot of anarchy and war.


From this moment the British were now at war with their own colonies – this was a civil war. In scattered panic other shots began to ring out, then the Redcoats began firing volleys into the militia without orders to do so. After which they charged the militia with their bayonets, plunging their deadly British weapons into the hearts and souls of the rebels. Eight colonists were killed, the rest fled. Jonathon Harrington managed to crawl to the front doorstep of his own home before dying from a fatal musket ball shot, encapsulating just how close to home this fight was for the colonists. Unlike the British they weren’t fighting for dominance, they were fighting for their own land, their own families.


The Redcoats marched on to Concord where they found that most of the military supplies had been moved. But something deadly was waiting for them just outside of the town. Four hundred militia and Minutemen had assembled on a hilltop overlooking the North Bridge leading out of Concord. As a column of 100 Redcoats crossed the bridge, the colonists fired upon them, then shots were rapidly exchanged between the two sides in a smoky bloodbath. The British were soon overwhelmed by the greater numbers of the militia and made a panicked retreat. A corpse of a Redcoat was later found on the bridge by another British squadron – the colonists had scalped him, cut his ears off and removed his brain. Nothing says ‘we want democracy’ like a good scalping.


As the Redcoats marched back to the safety of Boston, Minutemen stationed themselves all the way along the return road and hailed musket balls down upon the fleeing red peacocks. At certain points on the route to Boston such as Brooks Hill and a curve in the road that is now called ‘Bloody Angle’, hundreds of organised militia had stationed themselves upon vantage points, creating a deadly ambush for the Redcoats. Through the day, as they scurried back to Boston, British casualties piled up. But then, not a moment too soon, a relief column arrived that had been dispatched from Boston by Thomas Gage to escort the helpless Redcoats back to safety.


That evening when the British finally returned to Boston, a staggering 15,000 colonists had assembled only moments behind them. The British government had never imagined the colonies could organise in such immense numbers – this was their great mistake. They had severely underestimated the determination of an Englishman to defend his castle, and in 1775 over two million Englishmen were living throughout the Thirteen Colonies. The rebel hordes formed a huge encirclement which besieged the British in the city of Boston which was connected to the mainland by only a narrow strip of earth. After eleven months of siege, the British were forced to abandon Boston, and they escaped via boats to Nova Scotia. But not before the first pitched battle of the American Revolution.


Despite the rebel militia occupying almost all of New England and succeeding in kicking the British out of Boston, the idea that the revolution should be officially ratified as an independence revolution wasn’t widely popular. That is until Thomas Paine penned a pamphlet that would influence the minds of millions into desiring independence from Britain above all other goals. Paine wrote and anonymously published a pamphlet called ‘Common Sense’ on 10 January 1776. It argued in direct, straightforward prose that the colonies should fight for their independence from Britain. It also outlined how a new nation would be organised politically – he described a visionary democratic process to elect representatives to a continental congress and at the top would be a president. It was reminiscent of Enlightenment-era axioms that the rights of man are inherent and cannot be granted or taken away by some monarch or even an elected government. This was all very – well, common sense, and the people loved it. It was circulated throughout every corner of every colony; it was read aloud in taverns, at dinner tables and public squares. It got to the point where a man could barely enjoy a piss without hearing Paine’s seminal words being drilled into his earlobes. ‘Common Sense’ entered the national consciousness; it stole their hearts and gave them a national identity. And it would go on to earn them a nation. To this day, ‘Common Sense’ remains America’s best-selling and most widely circulated book of all time. It’s not difficult to understand why when its primary competition is the latest drivel from yet another self-loathing reality TV goblin.


‘Common Sense’ would be fully realised on 4 July 1776 when the founding fathers, representatives from the Thirteen Colonies, met at Pennsylvania State House and signed the Declaration of Independence. It was written mostly by Thomas Jefferson and finally freed the colonies from all British chains of sovereignty. But this newborn American nation was not yet free: they had thrown off the British yoke in spirit but not in practice. To do that they would have to take on the world’s only superpower and largest navy. But like the Viet Cong nearly 200 years later, the Americans had a significant advantage: this was their land. Their homes and families were at risk, and to save them they would go anywhere, and give anything, even if that meant their lives.


The trading machinery of the British Empire was focused elsewhere, namely India. When the jewel in the crown was under threat in the Indian Rebellion of 1857, the British would suppress it with every grain of gunpowder and mountains of manpower. However, now, in 1776, America was a secondary concern on the fringes of the world, whereas India was fast becoming the fiscal and military engine of the empire. America’s immense potential was still an unknown entity and more than a century in the future. It was also costly to send the full military resources of the empire across the Atlantic to fight a nation of millions of tenacious and well-armed Bible-bashing farmers.


When Greece went to war with the considerably larger Persian Empire in 499 BC, no contemporary would have dared to bet on a Greek victory, yet they won decisively. In the very same way, it was unthinkable that the colonies could have defeated the British. Most of the British high command assumed the American Patriots were simply rioters and they could be suppressed with a good whack in the chops and a few lashes, after which everything could return to how it was. Thomas Gage knew the situation was nothing of the sort; far from large-scale riots, he knew the reality, and he frequently warned others of who they were really facing. Britain’s enemy was, in fact, a professionally run independence movement underpinned by an ideology of free democracy that had planted vexed vines of virtue and victory deep into the American psyche and no amount of cannon fire could root it out.


On 11 September 1776, British Admiral Richard Howe met with Benjamin Franklin, John Adams and other patriot delegates on Staten Island to attempt to forge a peace treaty between Britain and America. Negotiations were lengthy and constructive – the British demanded that the Americans withdraw the Declaration of Independence . . . they said no, and so everyone went home. The Staten Island meeting was only constructive in that it reminded both sides how much their objectives differed and that they would very much like to continue shooting each other.


The Americans hadn’t only declared independence; they’d also built a professional army. A regular continental army was created under the charge of a proven military commander, General George Washington – you may have heard of him. The decisive moment would come in 1781 at Yorktown, Virginia. But this American victory at what was the final land battle of the American Revolutionary Wars was won due to a crucial alliance. The Americans had allied with the French, who sent them ample funds, weapons, warships and a few baguettes. At Yorktown, they dispatched a fleet of thirty-four ships and 3,000 men under French admiral François Joseph Paul de Grasse which overwhelmed the fleet of the British commander Charles Cornwallis.


Relentless French bombardment upon British ships day and night forced Cornwallis to surrender. The French didn’t care whether or not the colonies won their independence any more than they cared how the British took their tea. This was no more than a proxy battle between superpowers. As Britain’s global empire was growing at a hare’s pace, the French struggled to keep up. Ever since their defeat in the Seven Years’ War, they had been biting at Britain’s heels. If the French could help the Patriots to win their independence in North America, it would eviscerate a great swathe of Britain’s territory and diminish their overwhelming hegemony. Towards its climactic end, the American Revolution became a surrogate war, through which the two great powers, Britain and France, were once again fighting for world domination. It would be wrong to say that the American Revolution was won solely because of French aid, but could the Patriots have won independence without it? Nobody can say for sure, but it’s one of the great what-ifs of history.


After Yorktown, peace negotiations took place between the new United States and their old colonial overlord. This new nation’s first president, George Washington, could have easily established a new absolute monarchy or autocracy but instead voluntarily retired after two terms to farm his Mount Vernon plantation. He was – knowingly, I must add – emulating the selflessness of an impoverished Roman patrician he greatly admired, Lucius Quinctius Cincinnatus, who was elected as dictator (which was then an actual magistrate with no negative connotations attached) when Rome was invaded in 439 BC. After marshalling Rome to a swift victory, Cincinnatus voluntarily relinquished his supreme power and returned to his small farm.


America significantly expanded its borders following the Louisiana Purchase, when it bought over 820,000 square miles of central North American landmass from the French in 1803. This doubled the size of the young country, pushing its boundaries to the precipice of the Rocky Mountains. But America’s true power potential would only be unlocked once its borders reached the west coast, granting its navy thousands of miles of unimpeded blue water access to both the Pacific and Atlantic oceans. This geographical advantage combined with abundant oil and other natural resources and a stable and free democratic system allowed Britain’s offspring, America, to take up the Pax Britannica mantle after the Second World War and enforce a new Pax Americana. From small seeds grew history’s second global superpower, protecting the liberties and English common law that America learnt from its Old-World mother. Unlike most children, who puke in your brand-new car then request random financial gifts for the remainder of their life, America is an offspring that Britain should be immensely proud of.
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A Bloke from Bolton Reinvents the Wheel and Changes the World


IF THERE WAS A DATE WHEN the modern world began, it was 1764. This is surely one of the most critical epochs in human history. This was the year when a carpenter from Oswaldtwistle in Lancashire invented the spinning jenny. It wasn’t an overly complicated contraption, merely a spoked wheel, mounted on a wooden frame that allowed a weaver to work eight spools of thread simultaneously. I’ve made more complex sandwiches. But, until now a spinning wheel could only work one spool at a time. The spinning jenny, which increased weaving speed eight-fold, marked the start of the Industrial Revolution, a revolution of life as we know it. Your home, your car, all modern transport, mass production, modern medicine, electronics and, yes, sliced bread all exist because a bloke in Lancashire pondered over a pie and a pint, what would happen if he made a spinning wheel a bit wider.


This burgeoning technological revolution was accompanied by a revolution in demographics. Between 1750 and 1850, Britain’s population more than doubled. And there was also a revolution in agriculture. All Britain’s new immigrants, (mostly Europeans charmed by chic consumerism) alongside a hugely inflated population due to a rapidly rising birth rate, were packed into a small island and had to be fed. Lastly, there was a communications and transport revolution that enabled inter-continental trade and tourism like never before. And it all started in Lancashire with the humble spinning jenny. But this raises two important questions. Why now? And why here?


Indeed, the spinning jenny, as significant as it was, was so unremarkably basic in its design that the ancient Romans could very well have invented it, yet they didn’t. And what was so special about Britain? Some people say it’s because of its advantageous island geography and large coal deposits. Well, Japan is an island with similar geography and access to coal through trade and mining (albeit in smaller quantities), and it didn’t enjoy an industrial revolution during the same period. In fact, before the Industrial Revolution, Japan had a larger cotton industry than Britain, but it never evolved into the mechanised behemoth that it did in England. Why didn’t the revolution spawn from Italy? Italy had rudimentary spinning machines as early as the seventeenth century, yet its industrial spinning enterprises were unable to lift the country out of a century of poverty, whereas when England began mechanised spinning, it transformed it into the wealthiest nation in the world. So why Britain?


In 1760 Britain had several benefits over every other country that made it the perfect tinderbox for the spark of revolution to ignite and the cogs of industry to turn. Firstly, the social changes resulting from the English Civil War and the Glorious Revolution gave England economic freedom and an incredible spirit of prosperity. There was an air of entrepreneurship across Britain that inspired people to trade and prosper. England’s parliament was now more democratic than ever and, under a constitutional monarchy, gave the nation unprecedented stability, rivalled only by the Netherlands. And the events of the Glorious Revolution had given Britain a new central bank that was surrounded by a swarm of new financial institutions which could provide loans and invest in new factory and trade enterprises, with incredible ease and minimal bureaucracy.


Britain also had plentiful mineral resources, namely coal. The island’s small size allowed the rapid transportation of resources around this dense new hotbed of industry. And of course, Britain now had a sprawling empire that provided a seemingly endless supply of cotton flooding in from the Americas and a huge global marketplace which Britain owned. These crucial supply chains and associated trade routes could be dominated, protected and hence monopolised through Britain’s new naval supremacy.


Even though America declared independence in 1776, just after the Industrial Revolution began, Britain’s trade with the North American colonies was unhindered by these events and, in fact, increased over the following decades. It was also this new global economy that answers the question ‘why now?’ Why didn’t Ancient Rome invent the spinning jenny and give birth to a new mechanised world? Quite simply, there was no need for a spinning jenny; the market for cotton was non-existent because cotton didn’t exist in Europe at the time and what little cotton textiles there were being sold at the great markets across the Mediterranean came from India and the rest of Asia. It’s not that the Romans, or the Greeks for that matter, wouldn’t have benefitted from mechanisation – after all, they would have lost their nipples in excitement over flushing toilets – it’s just that they didn’t know they needed it. Come to think of it, any technology that would have sped up the experience of going to the toilet would have been deeply unpopular – the Romans were weirdly obsessed with discovering the lengthiest and most sociable way to take a crap.


James Hargreaves invented the jenny because the huge and ever-growing demand for textiles couldn’t be met using existing technology. The spinning jenny was merely a trigger that sparked a quick succession of events and innovations, which cumulatively gave rise to an entire revolution. Sure, the Romans could have technically built a spinning jenny, but they wouldn’t have known what the bloody hell to do with it, and the innovation would have stopped there, they couldn’t have gone on to invent the steam locomotive or the telegram. Fifteenth- and sixteenth-century Italy failed to give birth to an industrial revolution because it spun silk, not cotton, and silk had a prohibitively small market; only the wealthiest, who were few in number, could afford silk. Cotton was a massmarket good.


So, it was only now with a vast colonial empire, an ideological drive to precipitate free trade, economic sophistication and prosperity, and on top of that, a mountain of coal, that the pioneering men and women of Lancashire, of England, of Great Britain, could pick up their hammers and chisels and carve a brave new world out of the grit, spit and industry of desire and demand.


In 1750 Britain imported 2.5 million pounds of raw cotton, mostly to Lancashire. All of the work was done by hand, usually in workers’ homes. By 1800 the British textile industry used 52 million pounds of cotton each year. If this sharp rise wasn’t already striking enough, by 1850, the nation was processing 588 million pounds of cotton a year. But what is most remarkable about this tremendous rise in productivity, and indeed the entire Industrial Revolution, is that it didn’t happen all across Britain. Sure, it affected the life of every Briton beyond recognition, but it is wrong to say that the Industrial Revolution was a British event. The Industrial Revolution took place in a single county: Lancashire. In 1860 there were 2,650 cotton mills in Lancashire which employed 440,000 people. Collectively these mills produced half of the world’s cotton textile goods. The next largest cotton textiles producing region was in southern Scotland, around Glasgow and Edinburgh, which at the same time had around 140 cotton mills; considerably fewer – perhaps for the best; heavy machinery and whisky don’t mix well.


One of the primary reasons for the immense concentration of the Revolution within a small corner of the north-west of Britain is that the industrious inventors who created the machines that kick-started the whole thing were all born in Lancashire. Hargreaves created his spinning jenny. Then Richard Arkwright from Preston built the spinning frame, which was later renamed the ‘water frame’ after it was adapted to be powered by water. And then Samuel Crompton of Bolton, then in Lancashire, combined the works of Hargreaves and Arkwright into the new spinning mule. He sold the machine to a manufacturer for £60, and its design went on to be used in hundreds of thousands of spinning machines in British cotton mills. A business blunder similar to if Justin Bieber had sold the worldwide rights to ‘Baby’ for £60, except Crompton’s spinning mule advanced human culture instead of sending it back to the Stone Age.


The fact that the Industrial Revolution was confined to Lancashire for almost one hundred years after its inception demonstrates how inefficiently information and innovations were spread before mass transit. It wouldn’t be until the first commercial railways appeared in the mid-nineteenth century that the Industrial Revolution and all its associated socio-economic changes began to spread with great haste to every corner of the known world. But even then, with the cotton industry already well established in northern England, it made no sense to expand it elsewhere, quite the opposite in fact. There were indeed many benefits to limiting its expansion.


Today 90 per cent of the world’s electronics come from a single city, Shenzhen, within China’s Special Economic Zone. There are measurable benefits to keeping manufacturing so densely concentrated, such as the rapid spread of knowledge and new technologies and a large shared workforce. Not to mention a single destination for raw goods and a one-stop shop for third-party businesses that support the industry. In this respect, nothing has changed. In the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, there were considerable benefits to this corner of Britain being the world’s factory. All the ancillary industries that supported the textile industry could be set up in a single region, less than a day’s journey from more than 90 per cent of the world’s cotton mills.


The enormously prolific port of Liverpool, one of the largest in the world in the 1700s, took in millions of pounds of cotton from the New World, from where it could be transported via train to Manchester in less than two hours; it would be processed that very same day. Today we would call this a Just-in-Time supply chain. Liverpool’s port was later replaced by the Royal Albert Dock, which was the first dock in the world to be made from cast iron, which made it extremely flame retardant; a rather important consideration when one is stuffing the warehouses from head to toe with raw cotton. At these innovative docks, the warehouses were built right up to the water so one could step straight off a boat into a warehouse and thus goods could be immediately transferred from the water into storage.


By the early nineteenth century England’s northern landscape had been transformed beyond recognition. Every direction one turned there were hundreds of towering chimneys pumping steam, soot and sweat into the dense, grey atmosphere. The foreboding call of the factory bell drew the impoverished men and women in their thousands to the humdrum of deadly work in the mills and mines. The factories of Lancashire created the first large-scale example of a scheduled workday – the legacy of the nine to five that we still moan about to this day.


Before 1760 all manufacturing was by hand, there was no need for dense urban centres, and most of the population lived rurally. Each town and village had a local wheelwright who would hand-carve wheels for carts, carts which the local farmers would then use to transport their goods to the nearest town, once or twice per week, to sell at market. But with the Industrial Revolution, this all changed. There was no longer a noticeable demand or a need for cottage industry. Rural settlements were ripped apart as the higher wages and more consistent work on offer in the nearest town or city was too compelling for most to ignore. Northern towns morphed into dense urban powerhouses, the cities of today. In 1750 the population of Manchester was 20,000; 100 years later it had grown to a quarter of a million.


Work at the cotton mills may have provided a steady wage, but it was a tough life. Workdays were a gruelling thirteen hours. The constant click-clack of the flying shuttle as it weaved the warp through the weft turning yarn into fabric was unrelenting and deafening. The noise pollution was so overbearing that two workers on adjacent machines had to learn to lip read one another. Many were deaf after a few years of service. The blisteringly hot and humid air of the factory floor was thick with stray, floating cotton fibres that found their way into the workers’ lungs like beautiful, deadly snow. This caused byssinosis in most workers, a fatal lung disease.


Now that the machines were doing all the heavy lifting a physically strong workforce was no longer required, and so most mill owners preferred a female workforce because they were seen as more obedient, less boisterous. This also meant that, for the first time, small children could be used in large numbers in the workplace. In some mills, two-thirds of the workforce consisted of children as young as four. They could work the same hours as and often more than adults for a fraction of the wage – as little as 10 per cent of an adult’s wage in some cases. But their jobs were far deadlier.


Small children employed as ‘mule scavengers’ would have to crawl beneath the looms while in full operation to retrieve the valuable cotton wastage that fell to the ground, so it could be reused. But this was one of the most dangerous jobs in the factory and accidents were all too frequent; broken fingers and limbs, and smashed skulls. Many mule scavengers tragically caught their head between heavy moving parts – the rapidly oscillating shaft of the loom could slam a small child’s head into the back of the machine, causing instant death. It was also common for a child worker who misbehaved to be beaten by the mill owner, often brutally. Sometimes working sixteen-hour days, six days a week, these children would often grow deformed from a lack of sunlight, develop lung disease from the thick, cotton-infused air and most likely lose a limb or two.


In industrialised areas of Britain in the nineteenth century, the average life expectancy was only thirty-two. For mill employees, their work was their life; there was little respite. Some mills such as Quarry Bank in Cheshire built an apprentice house, which provided accommodation and training for staff. In such houses every morning the workers were fed a hearty but bland porridge that was cooked until it was so viscous it could be spooned directly from the pot into the worker’s hands and then eaten like bread.


The mill owners reinvested their profits into building entire self-contained communities around the grounds of the mill that often included a post office, shops, bars and possibly an inn. But these development projects, free housing and free food were not altruistic by design. The entire purpose of these handouts was to create a feeling of loyalty within the workforce towards the company, so they wouldn’t stray too far from the mill or get any silly ideas like finding a new career, which was typically far less common than it is today. Mill owners demanded nothing short of absolute loyalty for the life of the worker.


This unremitting hardship and the dedication to it so often displayed seems bemusing. However, any confusion would be quickly swept away if one was to travel back in time to the eighteenth or nineteenth century and spend a day in what was, usually, the only realistic alternative: the workhouse. In Scotland, they preferred to call it the ‘poorhouse’ because the Scottish are always dramatic like that. By the Victorian era, there were more than 700 workhouses in England, the closest thing to a social welfare system. The largest had over 700 impoverished inmates. These workhouses provided society’s only form of free healthcare, food and board, and in exchange, one had to devote one’s life to a ceaseless schedule of gruelling work.


Women were put to kitchen or laundry work. Men were made to break stones, chop wood, pick oakum or untangle threads. The work was entirely pointless on purpose – the government didn’t want workhouse inmates performing any sort of useful labour for free as this would undermine the lowest wages that the real workforce was paid outside the workhouse. Living conditions at a workhouse were terrible in every way, by design. In the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, it was effectively a crime to be poor and being placed in a workhouse was the punishment. Every aspect of the place was designed to embarrass, degrade and demoralise an inmate, so they felt ashamed to be there. The entire workhouse system was supposed to be a deterrent against being poor, a punishment for not being able or willing to find honest work. But even with the rapid rise in factory work jobs were hard to come by and so many unfortunate souls found their way into the nearest workhouse.


Inmates were fed bread and gruel for breakfast; cheese, potatoes, broth, vegetables, dumplings, suet and occasionally roast meats for dinner. Insubordination was punished by beatings with a rod or dietary restrictions. In 1845 a government inquiry was launched after reports that inmates in the Andover workhouse were being ritually starved and forced to fight over rotting bones so they could suck out the marrow for sustenance. 


The workhouse stripped people of their humanity. Heads were shaved to prevent lice, and everyone was dressed in the same old brown rags. They were only permitted to leave for a funeral or wedding. Inmates could leave permanently if they managed to find employment, which, as you can imagine, was difficult when you were banged up in a workhouse and shut off from the outside world twenty-four-seven. So most grew old inside, if physical or mental illness didn’t take them first.


It is estimated that millions died prematurely because of a life of hard toil in the workhouse. But those who survived often went insane and were sent to asylums where they would be locked up and subdued with opium. Some workhouses were, however, not as dire as the dystopian vision portrayed in Charles Dickens’ Oliver Twist. Many destitute children would probably have lived much longer, albeit still grim, lives if they had admitted themselves to the workhouse instead of taking up work at a cotton mill, where their life expectancy would be slashed.


There were some rare but extraordinary success stories of individuals who pulled their way out of the malice of the workhouse by their wits and mettle to prosper and become wealthy. The most famous was Charlie Chaplin. Born in Walworth, his parents struggled financially and had to face the difficult choice of sending the young Charlie to a workhouse. But his talent as a performer led to paid employment by the age of nine, and he was able to escape for brief periods to perform. Eventually, he shrugged off the workhouse for good and became one of the first internationally recognised film stars. By the time of his death in 1977, he had a net worth of $400 million. He was able to pay to remove his mother from a mental asylum, where she had unfortunately ended up early in Charlie’s career, and she spent her final years in a life of wealth and luxury with her son.


The Industrial Revolution lit a bonfire under everyday social life that was not repeated until the birth of instant communication and the internet. Increased wages for workers across every industry meant that for the first time, people started to wear styles of clothing they desired rather than whatever was practical or handed down to them. Self-expression through dress and indeed lifestyle was being enjoyed by the working class – much to the dismay of the upper classes, who previously held a near-monopoly on pleasure. By the nineteenth century, there was so much clothing waste being tossed out by all of Britain that mountains of hand-me-downs were shipped to Africa in much the same way as we do with tech waste today. This had the unintended side effect of seeing Africans traipsing around the Congo wearing a morning coat and cravat.


Whether people liked it or not, new social classes were being woven into the cotton textiles of a burgeoning capitalist society. The archaic overlords of the landed nobility now had to contend with an ambitious new middle class, the self-made mill owners who yearned to live and behave like the gentry but didn’t share their blue blood. 


Nowhere in England was the social divide more obviously on display than in great country manor houses, the stately homes of the upper and, increasingly, new middle class – the latter proved to be a divisive trend. They built their beautiful estates next to the engines of capitalism that funded their construction: the mills. Being so close to their mill, they could hear the ceaseless click and clack of the looms from their bedroom and investigate if the noise ever stopped.


In these great houses, the staff hugely outnumbered the family, especially in the house of an earl or duke, who usually enjoyed a full menagerie of servants. There was a strict hierarchy within the workforce. At the top was the butler, who commanded all the other servants. Alongside the butler was the housekeeper, usually a woman; she was in charge of hiring and firing. Below these were the coachman (later a ‘chauffeur’ with the introduction of motor cars), first footman, second footman, hall boy, head housemaid, housemaid and laundry maid. The cook, however, had her own dominion – she was almost always a woman, notably the opposite of today; modern-day professional chefs are overwhelmingly male. The cook had autonomy over the running of the kitchen and the hiring and firing of kitchen staff, which usually included a kitchen maid, dairy maid and scullery maid.


Apart from the butler, those who received the most facetime with the lord and lady and their family were the valet and lady’s maid. These were the personal servants to the lord and lady, and if they had children then each adult child would have their own valet or lady’s maid – and they always did have a swarm of plummy offspring because they simply had to keep popping them out until they found one suitable enough to inherit their land and title – in this case, ‘suitable’ meant ‘not a woman’. 


The lower one’s position in the servants’ hierarchy, the less visible one was expected to be within the great house. In some houses, they were supposed to be invisible. Hidden doorways and dedicated servants’ stairways were components built into most great houses, which enabled servants to appear in any room within seconds, as if from nowhere. And with a pull cord in every room, which rang a bell in the servants’ quarters – usually in the basement or attic – a member of the family could summon a servant at any time. In some houses, the lord stipulated that if a member of the family passed a servant in the hallway, then she must quickly swivel to face the wall until the family member had exited the room as if to appear invisible, although this was not the norm in most houses. Lords and ladies were usually wholly unaware when the housekeeper or cook hired new underlings, yet in other houses, the family enjoyed a close relationship with all their staff. In the mid-nineteenth century over 4 per cent of Britain’s population was employed in service within great houses.


Ever since the Industrial Revolution happened, people have spent their days arguing that it was probably a bad idea and we should forget the whole thing, and we should all go back to ploughing parsnips and shitting in buckets. Capitalist greed born out of industrialisation may make the rich richer, but the scathing truth of it all is that capitalism has raised billions out of abject poverty. The flower of capitalism came to bloom most spectacularly in the roaring 1920s, when those of all creeds across the Western world enjoyed a period of unrivalled hedonism, from Paris to London to New York. At least until Hitler rolled Panzers all over the party.


Despite its horrors, the Industrial Revolution was pre-twentieth-century history’s greatest equaliser of incomes; across all societies, the biggest beneficiaries were unskilled workers. But the new machinery that brought this change inspired fear in some, which gave rise to a secret guerrilla band known as the Luddites. These radicals were fearful that the further mechanisation of textile mills would undermine and eradicate the need for their craftsmanship. They protested by burning mills, destroying factory machinery and harrying hosiery. Luddites would gather upon the cloak and secrecy of the wild Lancashire and Yorkshire moors to drill their destructive manoeuvres, where they practised smashing stocking frames. This led to the government enacting the Protection of Stocking Frames, etc. Act of 1788, which made the deliberate destruction of mechanical knitting machines punishable by seven to fourteen years’ transportation. In 1812 a second act was introduced that increased the penalty to death.


The Luddite movement was eventually quashed through military and legal force. But the irony of it all is that their fears were entirely unfounded; the exact opposite of what they feared happened. The demand for both skilled and unskilled labour increased dramatically as new automated machinery came into use. It is still often the case today that increased automation increases production while increasing the demand for higher-skilled and better-paid employees.


The Luddites were an omen of a force majeure that grew alongside their rebellion and sowed deeper, darker roots: socialism. Born out of the French Revolution and spread rapidly through Europe with Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels’ Communist Manifesto, this credo was a direct riposte to the wealthy, the bourgeoisie, owning the means of production. This movement gave birth to mankind’s most deadly ideologies, communism and socialism, which spawned crushing regimes under Stalin, Zedong and others, responsible for the agonising deaths of over 100 million people. Simultaneously, in other parts of the world, free-market capitalist societies enjoyed burgeoning post-war economies that provided their citizens with unprecedented liberty and prosperity.






 Liverpudlian Dances in Front of a Train and Dies


IN THE EIGHTEENTH and nineteenth centuries, the new economic prosperity coincided with a new means of power generation: steam. The birth of the steam railway and steamships created the novel pastime of mass tourism. Until the travel speeds enabled by the railway, transport, usually by horse-drawn coach, maxed out at six miles per hour. The typical travel time between Manchester and Liverpool via coach, a journey that takes an hour by car today, was a mind-numbing eighteen hours, including rest stops – coaches travelled in ten- or fifteen-mile stages, hence ‘stagecoach’. During stops, at coaching inns, horses were changed and passengers could grab a bite to eat and drink. With the opening of the Liverpool and Manchester Railway on 15 September 1830, history’s first scheduled passenger train service, the same journey was cut to less than two hours. However, the opening was not without hiccup.


A celebratory maiden voyage was made on the opening day, carrying the prime minister, then Arthur Wellesley, the Duke of Wellington, and several prominent MPs. The train made a scheduled stop halfway into the journey. The staff warned passengers to stay aboard the train for their safety during this interlude, but they didn’t listen. Fifty people jumped off the train to have a stroll around the tracks. When the sound of a train was heard coming down the neighbouring track most jumped back onto their train or stood out of the way, apart from the MP for Liverpool, William Huskisson, who remained standing at the window of the PM’s carriage chatting away to Wellington. Someone shouted, ‘An engine is approaching! Take care, gentlemen!’ Unlike everyone else, Huskisson decided the safest option would be to squirm about like a perturbed salmon. As the oncoming train, which happened to be Stephenson’s Rocket, headed directly towards him at full pelt he attempted to cross the line to the opposite side, but he changed his mind and turned back, then turned back again and then once more, darting back and forth across the track like a rabbit in the headlights that has just been shot with 50,000 volts. Eventually, he decided the best option would be to stand deathly still in the centre of the track. Stephenson’s Rocket didn’t agree with this course of action and mowed him down, making Huskisson the first death on a railway.


Despite a macabre launch, the birth of the consumer railway saw a boon in the working class using it for day tourism to British coastal towns such as Blackpool and Brighton. Cotton mill workers used their only free day, Sundays, to spend a day by the sea. The slightly wealthier, however, enjoyed the restorative waters of the natural spring-fed Turkish baths at Harrogate or the spa waters of Bath and Buxton. In the mid-nineteenth century, within the space of a decade, the average travel speed in Britain had risen from roughly six to twenty-nine miles per hour. Such speeds initially terrified the public as it was widely assumed that the human body couldn’t handle them and the brain may explode under such forces. Their fears were abated when they arrived at their destination with their cerebral matter intact.


One of the most enthusiastic railway proponents and perhaps Britain’s greatest civil engineer was Isambard Kingdom Brunel. Early in his career Brunel helped build the world’s first tunnel under a river. The Thames Tunnel was constructed underneath the River Thames; construction began in 1825 and was completed in 1843. It became part of the London Underground network. Brunel then turned his attention to bridges and designed the Clifton Suspension Bridge. Crossing the deep Avon Gorge, at 214 metres across it had the longest span of any suspension bridge in the world, although Brunel did not live to see it finished. He designed and oversaw the construction of a handful of bridges around Britain that still serve us just as well today, such as the unmistakably Victorian Royal Albert Bridge that carries trains over the River Tamar.


Brunel’s reputation for studious perfection and ingenuity earned him a government contract that forever forged his legacy into the very soil of the nation, over a thousand miles of it. In 1833 Brunel was appointed chief engineer of the Great Western Railway project, to connect London to Bristol. Right away he made a controversial decision: to use broad-gauge track. At 7 ft ¼ in width, the track would be significantly wider than the standard-gauge 4 ft 8½ in use across Britain at the time. He doggedly defied the advice of all other prominent engineers to stick to the tried-and-tested standard-gauge – you can just imagine them sweating with fury in their perfectly measured waistcoats. Brunel proposed trains with much larger wheels and instead of the carriage sitting on top of the wheelbase it would lie in between them, with the bottom of the carriage at axel-height. This provided a lower centre of gravity, and the larger wheels created less friction, while the new wider tracks would provide far greater stability. Ultimately the Great Western Railway would be one of the fastest lines in the world.


To plan the route, Brunel took a walking stick that folded out to the exact width of the broad-gauge tracks, and he walked the entire route from London to Bristol on foot to precisely plan every segment, as was his fastidious nature. The route would require several tunnels and bridges such as Brunel’s famous 1.83-mile Box Tunnel. The Great Western Railway ran its first train in 1838 and was one of the wonders of Victorian Britain. That and the fact that despite Victorian make-up containing substantial quantities of arsenic, most women didn’t keel over dead after a quick powder.


By 1870 Britain had 13,500 miles of railway. This introduced a newly industrialised and interconnected Britain to a novel issue: if a train left Paddington Station at 2.30 p.m. on Brunel’s Great Western Railway heading for Bristol and was due to stop in Bath to collect extra passengers, how would the passengers at Bath know what time the train would pass through the station? Well, that’s simple, you may think; if the average travel time from London to Bath in 1850 was two hours, the train should roll into Bath at around 4.30 p.m. Not quite. The problem was that before the railways the clocks of Britain, and for that matter everywhere else, were not synchronised, because there had never been a need to sync them.


Pre-railway each town in Britain had a single despotic overlord, a sundial; this totalitarian stone obelisk dictated what time all the town’s clocks would be set to and therefore the everyday lives of its residents. Sundials, however, are inaccurate, due to seasonal differences and anomalies. Thus, the clocks could vary wildly between towns around Britain. You could potentially catch a twenty-minute train ride and arrive in the past, in the most extreme examples. With the birth of the railway came a need for all clocks in Britain to be striking the same chord at precisely the same time. You cannot run an efficient, scheduled train service if stations in London have no idea what time it is in Manchester. The solution was the world’s first standardised time, Greenwich Mean Time, based on the time at the Prime Meridian at the Royal Observatory in Greenwich, south-east London. It was first adopted by the Great Western Railway in 1840 but by 1855 almost all of Britain’s stations, town clocks and businesses were setting their clocks in accordance with GMT. Today Greenwich Mean Time is still the world standard from which all other time zones are referenced.


Now that the national bug for transportation had caught on among the public Brunel turned his attention to the water, specifically steamships. He wanted passengers to be able to purchase a single ticket at Paddington Station in London that would take them all the way to New York and back. And so his friend Thomas Guppy opened the Great Western Steamship company, to offer that very service in conjunction with the Great Western Railway. Brunel offered his services for free to design and build its maiden ship, SS Great Western, the world’s first steamship purpose-built to cross the Atlantic and the largest passenger ship in the world until 1839. Then in 1845 Brunel designed SS Great Britain, the first modern ship in the world, because it was constructed from iron rather than wood and utilised a revolutionary screw propeller. SS Great Britain was also the longest ship in the world and, when she embarked, gave birth to the cruise ship industry.


In 1852 Brunel doubled down on his previous successes and designed the Great Eastern, which was even larger than all ships that came before. It was designed to take passengers from London to Sydney, but such a long trip proved too costly, and she eventually found a role in laying the transatlantic telegraph cable from Western Ireland to Newfoundland. First operated in 1858, it reduced the usual communication time between North America and Britain from ten days to a few minutes. Little did Britain know she had just laid the foundations for the internet. With this cable and subsequent lines, the world began to shrink. By 1870 telegraph cables had connected India to the West, and so Queen Victoria could sit in Osborne House on the Isle of Wight and receive news from any corner of her empire, no more than a few hours after it happened.


As the Victorian age rolled in, industrialisation had spread across the world, from America to British India. And so the industrious folk of Victorian Britain needed new musings to occupy their time. With the wave of new useful inventions born out of the Industrial Revolution, an air of ‘nothing is impossible’ permeated the fog and the minds of the Victorians. They took this rather seriously and began inventing things that were more bemusing than useful. Patents began flooding the British patent office that described miraculous new inventions to transform an Englishman’s life. Such as the multi-purpose cane. Why walk with an ordinary cane when you could get your hands on this new Swiss army knife of a walking stick that contained an opium pipe, an umbrella, a butterfly net, a ruler for measuring the height of a horse and that which all self-respecting Victorian gentlemen need in a pinch: a flute? 





Lord Byron Fucks His Way Around Europe Then Dies


THE BRITISH ENJOYED REMARKABLE liberty for the age in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, only matched by the Dutch. It was this freedom that the entire empire drew immense pride from, and it inspired patriotism within the people of Victorian Britain. But with new levels of liberty came a new era of experimentation for a particular cross-section of British society: those who had more money than sense and more free time than they knew what to do with. That is to say, the upper class. For those born into nobility getting a job was considered well beneath their station, a sure-fire way to fall down the social ladder. It was only after one widely respected upper-class lady, Florence Nightingale, trained nurses and tended to the sick during the Crimean War that it became fashionable for ladies to do nursing in their free time. As for men, with little else to do with all the hours in the day, and all the money in their pockets, some turned to pushing the boundaries of English liberty to see just how far it could stretch. Some stretched it so far it bounded back in their face. These eccentric rakes utilised Britain’s prosperity and the empire to travel the world, sinning, seducing and sodomising at home and in distant lands. And very occasionally, between all the scandalous sex, they also wrote some lovely poetry.


There were few more scandalous or inclined to a spot of illicit poetry than Lord Byron. Born in London in 1788, at the age of nine he lost his virginity to his nanny. When he was ten, he inherited the Barony of Byron of Rochdale, as one does. He spent the rest of his childhood sexually experimenting with serving girls and misbehaving at Harrow. Here he had a small circle of male friends, and it’s suspected he may have shared a sexual relationship with his young friend and classmate John Thomas Claridge. Either that or he beat the shit out of him because Byron was frequently violent in his youth. From Harrow, he naturally moved on to Trinity College, Cambridge, where he gambled, rode horses and sexually pestered another young protégé, as Byron called him: John Edleston. Byron often wrote, in verse, about all his lovers. A risky move in itself, as homosexuality was illegal at the time and punishable by hanging.


By twenty-one, the stuffiness of London proved too claustrophobic for this racy young aristocrat, and he had accrued mounting debts – a bad habit he had picked up from his father who was disastrously financially irresponsible. Byron chose to ditch England and went on the Grand Tour, a tour of Europe traditionally taken by upper-class Englishmen upon turning twenty-one. It was a way for men, and sometimes women, of rank to familiarise and educate themselves on the ways of the Continent and to pick up some worldly anecdotes they could spend the rest of their lives repeating to socialites on the London circuit. The Grand Tour could take anywhere from a few months to a few years and took them through France, Italy, Switzerland and Germany. But for Byron, such a route was playing it too safe.


Byron adjusted his Grand Tour to start in Portugal, arriving in Lisbon on 7 July 1809. Many Grand Tourists had postponed their trips at this time because of the on-going Napoleonic Wars that made travel on the Continent risky, but for Byron, this only made it more exciting. In Lisbon, he enjoyed watching dancing girls and jumped head first, I presume, into sexual exploits with the local prostitutes. He then moved through Spain, Malta and into Greece. In Greece, he had a sexual relationship with fourteen-year-old Nicolo Giraud. The young boy taught Byron Italian and became his travel companion for a while; in exchange Byron paid for his education and gave him £7,000; a huge gift, equivalent to around half a million pounds today. He headed north into what was then a mysterious land that captivated Byron’s imagination: Albania.


In the early nineteenth century Albania was technically part of the sprawling Ottoman Empire but was really its own despotic kingdom, ruled by a bloodthirsty sultan, Ali Pasha. Britain was allied with Albania at the time, so a wealthy British lord waltzing into his kingdom was no great threat, and Ali sent soldiers to escort him and his entourage to his mighty Berat Castle, which sat proudly atop a large hill. Ali, an overweight seventy-year-old megalomaniac, was charmed by this young lothario and it is rumoured that he enjoyed sexual relations with him for the duration of his stay. Having gay sex with the despotic king of Albania is not something many could add to their CV. But for Byron, who was drawn to the sultan’s power and majesty, it was just another day on his bizarre grand tour of every carnal crevice Europe had to offer.


He returned to England in 1811 and the following year published the first two cantos of his long narrative poem Childe Harold’s Pilgrimage, about the travels of a fictional young man through Europe, though it was clear to everyone it was really an autobiography of Byron’s travels thus far. The dazzling tales flooded English social circles, and very soon, every upper-class lady in Britain knew of and wanted a piece of Byron. He was invited to every exclusive London party, where he had his pick of the women and often had affairs with the wives of powerful lords. He embarked on an affair with Lady Caroline Lamb, who penned the famous epithet that Byron was ‘mad, bad and dangerous to know’. There were also incestuous rumours that he enjoyed the intimate company of his half-sister, Augusta Leigh, and may have had a daughter with her. To escape the rumours he sought to hide in the confines of married life, marrying Annabella Milbanke in 1815. It was hopeless, mostly because Milbanke had the sense of humour of a coffin. She provided Byron with a daughter, Augusta Ada, but was not the companion-cum-sex-chimp he truly desired. The couple sought a legal separation in 1816, after which the persistent incestuous rumours and debt drove Byron away from England once more, but this time he would never return.


In Geneva Byron found his true calling, and that calling was living with a pair of romantic writers, the Shelleys. Byron lived with Percy Bysshe Shelley and his lover Mary Wollstonecraft Godwin (they would marry by the end of the year) during the excessively rainy summer of 1816, during which the Shelleys read German ghost stories and wrote their own, spurred on by Byron. Out of this literary competition came Mary Shelley’s Gothic masterpiece Frankenstein. It was also during this intimate lakeside interlude that Byron penned the third canto of Childe Harold’s Pilgrimage.


By that winter Byron moved on to Venice where he fell in love with a married woman, Marianna Segati, but he was soon bored of her and replaced her with a younger version, the twenty-two-year-old Margarita Cogni, also married – Byron prided himself on being able to seduce married women. Cogni left her husband and moved in with Byron, but the couple fought constantly, and so he often spent the night sleeping in his gondola. When he inevitably broke off the relationship, she threw herself into a canal.


Between 1817 and 1823 Byron lived in Rome, Ravenna and Pisa and finished the final cantos of his most famous work, Don Juan. He hosted grand dinner parties and often invited the Shelleys. In 1823 Byron spent his final days in Greece, first on the island of Kefalonia, then the Greek mainland, where he focused his efforts on helping the Greeks gain independence from the Ottoman Empire. Byron donned outlandish Greek military uniforms and spent £4,000 on refitting and improving the Greek navy. He was perhaps living out a fantasy of a life he had never chosen, that of a military commander – alas, Byron had chosen a life as an eccentric sex pest. Towards the end, amidst an attempted Greek revolution he found love in his Greek page, Lukas Chalandritsanos, who would not return his affections, despite Byron attempting to persuade him with poetry and large sums of money.


Byron’s dreams of Greek freedom were unsuccessful, and his dalliances in the Mediterranean world eventually killed him. In February 1824, before he set off on a planned attack on a Turkish-held fortress, Byron fell violently ill; he attempted bloodletting, which only intensified the malady. Then he developed sepsis from unclean medical equipment and died on 19 April, aged thirty-six. By now Byron had earned legendary status as a Greek national hero. The Greeks embalmed his body and sent it back to England for burial, but they kept his heart in Greece. Byron was supposed to be buried at Westminster Abbey, but the authorities refused to accept his body on the grounds of his not-so-Christian lifestyle. He was buried at a church in Nottinghamshire; however, in 1969, he did receive a permanent memorial at Westminster Abbey. But Byron’s most fitting epitaph was surely this: when his crypt was opened again in 1938, his embalmed cadaver had a massive erection. 


Surprisingly, Byron’s greatest export was not his penis but his daughter Ada Lovelace, an ingenious mathematician who contributed significantly to Charles Babbage’s Analytical Engine – the first concept of a programmable computer. Lovelace published the first algorithm designed for such a machine and is commonly thought to be one of the earliest programmers.


Byron wasn’t unique; he channelled the many English eccentrics who came before. There was just something about the stiff-upper-lipped English landed gentry that harboured a secret love of eccentricity and a burning desire for sensual delights – this seedy underbelly can still be observed in the wilds of Oxford in the modern-day toff. Eighteenth- and nineteenth-century toffs were so full of repressed sexual lust a secret society was created dedicated to being a toff who enjoyed titillation. It was called the Hellfire Club.


There were a few Hellfire Clubs set up around London. They were created by the very cream of the crop of English high society, such as the politician the Duke of Wharton, who created the first in 1718; then Francis Dashwood, the 11th Baron le Despencer, established his with help from the 4th Earl of Sandwich – yes, the first man who put roast beef between two slices of bread and changed the world for the better. They were secret hotbeds of intrigue for high society rakes who desired to break the bonds of British politeness, behave outrageously and discuss immoral acts in confidence. Hellfire Clubs would meet on Saturdays in pubs such as the Greyhound Tavern near St James’s Square. But they were more than networking events for wealthy moral delinquents; members would discuss philosophy, politics and religion. It was one of the first organised groups in Europe to criticise religion openly. Their meals were often mock religious ceremonies and contained dishes such as ‘Breast of Venus’ and ‘Holy Ghost Pie’ – remarkable early stirrings of agnosticism, when only 150 years earlier people were being burnt at the stake for reading from a different version of the Bible.


The Hellfire Club included unconventional libertines and lechers such as MP George Selwyn, who was obsessed with death; he travelled hundreds of miles just to watch a convicted felon be hung, drawn and quartered. He always watched and drew immense pleasure, some would say sexual pleasure, from watching the hangings at Tyburn. Selwyn visited undertakers to luridly observe heads being sewn back onto the bodies of executed criminals after beheadings; there were even rumours that he indulged in a spot of necrophilia while there. It is unknown whether he enjoyed them more before or after their head was re-attached.


The Hellfire Club wasn’t the only place you could find rakes in eighteenth-century England. Take the case of Henry Beresford, 3rd Marquess of Waterford, whose laddish behaviour in April 1837 spawned a popular proverb. After spending the day at Croxton races, Beresford and his droogs stumbled up to the gates of Melton Mowbray in the early hours of the morning, well lubricated with liquor. The tollkeeper, as was standard, asked for payment before he would open the gate to the town, but rather than pay it the toffee-nosed thugs grabbed a few cans of red paint and brushes that had been left overnight by workmen. They snatched the tollkeeper by the scruff of the neck and painted him from head to toe with the red paint. A nearby police constable tried to stop them, but they attacked him and smothered him with red paint too. The droogs then rollicked through the town’s marketplace and alleyways, painting doors and shop signs. A succession of solitary bobbies patrolling the streets tried to intervene, but Beresford and his cronies mobbed each one, beating them and then painting them all over. After several hours most of Melton Mowbray was covered in red paint. The gang were not stopped until a large squad of police were sent to arrest them. In their drunken night-time crime spree they quite literally ‘painted the town red’ and gave the English language a new epigram. The gang got away with a fine of £100 each and Beresford volunteered to pay for all damage to property.


Not all eccentrics were so harmless. Such as the rake who raped, Francis Charteris, a Scottish adventurer who spent most of his time gambling. He was convicted of raping a servant in 1730 and gained a nickname that has harrowed through the ages. He was dubbed ‘Rape-Master General’. But mercifully such detestable characters were often executed, as was Charteris.


Another aristocrat who met the same end was George Robert ‘Fighting’ Fitzgerald, an Irish landowner who took a blow to the head in his twenties which seemed to send him off the rails. He kept pet bears in his sprawling stately manor and dressed them up in women’s clothes; he would sometimes take them for walks. In a London coffee house when a student slighted that he could ‘smell a Catholic’, Fitzgerald leapt out of his chair brandishing a knife and sliced the boy’s nose off. He had as many as twenty-seven duels during his life; in one he shot a man’s wig off, pantomime style. He was a remarkably good marksman, but in one duel a chunk of his head was blown off, so a surgeon replaced it with a steel plate. While the surgeon was operating to remove fragments of bullet from his skull all Fitzgerald had to say was to please not damage his wig. When not duelling, he purposely bumped into people down dark alleyways to spur them into an impromptu fight. When he became desperate for money, he kidnapped his own father and ransomed him for £3,000. Ultimately, in 1786 he murdered his neighbour Patrick McDonnell during a dispute – for this he was tried and executed. 





Queen Victoria Doesn’t Eat a Curry


BRITAIN’S ENTRANCE INTO the Indian subcontinent, like elsewhere, was driven by trade. The private businessmen acting on behalf of the British Crown never set out to build a colonial empire. These interlopers had one goal: profit. To think that someday the whole of India, at the time ruled by the Mughal Empire, would be a colony of the British Crown was unfathomable. 


The East India Company established its first factory on Indian’s east coast in Masulipatnam in 1611. After receiving permission from the Mughal emperor, it expanded its corporate operations to another factory in Surat in 1612. But to protect its trade operations, the East India Company began to militarise itself. By 1750 there were 3,000 soldiers under its employ; by 1778 it had 67,000; by 1803 it had a private army of 260,000 men, twice the size of the British Army. Most of its soldiers were Indian, trained by the company using British drilling techniques, such as shooting rifles in three lines – the same manoeuvres in which Cromwell had drilled the New Model Army. These British-trained Indian soldiers were known as sepoys, and by the nineteenth century they were the empire’s most formidable land-based fighting force in the East. To further bolster its defences the company began constructing forts around its Indian trading outposts. Around these forts would spring settlements that grew into large cities, notably the patriotically named Fort St George, constructed in 1644, around which developed the city of Madras. And, in 1696, Fort William on the banks of the Hooghly River gave rise to Calcutta.


As the Mughal Empire slowly fell apart and large regions of India came under the autonomous control of the East India Company, the trade winds of power in the Indian subcontinent began to blow towards Britain. But there was a challenger: everywhere British interlopers set down trading posts and colonies there was persistently a big French-shaped shadow looming somewhere nearby. The scramble for world dominance had begun, and there could only be one victor. France had also realised the intrinsic value of the Indian subcontinent as being the key to a global empire, and they too, like the British, had established strategic fortifications in India, such as Fort Saint Louis at Pondicherry. The French East India Company settled here in 1674 and constructed a fort in 1701. If one were to visit Pondicherry in the early eighteenth century, with its French signs, cafés and parlours, one would assume they were in the heart of provincial France.


In 1700 France was the largest power in continental Europe. Britain dominated the seas, but France ruled on land. Its economy was twice that of England’s and its population three times larger. So, if any power were to challenge the unceasing yoke of Britain’s imperial expansion, it would be France. The two nations recognised that whichever colonial power conquered India – with its bottomless reserves of military manpower, bountiful resources, rich culture and strategic location as the gateway to the East – that country would hence conquer the world. Naturally, a war broke out, one that would decide whether the world would be English or French: the Seven Years’ War, which lasted from 1756 to 1763.


The Seven Years’ War is widely considered to be the true ‘first world war’. In much the same way as the two world wars of the twentieth century, it featured two rival coalitions. Every major world power was involved and either sided with the British, including Prussia, Portugal and several small German states, or with the French, which included the Holy Roman Empire, the Russian Empire, Spain and Sweden, as well as each country’s respective colonies. There was fighting on almost every continent. In 1763 the British-Prussian faction came out on top. This shifted the bulk of the power in Europe from France to Britain and whoever ruled Europe ruled the world, so it seemed the world would be English, not French.


In India, however, during the Seven Years’ War the shift of power came at the Battle of Plassey. It took place on 23 June 1757 along the banks of the Hooghly River between the British East India Company and the nawab, the leader of the autonomous region of Bengal who had allied with the French. The French-Bengali army consisted of a mighty 50,000 men, forty cannons and ten elephants. The British forces had a measly 3,000 soldiers. This should have been a quick and easy victory for the French, but on the day quite the opposite happened: the British, with only 6 per cent of the numbers fielded by the opposition, won decisively. They achieved what, on paper, should have been an impossible victory, due to a basic Bengali blunder: when it began to rain, the British commander, Robert Clive, brought tarpaulins to keep his powder dry; the Bengalis did not, rendering their guns useless. Falsely assuming the British powder was also damp and ineffective, the Bengal commander, Nawab Siraj ud-Daulah, ordered a cavalry charge. This was a fatal miscalculation; the British opened fire and slaughtered most of the cavalry, including the regiment’s valued commander Mir Madan Khan. This shocked the nawab, who ordered his men to fall back, which exposed the immobile French artillery unit, allowing the British to swoop in and capture them. Without the crucial support of the French contingent, the battle was firmly in the hands of the British. 


Plassey was a pivotal moment that permanently tipped the balance of power in India in favour of the British. With the nawab defeated, the East India Company was now in control of all of Bengal and over the next decades it would expand the boundaries of this new British patch of India to include the entire subcontinent, which encompassed all of modern-day Pakistan too. The regions under British control were called ‘princely states’.


British rule in India is understandably one of history’s most controversial topics. But when it came to local rulership, British governance appeared positively egalitarian compared with the ways of their predecessors. The nawabs had a reputation for despotism, and particularly the last nawab of Bengal, Siraj ud-Daulah, who ruled until his defeat at Plassey. He used to have boats on the Ganges purposely tipped over so he could watch people drown with screams of agony and he would tear open the bellies of pregnant women to see what was inside. Just before Plassey, in June 1756, Siraj grew so incensed by the operations of the East India Company in Calcutta that he gathered forces together and took Fort William. The captured British officers inside the fort, 146 of them, were all chucked inside an incredibly small holding cell (4.3 by 5.5 metres), normally used by the British to keep one or two drunken vagabonds overnight. There the nawab kept the British for three days in the blistering heat of a Bengal summer. They were so cramped and dehydrated when the cell was finally opened again, 123 of the 146 prisoners had died from heat exhaustion or suffocation. The cell was branded the ‘Black Hole of Calcutta’.


The British forces at Plassey were under the ruthless but efficient leadership of Robert Clive, who later became known as Clive of India because it could be argued that he essentially created India. India as a united nation didn’t exist before the British; it was a collection of semi-autonomous provinces under the overlordship of a Mughal emperor. 


By the 1770s the East India Company required loans from the British government to keep it financially stable. It wasn’t that the company wasn’t turning a profit in India, or should I say out of India; it was, quite substantially in fact. But company officials were unscrupulously funnelling profits into their own personal pots – the East India Company was being plundered and drained of its capital while those who ran it became multi-millionaires. These newly wealthy fraudsters brought their loot back to England and used it to build sprawling country manors. Back in Britain, a derogatory nickname came into common usage to label British people who became exceedingly wealthy in India: nabobs.


Lord North, Britain’s prime minister between 1770 and 1782, was disgusted by the blatant corruption of the nabobs, and he believed that India could be better managed if it ceased being a corporate possession and was handed over to the British state to become part of the empire proper. Lord North’s Regulating Act of 1773 attempted to overhaul the struggling management of the Indian realms by the East India Company. However, it wasn’t until William Pitt the Younger, Britain’s youngest prime minister, assumed the office in 1783 aged twenty-four, and introduced his India Act of 1784, that India truly came under sovereign control. Pitt’s India Act established a Board of Control in England. Consisting of only six members, it would keep a check on the East India Company’s actions in India and the East Indies. Essentially the British Crown and Parliament now held absolute authority over matters of the Indian state.


In 1786 Charles Cornwallis was appointed Governor-General of India, essentially the region’s commander-in-chief. This was the same Cornwallis who was defeated at Yorktown in America, but the British government didn’t deem him a failure, as they saw victory at Yorktown as impossible under any commander, what with the French and their stubborn blockade. He introduced many reforms, significantly the Cornwallis Code, which for the first time since the East India Company had arrived provided India with an efficient and well-organised structure of government. It split the East India Company into three departments: commercial, revenue and judicial, thus streamlining the processes of trade, tax collection and law and order in India.


The British certainly pushed to make the Indians who served under them dress, think and speak more like Englishmen. But for the most part, the British did not intend to suppress or subvert core Indian cultures, especially not religious ones, of which there was a huge and diverse number. British officers and indeed many back in Britain were fascinated by what they saw as intoxicating customs and cultures which they struggled to understand but were drawn to nonetheless. It was entirely common for British officers in India to have an Indian wife or mistress.


As the British soon discovered, however, not all Indian customs were positive. Catholic missionaries in India and many of the officers were horrified at the Hindu practice of sati, or widow-burning. This is when a newly widowed woman would throw herself, or be forcibly thrown by others, atop her husband’s funeral pyre to burn alive and follow him to the afterlife. What further use is a woman in the mortal world if she can no longer serve her husband? At least that was the demented logic behind the barbaric practice. It took place mostly within the upper levels of India’s caste system. This was one religious custom the British were so appalled by that they simply couldn’t allow it to continue. Prominent British figures began to campaign for the abolition of sati, and the campaign was led by Christian missionary William Carey and slavery abolitionist William Wilberforce.


In 1803 a survey of sati cases was conducted in a 300-mile radius around Calcutta, which reported 300 instances of the practice. As polygamy was common among local Indian rulers, sometimes tens of wives would leap onto the funeral pyre, such as at the funeral of Budh Singh, a Rajah of Bundi. He was burnt alongside eighty-four of his wives. In 1829 the Governor-General Lord William Bentinck finally outlawed sati, punishable by death, after which the custom mostly disappeared. Bentinck also saw it as his mission to rid the nation of other barbaric customs such as female infanticide, child marriage and human sacrifice. He successfully suppressed all three. He also cracked down on and mostly eradicated the Thuggee gangs, groups of travelling Indian highwaymen who would leap out on victims, strangle them to death with a handkerchief and rob their corpse.


Discontent at the British interfering with long-held Hindu customs and the imposition of land taxes roused rebellion, and in May 1857 thousands of sepoys in Delhi mutinied against British rule. Over the following months, the mutineers spread to neighbouring states, murdering British women and children as they went. It took some time for British soldiers, who had recently been fighting the Crimean War, to arrive in India. The British forces, aided by the majority of sepoys who had remained loyal to their imperial overlords, laid waste to the rebel strongholds of Delhi and Lucknow, during which most of the mutineers were killed or hanged. However, the mass murder of British men, women and children by the mutineers sent some soldiers into a vengeful wrath. These soldiers committed cruel acts such as tying mutineers to the mouth of a cannon and then firing it so their body was ripped to pieces – an exceptionally horrific method of execution that was an old form of punishment used by the Mughals. At Cawnpore the British troops forced the Muslim and Hindu rebels to eat pork or beef before their execution.


For many Indians, it was a war of independence, but the outcome was quite the opposite. Following the uprising, the British government deemed it necessary to reorganise and strengthen its rule. In 1858, under Prime Minister Lord Palmerston, the Government of India Act was passed which liquidated the more than 250-year-old East India Company. All the company’s possessions in India, including its navy and armies, were transferred to the British government. All vestiges of power concerning the governance of India were transferred to the British Crown. Queen Victoria was granted the title ‘Empress of India’, although she would never actually visit India. She preferred to have India come to her: she employed Indian servants in her residences, and the large Koh-i-Noor diamond, mined in India, was worn by Victoria on a brooch. It was later added to the Crown Jewels, making India quite literally the ‘jewel in the crown’. Victoria ordered her cooks to prepare a huge vat of curry every single day just in case a visiting Indian stopped by from that strange foreign land she happened to rule, although she never ate any herself. It probably wouldn’t have been very nice since the recipe weirdly called for the spices to be added at the end.


From 1858 the princely states were now fully incorporated into British India, and the era of the British Raj had begun. The Raj lasted until India’s independence in 1947, and was Britain’s period of direct rule over India, as opposed to company rule. How the Raj was governed is one of the most remarkable examples of bleedingly efficient bureaucracy in history. During the Raj, over 300 million Indians were ruled by only 4,000 British civil servants. So then why, almost two centuries later, does it take roughly 60,000 HMRC employees to send my tax return to the wrong address?


Why so few people were able to rule so many is because those chosen for the Indian Civil Service were the cream of the crop of Britain’s intelligentsia, quite unlike Keith from the Department for Work and Pensions. The exam for this prestigious and exotic post was held in London in August each year and open to candidates aged between twenty-one and twenty-four only. It was notoriously difficult, with questions purposely designed to catch out the unprepared, and before the hopefuls were permitted even to sit the written exam, they had first to pass a horse-riding test. Those who passed would then have to spend two years at Oxford, Cambridge or London University, studying Indian laws, the Indian revenue system and the language of the province they were to administer. Only if they could make it over all these hurdles could they assume their new role in the ICS and govern over a vast swathe of India and roughly 75,000 people – the astonishing number of Indian people just one British civil servant was responsible for.


The legacy of British India is understandably controversial, but frustratingly for the ignoramuses who wish to slap damaging binary labels of ‘good’ and ‘evil’ on history, the British time in India was an exceedingly nuanced affair. And there is no doubt that the crushing regimes they replaced were more despotic than the British. The British took a lot from India – they arrived in search of profit and luxury goods, and that never changed. But the British left something with the Indian people, the same thing they left other lands they colonised: liberty. Perhaps not directly and perhaps it wasn’t always obvious, but by the time the British left India, the nation enjoyed greater liberty than ever before. By 1875 the British had introduced over 470 newspapers to India, with an unprecedented freedom of press. As they often did, the British brought democracy and English common law, and of course the English language. It goes without saying that the British gave India cricket, and also tea when they carried it over from China.


Britain itself has absorbed the splendour of Indian cuisine so thoroughly that one cannot walk a few miles in the UK without chancing upon another curry house. In fact, the nation’s favourite dish is Chicken Tikka Masala, consistently beating classics such as pies and roast dinner in national polls. But perhaps the greatest legacy that the British built in India that has transformed the nation more than all else is the railways. The British built thousands of miles of railways in India out of entirely selfish and profiteering motives but they were quickly adopted by the Indians and became entwined with their culture, forever altering their way of life. Today the old colonial railways that connect the subcontinent are almost a romantic symbol of modern Indian freedom and embody the pioneering spirit of the people as they cross its vast plains, deserts and heady urban jungles. 
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A Victorian Man Sells His Wife for Some Gin


It was the best of times, it was the worst of times, it was the age of wisdom, it was the age of foolishness, it was the epoch of belief, it was the epoch of incredulity, it was the season of Light, it was the season of Darkness, it was the spring of hope, it was the winter of despair, we had everything before us, we had nothing before us, we were all going direct to Heaven, we were all going direct the other way 


– Charles Dickens, A Tale of Two Cities



FOR ME, DICKENS’ FAMOUS ANTITHESIS perfectly sums up the Victorian era. This was a period of self-expression. With history’s largest empire in their pocket and being part of the richest country, decades ahead of any other nation in technical innovation, the British people must have felt like the masters of the world. This was all underpinned by English common law and the most stable system of government ever devised, a system so beautifully efficient those on the Continent envied it. This gave the British a level of self-confidence they had never felt before, the sense that they could make their own fate, go wherever they desired and eat whatever, or whomever, they pleased – and that they did.


By 1845 Britain’s railways were carrying over thirty million passengers each year, but this new rapid transportation network was also used to haul thousands of tonnes of mass-produced consumer goods around the country, to what was now the world’s first and largest mass consumerist society. For the first time in history, you could go to a city miles away, from London to Manchester say, and find the exact same products in the pantries of two entirely different families. Brands were born that still exist and are loved by Britons today, such as Boots, Twinings, Rowntree’s, Cadbury, Lyle’s (which still uses the same Victorian labelling on its products) and many others.


Street food and beverage stalls became popular, and stopping off at one for a bite to eat or a pick-me-up became a regular part of the day for most city dwellers. What may surprise you is that there were more coffee stalls in London than tea stalls. City folk may have stopped at these stalls many times throughout the day but customers were not allowed to take their beverages away from the stall – well-dressed Victorian gentleman were handed a small china teacup and saucer of coffee which they would drink standing up, next to the stall, and then return the crockery to be reused for the next customer, hopefully washed first.


But things weren’t always as they seemed: coffee was commonly cut with acorns so the vendor could increase profits. Other foods were frequently adulterated too: chalk was added to bread to whiten it; lead was added to chocolate, cheese, wine and cider; tea was cut with turmeric, and used tea leaves were often collected, dried and recycled. In 1877 a local government board discovered over a quarter of milk was watered down and had excessive amounts of chalk in it. The meat in sausages was so arbitrary they gained the nickname ‘little bags of mystery’. As you can imagine, adulterated foods often led to illness or worse. Things got slightly better after the Adulteration of Food and Drink Act was passed in 1860, but adherence to it was optional. Food adulteration didn’t significantly decrease until the Sale of Food and Drugs Act 1875, a legislative milestone in the history of food standards; it is still the basis of Britain’s food standards laws today.


It wasn’t just food that was subject to legal overhaul; Victorian Britain ushered in a new age of legalism. Parliament had the sole authority to create, alter and repeal laws as it did with unprecedented regularity throughout the nineteenth century. Many such laws shook the social fabric of the land and caused deep rifts of disorder and on a few occasions great pain, but generally these laws, many of which have since been emulated across the world, gave a sense of tangible freedom and security to the British people. Nineteenth-century visitors to Britain often remarked at how much freedom of economy, travel, thought and expression the British enjoyed when compared to other nations. 


There was unavoidable poverty in Victorian Britain, usually only a street across from the wealthiest residents. Yet, throughout the era, the British people, especially the English, had the greatest liberty of all Europeans. Stanley Baldwin, British prime minister of the 1920s and ’30s, declared, ‘England is the natural home of liberty and free institutions.’ It was this very idea of liberty upon which Britain built its second empire.


The first and second Reform Acts were passed by Parliament in 1832 and 1867 respectively. The First Reform Act granted seats in the House of Commons to the large, new cities that the Industrial Revolution had spawned, such as Manchester, so they were now properly represented. It removed seats belonging to the ‘rotten boroughs’, areas of land with very few actual residents but controlled by a wealthy landlord; basically, a rich toff who was representing nobody in parliament except himself and his own interests. Rotten boroughs sometimes had two members of parliament despite the area they represented having a tiny number of residents, barely sufficient for one MP, because the constituencies were decided before all the residents moved to new industrial cities. The act made one in five male adults, and many who owned a reasonably sized property, eligible to vote. The electorate was increased overnight from 400,000 to 650,000. The Second Reform Act thirty-five years later took this even further, more than tripling the electorate to almost 2 million. Then, in 1884, the third and final Reform Act gave the vote to all male agricultural workers. Women would have to wait till 1918 to gain partial suffrage and 1928 for universal suffrage.


Throughout the entire span of the Middle Ages, women held no more rights than the sheep in their field. Matters had improved only marginally by the nineteenth century. In the eyes of the law, a woman was the sole property of her father. That was until she got married – which surprisingly didn’t happen until after she hit twenty in the Victorian era; by the end of the era the average marriage age hit twenty-six – at which point, her possession would legally transfer to her new husband. Once married, any land, money she had saved and other possessions would become her husband’s. Don’t forget her dowry, of course. Lord Byron received a handsome dowry of £20,000 from the parents of his wife Annabella Milbanke, equivalent to over £2 million today – but then, he did need it, as he had an annoying habit of giving all his money away to young Greek boys he wished to have sex with.


A man was also responsible for his wife’s behaviour in public. To prevent any embarrassment that could arise from a wife behaving too much like herself, he was legally allowed to beat her, as brutally as he deemed fit, as long as he didn’t actually kill her. It is commonly believed that the phrase ‘rule of thumb’ originates from an English common law that stipulated a man could only beat his wife with a rod or stick that was no wider than his thumb. A wife was not allowed to invite anyone into the home without permission from her husband. She was not allowed to go out without permission from her husband. She could not make her own last will and testament without permission from her husband. Despite all this, marriage was not an option but a borderline requirement for all women. Spinsterhood, or worse, an unmarried couple living together were both tremendous social faux pas, considered unacceptable in most respectable circles. If a well-born daughter chose either path, she was not only disgracing herself but inviting shame upon her entire family. Twice Prime Minister Robert Peel introduced the first police force, the Metropolitan in 1829, which finally took the responsibility away from husbands for curtailing the rambunctious behaviour of their wild wives.


How did one ‘come out’ in Victorian Britain? By attending one’s first season, of course. To ‘come out’ in the seventeenth, eighteenth and nineteenth centuries had an entirely different meaning and was in no way related to homosexuality. When an upper-class girl reached the age of eighteen, it was time for her to ‘come out’ by being presented at her first London season, the most important event of a marriage-ready young lady’s life. The season was an annual social event that coincided with the sitting of Parliament and spanned spring and summer, coming to an end in July. Most upper-class families would predominantly live on their sprawling countryside estates, then for several weeks to several months out of each year, come to reside in a large London townhouse to enjoy the season. Young daughters of such families, at eighteen, would be permitted to attend their first season as ‘debutantes’. They would first need to attend a debutante ball to advertise their ‘coming out’ to the eligible bachelors of high society.


The mother of all debutante balls was Queen Charlotte’s Ball, founded in 1780 by George III and held at St James’s Palace then later moved to Buckingham Palace. Over three days, hundreds of girls wearing white gowns and holding bouquets would queue up outside the palace in their carriages waiting for their turn to be presented to the reigning monarch. Like a bizarre conveyor belt of posh totty, it was a way for each family to advertise to the royal court ‘look what we produced, isn’t it attractive, now somebody . . . anybody . . . please take it’. After being presented their coming out was complete and they were free to partake in the festivities of the ball and meet the cream of the crop of blue-blooded young men in search of a bride. Ladies were chaperoned at the event, often by their father, to make sure they didn’t do anything downright stupid in front of suitors, like talk about themselves.


As well as Queen Charlotte’s Ball there were endless private balls held in the London residences of the aristocracy and the season was peppered with events, beginning in March and ending in July; in order: Cheltenham Festival, the Oxford and Cambridge Boat Race, Chelsea Flower Show, Epsom Derby, Royal Ascot and Wimbledon, among others. All these social sporting events were expensive camouflage for speed dating, and freshly presented young ladies were expected to be always on the lookout for their potential husband at each one. It was expected that by the second or third season a lady should have definitely found a match and have been proposed to, and if not there was something drastically wrong with her that no amount of champagne and silk could disguise. The London season still occurs today, albeit less officially and on a much smaller scale.


Social etiquette was everything in Victorian Britain. For the middle and upper classes, it was a code to live by, and for the working class, it was something to be emulated to raise one’s social position. Having good social hygiene and always making every effort to be ‘proper’ was considered the epitome . . . no, in fact, it was the very essence of Englishness. It was what separated a distinguished nineteenth-century English gentleman or lady from any other nationality, though the French made a good go of it and many constructs of British etiquette originated in France. Throughout the era, hundreds of books were published, usually written by the lord or lady of some great house, which instructed the more peasanty folk on how they too, by following the author’s instruction, could become less utterly detestable specimens of humanity.


For example, the simple act of visiting a friend or acquaintance was more difficult and more complex than invading a small country. Every Victorian socialite worth their salt had a custom calling card. Like business cards, these usually depicted only the owner’s name, which was often surrounded by beautifully penned illustrations, perhaps some birds or flowers. New mass printing technologies allowed tremendous amounts of customisation, which, as was often the case with the Victorians, could quickly turn from simple and elegant to overblown garishness – oh how they loved to get carried away.


If a visitor called upon a person who was not at home, then she should leave a calling card to notify the owner of her visit (calling cards were almost always left by women, not men). In fact, two personalised calling cards should be left: one for the resident’s master of the household, whether that be the resident’s father, husband or other, and one for the resident herself (women would only visit women; after all she would only visit a married man if she was up to no good – at least that was the public perception). The very act of leaving these cards was a stupendously grand affair. A pair of liveried footmen would stand to the side or behind the lady’s carriage while she delivered the card to a servant, who would then place it upon a silver tray by the door for the owner to discover later that night. This silver tray was often used to parade one’s astute social connections. The more calling cards piled up on the tray, the more it would impress visitors – like collecting followers on social media today, but less vacuous. Any calling cards from visitors of exceptionally high social status were often moved to the top of the pile to really show off.


As a matter of etiquette, calling cards should also be delivered after being invited to someone’s home for a dinner party, to say thank you, or as an extension of condolences in times of illness or loss. To avoid confusion, the intention of the calling card was usually written on its reverse. Alternatively, there was a system of coded messages: a corner of the card could be folded down to indicate condolence or the opposite corner to say congratulations – although the folding down of the top right corner could also mean that the visitor came with her daughter. As you can imagine, it all got terribly complicated, and by the end of the nineteenth century, the folding of corners stopped as people began losing track of which corner meant what, who the heck had died and whether or not they should be offended.


If one did feel the inclination to pop into a friend’s house for a surprise afternoon visit, there were equally strict formalities to be obeyed for what we would today consider a very informal occasion. A footman or butler would introduce the visitor by name before she entered the room, the visitor should then stay for at least fifteen minutes so as not to appear rude but never longer than thirty, and conversation should be strictly limited to small talk, so no topics could be raised that may cause offence. 


Courtship was also a very different affair than we are used to. Young lovers would have to be chaperoned during any public outings together, otherwise known as a ‘date’ if one dare be so bold. A well-seasoned chaperone was expected to know when the couple might desire a moment alone and would make a suitable excuse to absent themselves.


Hand fans were another veritable minefield of social etiquette among British high society. The last thing a fan was used for was for a lady to cool herself, in fact, to fervently beat an open fan in front of yourself was considered the height of rudeness. Gosh, no! Primarily a fan was an elegantly subtle communication device that had an entire language associated with it. This was one of the few means of self-expression a Victorian lady had that could cut through the idle small talk she would mercilessly drivel out for hours during social gatherings. Resting a fan on one’s right cheek meant a simple ‘Yes’, the left cheek ‘No’. Drawing it across the eye meant ‘I’m sorry’, whereas drawing it across the forehead said ‘We are being watched’. Drawing it across the cheek meant ‘I love you’, and placing the handle on one’s lips was an invitation to kiss. Twirling a fan in the left hand signalled ‘I wish to get rid of you’, whereas drawing it through the hand meant simply ‘I hate you’. There were many more, in fact; two ladies could have an entire muted conversation using only hand fans. One needed to be careful, though, as an inexperienced fan custodian may have inadvertently agreed to elope with the dog by the end of the evening.


How one dressed was just as, if not more important than how one behaved. The Victorians would be appalled at the number of people who wear casual and scruffy clothing on the streets today and any brave visitor to Hull on a Saturday night would be hard-pressed not to agree with them. For ladies of class, a corset was a must. Excruciatingly tight boning corsets were often worn to accentuate the tininess of a lady’s waist; these could be made smaller over time to ‘train’ the waistline. To further accent the inward curve of their waist, some women even underwent surgery to remove their lower ribs. Even without surgery, the very wearing of a corset, to the extent that was common, usually caused deformities of the spine later in life. Corsets would sit above a base of multiple layers of petticoats, and the bottom petticoat was sometimes a steel-hooped caged crinoline that would have been extremely heavy to lug around.


It was severely poor taste for a man or woman to leave the house with their head uncovered – hats were always worn outside. Top hats and the typically more working-class bowler hat could also be incredibly versatile: pork pies and even books were sometimes stored in such hats. 


Upper-class ladies were always the first adopters of any new trends in fashion, which were usually copied directly from royalty. These trends would eventually trickle down the social hierarchy, but sometimes the imitation went a step too far. In 1867 Alexandra of Denmark, the wife of Edward, Prince of Wales, developed a limp after contracting rheumatic fever. Since she was already a much-emulated royal, upper-class ladies began limping. The ‘Alexandra Limp’ became all the rage in London high society. Shoemakers began selling pairs of shoes with one heel larger than the other to inflict wearers with a faux limp.


When Victorians weren’t busy limping around Belgravia like maimed frogs or trying not to look utterly foolish by concerning themselves with the correct attire – morning coat or evening tails? – they were experimenting with absurd new ideas and technologies. Such as optography. For a while, the Victorians became convinced by the notion that when people died, the very last image their eyes saw could be reproduced. This idea was popularised by the research of German physiologist Wilhelm Kühne, who suspected that a pigment in the retina left something similar to a photographic negative upon the moment of death. Optography began to enter popular crime fiction – killers would be caught after the police were able to recover an image of the assailant’s face from the retinas of the victim’s corpse. With the idea gaining such popularity in fiction, the actual police started to photograph dead victims’ eyeballs, just in case – which is exactly what Scotland Yard did with Mary Jane Kelly, the final victim of Jack the Ripper in 1888. Unfortunately, for the optimistic police force, optography didn’t actually work. However, this didn’t stop hundreds of murderers in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries from gouging out the eyeballs of their victims as a precaution.


Victorian England gave rise to the world of competitive sports as we know it. In fact, you can thank the English for inventing close to every popular sport going, and you can thank Victorian Britain and the empire for perpetuating them across the globe. Such as football. The first set of modern rules for the game were conjured up on the playing fields of Eton College in the early sixteenth century, and later association football was codified in English universities in the mid-nineteenth century. Britain also spawned rugby, tennis, badminton, squash, rowing, netball, golf, boxing, darts, polo, baseball (although much debated, references to a ‘base-ball’ game appear in books and diaries from early eighteenth-century England) and table tennis, which was invented as a makeshift after-dinner game by English aristocracy – books were often placed on a dining table in place of nets, a Champagne cork served as a ball, and cigar box lids became paddles.


And then, of course, there is cricket. In fact, if one wishes to find out if a country was ever part of the British Empire, one simply has to ask if they play cricket. Even hockey – both field and ice varieties – was invented in England (sorry, Canada). There are references to hockey games in England as early as the 1790s, and Charles Darwin wrote about his experience playing hockey on a frozen river in Shrewsbury in the 1820s. By this point, it would be easier to ask which sport did the British not invent? Although some of the aforementioned games could have been played, in some form, earlier in other countries, it was Britain that transformed them into codified sports.


There were other sports that the eccentric Victorian Englishman took pleasure in which haven’t caught on so well. Namely, racing penny-farthings and tea leaves. The penny-farthing was an improvement, if one can call vastly enlarging the front wheel an improvement, of a French bicycle design called the boneshaker. A larger front wheel allowed for faster speeds with a limiting direct drive system. It received its name because the huge front wheel next to the tiny rear wheel resembled the relative size of the British penny and farthing coins. They first appeared on the streets of London in the 1870s, and were so notoriously dangerous and difficult to ride that cycling schools popped up to teach top-hatted gentlemen how to cycle, in the same way one pays for driving lessons today. Indeed, when the modern bicycle design was invented in the 1880s it was initially marketed as a ‘safety bicycle’.


Doing a header over the handlebars was the most common cause of penny-farthing fatalities. This was so easy to do on one of these Victorian death traps that when riders coasted down a hill they usually lifted their feet over the handlebars, so at least if the bicycle tipped forward they would land on their feet, not their head. Naturally, the British instantly turned the art of riding penny-farthings into a sport, and there were both track and road penny-farthing races around the country. The tradition is kept alive to this day by a spiffing handful of penny-farthing enthusiast clubs, and races still take place around the country.


Across the seas, Victorians were busy racing tea leaves. How does one race a tea leaf, you may ask. Well, on a ship, of course. Tea from the East Indies was brought to Britain on specially constructed merchant vessels called clippers. Tea clippers had much smaller cargo holds than other merchant vessels, but they were significantly faster with their numerous towering white sails. Because tea leaves were past their best after a few months, ferrying the produce to Britain as fast as possible was a priority. A regular merchant vessel may have taken 200 days to travel from China to England, but a clipper could make the same journey in as little as seventy-seven days. Speed was also important because clippers that had previously recorded a particularly fast transit record from China to England could command higher prices for their tonnage.


Like everything else the British did, tea clipping soon turned into a sport. Each tea season, clippers departing from Hong Kong carrying cargos full of tea and sailing for rival companies would race the waves to see which could reach England first. Crew members and the public on both sides of the ocean would make wagers on the fastest ship. Popular newspapers had a dedicated ‘shipping intelligence’ column keeping the public up to date on the latest movements of clippers mid-race. This culminated in the Great Tea Race of 1866. Fifty-seven clippers were contending, but there were only five serious contenders: Ariel, Taeping, Serica, Fiery Cross and Taitsing. Each set off from China to be the first to travel the 14,000 nautical miles to London. It was the closest tea race in history. The winner, Taeping, delivered the first tea of the season, docking just twenty-eight minutes before Ariel. An hour and a quarter later, Serica showed up to claim third place, Fiery Cross finished a day later and finally Taitsing drifted into the harbour two whole days behind the winner.


Another Victorian tradition that wasn’t quite a sport but was remarkably popular was wife-selling. A Victorian-era market was a feast for the senses. The smell of freshly roasted coffee beans and intoxicating spices from across the empire tussled with the ghastly essence of death wafting over from the gallows. The sound of cattle and squealing pigs pervaded the air, as did the chatter from the crowd, brimming with vagabonds, thieves, the wealthy and the not-so-wealthy, merchants plying their trades and street food vendors flogging hot pies and sandwiches with roast ham carved directly from the bone (a universally popular post-drinks supper following a night out on the Victorian town). All of whom had to compete with street hawkers selling their once most-prized possession, their wives. ‘Roll up, roll up, she’s hard-working, deceptively strong, and younger than she looks. Only a pound – a real bargain, folks.’ Men selling their wives was a common sight at markets in Britain. Beginning in the late seventeenth century this common practice continued all the way until the early twentieth century. As reported in a newspaper in 1790:


 


A man at Ninfield stocks in Sussex last week sold his wife to another man of the same place for the valuable consideration of half a pint of gin; the purchaser being in liquor at the time the bargain was concluded, the seller in order that he should not complain of any unfair advantage having been taken of him took his dear spouse to bed and board until the next morning when the buyer attended and claimed his lady who was delivered by the husband in due form, having a halter round her neck, and two witnesses being present. The woman appeared overjoyed at the change, nor did the man seem less happy at their lots.


 


The first Court of Divorce was established in England in 1857; before this it was very costly and difficult for a man to detangle himself from his wife. If a man wanted rid of his wife, or vice-versa, the husband would have to pay the present-day equivalent of £15,000 for a private act of Parliament, plus the blessing of the Church of England, which was about as easy as splitting an atom with a sledgehammer. So unsurprisingly, poorer people, especially those who had large debts, might look to sell their wives instead. Wife-selling was particularly popular in the West Midlands, but Yorkshire held the crown with the highest number of wife sales between 1760 and 1880, and is the only place where a man could probably still trade his wife for a pie today.


What about the monarch herself, the woman who gave her name to Britain’s most famous period? Alexandrina Victoria was born to the Duke and Duchess of Kent, Prince Edward and Princess Victoria of Saxe-Coburg-Saalfeld. Edward was the fourth son of the reigning George III. Victoria was raised under the ‘Kensington System’ invented by her mother, in which the young heir was isolated from all other children and adhered to a strict daily schedule of lessons. She was taught, among other subjects, Greek, Italian, French, German, Latin and decorum. She spent all day with her mother and slept in the same room as her. Victoria grew sick of her, and as soon as she became queen, she had her mother sent to a remote apartment in Buckingham Palace and demanded that she never see her again. Their relationship would later be reconciled due to Albert’s careful mediations. When George III’s third son and the current monarch William IV died in 1837 at the grand age of seventy-one, his niece the young Victoria, barely eighteen years old, was thrust into rulership. She became Queen Victoria of the United Kingdom on 20 June 1837.


Victoria fell head over heels for her cousin Albert, who was born in Germany. After only a couple of visits, she proposed to him as a reigning monarch could not be proposed to. They married on 10 February 1840. Due to a burgeoning popular press and the advent of photography, Victoria and Albert were the first royal couple to enjoy celebrity status. Since Britain was now a full constitutional monarchy, the queen could exercise very little direct power, though Victoria was enthralled by politics. She requested daily updates of the goings-on and secret conversations taking place in Westminster, and she exercised informal power through her political relationships.


Albert devoted his time to public causes such as abolishing slavery and reforming education. Crucially Victoria and Albert restored public confidence in the British monarchy which was desperately needed after the self-serving and not universally popular reigns of George III and IV. There was always an underlying danger that Britain could emulate the events of the French Revolution, so if the monarchy was to survive Victoria maintaining a positive public image was imperative. Victoria was the target of eight assassination attempts and each one only further boosted her popularity; as she pluckily commented, ‘It is worth being shot at to see how much one is loved.’ She kept her vibrant image except for a lapse in her regal vitality after the tragic loss of her beloved Albert.


In December 1861 Albert died of typhoid fever, which sent Victoria, at the age of forty-two, into a black hole of grief from which she would never emerge. For the remainder of her life, she wore black and mostly refrained from public appearances. She actively avoided London, preferring the physically and symbolically sturdier seclusion and safety offered by Windsor Castle, where she requested Albert’s shaving paraphernalia to be laid out in her room every morning as though he was, in some tenuous way, still there with her. Victoria began to comfort eat, resulting in the stout, dour persona which we are all familiar with today. 





People Get Excited About Toilets at the Great Exhibition


BY THE MID-NINETEENTH CENTURY, Britain was irreversibly enraptured by the spirit of industry and the people were hungry for new innovations from across the world. The French had mayonnaise since 1756, but where was the Brits’ sticky white sandwich spread? It can’t be a coincidence that the Earl of Sandwich invented his namesake snack six years later; it’s as if he knew that every viscous white substance needs a doughy soulmate. Queen Victoria’s husband Albert was the driving force behind a grand idea: the world’s first international exhibition of consumer goods and technical innovations, to be held in London. A place for the nations of the world to proudly display their mayonnaise and guns.


Albert was no doubt inspired by the French Industrial Exposition of 1844 which exhibited new textiles, chemicals and machines inside a large temporary structure on the Champs-Élysées. But the Paris exhibition had only allowed French companies and manufacturers to display their goods. Albert’s copy would allow entrants from any country in the world, the first of its kind. Its purpose would be to encourage the arts, commerce and industry, but most of all, to promote Britain on the world stage as the global leader in industry and innovation. Let’s be honest, proving that Britain made finer cravats than everyone else was the main motivator. The event would need a name worthy of such an accolade, and so it was called the Great Exhibition.


Truthfully, it was an assistant records keeper at the Public Records Office named Henry Cole who suggested the idea to Albert. Henry Cole made most of the organisational effort to make the exhibition possible, but Albert became heavily involved with helping Cole and was the event’s public face. I suspect Albert was chosen as the PR machine because he had a moustache, which garners significant trust and esteem (I should know), and Cole didn’t. The pair knew that to make the event a true spectacle that would be the envy of the world, it needed a suitably magnificent venue. A splendid location had already been chosen: the royal Hyde Park next to Buckingham Palace. Architects were asked to submit designs for a structure large enough to house the multitude of exhibits from across the world – after all, Turkey was invited, and they were bound to bring enough ottomans to restart the empire. Despite 245 ambitious, often too ambitious, design submissions, the answer eventually came from Joseph Paxton, the multi-talented head gardener to the Duke of Devonshire, who proposed a building that would come to be called the ‘Crystal Palace’.


A committee that included members of the Royal Society and the famed engineer Isambard Kingdom Brunel was set up to oversee its construction. After agreeing to a verbal contract with the chosen builder Fox, Henderson & Co on 26 July 1850, construction began only four days later, which must be a world record for builders actually commencing work after a quote. The enormous greenhouse-like structure was 564 metres long with an interior height of 34 metres – three times the size of St Paul’s Cathedral. And the building was erected over several full-sized elm trees, so when the building was complete they appeared to be growing out of the floorboards of the central hallway; the leaves atop their canopies almost graced the roof’s iron girders. The trees had the added benefit of making the Russians feel more at home; Albert didn’t want them kicking off. 


The Crystal Palace was only made possible by new sheet glass production methods introduced to Britain by the Chance Brothers. Nobody had seen such a large expanse of glass before, and it amazed visitors that no interior lighting was needed to illuminate the gigantic structure, truly living up to its name of the Crystal Palace. The name was coined by Punch magazine, which referred to the building as a ‘palace of very crystal’.


When the last piece of the roof was covered with glass, however, there was an issue. A menagerie of birds, mostly sparrows, had settled inside the colossal building and begun nesting within the trusses and girders. The contractors now needed a graceful way to shoo them all outside before they started using the priceless exhibits as toilets. The Queen’s diamonds, due to be displayed, would not be well received if handed back to her encrusted in sparrow shit. At first, they tried walking in a horizontal line from one end of the hall to the other waving wooden bird scarers. These contraptions were similar to those awful football rattles latter-day Neanderthals flail about at matches when they feel like annoying a few thousand people. Unfortunately, this didn’t work: when the rattle brigade reached the end of the hall, those crafty birds just flew back over their heads towards the opposite end. Then they tried poison, but that didn’t work either. And they couldn’t exactly shoot them – guns and giant glass buildings don’t work well together. Paxton and Isambard Kingdom Brunel put their incredible minds together but couldn’t produce a solution. Eventually, Queen Victoria heard about the problem and without a moment’s notice uttered: ‘Send for the duke.’ Of course, she meant the Iron Duke, Wellington, who surveyed the building and confidently declared: ‘Try sparrowhawks, ma’am.’ Sure enough, the sparrowhawks made quick work of clearing out the squatters.


Only nine months after Albert and Cole began organising the Great Exhibition it was opened by Queen Victoria: on 1 May 1851, not a day later than planned, which has to be the most incredible part of this entire story. The entrance fee was high at first to allow the wealthy to visit without large crowds of commoners obstructing the pretty Indian textiles and African drums with their inconsiderate poverty. For the first three days, tickets were £1 each. The price then dropped to five shillings for three weeks and after that tickets were dropped again to just one shilling. Unsurprisingly the one shilling price proved immensely popular with the working class, who would often purchase a day trip from a tour operator on their day off work. This usually included a return rail journey to London, one night’s board in an inn and admission to the Great Exhibition. One popular operator who sold these excursions was a Mr Thomas Cook, whose business boomed and became Britain’s most famous travel agency – until it went tits up in September 2019.


The Great Exhibition ran from May to October, and during that time, six million people passed through its doors. Impressive, considering the population of Britain in 1850 was roughly twenty-seven million. Although it isn’t all that surprising, since, despite the technological revolution now empowering the empire to great new heights and entering the homes of the wealthy, the average working-class family in Victorian Britain lived so primitively that it was common to use a live goose to sweep one’s chimney breast. How? The goose’s legs were tied then it was dropped down the chimney. As it descended, manically flapping its wings in terrified bemusement, it would knock the soot and ash to the ground. This gave rise to the phrase ‘the blacker the goose, the cleaner the flue’. It goes without saying that when a man is used to sitting on his roof wrestling waterfowl, the seemingly alien-like technologies and exotic materials on display would provide him with a refreshing contrast.


Half of the exhibit space was reserved for items from Britain and the empire – after all, the empire was about half of the industrialised world at this point. The remainder of the space had exhibits from elsewhere, such as China, Russia, the United States, Persia and Europe, among others. As you entered through the turnstiles at the main entrance, you would be instantly hit by the heady aroma of the mountains of spice on display at the Trinidad and Tobago stall to the left. Then as you proceeded forward, with your cranium drowsy from a nauseating quantity of nutmeg, your eyes would glimpse a mystical fountain made entirely of crystal in the very centre of the grand hallway, amidst the elm trees.


The exhibits amazed visitors – how could they not be blown away by a folding piano, a genuine exhibit, which, come to think of it, is exactly what is missing from my life. The Times the following day reported: ‘a sight the like of which has never happened before, and which, in the nature of things, can never be repeated.’ On display was the largest diamond in the world in 1851, the Koh-i-Noor or ‘Mountain of Light’, on loan from Victoria. Samuel Colt, the inventor of the revolver, demonstrated a prototype of his new Colt Navy gun. Frederick Bakewell demonstrated an early prototype for a fax machine. There was also a printing machine that could churn out 5,000 newspapers per hour. Meanwhile, France’s contribution consisted of a shedload of tapestries and some furniture they had lying around which hadn’t been nicked from Versailles by revolutionaries.


The exhibition was an opportunity for masters of their trade to prove their supremacy over their respective industries. In 1784 an ambitious engineer called Joseph Bramah revolutionised security when he created the first unpickable lock from his shop at 124 Piccadilly, London. The Challenge Lock featured a tubular design made with new precision machine tools such as the metal lathe, and his company offered a prize of 200 guineas to the first person who could pick it. Bramah’s Challenge Lock was on display at the Great Exhibition still unpicked, sixty-seven years after its creation. That was until a rival locksmith from New York, Alfred Charles Hobbs, visited the exhibition with the goal of picking the Bramah Challenge Lock – it took him sixteen days, but he did eventually pick the unpickable lock and took home the 200 guineas. The whole episode became a debacle known as the ‘Great Lock Controversy’ because it was understandably argued by some that sixteen-day lockpicking thieves are a rare species in the wild. At the exhibition, Hobbs also successfully picked the Chubb detector lock, used in all British prisons and many government institutions, in under thirty minutes. The age of perfect security had ended.


But there was one exhibit that got as many as 700,000 visitors, thanks to nature’s call, and it caused quite a miasmic air of excitement: the toilets. Despite the upper classes enjoying the luxuries of indoor flushing toilets at home, throughout the Victorian era most people’s lavatory solutions were shit pits – literally. There was usually a privy in a shared yard that was little more than a deep hole dug in the ground. When the hole was full it would be shovelled into a new hole somewhere in the owner’s garden or the woods and covered over. It makes one wonder how many times the neighbour’s garden was chosen for the disposal of this delightful two-week accumulation of human waste. Sometimes a toilet seat was positioned above the pit, if they were lucky. Many, in fact, didn’t actually want indoor toilets – even up to the 1960s some people still refused them, believing they were too unhygienic to be inside, especially in smaller households.


At the Great Exhibition, however, an English plumber and rabid toilet enthusiast, George Jennings, convinced the organisers to allow him to install public toilets for the millions of expected guests. These were the first ever public toilets in Britain. Users would have to wait in a restroom – aptly named because there was usually a long wait – then pay a penny to access the toilet. It was from the Great Exhibition that the phrase ‘spend a penny’ became synonymous with going to the loo. In exchange for their penny, visitors got a sparkly clean toilet seat, a towel, a comb and a shoe shine, which, mercifully for the poor shoe shine boy, didn’t take place mid-defecation but afterwards. Public toilet facilities had never been seen before and these ludicrously luxurious loos were leagues above what most visitors to the exhibition were used to at home. As such, people became rather excited at the opportunity to ‘spend a penny’ to do their business at the exhibition, and the toilets became one of the ‘must do’ exhibits, right after one had seen that giant stuffed elephant dressed head to toe in vibrant Indian fabrics – yes, that was also a thing.


The Great Exhibition was a raving success, raking in a profit of £186,000 – over £18 million today. This funded three new institutes of scientific endeavour: the Science Museum, the Natural History Museum, and the Victoria and Albert Museum. After the exhibition the Crystal Palace was taken apart and piece by piece relocated to a wealthy south-east London suburb, Sydenham Hill. Unfortunately, it burnt down in November 1936. A shame, because if I could travel back in time and visit just one moment in history, I would be hard-pressed not to choose the Great Exhibition, and take in its countless wonders . . . or at least just so I could experience what a clean public toilet was like. 





The British Invade Ethiopia With a Train


HOW POWERFUL WAS THE BRITISH EMPIRE at its apex? To answer that question one need look no further than the 1868 British expedition to Abyssinia. Abyssinia was the name of the Ethiopian Empire. Covering modern-day Ethiopia and Eritrea, it was a kingdom that lasted from 1270 to 1974. In 1868 Téwodros II (referred to by the British as the anglicised ‘Theodore’) was the ruling emperor of this beautiful but deeply troubled empire state. Abyssinia was under threat, as too was Theodore’s reign; his people were revolting against him. Theodore also faced the encroaching Ottoman Empire. Muslim, Turkish and Egyptian armies repeatedly invaded Abyssinia via Sudan and the Red Sea. In a last-ditch attempt to reassert his dominion and quell the impending coup, the Christian Emperor Theodore wrote to the most dominant players on the world stage: the Russian Empire, Prussia, the Austrian Empire, the French Empire and, of course, the British Empire. Theodore hoped their shared Christianity would help enlist favour.


The Foreign Office disagreed. Britain refused to send military or any other form of aid to help Theodore. At the time the British Empire was seeking to build strong economic ties with the Ottoman Empire, via amicable means, thus opening valuable trade routes with the Middle East. Abetting in a violent Christian crusade in Ethiopia against Muslim armies would only impair these goals. Theodore didn’t respond well to Britain’s lack of support. In retaliation, he seized a handful of British and European hostages in Ethiopia. The British consul Captain Charles Cameron was among them, as well as a number of women and children.


Britain responded with unwavering force. What followed was arguably the most impressive display of military might to free hostages, relative to its respective time period. A grand expedition into the deepest fortifications of Ethiopia’s up to now unconquerable terrain ensued. In Bombay 13,000 British and Indian soldiers were dispatched, along with an astonishing 40,000 animals, which included forty-four elephants trained to pull large artillery guns. Once this frankly ridiculous army had sailed to and established a base on the shores of Eritrea, they marched inland. The multitude of soldiers and their gargantuan menagerie trekked 400 miles through relentless mountain ranges and unforgiving weather to reach Theodore’s fortress, the location of the hostages.


The unholy scale and expense of this journey can be difficult to appreciate without further detail, so allow me to paint a more vivid picture. A harbour was built, complete with a warehouse and several piers, to facilitate the unloading and storage of supplies. Royal engineers built a road winding into the belly of the kingdom so troops could traverse the terrain faster. Twenty miles of railway were laid, and trains were brought from India, so supplies could be shuttled to the troops.


After two months of travel, the British forces were knocking on the doors of Theodore’s fortress, built atop a volcanic plug. Most of the British soldiers were Indian sepoys, illustrating how India was the military engine of the empire, at least in the East. In the space of just ninety minutes, 500 Abyssinians were killed by Britain’s imperial forces, and many thousands more were injured. As for Theodore, his body was discovered inside his fortress. He had taken his own life, but not those of the European hostages – they were saved. Though one has to assess whether the ends justified the means. For the British Empire, at least, they did.


The expedition to Abyssinia exemplifies Britain’s omnipotence as the global hegemon during the peak of its rule, 1815–1922. No other nation-state, kingdom or empire could have mustered the military power and mobilised men, monkeys and machinery on such a scale during this period. Today, historians regard the expedition to Abyssinia as one of the most impressive displays of just how mighty the British Empire was during its prime, and certainly as one of the most overwhelming military responses of all time. To fully appreciate the scale of Britain’s response, one should equate it to a modern-day expedition involving two Royal Navy destroyers, over 10,000 ground troops and a small chunk of the RAF, invading a foreign nation to save a small handful of hostages. On today’s world stage, this would be labelled ‘grossly disproportionate’. 





A Rake Dresses Like an Arab and Shags Everything


TYPICALLY, HUMANS EXCEL at one or two chosen skills. They are at best mediocre in the realm of all others. However, occasionally throughout history, there are those rare enigmas who have an astonishingly extensive list of titles, accolades and abilities to their name. One such map-divining demigod was Sir Richard Francis Burton. It is only once you learn of the enormous breadth of Burton’s talents, all of which he mastered, that you will begin to appreciate how this Victorian man became legend. Born in 1821, Burton was a British explorer, geographer, translator, writer, soldier, orientalist, cartographer, ethnologist, spy, linguist, poet, fencer and diplomat. Well, I did say.


It was glaringly obvious from a young age that Burton would never be the type of person to lead a quiet life. As a teenager he was punished for writing salacious letters to prostitutes, he smashed his music teacher over the head with a violin case and perforated his brother’s cheek with a fencing foil. I would hazard to say that things were not off to a good start. I fear, however, that Burton would argue to the contrary.


At heart he was an academic with an unquenchable lust for knowledge, exploration and women – especially exploring women. At a young age, he discovered a love for learning languages; he quickly gained fluency in French, Italian, Neapolitan and Latin. All of which Burton, of course, used for the noblest of deeds: seducing the various women of these regions. Throughout his life, he masterfully acquired proficiency in other tongues such as Arabic, speaking twenty-nine European, Asian and African languages by the time he had matured into an astute adult (it is important to note that in describing Richard Francis Burton, ‘astute’ depicts an erudite drunk aristocrat wielding a shotgun).


Perpetually restless, Burton joined the East India Company in his early twenties, assuming his rank among the corporation’s substantial private army. He was posted to India and of course, being a serial-polyglot, he promptly absorbed the local tongues of Hindustani, Gujarati, Punjabi, Sindhi, Saraiki and Marathi. The rigmarole of an army lifestyle proved too structured for Burton, however. During his time in the company’s army he earned himself the nickname ‘Ruffian Dick’ because of his boisterous attitude and equal parts defensive and aggressive disposition towards his fellow comrades. It seemed not a week passed without Burton challenging an acquaintance to a duel. It was widely supposed by his contemporaries that he fought more enemies in single combat than any man of his time. Burton also kept a large menagerie of monkeys while in the army, aiming to eventually learn their language. I imagine he was wildly unsuccessful.


One of Burton’s most audacious ventures was in 1851 when he assumed the moniker and disguise of an Afghan pilgrim to sneak into the Muslim holy city of Mecca. No, you haven’t inadvertently slipped into an especially exotic Arthur Conan Doyle novel, this really did happen. At the time it was forbidden for non-Muslims (referred to as ‘Kafirs’ by those of Islamic faith) and especially white men to join the Hajj, the annual pilgrimage to Mecca. If a non-Muslim was caught inside Mecca, the punishment was death, by crucifixion or, for times when the murderous mobs were slightly more incensed, impalement. This only served to make the idea of successfully infiltrating such a hostile and potentially deadly environment all the more alluring. The call of adventure and infamy was far too strong for Burton to resist.


It would be an arduous journey to reach Mecca, through the remorseless desert; along the way, twelve of Burton’s party were killed by Bedouin raiders. As one would expect from such a shrewd confidence man, Burton’s in-depth knowledge of the culture, religion and language of the Arab people allowed him to blend in seamlessly within the holy city. Burton went as far as to get himself circumcised before the journey, so if he were strip-searched, his jiggery-pokery would be justified by his junk. 


Burton had a distinct penchant for impersonating people of other ethnicities and cultures. During his time in India, he would frequently cover his face in walnut oil and speak in fluent Gujarati. One particular Indian gentleman almost had a heart attack upon learning that Burton, the dark-skinned merchant he had been conversing with for some time, was in fact a white British man. The ruthlessly pragmatic East India Company leveraged Burton’s talents for fighting and espionage, not to mention passions, by enlisting him as a spy. He would travel through the hill regions fighting off and reporting on the various tribes, a job which the insatiably curious Burton relished.


His final brief as a spy was to investigate a brothel in Karachi where it was rumoured the prostitutes were young boys, and the patrons were mainly British soldiers. In disturbingly typical Burton form, his lengthy report was so detailed that it was strongly rumoured he had partaken in some or many of the illicit services available at the brothel. Burton’s unquenchable thirst for the exotic, his bizarre sexual encounters and his voracious voyeurism didn’t help in quelling the rumours – quite the opposite.


Today Burton is most commonly accredited for being the first to translate One Thousand and One Nights into English as well as the Hindu sex manual, Kama Sutra, and also the equally ‘naughty’ Arabic volume The Perfumed Garden. But perhaps his best-known legacy was his journey to discover the source of the Nile. When it came to Victorian-era exploration, the source of the Nile was a thing of great legend; it was an enigma as highly revered as the proverbial fountain of youth. Perhaps a sign of his age and now weathered body, for once in his life Burton appreciated the dangers that lay ahead and so took a companion explorer on this particular quest. None other than John Hanning Speke.


In 1856 Burton and Speke set off from Zanzibar island, travelling dead west towards the heart of the Congo. Both men soon fell gravely ill to a variety of tropical diseases, so severe that Speke became temporarily blind. Mercifully both men recovered, after resting for some time in the retreat of some Arab slave traders. They became the first Europeans to find Lake Tanganyika. Ironically Speke couldn’t see the lake upon their arrival as he was still partially blind. I can only hope Burton described the natural wonder to his poor, sightless friend in suitably splendid detail, laced with hyperbole, no doubt. Speke also became partially deaf after a beetle crawled inside his ear and he attempted to remove it with that doctor-recommended surgical instrument, a bush knife.


Upon their return journey to the coast, Speke took a detour slightly north, due to reports of another mysterious lake, but Burton was too ill at this point to join him, so he stayed at their camp to rest. That mysterious lake turned out to be the largest in Africa, which Speke named Lake Victoria, after his monarch. Once again, Speke was unable to see the lake properly and thus determine its true size and whether it could be the elusive source of the Nile. Upon the duo’s return to England, there was a laborious debate about whether or not the men had found the legendary fount. Not until modern times was it finally verified that Lake Victoria is the real starting point of the great river.


The two men often quarrelled throughout their adventures, namely because their ideologies and moral compasses didn’t align. Speke was a tremendously prim and proper, tweed-wielding Victorian gentleman; Burton, on the other hand, was a loose cannon, whose primary approach to travel was to have sexual intercourse with everything and everyone he met, preferably in new and unusual ways (it’s shocking that Speke got away untainted . . . we think). The merest thought of such dastardly behaviour would have caused Speke to dissolve into a pool of repressed awkwardness. Burton certainly didn’t help matters since he spent considerable time during their travels boasting of his numerous and often aggrandised conquests, via speech, sword or phallus. 





A Scotsman Wears Tweed, Fights a Lion Then Gets Lost


VICTORIAN BRITAIN SPAWNED A THRONG of ambitious explorers, and the Welshman Henry Morton Stanley crafted a tale of one so fabled it has been exalted to legend, I presume. Scottish physician David Livingstone was a true icon of the late Victorian era. He grew up in an impoverished household and worked ten hours a day as a ‘piecer’ in a cotton mill, from the age of ten. A truly horrific job for any child, it involved piecing broken threads back together while the machine was in full, brutal operation; the potential for lost limbs was high. Nevertheless, it was a great way to earn from your offspring while they were in that awkward in-between stage of being too large to fit down a chimney and too young to operate machinery reliably.


In the precious small hours of the night, by candlelight, a young Livingstone would bury his head in books about history, exploration and medicine, determined to better his prospects. As an adult, he was a benevolent, learned character, so ostensibly noble and selfless that the press, both at home and in America, couldn’t get enough of Dr Livingstone’s wild adventures and daily happenings. Livingstone was one of the first of a rare breed of humanity that the press would sell a kidney for, just to find out which brand of muesli he ate – today, we call them celebrities. More than a humble missionary and doctor of medicine, Livingstone was in every way one of the most prolific celebrities of the Victorian age. He was their answer to the philanthropic, if not so irritating, Bob Geldof.


It’s clear to see why the public adored him. Livingstone was a stereotypical rags-to-riches character, working, fighting and thinking his way to a better life. He relished immersing himself in scientific knowledge and literature, taking every possible measure to study medicine, and so he saved all his childhood income to be able to attend Anderson’s College in Glasgow, where he studied medicine, Latin, theology and Greek.


Livingstone had his eyes set firmly on the London Missionary Society. He was deceitfully duped by advertisements in the newspaper that often boasted of previous, highly successful missionaries that had converted entire townships to Christianity and significantly improved their quality of life. The society eventually recognised Livingstone’s medical astuteness and other talents, offering to fund his mission to Central Africa. Upon his arrival on the great continent, it didn’t take long before Livingstone realised the advertisements that had brought him there were preposterously fabricated. There were no great success stories of mass ‘enlightenment’.


Alas, the failure of his predecessors was not to faze Livingstone as he discovered his own niche; he had a way of doing things that proved successful beyond his wildest hopes. The missionary expeditions before him largely failed because they took a somewhat more forceful ‘we have many guns and a superior religion than yours’ approach, which the local people didn’t appreciate too much. They would often rotate onto new settlements accompanied by a large cavalcade of armed soldiers and countless men carrying supplies. So then, it will come as no surprise to learn that the local chiefs often considered ‘missions’ as military incursions and promptly deterred them with hostility.


Livingstone was a refreshingly different figure to all those who came before. He had a considerably gentler approach, only carrying two weapons – to murder the very occasional rebellious local (in truth, they were only used for protection) – and accompanied by a meagre handful of servants and porters. This was certainly not an imposing religious army worthy of a small nation, as had come so many times before. Livingstone was humble, respectful of the indigenous cultures and customs, and most importantly, he didn’t force Christianity (or flags) down their throats. He was more subtle in his attempted coercions to turn the people towards his alien ‘Western’ religion. I can speculate at the trepidation of the locals; Christianity contains far fewer witch doctors, much less voodoo and animal sacrifice. When you frame it like this, Christianity seems utterly boring . . . though it does have wine. Livingstone’s tact paid dividends. He won tremendous favour with local chiefs, and in return, they allowed him safe passage through their territories, along with plentiful aid and hospitality. So successful was Livingstone’s amicable approach that Sekeletu, chief of the Makololo people, ‘loaned’ 141 of his men to Livingstone to aid him in his future explorations.


Stories of the Scottish doctor’s success in bringing medical aid and Christian comfort to many African communities soon reached England. The public grew enamoured with the press’s tales of this philanthropic adventurer and his numerous conquests. Livingstone also discovered many important geographic sites, such as Victoria Falls, which, like Speke before him, he named after his beloved monarch. He also became the first European to travel the entire width of the African continent on foot. Which, you could say, is no small feet.


Livingstone was also tremendously brave. A favourite anecdote of mine that demonstrates his Victorian resolve tells of a terrifying encounter with a lion: the ruthless predator tore into Livingstone and attempted to chew him up, but the brave explorer fought off his feline attacker. He suffered a nasty shoulder wound, but it could have been far worse – the attack would have proved fatal if it were not for his dependable tweed jacket; the thick material prevented the lion’s teeth from penetrating too deep into Livingstone’s muscles or organs. If ever there were an argument for wearing tweed, this is it (not that any argument need be made for such a distinguished thread).


In 1856, after fifteen years in Africa, Livingstone returned to England to be greeted as a national hero. Although all was not well. He had neglected his wife and children for so long they had fallen into poverty, but Livingstone had the solution in his typically extravagant approach – he wrote a 300,000-word book, called Missionary Travels, to earn an income for his family. It was a roaring success, becoming an overnight bestseller; 70,000 copies were sold. His family would never want for anything again. Except, perhaps, for daddy, who kept inexplicably disappearing to Africa to wrestle lions and teach semi-naked people about a mass-murdering megalomanic sky-magician.


Fifteen fruitful years as a missionary across Africa barely quenched Livingstone’s thirst to help the African peoples and to explore deeper what he described as the most aesthetically pleasing place he had ever seen. So, before long Livingstone ventured once more into the heart of Africa, but this time it was personal. During his travels, he had regularly witnessed the inhumane evils of the slave trade in action. Livingstone was an ardent abolitionist and had novel ideas to put a permanent stop to the industry of enslaving Africans. He was to accomplish this by developing infrastructure for unrestricted trade, thus boosting the economy of the region.


To achieve his goals he too, like Burton and Speke only a short time before him, set off to find the source of the Nile, believing the almighty river to be the key to enable free trade and wealth creation throughout the region and put an end to the slave trade. In Livingstone’s words: ‘The Nile sources are valuable only as a means of opening my mouth with power among men. It is this power with which I hope to remedy an immense evil.’ During this voyage, Livingstone’s supplies were stolen, and he was forced to eat his meals publicly in a roped-off enclosure for the entertainment of the locals in exchange for food. Throughout 1867 Livingstone would send regular letters back to England about the continued abuses conducted by the brutal cogs of the slave machine. Then, one day, the letters stopped.


Britain convulsed with despondency. One of its dearest national heroes had vanished into the eternally hazy African twilight. But out of loss, opportunity frequently emerges. This time, opportunity struck in the form of an American newspaper publisher, James Gordon Bennett Jr of the New York Herald. The shrewd entrepreneur saw the potential power and reach of a headline story on the whereabouts of the missing philanthropic hero of the western world, Dr Livingstone.


A year since Livingstone’s last letter, Bennett tasked his most capable and trusted reporter, Henry Morton Stanley, with the toughest assignment of his career: locate Livingstone. Originating from Wales, Stanley was an American Civil War hero and a renowned freelance journalist in New York. However, the draw of international fame compelled him to accept the quest bestowed upon him. So, in April 1871 Stanley began his search in the same place from where Livingstone had set out a year earlier: Zanzibar. Eager for a unique story that would grab the world’s eyes and wallets, Bennett funded Stanley’s rescue mission handsomely.


Stanley had all the men (192, whom he recruited in Zanzibar), resources and firepower his heart desired, and desire them he did. His approach to exploration was radically different from that of the gentle wanderer he was pursuing. Whereas Livingstone took his time to assimilate with a new area and its people, making acquaintances, friends and allies, Stanley ploughed through the African heartland like a bull elephant in musth. Anyone who stood in his way was shot down; any man, woman or child who could not keep pace was mercilessly left behind.


Seven hundred miles through the wreathing wickedness of the African wilderness Stanley and his brigade had travelled before the expedition reached its zenith: a remote village in present-day Tanzania called Ujiji. Most of Stanley’s support caravan of porters had died by this point, from various tropical diseases. Upon entering Ujiji, Stanley was filled with elation upon seeing the first European since leaving home, many months ago. Before him sat a weak and weary shadow of a man, long-ravaged by illness, his tired face donned with a long, white, dishevelled beard.


As Stanley later wrote, his first and most prominent urge was to rush to the figure and wrap his arms around him in unfettered joy. Except, Stanley’s stiff Victorian psyche did not permit him to do so. Too abashed to show emotion, his life-long training in British understatement and strict adherence to protocol forced Stanley to do the only thing he knew how. He brushed off his tweed, approached the pale figure calmly, lifted his pith helmet above his head and uttered the immortal question: ‘Dr Livingstone, I presume?’ 





Shackleton Doesn’t Eat a Biscuit at the Bottom of the World


Men wanted for hazardous journey. Low wages, bitter cold, long hours of complete darkness. Safe return doubtful. Honour and recognition in event of success. 


 


THIS WAS THE ADVERTISEMENT which Ernest Shackleton ran in London newspapers, seeking to recruit hardy men for a perilous journey. Would you apply for this job? Over 5,000 men and three women did. After interviewing all hopefuls, Shackleton sorted the applicants into three baskets: mad, hopeless and possible. But Shackleton wasn’t gathering a crew for his now renowned expedition aboard Endurance; that would come later.


Shackleton’s first voyage as a captain was aboard Nimrod, which set sail from Lyttelton Harbour, New Zealand, on 1 January 1908. The expedition aimed to reach the geographic South Pole. While it was a failure in its primary objective, it was a success in that Shackleton and his crew set a new record for the furthest southern latitude reached by any human thus far. Truly, the greatest testament to Shackleton that we can take from the Nimrod expedition was his ability to uphold morale. Even when the crew’s outlook seemed as bleak as the icy tundra eternally ahead of them, Shackleton’s natural charm and ability to communicate on a deep level with his men kept their spirits tremendously high.


During their return journey to McMurdo Sound, starvation was their greatest foe. Supplies were dwindling. Shackleton allotted one biscuit per day to each of the crew. Upon seeing his comrade Frank Wild on the precipice of death, Shackleton gave up his own daily biscuit to Frank. ‘All the money that was ever minted would not have bought that biscuit and the remembrance of that sacrifice will never leave me,’ Frank noted in his diary. Shackleton’s diary during his flirtation with fatality simply read: ‘Difficulties are just things to overcome, after all.’ I can empathise – never have I encountered difficulty as testing as giving up my last biscuit. A few years later, Shackleton’s resolute, resourceful persona would prove fundamental in achieving one of the greatest stories of survival history has ever known.


Despite the failure of the Nimrod expedition, Shackleton’s efforts didn’t go unrewarded by the public or the monarchy. King George V knighted him. He was, in the eyes of the people, a national hero. Yet, he was destitute. Shackleton underwent a period of unrest and financial difficulty, attempting various economic ventures to make ends meet. Nimrod had left him and his family in debt. A tobacco company, stamp salesman to collectors and investor in Hungarian mining operations – all such avenues Shackleton pursued, yet none paid any dividend. All the while, the growing concern that a rival South Pole pursuant – namely Norwegian Roald Amundsen or fellow Brit Robert Falcon Scott – could claim the title first pressed upon Shackleton’s mind with the crushing force of a titanic iceberg.


On 14 December 1911, Shackleton’s worst fear unfolded: Norway had beaten the British and Roald Amundsen had pipped Shackleton to the post at the bottom of the world. Shackleton was a frustrated man, but to prevent his legacy from being overshadowed by Amundsen’s victory, he hastily conjured up a new plan to earn his desired scientific and historical recognition. 


Shackleton would regularly confide in his friends his wishes to return to the frozen continent, despite hiding such ambitions from his wife. Typically, when a wife confronts her husband, suspecting he has something to hide, ‘I want to piss off to Antarctica with the lads’ is probably the last thing she expects to hear. Shackleton’s new plan would be the Imperial Trans-Antarctic Expedition, designed to be the first expedition to traverse the Antarctic continent, from ocean to ocean.


Due to the unstoppable march of war looming upon the horizon, securing funding for Shackleton’s new venture would prove near impossible. The Royal Geographical Society was not amused, despite the expedition’s potential to uncover new scientific knowledge. But one of Shackleton’s greatest attributes was his unremitting charm (he also had fantastic eyebrows). Eventually, he secured funding in the form of £10,000 from a government grant; another £10,000 from wealthy industrialist Dudley Docker; an undisclosed sum from the tobacco heiress Janet Stancomb-Wills; and the most substantial sum from wealthy jute tycoon James Caird of Dundee, to the tune of £24,000.


The final bout of funding was not secured until the very eve of the First World War. Shackleton’s crew could not depart until Winston Churchill himself, First Lord of the Admiralty, granted permission for the expedition to continue, by sending Shackleton a one-word telegram: ‘Proceed’, rather than leveraging the crew’s significant collective naval abilities to aid the war efforts, as Shackleton had expected. The expedition set sail on 8 August 1914, eleven days after the outbreak of war.


The vessel for this most ambitious expedition was, ironically, the Norwegian-built Polaris. Shackleton, of course, renamed it Endurance, inspired by his family motto: ‘By endurance we conquer’. Weighing a hearty 315 tonnes, constructed from oak, Norwegian fir and greenheart, it was designed for one purpose, and that was, as its name supposed, to endure. It is perhaps the greatest irony of all Victorian-era exploration that the renowned Endurance did not endure. The real, true example of endurance was not to be the vessel, but the man himself, the unflappable Sir Ernest Shackleton.


Following a lengthy stopover at a dank, depressing and destitute whaling station at the end of the earth on South Georgia Island, the crew were all too eager to tackle their icy foe. But swiftly were their ambitions cut short when, to Shackleton’s surprise, they hit almost a thousand miles of ice floes at Vahsel Bay. As steadfast as the Endurance was, its timber hull could not punch through the impenetrable ice fortress. All too soon the crew were forced to cut the ship’s engines and stop over for twenty-four hours, while the crew endeavoured to decide what their next move would be.


After weeks of turbulent progress through the gummy ocean, Endurance desisted. An impassable glacier stood in their way. The waters rapidly froze around the hull, forming a solid grip, and on 15 January, Endurance ceased to endure. Despite the entire crew’s commendable efforts to free the vessel through might, manpower and many pickaxes, the timber beast could not be stirred from its icy tomb. Shackleton soon conceded and announced that the stranded Endurance would become their winter stopover until warmer weather drew in.


Shackleton was confident that progress could be resumed once the ice had melted. Such hopes soon evaporated when it became apparent that the tremendously powerful glacial plates surrounding Endurance were slowly but surely squeezing and crushing the vessel from all directions. Shackleton feared the ship would soon implode under the unrelenting pressure. He was right.


Yet despite Shackleton and his men’s refuge and only reasonable hope for either progress or retreat being consumed by the ice before their eyes, their morale never floundered. In the unimaginable conditions of the least hospitable place on earth and under the watch of a lesser captain, the crew could have easily fallen prey to illness, hunger and insanity. But never under his quiet resilience would Shackleton’s men be left so helpless by their superior. He assigned his men daily tasks, such as finding and preparing food, and he enforced recreation, such as regular games of football, to prevent boredom from poisoning their minds. 


In October, almost a year after Endurance departed from South Georgia, the men were finally given the order to abandon ship. No more than a month later, the ruthless sea had swallowed her whole. Plunging under the ice, into the darkest abyss, Endurance disappeared.


Shackleton and his men made camp on a small ice floe which they hoped would drift towards Paulet Island, 200 miles away, where the remainder of their supplies had been stowed. Shackleton named this camp ‘Patience Camp’. For days the men subsisted on pitiful leftover supplies, scraps of seal meat and blubber. Most regretfully of all, I am sure, following the exhaustion of all other sustenance, they shot and ate the seventy sled dogs. The ship’s cat Mrs Chippy was also dispatched, for concerns she would only slow the men down and hinder their survival chances. Harry McNish was furious with Shackleton’s actions; the Scotsman had grown rather fond of his feline companion.


To their despair, their ice raft came within sixty miles of Paulet Island, but they were unable to make shore. The despondent men were carried past their last vestige of hope, into the endless netherworld of the cruel ocean, no longer masters of their own fate but at the mercy of the wind and the waves.


Before long, the ice floe began to break up. It grew smaller by the day. Shackleton ordered his men to board the three remaining lifeboats and attempt to sail north to Elephant Island. There would be no much-needed food rations to meet them there, not even vegetation or animals. But at least they could make camp on solid ground for the first time in sixteen horrendous months. There is no question that upon sighting Elephant Island from their lifeboats, the men would have been overjoyed, despite its barren landscape.


Shackleton’s next move, knowing that the desolate rock could not sustain them for long, would go down in the history books as one of the most courageous, daring and perilous journeys ever attempted by man. Leaving most of the crew on Elephant Island, Shackleton took five men aboard one of the small wooden lifeboats on the 720-mile journey across some of the roughest, coldest and most hopeless waters on our planet, to reach South Georgia Island, where their journey had originated twenty-one months ago.


Just seventeen days the gallant boat journey took. But no doubt, they were the seventeen longest days this bold group of explorers had ever known. It is nothing short of a miracle that their boat, a microscopic pinhead upon the violent and restless cushion of the ocean, was not flooded or capsized. These starved skeletons of men were barely capable of lifting their arms to navigate the small boat, battered by 50 mph winds. When they eventually hit solid ground on South Georgia, there was not a whimper of jubilation between them. They collapsed instantly upon the rocky beach, physically spent, not a grain of consciousness remaining in their bodies.


After some much-needed sleep, Harry McNish, John Vincent and Timothy McCarthy were unable to carry on. So Shackleton, Frank Worsley and Tom Crean made what would be, if only this were a fairy tale, one of the most fantastical journeys history has known. Their only chance of salvation on this island was a whaling station on the north side. The three men had landed on the very southern tip. Standing between them and rescue was thirty-two miles of a treacherous and previously unexplored mountain range; terrain that would put the most experienced Alpine pioneers to the test. Yet these three men had no supplies, only blubber and a bit of chargrilled kitty.


The scramble through the island’s jagged interior took thirty-six hours, which considering their desperate physical state and complete lack of climbing equipment is astonishing. They passed through a frozen waterfall; clambered up, down and across mountain ranges and glaciers, not yet known to any cartographer. And, at one point, rode a makeshift sleigh down the side of a mountain.


Upon reaching the Norwegian whaling station, the three men, now no more than tattered ghostly shells wearing rags, must have felt a gushing fountain of relief. They knocked upon the door of Mr Sorlle, the whaling station manager, whom Shackleton knew and had spent time with during their departure from the very same station. Yet Sorlle did not recognise the three weary shadows that stood before him.


‘Don’t you know me?’ Shackleton pleaded.


‘I know your voice.’


‘My name is Shackleton.’


‘Come in. Come in,’ Sorlle responded in disbelief.


‘Tell me, when was the war over?’


Sorlle soberly replied: ‘The war is not over; millions are being killed. Europe is mad. The world is mad.’


Eventually, they were welcomed warmly by their Norwegian hosts and sat down for a hot meal and drink. But no sooner had they eaten, washed and shaved did Shackleton’s mind turn to the twenty-five men across two camps who were still on the brink of death, awaiting rescue.


The next day Shackleton navigated a borrowed whaling boat to the south of the island to rescue the three other men. Soon afterwards, the Chilean government lent him a small ship to pick up the expedition’s remaining men, still camped out on Elephant Island. However, it took four attempted voyages to rescue these men; only during the fourth could Shackleton actually reach the island, a testament to its hostile inaccessibility.


Shackleton’s rescue of the final encampment of men could not have come a day later, since his original estimates which he gave to the men upon his initial departure had long passed. The men believed they had been forgotten or Shackleton had perished. Discussions of cannibalism disseminated through the ranks. Discussions which were thankfully cut short upon the merciful sight of Shackleton’s rescue craft, heading like an arrow of salvation directly towards them.


Not a single man died who was aboard the Endurance. While technically the Imperial Trans-Antarctic Expedition may have been a failure – it failed to traverse the Antarctic continent – it can be argued that the Endurance expedition was, in truth, one of the most successful ever carried out. Success, in this case, comes from a group of incredible men who defied death, in no small part due to Shackleton’s unrivalled ability to lead. And, most importantly, to be able to lift a comrade’s spirits in the most ungodly circumstances that nature could possibly envenom upon a man. Shackleton’s place in history is perhaps one of the most deserved. Personally, I could not imagine a more courageous, selfless and deserving Englishman with whom to end this book. Oh no . . . wait . . . he was Irish. Bugger! 





Epilogue


This royal throne of kings, this scepter’d isle,


This earth of majesty, this seat of Mars,


This other Eden, demi-paradise,


This fortress built by Nature for herself


Against infection and the hand of war,


This happy breed of men, this little world,


This precious stone set in the silver sea,


Which serves it in the office of a wall,


Or as a moat defensive to a house,


Against the envy of less happier lands,


This blessed plot, this earth, this realm, this England 


– William Shakespeare, Richard II


 


AS SHAKESPEARE SO ELOQUENTLY wrote, this England, this Great Britain is an island that because of its legacy is culturally and permanently at the centre of the world. But therein lies a dichotomy, because this island has always been peripatetic, travelling vicariously through the people who for a brief moment called it home. It is a nation of travellers: people have been arriving on these shores for thousands of years, searching for the secrets of its people, drawn by majestic white cliffs and rolling thickets concealing ancient magic. Each has brought a piece of their culture, language and cuisine . . . thank God. Then there are those who left in search of something else – some reached the edge of the map and continued, courageously, into a new world. Those intrepid few forged nations in the image of this fruitful mother. They copied her democracy and language, her laws and sports, customs and manners. And they created great Edens of fair, free liberty, of just people and powerful forces, gatekeepers of human endeavour able to repel malice and those who would seek to disrupt what we, the people of this earth, have built. Those brave, those blessed people have created a better world where man is free and life has meaning. And if you choose to walk those roads of liberty you will discover that they always lead back to England.
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